INSIGHTS IN SOCIAL COGNITION: 2021

EDITED BY: Sören Krach and Frieder Michel Paulus PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychiatry







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88976-521-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88976-521-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

1

INSIGHTS IN SOCIAL COGNITION: 2021

Topic Editors: **Sören Krach**, University of Lübeck, Germany **Frieder Michel Paulus**, University of Lübeck, Germany

Citation: Krach, S., Paulus, F. M., eds. (2022). Insights in Social Cognition: 2021. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88976-521-8

Table of Contents

- Callous-Unemotional Traits Moderate Anticipated Guilt and Wrongness Judgments to Everyday Moral Transgressions in Adolescents
 Margarida Vasconcelos, Essi Viding, Catherine L. Sebastian, Susana Faria, Pedro R. Almeida, Óscar F. Gonçalves, Rui A. Gonçalves, Adriana Sampaio and Ana Seara-Cardoso
- 15 Restricted Visual Scanpaths During Emotion Recognition in Childhood Social Anxiety Disorder

Johan Lundin Kleberg, Emilie Bäcklin Löwenberg, Jennifer Y. F. Lau, Eva Serlachius and Jens Högström

26 Alexithymia Is Associated With Deficits in Visual Search for Emotional Faces in Clinical Depression

Thomas Suslow, Vivien Günther, Tilman Hensch, Anette Kersting and Charlott Maria Bodenschatz

- 40 An Explanation for Repetitive Motor Behaviors in Autism: Facilitating Inventions via Trial-and-Error Discovery Catherine L. Caldwell-Harris
- 44 Validation of the Rage Attack Questionnaire-Revised (RAQ-R) in a Mixed Psychiatric Population

Lisa Palm, Martina Haas, Anna Pisarenko, Ewgeni Jakubovski and Kirsten R. Müller-Vahl

55 High Schizotypy Predicts Emotion Recognition Independently of Negative Affect

Christopher Dawes, Claudia Danielmeier, Mark Haselgrove and Paula M. Moran

66 How Social Experiences Affect Interpretation Bias Among Individuals With Non-clinical Depression: The Role of Ostracism

Avigail Bar-Sella, Thalia Richter, Sigal Zilcha-Mano and Hadas Okon-Singer

- 74 The Transdiagnostic Relevance of Self-Other Distinction to Psychiatry Spans Emotional, Cognitive and Motor Domains Clare M. Eddy
- 92 The Social Connectome Moving Toward Complexity in the Study of Brain Networks and Their Interactions in Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience

Lara Maliske and Philipp Kanske

99 Characterization of the Core Determinants of Social Influence From a Computational and Cognitive Perspective Hyeji Lee and Dongil Chung





Callous-Unemotional Traits Moderate Anticipated Guilt and Wrongness Judgments to Everyday Moral Transgressions in Adolescents

Margarida Vasconcelos¹, Essi Viding², Catherine L. Sebastian³, Susana Faria⁴, Pedro R. Almeida⁵, Óscar F. Gonçalves⁶, Rui A. Gonçalves^{1,7}, Adriana Sampaio¹ and Ana Seara-Cardoso^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Clare Margaret Eddy, Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Macià Buades-Rotger, University of Lübeck, Germany Hedwig Eisenbarth, Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand

*Correspondence:

Ana Seara-Cardoso ana.searacardoso@psi.uminho.pt

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Social Cognition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 02 November 2020 Accepted: 09 February 2021 Published: 05 March 2021

Citation:

Vasconcelos M, Viding E, Sebastian CL, Faria S, Almeida PR, Gonçalves ÓF, Gonçalves RA, Sampaio A and Seara-Cardoso A (2021) Callous-Unemotional Traits Moderate Anticipated Guilt and Wrongness Judgments to Everyday Moral Transgressions in Adolescents. Front. Psychiatry 12:625328. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.625328 ¹ Psychological Neuroscience Laboratory, Psychology Research Centre, School of Psychology, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal, ² Division of Psychology and Language Sciences, University College London, London, United Kingdom, ³ Department of Psychology, Royal Holloway University of London, London, United Kingdom, ⁴ Department of Mathematics, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal, ⁵ Faculty of Law, Interdisciplinary Research Centre on Crime Justice and Security, School of Criminology, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal, ⁶ Proaction Laboratory, Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal, ⁷ School of Psychology, Campus de Gualtar, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

Callous-unemotional (CU) traits observed during childhood and adolescence are thought to be precursors of psychopathic traits in adulthood. Adults with high levels of psychopathic traits typically present antisocial behavior. Such behavior can be indicative of atypical moral processing. Evidence suggests that moral dysfunction in these individuals may stem from a disruption of affective components of moral processing rather than from an inability to compute moral judgments per se. No study to date has tested if the dissociation between affective and cognitive dimensions of moral processing linked to psychopathic traits in adulthood is also linked to CU traits during development. Here, 47 typically developing adolescents with varying levels of CU traits completed a novel, animated cartoon task depicting everyday moral transgressions and indicated how they would feel in such situations and how morally wrong the situations were. Adolescents with higher CU traits reported reduced anticipated guilt and wrongness appraisals of the transgressions. However, our key finding was a significant interaction between CU traits and anticipated guilt in predicting wrongness judgments. The strength of the association between anticipated guilt and wrongness judgement was significantly weaker for those with higher levels of CU traits. This evidence extends our knowledge on the cognitive-affective processing deficits that may underlie moral dysfunction in youth who are at heightened risk for antisocial behavior and psychopathy in adulthood. Future longitudinal research is required to elucidate whether there is an increased dissociation between different components of moral processing from adolescence to adulthood for those with high psychopathic traits.

Keywords: Callous-unemotional (CU) traits, psychopathy, adolescence, moral emotion, moral judgement

4

INTRODUCTION

The term callous-unemotional (CU) refers to a constellation of personality traits that include blunted affect, lack of empathy and remorse, uncaring behavior and disregard for others' feelings and well-being (1-4). CU traits have received increased attention in the last decades. Its presence seems to distinguish a cohort of youth who exhibit instrumental and planned violence, and who display a subtype of conduct disorder that is more severe, more stable and more resistant to treatment [e.g., (5-7)]. High levels of CU traits are thought to contribute to the development of a more persistent and aggressive type of antisocial behavior in youth, found across forensic [e.g., (8, 9), community [e.g., (1, 5)], and mental health samples [e.g., (10)]. Even in the absence of conduct disorder, high levels of CU traits have been associated with higher risk for disruptive behavior [e.g., (5, 11, 12)]. Indeed, longitudinal data indicate that CU traits add to the prediction of serious and persistent criminal behavior in boys, over and above the presence of conduct disorder symptoms and oppositional defiant problems (13).

Contemporary perspectives on human morality have emphasized the role of emotions on moral reasoning and behavior (14, 15). Moral emotions—i.e., "emotions that respond to moral violations or that motivate moral behavior" [(16), p. 853]-in particular seem to have a prominent role in moral judgment—i.e., our ability to tell right from wrong (15, 17-19). It has been hypothesized that the experience of moral emotions, such as guilt, may help people to identify the moral implications of their judgments and behaviors and that the anticipation of moral emotions may support regulation of appropriate social behavior [see (20) for a recent review]. Studies suggest that the lack of adherence to moral and social norms may be rooted in emotional processes rather than moral reasoning processes (21, 22). For example, guilt proneness, i.e., the predisposition to experience negative feelings about personal wrongdoings, consistently predicts appropriate moral behavior (23). Also, guilt aversion-i.e., guilt evoked when an agent believes he had failed/hurt others based on failing their expectations (24)-is suggested to strongly motivate people's choices during cooperative efforts such as games, plausibly playing a role in moral judgments (25-27). Feelings of guilt are thought to provide immediate and salient feedback on either executed or imagined behavior (21). Therefore, the anticipation of guilt about committing a wrongdoing can work as a "brake" that curbs antisocial behavior.

CU traits are thought to be the precursor of affective and interpersonal psychopathic traits in adulthood (28). Extant evidence suggests that moral dysfunction in adults with high levels of psychopathic traits may stem from a disruption of the affective and motivational components of moral processing rather than from an inability to compute moral judgments *per se* (29). For example, high levels of psychopathic traits seem to be associated with reduced propensity to feel moral emotions (i.e., guilt) and reduced difficulty in judging actions in moral dilemmas (30, 31), but not with endorsement of such actions [(30, 32) but see (33) for an exception]. Concomitantly, psychopathic traits are associated with reduced responses in affective brain regions during moral processing despite apparent intact moral judgment ability (34, 35). In parallel, a growing body of research has been showing a dissociation between affective and cognitive empathy impairments in individuals with high level of psychopathy (e.g., 30, 36–38). Individuals with high levels of psychopathy seem to have intact cognitive empathy, i.e., are able to infer and describe what others feel, but show impairments in affective empathy, i.e., fail to resonate with others' feelings (30, 36–38). The same pattern of dissociation between affective and cognitive empathic processes has been identified in children with high levels of CU traits (39–41).

Whilst accumulating evidence suggests a dissociation between affective and cognitive components of moral processing in adults with high levels of psychopathy, it is not clear whether this dissociation is already at play during development. A few studies have now inspected correlates of moral dysfunction associated with CU traits. For example, akin to adults with high psychopathic traits (18, 42), children and adolescents with high levels of CU traits present difficulties in distinguishing between moral and conventional transgressions (43, 44). They report that, if given permission from a figure of authority, it is as acceptable to break a conventional societal rule, such as leaving the classroom, as it is to break a moral rule such as not to hit someone. This failure to distinguish between the two types of transgressions is thought to reflect diminished emotional resonance to the harm caused to the victim. More recently, Fragkaki et al. (45) found that high levels of CU traits were associated with lower feelings of guilt when individuals were imagining themselves committing antisocial acts. Neuroimaging research suggests that the atypical moral behavior that children and youth with high CU traits display may stem from dysfunction in brain regions implicated in affective processing, namely the amygdala and the ventromedial prefrontal cortex [vmPFC; for a review see, (46)]. For example, adolescents with higher CU traits show a negative association between amygdala responses and ratings of moral violations severity (47) and reduced amygdala response during implicit moral judgement (48). Additionally, they show a reduced connectivity between amygdala and vmPFC during both explicit and implicit moral judgment (47, 48). Overall, the evidence suggests that youths with high CU and adults with high psychopathic traits seem to be remarkably similar in terms of their behavioral and neurobiological impairments associated with moral judgments [for a review see (49)].

No study to date has tested if the dissociation between affective (i.e., anticipated guilt) and cognitive (i.e., wrongness judgments) dimensions of moral behavior observed in adults with high levels of psychopathy is also linked to CU traits during development. This is important, as it will help us gain a more precise picture of the cognitive-affective processing deficits that may underlie atypical moral processing in youth who are at heightened risk for antisocial behavior and psychopathy in adulthood. Moreover, extant research has been mostly conducted in populations with disruptive behavior disorders. However, an increasing number of studies have advocated the importance of studying CU traits in community samples because these traits are almost always accompanied with some conduct disturbance, predict poorer outcomes and also because many children with clinically significant needs do not receive treatment (50–53). In youth, CU traits are linked to a constellation of problems indicative of a subclinical variation of antisocial behavior, such as increased risk-taking behavior, hyperactivity, and poor peer relationships (13, 53–55). Akin to psychopathic traits in adulthood (56), evidence suggests CU traits to be continuously distributed in the general population (57). Research with non-forensic adult samples has revealed similar associations (comparatively with forensic samples) between psychopathic traits and abnormal moral behavior (30, 31, 58).

In the present study, we developed a novel animated cartoon task depicting first-person everyday harm-based moral transgressions and asked adolescents from the community to report: (1) how they would feel in such situations, and (2) how wrong such actions would be. Importantly, in this task, and contrary to most of the tasks used in morality research, we used everyday scenarios to assess moral decision making rather than life and death situations which are unlikely to be encountered in everyday life. All scenarios portrayed situations that involve harming others for personal gain. Scenarios were carefully designed to guarantee that they corresponded to moral transgressions but also that their content was developmentally appropriate. We predicted that CU traits would be negatively associated with variance in anticipated guilt to everyday moral transgressions but not with variance in moral wrongness judgments (both in terms of participants' ratings and response times [RTs]). Importantly, we predicted that CU traits would be linked with a higher dissociation between anticipated guilt and moral wrongness appraisals.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Forty-seven typically-developing male adolescents with ages ranging from 15 to 18 years ($M_{age} = 16.19$ years; SD = 0.89) took part in this study. We focused on male adolescents for a number of reasons. Male adolescents present higher levels of CU traits, antisocial behavior, delinquency and commit more crimes than girls (59). Plus, the majority of research on moral processing in adults with high levels of psychopathy has focused on adult males. A male adolescent sample would allow us a direct comparison of results with the literature on adult populations whilst avoiding the need to include an extra gender variable which would require a much larger sample. Participants had no history of substance abuse, neurological/psychiatric disorders, or other clinically relevant diagnoses. Participants filled in questionnaires and performed a moral transgressions experimental task on a laptop computer in a single, individual session at their school. Participants and their parents provided written informed consent before taking part in the study. The study was approved and conducted in full accordance with the guidelines set by the Ethics Committee for Health and Life Sciences of University of Minho.

Materials

Inventory of Callous-Unemotional Traits-Self-Report [ICU; (1, 60)]

CU traits were measured using participants' ratings on the Portuguese version of the ICU scale [1; see the validation for the Portuguese population in (60)]. The self-report version of the ICU is a 24-item questionnaire designed to assess callous, unemotional and uncaring traits in children and youth; (Callousness: "I do not care who I hurt to get what I want"; Uncaring: "I feel bad or guilty when I do something wrong"; Unemotional: "I do not show my emotions to others"). The items are rated on a four-point scale ranging from 0 (*not true at all*) to 3 (*definitely true*). Each sub-factor score is computed by summing up its items (some items are reverse-scored) and the total score is obtained by summing up all sub-factors' scores.

Everyday Moral Transgressions Task

We developed a novel, animated cartoons task depicting everyday moral transgressions, based on Seara-Cardoso et al. (35). In these cartoons, an avatar (a male youth) harms another person in order to achieve a personal goal. Moral transgressions were made as unambiguous as possible by clearly indicating the intentions of the avatar and the consequences of his actions (61). Twenty-seven cartoons depicting everyday moral transgressions were created according to the following structure: (1) the avatar's personal goal/desire is established (4s); and (2) the avatar harms another person to get his goal/desire (6s; harmto-other scenarios, HTO). To ensure that all scenarios were deemed moral transgressions and did elicit feelings of guilt, 27 alternative ending control scenarios were created where, instead of causing harm to another person, the avatar causes harm to himself to achieve the same goal/desire (harm-toself scenarios, HTS). The task was divided in two blocks, counterbalanced across participants. In one block, participants rated all cartoons on anticipated feelings of guilt (i.e., "How much guilt would you feel?") on a sliding scale from "None" (0) to "A lot" (20) passing through a middle stance ("Some"). In the other block, participants rated all cartoons on moral wrongness (i.e. "How wrong would this be?") on a sliding scale from "Not wrong" (0) to "Extremely wrong" (20) going through a middle stance ("Somewhat") (Figure 1). After watching each cartoon, participants had up to 4s to complete the rating. Cartoons within each block were randomized. Cronbach's a for guilt and wrongness judgments of moral transgression scenarios were 0.924 and 0.941, respectively. Cartoon video clips were created using GoAnimate (https://www.vyond.com/). The task was programmed in E-Prime (E-Prime 2.0 Build 2.0.10.242). Participants were seated in a comfortable chair at a distance of \sim 50–100 cm from a computer monitor of 17" and 1,280 \times 1,024 resolution (Scenicview A17-3, Fujitsu Siemens) in a quiet, well-illuminated room and used headphones to reduce auditory distraction. Videos were displayed in the upper two thirds of the monitor, and the question and corresponding sliding scale were displayed below. Participants used the computer mouse to provide their answers.



Statistical Analysis

Then, to check whether the moral transgression cartoons did portray a moral transgression and did elicit feelings of guilt, paired-*t*-tests were conducted to detect significant differences in wrongness and guilt judgments between all pairs of HTO and HTS scenarios. Missing values were excluded. All HTO scenarios, except one (scenario 16, see **Supplementary Table 1**), presented significantly higher ratings of anticipated guilt and moral wrongness than their alternative HTS scenario (all *t* > 2.50; *p* < 0.01). This scenario was excluded from further analyses to ensure that all the stimuli included portrayed guilt-eliciting moral transgressions.

To examine the relationship between appraisals (anticipated guilt and moral wrongness) of moral transgressions and CU traits (i.e., ICU total score) and between response times during appraisals and CU traits, linear mixed-effects models (LMMs) were estimated. LMMs are particularly appropriate for the analysis of nested structured data as is the case of this study. As the data were nested both within participants and within scenarios, participants and scenarios were treated as random effects. Additional LMMs were estimated to test whether CU traits moderated the relationship between feelings of guilt and wrongness ratings, i.e., to test whether levels of CU traits changed the strength of the association between these two variables; and whether CU traits moderated the relationship between RTs in ratings of anticipated guilt and wrongness judgments, which might be considered as a proxy of difficulty in making such judgments. The presence of univariate outliers was checked using the protocol described by Tabachnick and Fidell's (62). The highest RT in anticipated guilt (RT = 3891 ms) was identified as a potential outlier. Removal of this observation had a very small impact on the parameters estimates. We also ran additional models without the observation with the lowest RT in anticipated guilt (RT = 39 ms), given its extremely low value. Removal of both observations had a very small impact on the parameters estimates (see **Supplementary Materials** for these results). For completeness, we also computed additional models with age as a covariate. Our results indicate that age is positively associated with wrongness ratings and RTs but its inclusion does change the pattern of our results. It should be noted, though, that the limited age range in our sample precludes a definite interpretation of these findings (see **Supplementary Materials** for these results). Statistical analyses were carried out in R statistical software (63), using nlme package to perform linear mixed effects modeling, and ggplot2 package to construct the graphs. *P*-values lower than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

RESULTS

The means, standard deviations and ranges for all variables are presented in **Table 1**. HTS scenarios were used only to confirm that all of HTO scenarios portrayed guilt-eliciting moral transgressions. All following analyses relate to moral transgressions (i.e., HTO) scenarios only.

Are CU Traits Associated With Anticipated Feelings of Guilt and Wrongness Judgments to Everyday Moral Transgressions?

We estimated LMMs with random intercepts for testing the association between anticipated guilt and ICU score, and between wrongness judgments and ICU score. Predictor variables were grand mean centered. Parameter estimates from each model TABLE 1 | Characterization of the sample in terms of scores on the ICU, and ratings and response times to the everyday moral transgressions task.

| | | Adolescents ($N = 47$) | | | | | | |
|-------------------|---------------|--------------------------|----------|--------|---------------|----------|--|--|
| ICU score | M 19.04 | | SE |) | Range | | | |
| | | | 6.36 | | 7 - 36 | | | |
| | HTO scenarios | | | | HTS Scenarios | | | |
| | М | SD | Range | М | SD | Range | | |
| Wrongness ratings | 16.3 | 4.0 | 0-20 | 7.6 | 6.3 | 0–20 | | |
| Guilt ratings | 15.7 | 4.3 | 0-20 | 8.8 | 6.4 | 0–20 | | |
| Wrongness RTs | 1309.5 | 736.7 | 176-3989 | 1599.1 | 843.0 | 39–3955 | | |
| Guilt RTs | 1424.6 | 722.8 | 34-3891 | 1655.9 | 802.9 | 257–3993 | | |

ICU, Inventory of Callous-Unemotional traits; HTO, "Harm-To-Other" scenarios; HTS, "Harm-To-Self' scenarios; RTs, Response Times.

TABLE 2 | Linear mixed models of Anticipated Guilt and Moral Wrongness ratings including the effects of CU traits.

| Fixed effects | Guilt ratings | | | Wrongness ratings | | | |
|-------------------------|---------------|------------------|---------|-------------------|-----------------|---------|--|
| | β | SE | p-value | β | SE | p-value | |
| Intercept | 15.81 | 0.30 | < 0.001 | 16.44 | 0.29 | < .001 | |
| ICU score | -0.18 | 0.02 | < 0.001 | -0.15 | 0.02 | < .001 | |
| Random effects | SD (CI) | | | SD (Cl) | | | |
| Scenario (intercept) | | 1.4 (1.03–1.96) | | 1.4 (1.03–1.94) | | | |
| Participant (intercept) | | 3.6 (2.52–5.07) | | 3.3 (2.45–4.52) | | | |
| Residual | | 1.4 (0.13–14.33) | | | 1.3 (0.17–9.78) | | |
| Marginal R ² | 0.077 | | | 0.054 | | | |
| AIC | 6686.75 | | | 6517.14 | | | |

β, unstandardized regression coefficient; SE, standard error; ICU, Inventory of Callous–Unemotional traits; CI, confidence interval; AIC, Akaike Information Criterion.

are presented in **Table 2** and the relation between variables is illustrated in **Figure 2**. Higher CU traits were associated with less anticipated guilt ($\beta = -0.18$, p < 0.001) and less wrongfulness judgments ($\beta = -0.15$, p < 0.001). The variance in anticipated guilt explained by ICU score was 7.7% and in wrongness judgments was 5.4%, as indicated by the marginal R^2 statistic.

Two additional LMMs were estimated to test the associations between ICU score and response times in anticipated guilt and wrongness appraisals. Predictor variables were grand mean centered. Parameter estimates from each model are presented in **Table 3**. ICU scores were positively associated with response times in performing guilt and wrongness appraisals (Guilt: $\beta = 15.38$, p < 0.001; Wrongness: $\beta = 17.43$, p < 0.001). That is, those scoring higher on ICU took longer to provide ratings of guilt and wrongness (see **Table 3**).

Do Levels of CU Traits Moderate the Association Between Anticipated Guilt and Wrongness Judgments for Everyday Moral Transgressions?

To examine whether CU traits moderate the relation between anticipated guilt and wrongness judgments, a separate linear

mixed model, adding an interaction term between anticipated guilt and CU traits, was fitted (see **Table 4**). All predictor variables were grand mean centered. ICU score moderated the relation between anticipated guilt and wrongness ratings ($\beta = -0.01$, p < 0.001) revealing a weaker association between those components of moral judgment in participants with higher CU levels. Adolescents with lower levels of CU traits showed a steep increase in the wrongfulness ratings as the ratings of anticipated guilt augmented, whilst this was not observed in those with high levels of CU traits (**Figure 3**).

Is the Strength of the Association Between Anticipated Guilt and Response Times to Wrongness Judgments Moderated by CU Traits?

Finally, and to inspect whether higher anticipated guilt has a facilitating effect on wrongness judgments and whether this is impacted by CU traits, we examined if CU traits moderate the relation between anticipated guilt ratings and wrongness judgments' RTs. A separate linear mixed model was fitted, adding an interaction term between anticipated guilt and CU traits (see **Table 5**). Higher levels of anticipated guilt were



FIGURE 2 | Scatter plots depicting the associations between CU traits (X axes) and anticipated guilt (graph on the left) and wrongness (graph on the right) ratings to moral transgressions. The black lines at each graph illustrate linear effects of CU traits on guilt and wrongness ratings, respectively. The shaded area (in gray) represents the 95% confidence interval of the prediction.

| TABLE 3 | Linear mixed models c | f Anticipated Guil | t and Wrongness | RTs including the | effects of CU traits |
|---------|-----------------------|--------------------|-----------------|--------------------|----------------------|
| | | a maintaipatoa aun | Lana wiongrioss | The moluturing the | 010013 01 00 114113. |

| Fixed effects | Guilt RTs | | | Wrongness RTs | | | |
|-------------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|---------|------------------------|-------|---------|--|
| | β | SE | p-value | β | SE | p-value | |
| Intercept | 1441.96 | 36.84 | < 0.001 | 1310.18 | 37.45 | < 0.001 | |
| ICU Total score | 15.38 | 3.27 | < 0.001 | 17.43 | 3.26 | < 0.001 | |
| Random effects | SD (CI) | | | SD (CI) | | | |
| Scenario (intercept) | 155.8 (104.86–231.39) | | | 159.8 (107.42–237.58) | | | |
| Participant (intercept) | 6 | 65.0 (34.87–12682.27) | | 664.4 (15.31–28838.92) | | | |
| Residual | 251.8 (0.01-441062.82) | | | 251.7 (0.01-649355.72) | | | |
| Marginal R ² | 0.012 | | | 0.022 | | | |
| AIC | 19176.71 | | | 19173.87 | | | |

β, unstandardized regression coefficient; SE, standard error; ICU, Inventory of Callous-Unemotional traits; CI, confidence interval; AIC, Akaike Information Criterion.

associated with lower response times ($\beta = -35.05$, p < 0.001) to wrongness judgments. CU traits did not moderate the association between anticipated guilt and response time to wrongness judgements (p = 0.71).

DISCUSSION

The presence of high levels of CU traits, a constellation of personality traits marked by blunted affect, uncaring behavior and disregard for others [e.g., (3)], in youth is associated with increased antisocial behavior, even in the absence of a diagnosis of conduct disorder (5, 12). CU traits are considered to be developmental precursors of core affective-interpersonal aspects of psychopathy, a disorder marked by serious and persistent antisocial behavior (2, 4, 28, 64, 65). A growing body of research in adult samples suggests that moral dysfunction in psychopathy

may stem from a disruption of the affective components of moral processing rather than from an inability to compute moral judgments per se. Here, we present data on a novel task of everyday moral processing and test if the dissociation between affective and cognitive dimensions of moral processing linked to psychopathic traits in adulthood is also observed in relation to CU traits in adolescence, in a typically-developing adolescent sample. In this task, adolescents were presented with personal everyday moral transgression scenarios and were asked to rate how much guilt they would feel and how wrong it would be if they performed such actions. We found that CU traits were negatively associated with both anticipated guilt and wrongness appraisals to the transgressions; adolescents with higher CU traits anticipated feeling less guilt and made less wrongfulness judgments. However, we also found that higher levels of CU traits were associated with increased dissociation between anticipated guilt and moral judgment. That is, in contrast to those with low levels of CU traits, adolescents with high levels of CU traits did not show a steeper increase in wrongness ratings as the ratings of anticipated guilt augmented. Our key finding relates to the moderating role of CU traits in the association between anticipated guilt and moral judgment. Contemporary perspectives of human morality emphasize the

TABLE 4 | Linear mixed model for the relation between anticipated guilt and wrongness judgments moderated by CU traits.

| TABLE 5 Linear mixed model for relations between anticipated guilt and |
|--|
| wrongness judgments' RTs moderated by CU traits. |

| | Wrongness ratings | | | | | | |
|-------------------------|-------------------|-----------------|---------|--|--|--|--|
| Fixed effects | β | SE | p-value | | | | |
| Intercept | 16.36 | 0.14 | < 0.001 | | | | |
| ICU score | -0.03 | 0.02 | 0.02 | | | | |
| Guilt | 0.6 | 0.02 | < 0.001 | | | | |
| Guilt*ICU score | -0.01 | 0.00 | < 0.001 | | | | |
| Random effects | | SD (CI) | | | | | |
| Scenario (intercept) | | 0.6 (0.34–0.87) | | | | | |
| Participant (intercept) | | 2.7 (2.27–3.10) | | | | | |
| Residual | | 1.0 (0.35–2.85) | | | | | |
| Marginal R ² | | 0.427 | | | | | |
| AIC | | 5964.85 | | | | | |

 β , unstandardized regression coefficient; SE, standard error; ICU, Inventory of Callous-Unemotional traits; CI, confidence interval; AIC, Akaike Information Criterion.

| | Wrongness RTs | | | | | | |
|-------------------------|---------------|--------------------|---------|--|--|--|--|
| Fixed effects | β | SE | p-value | | | | |
| Intercept | 1307.64 | 32.75 | < 0.001 | | | | |
| ICU score | 11.34 | 3.41 | < 0.001 | | | | |
| Guilt | -35.05 | 5.26 | < 0.001 | | | | |
| Guilt*ICU score | -0.30 | 0.82 | 0.709 | | | | |
| Random effects | | SD (CI) | | | | | |
| Scenario (intercept) | 12 | 7.9 (81.43–200.98) | | | | | |
| Participant (intercept) | 653. | 8 (20.90–20450.47 | 7) | | | | |
| Residual | 246 | .5 (0.01–80769.77 |) | | | | |
| Marginal R ² | | 0.061 | | | | | |
| AIC | | 19145.91 | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |

β, unstandardized regression coefficient; SE, standard error; ICU, Inventory of Callous-Unemotional traits; CI, confidence interval; AIC, Akaike Information Criterion.



strength of the association between anticipated guilt and moral judgments was significantly weaker for those adolescents with higher levels of CU traits.

role of moral emotions on moral judgement, in particular in carebased moral judgments (15, 18, 19). Moral emotions are thought to play a fundamental role on the development of judgments about moral situations (66, 67). In our sample, CU traits were negatively associated with the strength of the association between guilt and wrongness judgments. For adolescents with higher levels of these traits, moral emotions did not seem to play such an important role on moral appraisals. This is interesting, because it suggests that the dissociation between moral emotions and moral judgment linked to psychopathic traits may already be present during adolescence and evolve through adulthood. Findings from neuroimaging research on moral processing in adolescents with high CU traits, albeit sparse, are in-line with this idea. CU traits have been found to be associated with diminished amygdala response and connectivity with prefrontal regions during moral judgment (47, 48). The amygdala is a brain region critical for affective processing and this pattern of diminished response might reflect reduced affective input during moral judgement. It is possible that the moderating role of CU traits in the association between anticipated guilt and wrongness appraisals reflects a lack of "affective coloring" in moral judgment in adolescents with high levels of CU.

In line with findings from adult research [e.g., (30, 31, 35)] and a recent study with a youth community sample (45), we further found that adolescents with higher CU traits reported anticipating less guilt when imagining themselves performing everyday actions that cause harm to other people, and took longer to make these evaluations. This finding agrees with recent literature reporting emotional hypo-responsivity of children with high levels of CU traits, in particular to others' stress, manifested at behavioral, cognitive and neural levels (see 3, 49 for recent reviews). Our findings also revealed that adolescents with higher levels of CU traits judge everyday moral transgressions as less wrongful. This is in contrast to the majority of findings from adult studies indicating that individuals with high levels of psychopathic traits have apparently intact moral judgment abilities. For example, the endorsement of actions in moral dilemmas seems to be similar for adult psychopaths and controls (32, 68) and does not seem to vary with levels of psychopathic traits in community samples (30, 31). Additionally, psychopathic traits do not seem to be associated with moral wrongness judgments of aggressive behavior (69), nor of everyday moral situations (35). Findings from child and adolescent samples are sparser and less consistent. For example, Marsh et al. (48) did not find behavioral differences between youth with high levels of psychopathic traits and matched controls when making explicit moral judgments. Harenski et al. (47) found that psychopathic traits in a sample of incarcerated youth were negatively associated with ratings of violation severity of pictures with moral content. But, psychopathic traits were also negatively associated with ratings of non-moral but still unpleasant pictures, which might indicate a lack of specificity to moral content.

It has been proposed that, in the absence of an emotional response to moral transgressions, individuals with high levels of psychopathic traits use alternative cognitive strategies to process moral judgments (61). Individuals with high levels of psychopathy seem to know (and apply) the rules that are relevant

to make moral judgements but do seem to do so without using "standard" affective routes that are taken by those with low levels of these traits (32, 68, 70). This point is supported by our last analysis. We found a negative association between guilt anticipation and response time to wrongness judgements. Participants took less time to provide their wrongness ratings when anticipated guilt was high. Hence, higher response time when making a moral appraisal in participants higher in CU may reflect the lack of emotional loading when judging the scenario and the reliance on other cues to provide a response. Our results thus suggest that differences in appraisals of wrongness are still present in adolescents with high CU, alongside difficulties in making these appraisals, but a weaker role of emotion on moral judgement is also already observed.

Additionally, it is possible that adults with high levels of psychopathic traits display typical moral judgment due to an intact ability to understand the thoughts of others (36, 44), as well as others' expectations (71). This would enable adults with high levels of psychopathic traits to respond to moral tasks and questionnaires in the same way they think other people would, thus engaging in successful impression management. Social cognition skills are not yet fully developed during adolescence [see (72) for a review]. The ability to understand the thoughts of others and flexibility in taking another's perspective into account seems to be still developing in late adolescence and early adulthood (73). Plus, recent evidence suggests that, although adolescents with higher levels of CU traits do not seem to be less able than their peers to infer the thoughts of others, they seem to be less prone to take others' thoughts into account, at least in a spontaneous and effortless manner (74). This could explain why more lenient moral appraisals are observed in adolescents with higher levels of CU but not in adults with higher levels of psychopathic traits. This could also explain why adolescents with higher levels of CU take longer to make such judgments.

The present work provides relevant evidence regarding early signs of a dissociation between affective (i.e., anticipated guilt) and cognitive (i.e., wrongness judgments) dimensions of moral behavior in adolescents with high levels of CU traits. However, it is important to bear in mind that the lack of a comparison group of adults precluded us from examining if and how the moderation of the association between guilt and moral judgments by psychopathy changes/increases with age. Future cross-sectional and, critically, longitudinal research is required to confirm an increased dissociation between different components of moral processing from adolescence to adulthood for those with high levels of psychopathic traits. A larger and mixedgender sample would also allow us more power to detect possible smaller effects and also to test if the links found between moral processing components and CU traits are similar for boys and girls or whether there are gender-specific differences, in line with recent research examining gender differences in moral emotions (75). It should also be noted that cognitive ability was not controlled for in this study. Research findings on how intelligence interacts with psychopathy and antisocial behavior is diverse, with studies suggesting that IQ is likely a protective factor against antisocial behavior (76) whilst others indicate that enhanced verbal abilities potentiate the relation between callous-unemotional traits and violent juvenile offending (77). We have not included a measure of cognitive ability in the current study for a number of reasons: there is limited evidence of the role of IQ on processing of everyday moral transgressions in adolescents (78); our sample was comprised of typically developing adolescents from a regular high school and we did not expect to find adolescents outside the typical range of IQ; and we had limited testing time imposed by the school. Future work should investigate whether IQ does play a role on the processing of both cognitive and emotional aspects of everyday transgressions in a large adolescent sample with varying levels of IQ, and also address whether and how cognitive abilities modify the effect we found in the present work.

Despite these limitations, this study presents important new evidence of how, in typically developing adolescents, the presence of CU traits moderates the association between affective and cognitive components of moral processing. Our findings are in line with the notion that evidence gathered from community studies often reflect the findings of forensic and clinical investigations (79) and support the dimensional approach to psychopathy suggesting that correlates of psychopathic traits in adults and CU traits in children and youth are present in a continuum in the population [see (80), for a review]. Plus, they add evidence to the view that CU traits are strongly linked to impairments in emotional functioning, and that these impairments may play an important role in explaining moral dysfunction in youth with high psychopathic traits (81). The present findings make important contributions to further characterize and comprehend the cognitive-affective processing deficits that may underlie atypical moral processing in youth who are at heightened risk for antisocial behavior and psychopathy in adulthood.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- 1. Essau CA, Sasagawa S, Frick PJ. Callous-unemotional traits in a community sample of adolescents. *Assessment.* (2006) 13:454–69. doi: 10.1177/1073191106287354
- Frick PJ, Ray JV, Thornton LC, Kahn RE. Annual research review: a developmental psychopathology approach to understanding callousunemotional traits in children and adolescents with serious conduct problems. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2014) 55:532–48. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12152
- Viding E, McCrory E, Seara-Cardoso A. Psychopathy. Curr Biol. (2014) 24:R871–4. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2014.06.055
- Viding E, Kimonis E. Callous-Unemotional traits. In Christopher J, Patrick, editor. *Handbook of Psychopathy*. New York, NY: Guilford Press (2019). p. 144–63.
- Frick PJ, Cornell AH, Barry CT, Bodin SD, Dane HE. Callous-unemotional traits and conduct problems in the prediction of conduct problem severity, aggression, and self-report of delinquency. J Abnorm Child Psychol. (2003) 31:457–70. doi: 10.1023/A:1023899703866

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of University of Minho, Braga, Portugal (SECVS131/2016). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AS-C, EV, CS, and AS: conceptualization. SF, MV, and AS-C: statistical analyses. AS-C, MV, EV, and CS: writing—original draft. AS-C: funding acquisition. All authors: writing—review & editing, contributed to the article, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT) research grant awarded to AS-C (PTDC/MHC-PCN/2296/2014), co-financed by FEDER through COMPETE2020 under the PT2020 Partnership Agreement (POCI-01-0145-FEDER-016747). The study was conducted at the Psychology Research Center (PSI/01662), School of Psychology, University of Minho, supported by FCT through the Portuguese State Budget (Ref.: UIDB/PSI/01662/2020).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Ms. Andreia Queirós and Dr. Eugénia Fernandes for their assistance with data collection.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.625328/full#supplementary-material

- Frick PJ, Dickens C. Current perspectives on conduct disorder. Curr Psychiatry Rep. (2006) 8:59–72. doi: 10.1007/s11920-006-0082-3
- Kruh IP, Frick PJ, Clements CB. Historical and personality correlates to the violence patterns of juveniles tried as adults. *Crim Justice Behav.* (2005) 32:69–96. doi: 10.1177/0093854804270629
- Caputo AA, Frick PJ, Brodsky SL. Family violence and juvenile sex offending. Crim Justice Behav. (1999) 26:338–56. doi: 10.1177/0093854899026003004
- Vincent GM, Vitacco MJ, Grisso T, Corrado RR. Subtypes of adolescent offenders: affective traits and antisocial behavior patterns. *Behav Sci Law.* (2003) 21:695–712. doi: 10.1002/bsl.556
- Christian RE, Frick PJ, Hill NL, Tyler L, Frazer DR. Psychopathy and conduct problems in children: II. implications for subtyping children with conduct problems. J Am Acad Child Adoles Psychiatry. (1997) 36:233– 41. doi: 10.1097/00004583-199702000-00014
- Meier MH, Slutske WS, Arndt S, Cadoret RJ. Impulsive and callous traits are more strongly associated with delinquent behavior in higher risk neighborhoods among boys and girls. J Abnorm Psychol. (2008) 117:377– 85. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.117.2.377

- Rowe R, Maughan B, Moran P, Ford T, Briskman J, Goodman R. The role of callous and unemotional traits in the diagnosis of conduct disorder. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2010) 51:688–95. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02199.x
- Pardini DA, Fite PJ. Symptoms of conduct disorder, oppositional defiant disorder, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, and callous-unemotional traits as unique predictors of psychosocial maladjustment in boys: advancing an evidence base for DSM-V. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2010) 49:1134–44. doi: 10.1097/00004583-201011000-00007
- 14. Blasi A. Bridging moral cognition and moral action: a critical review of the literature. *Psychol Bull.* (1980) 88:1–45. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.88.1.1
- Haidt J. The emotional dog and its rational tail: a social intuitionist approach to moral judgment. *Psychol Rev.* (2001) 108:814–34. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.108.4.814
- Haidt J. The moral emotions. In Davidson J, Scherer KR, Goldsmith HH, editors. *Handbook of Affective Sciences*. 11th ed. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press (2003). P. 852–70.
- Blair JR, Meffert H, Hwang S, White SF. Psychopathy brain function: insights from neuroimaging research. In: Patrick CJ, editor. *Handbook of Psychopathy*. New York, NY: Guilford Press (2019). p. 401–20.
- Blair RJR. A cognitive developmental approach to morality: investigating the psychopath. Cognition. (1995) 57:1–29. doi: 10.1016/0010-0277(95)00676-P
- 19. Green SP. Lying, misleading, and falsely denying: how moral concepts inform the law of perjury, fraud, false statements. *Hastings Law J.* (2001) 53:157.
- Ellemers N, van der Toorn J, Paunov Y, van Leeuwen T. The psychology of morality: a review and analysis of empirical studies published from 1940 through 2017. *Personal Soc Psychol Rev.* (2019) 23:332–66. doi: 10.1177/1088868318811759
- Tangney JP, Stuewig J, Mashek DJ. Moral emotions and moral behavior. Annu Rev Psychol. (2007) 58:345–72. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.56.091103.070145
- Wagner U, N'Diaye K, Ethofer T, Vuilleumier P. Guilt-specific processing in the prefrontal cortex. *Cerebral Cortex*. (2011) 21:2461–70. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhr016
- 23. Cohen TR, Panter AT, Turan N. Guilt proneness and moral character. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci.* (2012) 21:355–9. doi: 10.1177/0963721412454874
- 24. Charness G, Dufwenberg M. Promises and partnership. *Econometrica*. (2006) 74:1579–601. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0262.2006.00719.x
- Battigalli P, Dufwenberg M. Guilt in games. Am Econ Rev. (2007) 97:170– 6. doi: 10.1257/aer.97.2.170
- Chang LJ, Smith A, Dufwenberg M, Sanfey AG. Triangulating the neural, psychological, and economic bases of guilt aversion. *Neuron.* (2011) 70:560– 72. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.02.056
- Sarlo M, Lotto L, Rumiati R, Palomba D. If it makes you feel bad, don't do it! Egoistic rather than altruistic empathy modulates neural and behavioral responses in moral dilemmas. *Physiol Behav.* (2014) 130:127– 34. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.04.002
- Lynam DR, Caspi A, Moffitt TE, Loeber R, Stouthamer-Loeber M. Longitudinal evidence that psychopathy scores in early adolescence predict adult psychopathy. J Abnorm Psychol. (2007) 116:155–65. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.116.1.155
- Raine A, Yang Y. Neural foundations to moral reasoning and antisocial behavior. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2006) 1:203–13. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsl,033
- Seara-Cardoso A, Neumann C, Roiser J, McCrory E, Viding E. Investigating associations between empathy, morality and psychopathic personality traits in the general population. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2012) 52:67–71. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2011.08.029
- Seara-Cardoso A, Dolberg H, Neumann C, Roiser JP, Viding E. Empathy, morality and psychopathic traits in women. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2013) 55:328– 33. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2013.03.011
- Cima M, Tonnaer F, Hauser MD. Psychopaths know right from wrong but don't care. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2010) 5:59–67. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsp051
- Koenigs M, Kruepke M, Zeier J, Newman JP. Utilitarian moral judgment in psychopathy. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2012) 7:708–14. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsr048
- Harenski CL, Harenski KA, Shane MS, Kiehl KA. Aberrant neural processing of moral violations in criminal psychopaths. J Abnorm Psychol. (2010) 119:863–74. doi: 10.1037/a0020979
- 35. Seara-Cardoso A, Sebastian CL, McCrory E, Foulkes L, Buon M, Roiser JP, et al. Anticipation of guilt for everyday moral transgressions: the role of the

anterior insula and the influence of interpersonal psychopathic traits. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:1–10. doi: 10.1038/srep36273

- Lockwood PL, Bird G, Bridge M, Viding E. Dissecting empathy: high levels of psychopathic and autistic traits are characterized by difficulties in different social information processing domains. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2013) 7:760. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00760
- Kajonius PJ, Björkman T. Individuals with dark traits have the ability but not the disposition to empathize. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2020) 155:109716. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2019.109716
- Winter K, Spengler S, Bermpohl F, Singer T, Kanske P. Social cognition in aggressive offenders: impaired empathy, but intact theory of mind. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:670. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-00745-0
- Dadds MR, Hawes DJ, Frost ADJ, Vassallo S, Bunn P, Hunter K, et al. Learning to "talk the talk": the relationship of psychopathic traits to deficits in empathy across childhood. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (2009) 50:599– 606. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2008.02058.x
- Jones AP, Happ,é FGE, Gilbert F, Burnett S, Viding E. Feeling, caring, knowing: different types of empathy deficit in boys with psychopathic tendencies and autism spectrum disorder. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (2010) 51:1188– 97. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02280.x
- 41. Sebastian CL, McCrory EJP, Cecil CAM, Lockwood PL, De Brito SA, Fontaine NMG, et al. Neural responses to affective and cognitive theory of mind in children with conduct problems and varying levels of callous-unemotional traits. *Arch Gen Psychiatry.* (2012) 69:814. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.2070
- 42. Blair RJR, Cipolotti R. Impaired social response reversal: a case of 'acquired sociopathy'. *Brain.* (2000) 123:1122–41. doi: 10.1093/brain/123.6.1122
- Blair RJR. Moral reasoning and the child with psychopathic tendencies. Pers Individ Dif. (1997) 22:731–9. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(96)00249-8
- Dolan MC, Fullam RS. Moral/conventional transgression distinction and psychopathy in conduct disordered adolescent offenders. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2010) 49:995–1000. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2010.08.011
- Fragkaki I, Cima M, Meesters C. The association between callousunemotional traits, externalizing problems, and gender in predicting cognitive and affective morality judgments in adolescence. J Youth Adolesc. (2016) 45:1917–30. doi: 10.1007/s10964-016-0527-x
- Blair RJR. The amygdala and ventromedial prefrontal cortex: Functional contributions and dysfunction in psychopathy. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* (2008) 363:2557–65. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2008.0027
- Harenski CL, Harenski KA, Kiehl KA. Neural processing of moral violations among incarcerated adolescents with psychopathic traits. *Dev Cogn Neurosci.* (2014) 10:181–9. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2014.09.002
- Marsh AA, Finger EC, Fowler KA, Jurkowitz ITN, Schechter JC, Yu HH, et al. Reduced amygdala-orbitofrontal connectivity during moral judgments in youths with disruptive behavior disorders and psychopathic traits. *Psychiatry Res.* (2011) 194:279–86. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2011. 07.008
- Blair RJR. The neurobiology of psychopathic traits in youths. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2013) 14:786–99. doi: 10.1038/nrn3577
- Fanti KA, Demetriou CA, Kimonis ER. Variants of callous-unemotional conduct problems in a community sample of adolescents. J Youth Adolesc. (2013) 42:964–79. doi: 10.1007/s10964-013-9958-9
- Fontaine NMG, McCrory EJP, Boivin M, Moffitt TE, Viding E. Predictors and outcomes of joint trajectories of callous-unemotional traits and conduct problems in childhood. J Abnorm Psychol. (2011) 120:730– 42. doi: 10.1037/a0022620
- Kumsta R, Sonuga-barke E, Rutter M. Adolescent callous–unemotional traits and conduct disorder in adoptees exposed to severe early deprivation. Br J Psychiatry. (2012) 200:197–201. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.110.089441
- Viding E, McCrory EJ. Why should we care about measuring callous-unemotional traits in children? Br J Psychiatry. (2012) 200:177–8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.111.099770
- Barker ED, Tremblay RE, Van Lier PAC, Vitaro F, Nagin DS, Assaad JM, et al. The neurocognition of conduct disorder behaviors: specificity to physical aggression and theft after controlling for ADHD symptoms. *Aggress Behav.* (2011) 37:63–72. doi: 10.1002/ab.20373
- 55. Herpers PCM, Klip H, Rommelse NNJ, Greven CU, Buitelaar JK. Associations between high callous-unemotional traits and quality of life across youths

with non-conduct disorder diagnoses. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2016) 25:547–55. doi: 10.1007/s00787-015-0766-5

- Edens JF, Marcus DK, Lilienfeld SO, Poythress NG. Psychopathic, not psychopath: taxometric evidence for the dimensional structure of psychopathy. J Abnorm Psychol. (2006) 115:131– 44. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.115.1.131
- Lethbridge EM, Richardson P, Reidy L, Taroyan NA. Exploring the relationship between callous-unemotional traits, empathy processing and affective valence in a general population. *Euro J Psychol.* (2017) 13:162– 72. doi: 10.5964/ejop.v13i1.1179
- Pasion R, Teixeira A, Geraldo A, Barbosa F, Ferreira-Santos F. Moral decisionmaking and psychopathy: insights from phenotypic components. *Psiquiatria Psicol Justiça*. (2018) 13:30–42. Available online at: https://hdl.handle.net/ 10216/125093
- Loeber R, Capaldi DM, Costello E. Gender the development of aggression, disruptive behavior, delinquency from childhood to early adulthood. In: Tolan P, Leventhal B, editor. Disruptive Behavior Disorders. Advances in Development and Psychopathology: Brain Research Foundation Symposium Series. New York, NY: Springer (2013). pp. 137–160. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-7557-6_6
- Pechorro P, Ray JV, Barroso R, Maroco J, Gonçalves RA. Validation of the inventory of callous-unemotional traits among a portuguese sample of detained juvenile offenders. *Int J Offender Ther Comp Criminol.* (2016) 60:349–65. doi: 10.1177/0306624X14551256
- Buon M, Seara-Cardoso A, Viding E. Why (and how) should we study the interplay between emotional arousal, theory of mind, and inhibitory control to understand moral cognition? *Psychonomic Bull Rev.* (2016) 23:1660– 80. doi: 10.3758/s13423-016-1042-5
- 62. Tabachnick BG, Fidell LS. Using Multivariate Statistics. 6th ed. Boston, MA: Pearson (2013).
- 63. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2017).
- 64. Barry CT, Frick PJ, Deshazo TM, McCoy MG, Ellis M, Loney BR. The importance of callous-unemotional traits for extending the concept of psychopathy to children. J Abnorm Psychol. (2000) 109:335–40. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.109.2.335
- Frick PJ, Marsee MA. Psychopathy developmental pathways to antisocial behavior in youth. In: Patrick CJ, editor. *Handbook of Psychopathy*. New York, NY: Guilford Press (2019). p. 456–76.
- 66. Malti T, Keller M. The development of moral emotions in a cultural context. In: Arsenio WF, Lemerise EA, editors. *Emotions, Aggression, and Morality in Children: Bridging Development and Psychopathology.* American Psychological Association (2010). p. 177–98. doi: 10.1037/12129-009
- Malti T, Ongley SF. The development of moral emotions moral reasoning. In: Killen M, Smetana J, editors. *Handbook of Moral Development*. Psychology Press (2014). p. 163–83. doi: 10.4324/9780203581957.ch8
- Glenn AL, Raine A, Schug RA, Young L, Hauser M. Increased DLPFC activity during moral decision-making in psychopathy. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2009) 14:909–11. doi: 10.1038/mp.2009.76
- Hart EJ, Ostrov JM. Relations between forms and functions of aggression and moral judgments of aggressive transgressions. *Aggress Behav.* (2020) 46:220-31. doi: 10.1002/ab.21883

- Tassy S, Oullier O, Cermolacce M, Wicker B. Do psychopathic patients use their DLPFC when making decisions in moral dilemmas? *Mol Psychiatry*. (2009) 14:908–9; author reply 909–11. doi: 10.1038/mp.2009.71
- Gong X, Brazil IA, Chang LJ, Sanfey AG. Psychopathic traits are related to diminished guilt aversion and reduced trustworthiness during social decisionmaking. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:7307. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-43727-0
- Kilford EJ, Garrett E, Blakemore SJ. The development of social cognition in adolescence: an integrated perspective. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2016) 70:106–20. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.08.016
- Dumontheil I, Apperly IA, Blakemore SJ. Online usage of theory of mind continues to develop in late adolescence. *Dev Sci.* (2010) 13:331– 8. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7687.2009.00888.x
- Roberts R, Mccrory E, Bird G, Sharp M, Roberts L, Viding E. Thinking about Others' minds : mental state inference in boys with conduct problems and callous-unemotional traits. J Abnormal Child Psychol. (2020) 48:1279– 90. doi: 10.1007/s10802-020-00664-1
- Bland AR, Schei T, Roiser JP, Mehta MA, Zahn R, Viding E, et al. Agency and intentionality-dependent experiences of moral emotions. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2020) 164:110125. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2020.110125
- Lynam D, Moffitt T, Stouthamer-Loeber M. Explaining the relation between IQ and delinquency: class, race, test motivation, school failure, or selfcontrol? J Abnorm Psychol. (1993) 102:187–96. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.102. 2.187
- Muñoz LC, Frick PJ, Kimonis ER, Aucoin KJ. Verbal ability and delinquency: Testing the moderating role of psychopathic traits. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry.* (2008) 49:414–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007. 01847.x
- Beißert HM, Hasselhorn M. Individual differences in moral development: Does intelligence really affect children's moral reasoning and moral emotions? *Front Psychol.* (2016) 7:1961. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01961
- Hall JR, Benning SD. The "successful" psychopath. In: Patrick, editor, Handbook of psychopathy. New York, NY: The Guilford Press (2006). p. 459– 78.
- Hare RD, Neumann CS. Psychopathy as a clinical and empirical construct. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. (2008) 4:217– 46. doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091452
- Blair RJR, Zhang R. Recent neuro-imaging findings with respect to conduct disorder, callous-unemotional traits and psychopathy. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*. (2020) 33:45–50. doi: 10.1097/YCO.00000000000559

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Vasconcelos, Viding, Sebastian, Faria, Almeida, Gonçalves, Gonçalves, Sampaio and Seara-Cardoso. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Restricted Visual Scanpaths During Emotion Recognition in Childhood Social Anxiety Disorder

Johan Lundin Kleberg^{1,2*}, Emilie Bäcklin Löwenberg¹, Jennifer Y. F. Lau³, Eva Serlachius¹ and Jens Högström¹

¹ Centre for Psychiatry Research, Department of Clinical Neuroscience, Karolinska Institutet, & Stockholm Health Care Services, Region Stockholm, Stockholm, Sweden, ² Department of Molecular Medicine and Surgery, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden, ³ Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

Background: Social anxiety disorder (SAD) has its typical onset in childhood and adolescence. Maladaptive processing of social information may contribute to the etiology and maintenance of SAD. During face perception, individuals execute a succession of visual fixations known as a scanpath which facilitates information processing. Atypically long scanpaths have been reported in adults with SAD, but no data exists from pediatric samples. SAD has also been linked to atypical arousal during face perception. Both metrics were examined in one of the largest eye-tracking studies of pediatric SAD to date.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Veit Roessner, University Hospital Carl Gustav Carus, Germany

Reviewed by:

Julian Schmitz, Leipzig University, Germany Janna Marie Bas-Hoogendam, Leiden University, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Johan Lundin Kleberg johan.lundin.kleberg@ki.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

> Received: 25 January 2021 Accepted: 07 April 2021 Published: 17 May 2021

Citation:

Kleberg JL, Löwenberg EB, Lau JYF, Serlachius E and Högström J (2021) Restricted Visual Scanpaths During Emotion Recognition in Childhood Social Anxiety Disorder. Front. Psychiatry 12:658171. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.658171 **Methods:** Participants were children and adolescents with SAD (n = 61) and healthy controls (n = 39) with a mean age of 14 years (range 10–17) who completed an emotion recognition task. The visual scanpath and pupil dilation (an indirect index of arousal) were examined using eye tracking.

Results: Scanpaths of youth with SAD were shorter, less distributed, and consisted of a smaller number of fixations than those of healthy controls. These findings were supported by both frequentist and Bayesian statistics. Higher pupil dilation was also observed in the SAD group, but despite a statistically significant group difference, this result was not supported by the Bayesian analysis.

Conclusions: The results were contrary to findings from adult studies, but similar to what has been reported in neurodevelopmental conditions associated with social interaction impairments. Restricted scanpaths may disrupt holistic representation of faces known to favor adaptive social understanding.

Keywords: social anxiety disorder, eye tracking, visual scanpaths, social attention, child and adolescent, attention bias, emotion

Social anxiety disorder (SAD) is a highly disabling mental health disorder characterized by intense fear of social evaluation, often leading to extreme distress and avoidance of social interaction (1). SAD has a typical onset in late childhood or adolescence, and if left untreated often takes a chronic course (2). Current theoretical models suggest that etiological factors for SAD include genetic predispositions, temperament, cognitive biases, negative life events, peer-relations and parent behavior, that interact to produce SAD (3). The influential model by Clark and Wells (1995) (4) proposes that when an individual with social anxiety enters a social situation, a set of assumptions and beliefs are activated concerning how they think they have to act and what

15

other people expect of them. A prediction of failure is made which causes the social situation to be perceived as dangerous and to protect the individual from harm, a number of behavioral, cognitive, attentional, affective and somatic processes are activated. These processes, however, are also involved in the long-term maintenance of social anxiety, which prevents habituation to social situations even as the individual engages in frequent interactions with others (5–7). Several models also implicate aberrant information processing in the maintenance or development of SAD (8).

So far, most studies of information processing in SAD have been conducted in adults (9–11). Adults with SAD tend to interpret social signals from others as indications of rejection or hostility (11), a bias that might be driven by disrupted allocation of attention, to socially threatening stimuli (9, 10). Individuals with SAD may also differ from healthy controls regarding the type of stimuli they perceive as threatening. According to the fear of positive evaluation hypothesis, individuals with SAD perceive social cues signaling both negative evaluation (such as an angry face) and positive evaluation (such as a smiling face) as threatening (12, 13).

Since an extensive literature has documented that the development of social attention and emotional brain mechanisms is protracted and often nonlinear, it is not clear whether these results generalize to the younger age range where SAD typically has its onset (14). For example, the period from late childhood to early adulthood is characterized by developmental changes in the relative balance between brain functions involved in automatic emotional reactivity such as the amygdala, and those involved in top-down control of attention and emotion regulation such as the anterior cingulate (ACC) and prefrontal cortex (14–16).

Late childhood and adolescence is a period of high plasticity and intense maturation of the social brain (17, 18). Therefore, aberrant information processing during this period is likely to have cascading developmental consequences (19). Conversely, late childhood and adolescence may be a period when interventions tailored to address disrupted information processing mechanisms are particularly likely to carry long-term benefits (14). To understand these mechanisms is therefore an important research priority.

There is some evidence that youth with SAD misinterpret signs of both negative and positive emotions in faces (20), and show atypical functioning of brain regions involved in face processing (21, 22). However, the patterns of visual attention linked to these observed SAD-linked anomalies are poorly understood.

Visual attention unfolds through a succession of fixations and saccades known as the *scanpath*. Fixated locations are highly prioritized for further cortical processing, and the scanpath is therefore a fundamental aspect of visual information processing. Cognitively demanding tasks typically lead to longer and more widely distributed scanpaths, reflecting a higher degree of mental effort and cognitive control of attention (23, 24). Stimuli signaling potential threats may also be viewed with longer scanpaths than neutral stimuli, possibly driven by increased allocation of attention (25). Some types of facial information can be identified with scanpaths consisting of as little as two fixations, including the identity of familiar individuals or emotional expressions which can be identified by a single feature (e.g., a furrowed eyebrow (26). More typically, novel faces are scanned with multiple fixations (27, 28). A spatially distributed scanpath is believed to facilitate encoding of the face into a holistic percept (26, 29), and improves face recognition (30). Holistic processing is a hallmark of face processing in healthy individuals (31), while individuals with impaired face processing abilities, including those with neurodevelopmental disorders, often use a piecemeal or detail focused strategy (32–34). Restricted scanpaths could be a marker of this detail-focused processing style (35).

So far, a small number of eye-tracking studies have been conducted in children and adolescents with SAD (36-42). These studies examined the relative distribution of attention between threat-related faces and other stimuli during free viewing tasks. Studies using free-viewing tasks are informative about how individuals with SAD spontaneously distribute their attention in the absence of an explicit task and are therefore likely reflecting multiple cognitive processes. However, results from free-viewing tasks are inconclusive, with reports of both avoidance (38, 39), prolonged monitoring of threat (41, 42), quicker orienting to angry faces (43) and equally quick orienting to and from emotional faces in youth with SAD and controls (36). Previous studies are limited by small sample sizes, typically ranging between 20 and 35 individuals [for reviews, see (9, 10)]. Studies in adults have suggested that individuals with SAD look less at the eyes of images of faces when accumulated looking time over several seconds is considered (9). Studies in children and adolescents have so far not reported reduced overall looking time at the eyes in SAD (38, 40). Looking time at the eyes or other regions of a face accumulated over several seconds is likely reflecting several attentional processes, and more temporally sensitive metrics may be needed to detect atypical social attention in child and adolescent SAD (41).

Scanpaths in SAD

Scanpath measures could provide important information about information processing strategies in SAD but have so far not been examined in pediatric samples. Previous studies in adults with SAD reported a pattern of atypical scanpaths during face perception termed hyperscanning [e.g., (44)]. Hyperscanning can be defined as atypically long and widely distributed scanpaths (42–44). Typically, scanpath length is positively correlated with the number of executed fixations in both healthy individuals and individuals with SAD (25, 44–46). However, one study in adults with SAD reported the opposite pattern – i.e., that individuals who made longer scanpaths also made a smaller number of fixations. One reason for this unusual pattern may be that short fixations with a duration of <200 ms which may be more frequent during hyperscanning were discarded from these analyses (47, 48).

Hyperscanning was initially reported during free viewing of static images of faces (47, 48), and later also for dynamic stimuli during a public speaking task (44). Wermes and colleagues (45) extended these findings and found hyperscanning in adults with SAD but only after an anxiety induction procedure. In contrast, the type of visual stimuli (search for threat or neutral stimulus) did not modulate the results. Finally, Boll and colleagues (49) did not observe a group difference in scanpath length between adults with SAD and healthy controls during an emotion classification task.

Pupil Dilation in SAD

Theoretical models of SAD propose that enhanced perception of threat during social-evaluative situations affect not only allocation of attention, but also physiological arousal (3). Heightened arousal is a common aspect of anxiety, and social fear could therefore potentially lead to hyperarousal. Consistent with this, brain imaging studies have shown amygdala hyperreactivity during face processing in SAD (21, 22). So far, little is known about potential links between atypical scanpaths and arousal in SAD.

Pupil dilation is an index of arousal directly controlled by joint activity in the sympathetic and parasympathetic branches of the autonomic nervous system. At least two components of the pupil response can be distinguished during stimulus processing. The first is a rapid constriction and subsequent dilation caused by changes in in luminance called the pupillary light reflex (PLR). The second and slower component (the pupil dilation response, PDR) is characterized by a relative increase in pupil size during periods of attention, mental effort, and arousal. This later response is modulated by cholinergic and noradrenergic activity (50, 51). Traditionally, only the PDR has been linked to cognitive processing, but recent studies indicate that also the PLR is affected by such factors (52).

In light of previous studies, it could therefore be expected that SAD would be associated with enhanced pupil dilation to emotional faces. However, this has not been found in the two studies published so far (38, 40). Keil and colleagues examined pupil dilation in 10-13 year old children and controls during face processing (38). Groups did not differ in the amplitude of their pupil dilation response measured during the whole trial interval (10 s), but the SAD group had a larger PLR than controls, which may reflect blunted cognitive modulation of the PLR. A recent study from our group examined the time course of pupil dilation in a group of adolescents with SAD as well as the amplitude of the response (40). Although adolescents with SAD did not differ from healthy controls in pupil dilation amplitude, an atypical time course was found, characterized by a decrease in pupil dilation over the course of stimulus presentation. We sought to extend these results in a larger sample and in the current study we examined pupil dilation amplitude which is the most commonly studied measure in the literature on pupil dilation (53).

Analysis Plan

The analysis plan was pre-registered in the Open Science Framework after data collection but prior to analysis (link: https://osf.io/dytnf).

Hypotheses

The following hypotheses were tested:

Hypotheses 1: Youth with SAD will show longer scanpaths than healthy controls during face processing (longer total scanpath and more dispersion between fixations).

Hypothesis 2: Youth with SAD will show a blunted pupil dilation response during later stages of face processing (e.g., after initial adaptation to light).

We did not hypothesize group differences in accumulated looking time to the eyes or mouth but included exploratory analyses of these metrics.

METHODS

Participants With SAD

Participants aged 10-17 years with SAD were recruited from an ongoing clinical trial evaluating the efficacy of internet-delivered cognitive behavioral therapy (ICBT) for pediatric SAD. Initially, 107 individuals with SAD were invited and 64 of these accepted to participate in the study and completed the experiment. Three participants with SAD were excluded from all analyses because of invalid data (see Recording and processing of eye tracking data and Statistical Analysis), resulting in a sample size of 61. A principal diagnosis of SAD according to DSM-5 (1) criteria was confirmed by an experienced clinical psychologist interviewing the child and parents jointly with the Anxiety Disorders Interview Schedule [ADIS; (54)]. The ADIS interview is normally conducted with the child and parents separately, so to ensure that the child's account was given sufficient attention during the interview, parents were instructed to let the child respond first to all questions. Exclusion criteria were initiation or dose modification of psychotropic drug within the past 6 weeks, current psychosis, eating disorder, severe depression, suicidal behavior, or other current severe mental disorder including autism spectrum disorder, or substance or alcohol abuse. Comorbid diagnoses were specific phobia (n = 5), generalized anxiety disorder (n = 8), depression (n =4), attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (n = 3), separation anxiety (n = 1) and panic disorder (n = 1). Two individuals with SAD medicated with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), three with stimulants (lisdexamphetamine), and one with melatonin. All results remained when participants on medication were excluded.

Recruitment of the Healthy Control Group

We planned for a control group of n = 40. Participants were randomly selected from the Swedish tax registry and contacted by mail. Initially, addresses of 326 10-17 year old children living in the Stockholm area were randomly selected from the Swedish tax registry. Families were sent a letter describing the purpose of the study and were later contacted over telephone and asked to participate. Of the initial sample, 153 families did not respond to the telephone calls, and 107 declined to participate. The remaining 66 participants were asked screening questions before inclusion. Of these, 18 were excluded because of current or previous mental health diagnoses (SAD: n = 4, ADHD: n= 10, bipolar disorder: n = 1, chromosome abnormalities, n= 1, obsessive compulsive disorder, n = 1, autism, n = 1). Seven participants were initially included but did not complete the testing procedure because no suitable time was found. The remaining 41 individuals were included and completed the testing procedure.

Control participants were assessed by a clinical psychologist using the MINI-KID (55). No participant in the control group had a mental health disorder according to the clinical assessment. Two individuals were excluded from analysis because of invalid data, resulting in a sample size of 39. As expected, both youthand parent reports indicated higher levels of social anxiety in the SAD group than in healthy controls (see Table 1). All participants in the control group scored within one standard deviation of the mean scores on the Liebowitz Social Anxiety Scale - child version (LSAS-C) previously reported in normative samples of youths (56), and could therefore be considered healthy and nonanxious. The LSAS is a self-report measure of fear and avoidance in 24 different social and performance situations, available for youth as well as parents. Groups were matched on age and gender (Table 1). The sample is partly overlapping with the second cohort in a previous study by (41), where data from another experiment are reported.

Ethical Considerations

The authors assert that all procedures contributing to this work comply with the ethical standards of the relevant national and institutional committees on human experimentation and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2008. The study was approved by the Stockholm regional research ethics committee (decision number 2017/1142-31/4).

Experimental Task

Images from a standardized database of actors displaying emotional expressions were used as stimuli (57). In total, 24 images were shown to each participant, evenly distributed between three emotional expressions (angry, happy, fearful)¹. The same actors appeared once with each expression, meaning that the stimulus set contained eight unique actors (50% male, 50% female). Stimulus images were cropped to show only the inner regions of the face. Each trial began with a fixation cross on a uniform gray screen for 2 s, followed by an emotional face presented for 4 s. Immediately after stimulus offset, participants were asked to identify with a mouse click whether the depicted person felt angry, happy, or fearful. Participants were not asked to make a speeded response. We chose a presentation time of 4 s to give the participants enough time to identify the emotional expressions, and also execute enough eve movements to calculate scanpath metrics. Example of stimulus images are shown in Figure 1.

Recording and Processing of Eye Tracking Data

Data were recorded using a Tobii X-120 corneal reflection eye tracker (Tobii Inc, Danderyd, Sweden), which samples gaze at 120 Hz and pupil size at 40 Hz. Raw eye tracking data were processed using custom scripts written in MATLAB version 2019a (Mathworks, Inc). Fixations were identified using an I-VT filter (58) with parameters set according to recommendations

by the manufacturer. Following linear interpolation of gaps in the data shorter than 100 ms, a moving average filter with a window size of 25 ms was applied to the x- and y-coordinates. Saccades were identified as periods with between-samples velocity exceeding $30^{\circ}/s$, and fixations were defined as periods between saccades. Subsequent fixations within 1° were merged. Fixations shorter than 50 ms were discarded.

Two pre-registered scanpath metrics were calculated: (1) The summed Euclidean distance between subsequent fixations (scanpath length); and (2) The root-mean-square (RMS) value of all fixations (scanpath dispersion). The RMS was calculated for each trial by (1) taking the average of the squared deviations from the mean of the x- and y-values of all fixations and (2) taking the square root of these values, and (3) averaging values for the x- and y-coordinates. Higher RMS values therefore reflect a higher degree of spatial dispersion of fixations, whereas scanpath length reflects the total distance that gaze travels during the entire stimulus presentations (see **Figure 2** for illustrations). The RMS of individual fixations should not be confused with the RMS of the unfiltered samples constituting a fixation, which is sometimes used as a quality metric in eye-tracking studies.

Scanpath length and dispersion are expressed in degrees of visual field. To account for the fact that more valid data from a trial would also result in longer scanpaths, we divided the scanpath measures by the total valid fixation time (defined as all successfully recorded samples identified as part of a fixation) in seconds. Previous studies of scanpaths in SAD have also analyzed the average number of fixations by trial [fixation count [e.g., 42–44]], a measure typically closely correlated with scanpath length. We included fixation count as an additional metric in the analyses to facilitate comparison with previous studies. Trials with <1,500 ms valid fixation time were discarded.

Pupil data were filtered according to procedures described in an earlier publication from our group (40). Gaps in the data shorter than 150 ms were replaced through linear interpolation and subsequently filtered by a moving median filter corresponding to 80 ms. A pupil dilation response was calculated for each trial and defined as the mean proportional change in pupil size during stimulus presentation relative to baseline pupil size. As in previous publications (40, 59), the initial increase in pupil size after stimulus onset that can largely be attributed to changes in screen luminance was discarded. Based on visual inspection of the data, pupil dilation response was defined as the mean pupil size during the 1,500–4,000 ms interval (see **Supplementary Figure 1**).

Baseline pupil size was measured during a 750 ms interval directly preceding the stimulus. An estimate of baseline pupil size was calculated for each participant by taking the mean pupil size during this interval from all valid trials. Values outside the +/- 3 SD range from the mean of each participant were considered outliers and were discarded.

Statistical Analyses

For each individual, a mean of all valid trials within each condition was computed. All data from an individual and condition were rejected if <4 trials were valid. Six participants (3 with SAD) were excluded from all analyses because they were

¹The following images from the KDEF database were used as stimuli: ANSF07, ANSF09, ANSF33, ANSM07, ANSM08, ANSM09, ANSM32, HASF07, HASF09, HASF33, HASM07, HASM08, HASM08, HASM32, FESF07, FESF09, FESF33, FESM07, FESM08, FESM09, FESM32.

| TABLE 1 De | mographics, | clinical | characteristics | and number | of valid trials. |
|--------------|-------------|----------|-----------------|------------|------------------|
|--------------|-------------|----------|-----------------|------------|------------------|

| | SAD (<i>n</i> = 61) | | Healthy cont | | |
|-----------------------------------|----------------------|---------|---------------|-------------|-----------|
| | Mean (SD) | Range | Mean (SD) | Range | р |
| Background | | | | | |
| Age | 14.43 (2.19) | 10-17.9 | 14.21 (2.21) | 10.30-17.30 | 0.618 |
| Gender (% Female) | 77 | - | 68 | | 0.355 |
| LSAS (Child report) ¹ | 79.00 (27.78) | 24–135 | 19.77 (12.25) | 2–47 | <0.001*** |
| LSAS (Parent report) ² | 87.62 (26.06) | 34–130 | 13.63 (12.99) | 0–58 | <0.001*** |
| Mean nr of valid trials (max | possible = 24) | | | | |
| Scanpath analysis | 21.45 (2.73) | 13–24 | 20.79 (3.42) | 13–24 | 0.311 |
| Pupil dilation | 22.92 (1.38) | 18–24 | 22.62 (1.39) | 19–24 | 0.285 |
| %Correctly identified | | | | | |
| Angry | 98 (4) | 88–100 | 94 (9) | 63–100 | 0.009** |
| Fearful | 95 (10) | 63–100 | 95 (9) | 63–100 | >0.90 |
| Нарру | 99 (4) | 83–100 | 97 (7) | 75–100 | 0.203 |

¹Based on n = 59 in the SAD group; ². Based on n = 58 in the SAD group; ***p < 0.001; *p < 0.01. SD, standard deviation. LSAS, Liebowitz Social Anxiety Scale.



FIGURE 1 | Example of stimulus images with actors displaying an angry (A), fearful (B), and happy (C) expression.

lacking data from all conditions. Cohens' *d* is reported as a standardized effect size of group differences. Age and sex were added as covariates in all analyses. A power analysis indicated that the study had 80% power to detect small to medium effect sizes of d = 0.2 or higher.

Hypotheses were tested using generalized linear mixed effects models (GLMM) with random intercept for participant (i.e., treating multiple observations from the same individual as repeated measures). Statistical tests for an effect were performed by comparing a model including the effect to the most complex model without the effect in question (the *null model*). For example: a main effect of group can be tested by comparing the full model Y ~ GROUP + (1|ID) to a null model including only the intercept: $Y \sim 1+ (1|ID)$, where Y is the response variable. Both frequentist statistics (i.e., *p*-values) and Bayesian analyses were conducted. Bayesian statistics have been proposed as an alternative to null hypothesis significance testing (NHST). In a Bayesian analysis, the relative evidence for a hypothesis and the null hypothesis given the observed data can be quantified in terms of a *Bayes factor*. Consequently, researchers may potentially not only conclude that the null hypothesis could not be rejected, but also that it may be supported. Bayesian statistics may be more robust to false positive results than NHST (60). Therefore, we interpreted our results based on



FIGURE 2 | Example of a long scanpath [(A); scanpath length and RMS values above 75th percentile. Healthy participant] and restricted scanpath [(B); scanpath length and RMS values below 25th percentile. Participant with SAD]. Red circles represent fixations.

the Bayesian statistics when results from the two statistical approaches were conflicting.

In a frequentist framework, the full- and null models were compared using χ^2 -tests, yielding a *p*-value for the significance of the effect (61). The full- and null-models can also be compared using a Bayes factor (BF), expressing the relative likelihood of the two models. Following Wagenmakers (60), a BF is calculated from the Bayesian information criterion (BIC) values of the two models using the following equation:

$$BF_{10} = \exp^{(BIC_H0 - BIC_H1)/2}.$$

Where BF_{10} is the Bayes factor favoring H_1 over H_0 , with higher numbers indicating more evidence supporting H_1 . By reversing the terms, a BF_{01} can be calculated, with higher numbers indicating more support for H^0 . By convention, a BF> 3 indicates positive evidence for the hypothesis, a BF > 20indicates strong support, and a BF > 150 very strong support (60). *Post-hoc* analyses were conducted to examine whether the observed group differences in scanpath metrics would also be linked to symptom levels of SAD. These analyses were conducted with linear regression models with the mean of all valid trials across conditions as dependent variable. For each participant, the highest value of the child and parent version of the LSAS was used as a measure of SAD symptoms. Sex and age were added as covariates. Bayes factors were computed by comparing a model including SAD symptoms to the next most complex model (the null model). Additional analyses were also conducted to compare accumulated looking time at the eyes and mouth.

RESULTS

Preliminary Analyses

No group differences were found in the number of completed trials (see **Table 1**). As can be seen in **Table 1**, although correct identification of emotion was close to ceiling in all conditions, the SAD group was more accurate than the HC group in identifying expressions of anger, whereas no group differences were found for happy or fearful faces.

A main effect of emotion was found on scanpath length, so that scanpaths were shorter during processing of happy compared to fearful and angry expressions. No effects of emotion were found on scanpath dispersion. Expressions of anger and fear elicited higher pupil dilation than expressions of happiness. These results are shown in **Table 2**. Groups did not differ in overall looking time at the eyes ($\chi^2 = 0.12$, p = 0.730, BF₁₀ = 0.11, d = 0.07) or mouth ($\chi^2 = 0.32$, p = 0.575, BF₁₀ = 0.12, d = 0.09). There were also no interactions between group and emotion in looking time at either region (see **Supplementary Table 1**).

TABLE 2 | Main effects of emotion for the studied dependent variables.

| - | | | | | | | |
|---------------------|-------|-----------|-------|------|------------------|------------------|------|
| | χ² | р | b | SE | BF ₁₀ | BF ₀₁ | d |
| Scanpath Length | | | | | | | |
| Fearful > Angry | 1.33 | 0.249 | 0.17 | 0.15 | 0.20 | 5.16 | 0.08 |
| Angry > Happy | 6.26 | 0.012* | -0.34 | 0.14 | 2.30 | 0.44 | 0.15 |
| Fearful > Happy | 14.08 | <0.001*** | 0.51 | 0.13 | 114.91 | 0.01 | 0.22 |
| Scanpath Dispersion | | | | | | | |
| Fearful > Angry | 1.04 | 0.307 | -0.02 | 0.02 | 0.17 | 5.91 | 0.06 |
| Angry > Happy | 1.18 | 0.277 | -0.03 | 0.02 | 0.18 | 5.52 | 0.07 |
| Fearful > Happy | 0.03 | 0.859 | 0.00 | 0.02 | 0.10 | 9.80 | 0.02 |
| Pupil Dilation | | | | | | | |
| Fearful > Angry | 4.85 | 0.028* | -0.57 | 0.25 | 1.12 | 0.90 | 0.28 |
| Angry > Happy | 18.32 | <0.001*** | -1.22 | 0.27 | >500 | < 0.01 | 0.57 |
| Fearful > Happy | 5.92 | 0.015* | 0.65 | 0.26 | 1.89 | 0.52 | 0.29 |
| | | | | | | | |

***p < 0.001; *p < 0.05. b, unstandardized beta coefficient; SE, standard error; BF₁₀, Bayes factor favoring the alternative hypothesis; BF₁₀, Bayes factor favoring the null hypothesis; d, Cohen's d.

Main Analysis (Registered Hypotheses) Scanpath Length

Results are shown in **Table 3** and **Figure 3** and summarized here. Scanpaths were shorter in the SAD group than in healthy controls ($\chi^2 = 9.38$, p = 0.002, BF₁₀ = 10.94, d = 0.54). This effect was not qualified by any interaction effect between group and emotion ($\chi^2 = 3.60$, p = 0.167, BF₁₀ = 0.06).

Scanpath Dispersion

Scanpaths were also less dispersed in the SAD group compared to healthy controls ($\chi^2 = 7.68$, p = 0.006, BF₁₀ = 4.68, d = 0.51; see **Table 3** and **Figure 2**). Again, no interaction between group and emotion was found ($\chi^2 = 0.43$, p = 0.806; BF₁₀ = 0.01). To sum up, restricted scanpaths were observed in the SAD group, a conclusion supported by both Bayesian and frequentist statistics.

Fixation Count

As can be seen in **Table 3**, participants in the SAD group made a smaller number of fixations than healthy controls ($\chi^2 = 15.31$, p < 0.001, BF₁₀ = 211.90, d = 0.62). No interaction between group and emotion was found ($\chi^2 = 0.27$, p = 0.88, BF₁₀ = 0.01).

Relation Between Scanpaths and Symptoms of SAD

We conducted *post-hoc* analyses to examine whether symptom levels of SAD were linked to scanpath metrics. Higher levels of SAD symptoms were linked to shorter scanpath length ($\beta = 0.24$, p = 0.015, BF₁₀ = 2.29) and smaller number of fixations ($\beta = 0.32$, p = 0.001, BF₁₀ = 24.70). No relation was found between SAD symptoms and scanpath dispersion ($\beta = 0.04$, p = 0.32, BF₁₀ = 0.17).

Pupil Dilation

The SAD group had higher pupil dilation than controls. The difference was statistically significant ($\chi^2 = 4.58$, p = 0.032, d = 0.29), but the Bayes factor indicated that the data were marginally more likely under the null hypothesis (BF₁₀ = 0.98, equivalent to BF₀₁ = 1.03), and that the data were therefore inconclusive (see **Figure 3** and **Table 3**). No interaction between group and emotion was found ($\chi^2 = 0.05$, p = 0.792, BF₁₀ = 0.01).

Relation Between Pupil Dilation and Scanpaths

Exploratory *post-hoc* analyses were conducted to examine links between pupil dilation and scanpath measures. No relations were found between pupil dilation and scanpath length ($\beta = -0.11$, p = 0.22, BF₁₀ = 0.22, BF₀₁ = 4.59), between pupil dilation and scanpath dispersion ($\beta = -0.15$, p = 0.10, BF₁₀ = 0.40, BF₀₁ 2.50), or pupil dilation and number of fixations ($\beta = 0.04$, p = 0.69, BF₁₀ = 0.40, BF₀₁ = 9.29). The Bayes factors favored the null hypothesis.

DISCUSSION

Social anxiety disorder in children and adolescents is associated with cognitive biases that may maintain or exacerbate symptoms. One of the factors underlying these biases may be a pattern of disrupted allocation of attention during information processing. The current study examined visual scanpaths and pupil dilation during emotion recognition in children and adolescents with social anxiety disorder. Emotional faces are a social evaluative cue and are as such a disorder relevant stimulus in SAD. Compared to healthy controls, youth with SAD had shorter and less dispersed scanpaths, a finding supported by both frequentist and Bayesian statistics. Further analyses showed that higher levels of SAD symptoms were linked to shorter scanpaths and a smaller number of fixations, again suggesting restricted visual scanning in children with SAD.

These results were contrary to our registered hypothesis, and also contrary to what has been reported in adult studies (44, 47, 48) where it has been proposed that socially anxious individuals scan faces with prolonged scanpaths (10, 44). Our results suggest that this attention pattern is not present in pediatric populations. Instead, a pattern of restricted scanpaths was found. As noted in the introduction, under normal attentional circumstances, wider scanpaths are observed during periods of controlled attention and mental effort. The observed pattern of restricted scanpaths in the SAD group could therefore reflect difficulties with cognitive control and allocation of attention.

| | M (SD) | | Group comparison | | | | | |
|-------------------------------------|-------------|--------------|------------------|-----------|------------------|------------------|------|-----------|
| Measure | SAD | НС | χ² | р | BF ₁₀ | BF ₀₁ | d | Direction |
| Scanpath length (° of visual field) | 7.59 (2.02) | 8.82 (2.44) | 9.38 | 0.002** | 10.94 | 0.09 | 0.54 | SAD < HC |
| Scanpath dispersion | 1.36 (0.32) | 1.56 (0.42) | 7.68 | 0.006** | 4.68 | 0.21 | 0.51 | SAD < HC |
| Fixation count | 9.17 (1.53) | 10.14 (1.50) | 15.31 | <0.001*** | 211.90 | 0.01 | 0.62 | SAD < HC |
| Pupil dilation response | 1.13 (2.08) | 1.75 (2.18) | 4.58 | 0.032* | 0.98 | 1.03 | 0.29 | SAD > HC |

**p < 0.01; *p < 0.05. b, unstandardized beta coefficient; SE, standard error; BF₁₀, Bayes factor favoring the alternative hypothesis; BF₁₀, Bayes factor favoring the null hypothesis; d, Cohen's d; HC, Healthy Control.



marginal means and 95% confidence intervals *p < 0.01; **p < 0.05.

Restricted scanpaths may lead to a face processing strategy based on attention to single features rather than global configurations (i.e., holistic face processing). Importantly, the observed pattern of restricted scanpaths in SAD was not modulated by the emotional expression of the facial images. In fact, longer scanpaths to negative emotions (anger and fear) compared to positive (happiness) were observed in both groups, replicating previous findings in healthy populations (25, 62). It is possible that smiling faces with direct gaze may be interpreted as threatening by individuals with SAD, since they signal possible social evaluation (12, 13, 63).

Holistic as compared to detail-focused processing is a hallmark of normal face perception. However, a piecemeal strategy can sometimes facilitate detection of negative emotional expressions such as anger or sadness (64), which can be detected based on single features (65). In the current study, patients with SAD were more accurate in identifying expressions of anger than controls but did not differ in accuracy for happiness or fear. Although this finding should be interpreted with caution due to potential ceiling effects, it suggests that youth with SAD may show superior detection of angry facial affect. The relation between restricted scanpaths and social anxiety may be bidirectional. Previous studies in nonclinical samples have demonstrated that negative mood is associated with disrupted holistic face processing (64, 66). Similarly, social anxiety may therefore disrupt holistic face processing. It is also possible that disrupted holistic processing exacerbates or maintains social anxiety to the extent that it reduces the ability to interpret ambiguous or complex facial information.

The observed pattern of restricted scanpaths may also reflect patients with SAD needing less information than healthy individuals to identify facial expressions as emotional. Longer scanpaths are associated with task difficulty and complexity (24, 62). The fact that longer scanpaths were observed in the control group could therefore reflect task difficulty. In support of this interpretation, Melfsen and Florin (20) reported that children with SAD had lower perceptual thresholds for identifying facial expressions as emotional. Interestingly, restricted scanpaths to stimuli with social content have previously been reported in other conditions with known social interaction impairments, including autism (35), schizophrenia (32) and schizotypy (29), suggesting that it may be a transdiagnostic mechanism. Atypical scanpaths were found in children with SAD despite the fact that they did not differ in overall looking time at the eyes or mouth.

Our finding of restricted scanpaths in the SAD group are opposite to what has been described in the adult studies (44, 48), pointing to a possible developmental difference between children and adults with SAD. It is possible that restricted scanning may have negative developmental consequences during this period, by restricting opportunities for learning. An interesting question for longitudinal studies is therefore whether restricted scanpaths predict worse social functioning or higher levels of SAD symptoms at later time points.

On the other hand, the transitional phase of adolescence may involve greater plasticity at the behavioral and neural level (14), thus interventions designed to alter these processing anomalies may yield greater and longer-lasting benefits. Interventions targeting SAD symptoms through attention training have been attempted, but evidence for their efficacy is so far limited (14). If these interventions are to be successful, a better understanding of the patterns of attention associated with SAD is needed. Our results suggest that restricted scanpaths may be a feasible target for interventions.

Our second aim was to examine pupil dilation during face processing. The SAD group had higher pupil dilation responses than healthy controls while viewing faces, regardless of their emotional expression. According to a conventional frequentist statistical analysis (i.e., inferential statistics based on p-values), this effect was statistically significant. However, the Bayesian analysis indicated that the hypothesis was marginally less likely than the null, rendering the result inconclusive. Bayesian statistics may be less vulnerable to false positives than frequentist statistics (60), and we believe that this result is therefore best interpreted as inconclusive. This means that we were not able to replicate previously reported findings of blunted pupillary reactivity during face perception in pediatric SAD, although it should be noted that these studies examined partly different pupil dilation metrics (38, 40). There was no relation between pupil dilation and any of the examined scanpath metrics, indicating no direct link between reduced scanpaths and hyperarousal.

Some limitations should be noted. Although the present study is one of the largest eye tracking studies of pediatric SAD to date, we were not able to compare individuals with SAD to groups with other mental health disorders. Future studies would also benefit from direct comparisons between child and adult populations with SAD. The generalizability of the findings may also be limited to treatment-seeking individuals with SAD, rather than to a broader population of youths with SAD. It should also be noted that the study did not include non-facial control stimuli. Therefore, it is not clear whether the findings are specific for faces or reflect a more general form of atypical attention. Future studies could benefit from the inclusion of additional experimental conditions, including nonsocial stimuli and more ambiguous and complex facial expressions. Finally, due to the limited sample rate of the equipment (40 Hz), we were not able to examine metrics which are sensitive to timing such as the time course of the pupil dilation response or the PLR amplitude, as was done in previous studies (38, 40). An interesting question for future studies is to examine whether scanpath lengths in children with SAD is related to other types of attention and perceptual judgement, including memory for faces. In a previous adult study (45), hyperscanning was found only after an anxiety induction procedure. An interesting question for future studies is whether scanpaths in youth with SAD are also affected by induction of state anxiety. Studies manipulating gaze behaviors (for example by instructing participants to scan either narrowly or broadly) could also examine whether scanpath length causally affects arousal.

Strengths of the study includes the use of a clinically wellcharacterized sample of treatment-seeking patients with SAD and a matched control group randomly selected from the general population.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Etikprövningsmyndigheten (Swedish Ethical Review Authority). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin and by participants aged 15 - 17. Participants aged 10 - 14 gave verbal ascent.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JK and JH designed the study. JK analyzed the data and drafted the manuscript. JL, EL, and ES contributed to the interpretation of the data. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research was supported by Riksbankens jubileumsfond (grant numbers P18-0068), Claes Groschinskys minnesfond, Region Stockholm and the regional agreement on medical training and clinical research between Region Stockholm and the Karolinska Institutet (PPG 20150032, The Swedish Research Council for Health, Working Life and Welfare (Forte 2014-4052), the Strategic Research Area Neuroscience (StratNEURO) and the Center for Psychiatry Research, Stockholm, Sweden. ES was supported by Region Stockholm (clinical research appointment 20170605). JL is receiving research funding from the UK Economic and Social Research Council (ES/T00004X/1).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

A preprint version of this manuscript has been published on PsyArXiv (https://psyarxiv.com/m4d76/).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.658171/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- 1. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5)*. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Pub (2013).
- Ruscio AM, Brown TA, Tat Chiu W, Sareen J, Stein MB, Kessler RC. Social fears and social phobia in the United States: results from the national comorbidity survey replication. *Psychol Med.* (2008) 38:15– 28. doi: 10.1017/S0033291707001699
- 3. Wong QJJ, Rapee RM. The aetiology and maintenance of social anxiety disorder: a synthesis of complementary theoretical models and formulation of a new integrated model. *J Affect Disord.* (2016) 203:84–100. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.05.069
- Clark DM, Wells A. A cognitive model of social phobia. In: Heimbberg RG, Liebowitz M, Hope D, Scheier F, editors. *Social Phobia: Diagnosis, Assessment, Treatment.* New York, NT: Guilford Publications (1995). p. 69–93.
- Avery SN, Blackford JU. Slow to warm up: the role of habituation in social fear. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2016) 11:1832–40. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsw095
- Blackford JU, Allen AH, Cowan RL, Avery SN. Amygdala and hippocampus fail to habituate to faces in individuals with an inhibited temperament. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2013) 143–50. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsr078
- Bas-Hoogendam JM, Steenbergen H, Blackford JU, Tissier RLM, Wee NJA, Westenberg PM. Impaired neural habituation to neutral faces in families genetically enriched for social anxiety disorder. *Depress Anxiety.* (2019) 36:1143–53. doi: 10.1002/da.22962
- Spence SH, Rapee RM. The etiology of social anxiety disorder: an evidencebased model. *Behav Res Ther.* (2016) 86:50–67. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2016.06.007
- Chen J, Van Den Bos E, Westenberg PM. A systematic review of visual avoidance of faces in socially anxious individuals: influence of severity, type of social situation, and development. J Anxiety Disord. (2020) 70:102193. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2020.102193
- Chen NTM, Clarke PJF. Gaze-based assessments of vigilance and avoidance in social anxiety: a review. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2017) 19:1–9. doi: 10.1007/s11920-017-0808-4
- Hirsch CR, Clark DM. Information-processing bias in social phobia. Clin Psychol Rev. (2004) 24:799–825. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2004.07.005
- 12. Weeks JW, editors. *The Wiley Blackwell Handbook of Social Anxiety Disorder*. Malden, MA: Wiley Blackwell (2014).
- Reichenberger J, Wiggert N, Wilhelm FH, Liedlgruber M, Voderholzer U, Hillert A, et al. Fear of negative and positive evaluation and reactivity to social-evaluative videos in social anxiety disorder. *Behav Res Ther.* (2019) 116:140–8. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2019.03.009
- Haller SP, Cohen Kadosh K, Scerif G, Lau JYF. Social anxiety disorder in adolescence: how developmental cognitive neuroscience findings may shape understanding and interventions for psychopathology. *Dev Cogn Neurosci.* (2015) 13:11–20. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2015.02.002
- Caouette JD, Guyer AE. Gaining insight into adolescent vulnerability for social anxiety from developmental cognitive neuroscience. *Dev Cogn Neurosci.* (2014) 8:65–76. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2013.10.003
- Thorell LB, Bohlin G, Rydell A-M. Two types of inhibitory control: predictive relations to social functioning. *Int J Behav Dev.* (2004) 28:193– 203. doi: 10.1080/01650250344000389
- Wu M, Kujawa A, Lu LH, Fitzgerald DA, Klumpp H, Fitzgerald KD, et al. Age-related changes in amygdala-frontal connectivity during emotional face processing from childhood into young adulthood. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2016) 37:1684–95. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23129
- Morales S, Fu X, Pérez-Edgar KE. A developmental neuroscience perspective on affect-biased attention. *Dev Cogn Neurosci.* (2016) 21:26–41. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2016.08.001
- In-Albon T, Kossowsky J, Schneider S. Vigilance and avoidance of threat in the eye movements of children with separation anxiety disorder. J Abnorm Child Psychol. (2010) 38:225–35. doi: 10.1007/s10802-009-9359-4
- Melfsen S, Florin I. Do socially anxious children show deficits in classifying facial expressions of emotions? J Nonverbal Behav. (2002) 26:109– 26. doi: 10.1023/A:1015665521371
- Frick A, Howner K, Fischer H, Kristiansson M, Furmark T. Altered fusiform connectivity during processing of fearful faces in social anxiety disorder. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2013) 3:e312-e312. doi: 10.1038/tp.2013.85

- 22. Gentili C, Cristea IA, Angstadt M, Klumpp H, Tozzi L, Phan L, et al. Beyond emotions: a meta-analysis of neural response within face processing system in social anxiety. *Exp Biol Med.* (2016) 241:225– 37. doi: 10.1177/1535370215603514
- Dewhurst R, Foulsham T, Jarodzka H, Johansson R, Holmqvist K, Nyström M. How task demands influence scanpath similarity in a sequential numbersearch task. *Vision Res.* (2018) 149:9–23. doi: 10.1016/j.visres.2018.05.006
- Barton JJS, Radcliffe N, Cherkasova M V, Edelman J, Itriligator JM. Information processing during face recognition: the effects of familiarity, inversion, and morphing on scanning fixations. *Perception.* (2006) 35:1089– 105. doi: 10.1068/p5547
- Green M, Williams L, Davidson D. In the face of danger: specific viewing strategies for faciala expressions of threat? *Cogn Emot.* (2003) 17:779– 86. doi: 10.1080/02699930302282
- Arizpe JM, Noles DL, Tsao JW, Chan AWY. Eye movement dynamics differ between encoding and recognition of faces. *Vision.* (2019) 3:1– 24. doi: 10.3390/vision3010009
- Bombari D, Mast FW, Lobmaier JS. Featural, configural, and holistic face-processing strategies evoke different scan patterns. *Perception.* (2009) 38:1508–21. doi: 10.1068/p6117
- Schwarzer G, Huber S, Dümmler T. Gaze behavior in analytical and holistic face processing. *Mem Cognit.* (2005) 33:344–54. doi: 10.3758/BF03195322
- Hills PJ, Eaton E, Pake JM. Correlations between psychometric schizotypy, scan path length, fixations on the eyes and face recognition. *Q J Exp Psychol.* (2016) 69:611–25. doi: 10.1080/17470218.2015.1034143
- Chan CYH, Chan AB, Lee TMC, Hsiao JH. Eye-movement patterns in face recognition are associated with cognitive decline in older adults. *Psychon Bull Rev.* (2018) 25:2200–7. doi: 10.3758/s13423-017-1419-0
- Farah M, Wilson K, Drain M, Tanaka J. What is" special" about face perception? *Psychol Rev.* (1998) 105:482. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.105.3.482
- Loughland CM, Williams LM, Gordon E. Visual scanpaths to positive and negative facial emotions in an outpatient schizophrenia sample. *Schizophr Res.* (2002) 55:159–70. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(01)00186-4
- Nakahachi T, Yamashita K, Iwase M, Ishigami W, Tanaka C, Toyonaga K, et al. Disturbed holistic processing in autism spectrum disorders verified by two cognitive tasks requiring perception of complex visual stimuli. *Psychiatry Res.* (2008) 159:330–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2005.08.028
- 34. Falck-Ytter T. Face inversion effects in autism: a combined looking time and pupillometric study. *Autism Res.* (2008) 1:297–306. doi: 10.1002/aur.45
- Heaton T, Freeth M. Reduced visual exploration when viewing photographic scenes in individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *J Abnorm Psychol.* (2016) 125:399–411. doi: 10.1037/abn0000145
- Högström J, Nordh M, Larson Lindal M, Taylor E, Serlachius E, Kleberg JL. Visual attention to emotional faces in adolescents with social anxiety disorder receiving cognitive behavioral therapy. *PLoS ONE.* (2019) 14:e0225603. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0225603
- Schmidtendorf S, Wiedau S, Asbrand J, Tuschen-caffier B, Heinrichs N. Attentional bias in children with social anxiety disorder. *Cognit Ther Res.* (2018) 42:273–88. doi: 10.1007/s10608-017-9880-7
- Keil V, Hepach R, Vierrath S, Caffier D, Tuschen-Caffier B, Klein C, et al. Children with social anxiety disorder show blunted pupillary reactivity and altered eye contact processing in response to emotional faces: insights from pupillometry and eye movements. J Anxiety Disord. (2018) 58:61– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2018.07.001
- Kleberg JL, Högström J, Nord M, Bölte S, Serlachius E, Falck-Ytter T. Autistic traits and symptoms of social anxiety are differentially related to attention to others' eyes in social anxiety disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. (2017) 47:3814– 21. doi: 10.1007/s10803-016-2978-z
- Kleberg JL, Hanqvist C, Serlachius E, Högström J. Pupil dilation to emotional expressions in adolescent social anxiety disorder is related to treatment outcome. J Anxiety Disord. (2019) 65:26–33. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2019.04.006
- Kleberg JL, Högström J, Sundström K, Frick A, Serlachius E. Delayed gaze shifts away from others' eyes in children and adolescents with social anxiety disorder. J Affect Disord. (2021) 278:280–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020. 09.022

- Capriola-Hall NN, Ollendick TH, White SW. Gaze as an indicator of selective attention in adolescents with social anxiety disorder. *Cognit Ther Res.* (2020) 44:145–55. doi: 10.1007/s10608-019-10038-7
- Seefeldt WL, Krämer M, Tuschen-Caffier B, Heinrichs N. Hypervigilance and avoidance in visual attention in children with social phobia. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry. (2014) 45:105–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jbtep.2013.09.004
- 44. Chen NTM, Thomas LM, Joseph P, Clarke F, Hickie IB, Guastella AJ. Hyperscanning and avoidance in social anxiety disorder: the visual scanpath during public speaking. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 225:667–72. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.11.025
- Wermes R, Lincoln TM, Helbig-Lang S. Anxious and alert? Hypervigilance in social anxiety disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 269:740–5. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.08.086
- 46. Hunnius S, de Wit TCJ, Vrins S, von Hofsten C. Facing threat: infants' and adults' visual scanning of faces with neutral, happy, sad, angry, and fearful emotional expressions. *Cogn Emot.* (2011) 25:193– 205. doi: 10.1080/15298861003771189
- Horley K, Williams LM, Gonsalvez C, Gordon E. Social phobics do not see eye to eye: a visual scanpath study of emotional expression processing. *J Anxiety Disord*. (2003) 17:33–44. doi: 10.1016/S0887-6185(02)00180-9
- Horley K, Williams LM, Gonsalvez C, Gordon E. Face to face: visual scanpath evidence for abnormal processing of facial expressions in social phobia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2004) 127:43–53. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2004.02.016
- Boll S, Bartholomaeus M, Peter U, Lupke U, Gamer M. Attentional mechanisms of social perception are biased in social phobia. *J Anxiety Disord*. (2016) 40:83–93. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2016.04.004
- Aston-Jones G, Cohen JD. An integrative theory of locus coeruleusnorephinephrine function: adaptive gain and optimal performance. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (2005) 28:403–50. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.28.061604.135709
- Joshi S. Pupillometry: arousal state or state of mind? Curr Biol. (2021) 31:R32-4. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2020.11.001
- Mathôt S. Pupillometry: psychology, physiology, and function. J Cogn. (2018) 1:1–23. doi: 10.5334/joc.18
- Laeng B, Sirois S, Gredebäck G. Pupillometry. Perspect Psychol Sci. (2012) 7:18–27. doi: 10.1177/1745691611427305
- Silverman W. Anxiety Disorders Interview Schedule for DSM-IV: Parent Interview Schedule, Vol. 1. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press (1996).
- 55. Sheehan D V, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan HK, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, et al. The mini-international neuropsychiatric interview (M.I.N.J): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. PsycNET. J Clin Psychiatry. (1998) 59:22–23. doi: 10.1037/t18597-000
- De Oviedo U, Olivares E, Sánchez-García J, López-Pina R; Antonio J. The liebowitz social anxiety scale for children and adolescents. *Psicothema*. (2009) 21:486–91.

- Lundqvist D, Flyckt A, Öhman A. The karolinska directed emotional faces (KDEF). (1998). doi: 10.1037/t27732-000
- Salvucci DD, Goldberg JH. Identifying fixations and saccades in eye-tracking protocols. In: *Proceedings of the Eye Tracking Research and Applications Symposium*. New York, NT: ACM Press (2000).
- Kleberg JL, Frick MA, Brocki KC. Increased pupil dilation to happy faces in children with hyperactive/impulsive symptoms of ADHD. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2020) 1-11. doi: 10.1017/S0954579420000036
- Wagenmakers E-J. A practical solution to the pervasive problems of p values. Psychon Bull Rev. (2007) 14:779–804. doi: 10.3758/BF03194105
- 61. Baayen RH, Davidson DJ, Bates DM. Mixed-effects modeling with crossed random effects for subjects and items. J Mem Lang. (2008) 59:390–412. doi: 10.1016/j.jml.2007. 12.005
- Gomez P, Von Gunten A, Danuser B. Eye gaze behavior during affective picture viewing: effects of motivational significance, gender, age, and repeated exposure. *Biol Psychol.* (2019) 146:107713. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2019.06.001
- Bas-Hoogendam JM, van Steenbergen H, van der Wee NJA, Westenberg PM. Amygdala hyperreactivity to faces conditioned with a social-evaluative meaning– a multiplex, multigenerational fMRI study on social anxiety endophenotypes. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2020) 26:102247. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2020.102247
- Curby KM, Johnson KJ, Tyson A. Face to face with emotion: holistic face processing is modulated by emotional state. *Cogn Emot.* (2012) 26:93– 102. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2011.555752
- Beaudry O, Roy-Charland A, Perron M, Cormier I, Tapp R. Featural processing in recognition of emotional facial expressions. *Cogn Emot.* (2014) 28:416–32. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2013. 833500
- Xie W, Zhang W. The influence of emotion on face processing. *Cogn Emot.* (2015) 30:245–57. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2014. 994477

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Kleberg, Löwenberg, Lau, Serlachius and Högström. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Alexithymia Is Associated With Deficits in Visual Search for Emotional Faces in Clinical Depression

Thomas Suslow^{1*}, Vivien Günther¹, Tilman Hensch^{2,3}, Anette Kersting¹ and Charlott Maria Bodenschatz¹

¹ Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, University of Leipzig Medical Center, Leipzig, Germany, ² Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University of Leipzig Medical Center, Leipzig, Germany, ³ Department of Psychology, IU International University of Applied Science, Erfurt, Germany

Background: The concept of alexithymia is characterized by difficulties identifying and describing one's emotions. Alexithymic individuals are impaired in the recognition of others' emotional facial expressions. Alexithymia is quite common in patients suffering from major depressive disorder. The face-in-the-crowd task is a visual search paradigm that assesses processing of multiple facial emotions. In the present eye-tracking study, the relationship between alexithymia and visual processing of facial emotions was examined in clinical depression.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peter Kirsch, University of Heidelberg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Georg W. Alpers, Universität Mannheim, Germany Benjamin Becker, University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, China

> *Correspondence: Thomas Suslow

suslow@medizin.uni-leipzig.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Social Cognition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 02 March 2021 Accepted: 03 June 2021 Published: 29 June 2021

Citation:

Suslow T, Günther V, Hensch T, Kersting A and Bodenschatz CM (2021) Alexithymia Is Associated With Deficits in Visual Search for Emotional Faces in Clinical Depression. Front. Psychiatry 12:668019. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.668019 **Materials and Methods:** Gaze behavior and manual response times of 20 alexithymic and 19 non-alexithymic depressed patients were compared in a face-in-the-crowd task. Alexithymia was empirically measured *via* the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia-Scale. Angry, happy, and neutral facial expressions of different individuals were shown as target and distractor stimuli. Our analyses of gaze behavior focused on latency to the target face, number of distractor faces fixated before fixating the target, number of target fixations, and number of distractor faces fixated after fixating the target.

Results: Alexithymic patients exhibited in general slower decision latencies compared to non-alexithymic patients in the face-in-the-crowd task. Patient groups did not differ in latency to target, number of target fixations, and number of distractors fixated prior to target fixation. However, after having looked at the target, alexithymic patients fixated more distractors than non-alexithymic patients, regardless of expression condition.

Discussion: According to our results, alexithymia goes along with impairments in visual processing of multiple facial emotions in clinical depression. Alexithymia appears to be associated with delayed manual reaction times and prolonged scanning after the first target fixation in depression, but it might have no impact on the early search phase. The observed deficits could indicate difficulties in target identification and/or decision-making when processing multiple emotional facial expressions. Impairments of alexithymic depressed patients in processing emotions in crowds of faces seem not

26

limited to a specific affective valence. In group situations, alexithymic depressed patients might be slowed in processing interindividual differences in emotional expressions compared with non-alexithymic depressed patients. This could represent a disadvantage in understanding non-verbal communication in groups.

Keywords: alexithymia, major depressive disorder, face-in-the-crowd, emotional facial expressions, eye-tracking, visual search, anger, happiness

INTRODUCTION

The concept of alexithymia emerged to explain symptoms of psychosomatic patients (1). It comprises the facets difficulties in identifying and describing one's feelings, a restricted imagination, and a concrete, externally oriented style of thinking (2). In the majority of studies, the self-report questionnaire 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20 (3)) has been administered to empirically measure alexithymic features. There is evidence that alexithymia occurs more frequently in men, individuals with low educational level, low socioeconomic status, and advanced age (4). It is considered a transdiagnostic, non-specific feature in many mental disorders (5). Alexithymia has been discussed as a major personality risk factor for physical illness, psychological distress, and chronic psychopathology (6, 7).

An important ability for successful interpersonal communication is the identification of emotions from facial expressions (8). Emotional information from facial expressions is decoded rapidly indicating its high biological and social relevance (9). In a crowd or group of people, salience of emotional faces becomes especially useful. In these multiple stimulus conditions, cognitive mechanisms must be activated to locate the relevant faces against the competing distractors (10). In the last decades many studies using the face-in-the-crowd paradigm have been conducted to clarify the question whether angry or happy faces are, in general, detected more efficiently. To this aim, often one emotional face has been presented in a group of neutral faces (11, 12). Some studies provided evidence for anger superiority (i.e., more efficient search for angry faces) (13, 14) whereas, other studies have observed a happiness superiority effect (i.e., more efficient search for happy faces) (15, 16). Overall, it appears difficult to draw general conclusions on the detection superiority of a specific emotion since the pattern of results observed in visual search studies could largely depend on the specific stimulus materials applied (17).

The majority of visual search experiments has based their analyses on manual reaction time and accuracy of response. Reaction time provides only a single data point per trial with which it is difficult to make precise inferences about the component operations involved in searching for target objects (18). Eye-tracking can give more direct evidence, e.g., about which objects were attended, in what sequence, for how long. Analysis of gaze behavior based on eye-tracking allows to characterize the temporal evolution of search processes in more detail. Eye movements and fixations inform primarily about overt attention processes. Covert shifts of attention are not registered by eye-tracking. Covert attention in the visual domain refers to seeing something peripherally on which the gaze is not directly focused (which is not the object of foveal vision). However, covert shifts of spatial attention are known to be involved in saccade preparation and to precede overt shifts of gaze to the target location during visual search (19). Thus, there are close functional links between covert and overt attention processes. The visual system is capable of determining a face's emotion before the face becomes the focus of attention, and facial emotions can be used by the visual system to prepare subsequent overt attention allocation (20).

In many previous face-in-the-crowd experiments, no explicit labeling or identification of emotional expressions was required (13, 21). Typically, participants were asked to decide if all faces show the same expression or if one face has an expression differing from the others. In this way, multiple emotional expressions have to be compared and differences between them have to be detected. Findings in face-in-the-crowd studies suggest that detection responses occur generally after having fixated the target (22) and that response latencies are positively associated with the number of fixations until the target is fixated (23). This means that the detection of discrepant emotional expressions at least in larger groups of stimuli requires eye-movements (overt attentional orienting) and sequential processing of expressions. In some cases, target detection (and discrimination from the distractor faces) occurs after having fixated away from the target (22). It has been argued that fast detection responses could reflect efficient guidance of the target (i.e., features of the target are already processed covertly and guide overt attention to its position) and/or efficient distractor rejection (distractor faces are skipped more frequently and/or fixated more briefly) (14, 16). Measures of eye gaze that are often used to assess visual search efficiency in face-in-the-crowd tasks comprise the time from onset of matrix display to first fixation on the target (i.e., latency to first target fixation), the number of distractors fixated before first fixation on the target and the duration of fixation time per distractor viewed before the first fixation on the target (indices of distractor processing efficiency), and the number of on-target fixations (index of target processing efficiency or deficits in disengagement) (14, 16, 22).

The personality trait alexithymia is associated with deficits in identifying others' emotional facial expressions in healthy individuals (24). There is clear evidence that these identification deficits are more pronounced under suboptimal processing conditions (e.g., when faces are presented in degraded quality or with temporal constraints (25–27)). It has been argued that alexithymia could be characterized by less efficient reading out and use of emotional information in the evaluation of facial expressions (28). According to a systematic review, alexithymic individuals' impairments in identifying emotions from facial expressions seem to be neither limited to a specific valence nor specific emotional qualities (29). That means that alexithymia has been found to be linked to deficits in identifying positive (i.e., happy) expressions as well as to deficits in identifying negative (i.e., angry, sad, and fearful) expressions. Findings from previous fMRI research with healthy individuals examining brain response to emotional faces suggest that alexithymic individuals may encode facial emotional information in general to a lesser degree at an automatic and controlled processing level (30, 31). So far, no studies have been conducted to investigate the relationship between alexithymia and visual search for emotional faces.

Alexithymic characteristics have been frequently observed in patients suffering from clinical depression (32). The prevalence of high levels of alexithymia (scoring above the upper cut-off score of the TAS-20 (33)) varies from 27% (5) to 50% (34) in depressed patients, whereas, in the general population the prevalence of high levels of alexithymia is only about 10% (35).

There exist different explanations why alexithymia goes along with increased depressive symptoms and is prevalent in depressed patients. It has been argued, e.g., that the limited ability of alexithymic individuals to regulate negative emotions may lead to chronic, undifferentiated dysphoria (36). Moreover, it has been suggested that the association between alexithymia and impaired interpersonal functioning could contribute to depression (37). Alexithymia scores in depressed patients show a relative stability over time. Several studies reported a decrease in alexithymia among depressed patients as depression severity diminishes (32, 38). However, patients' alexithymia scores in different treatment or illness phases were found to be strongly correlated, demonstrating relative stability (38, 39). The personality trait alexithymia influences course, symptoms, treatment choice, and outcome in depressed patients. It has been observed that alexithymia interferes with recovery from depression (40). Depressed patients with reduced interest in and insight into feelings are less likely to benefit from psychotherapy (41, 42). Depressed patients with high alexithymia experience a higher burden of disease and manifest higher antidepressant consumption compared with low-alexithymic patients (43).

Findings from studies in which alexithymia has not been assessed suggest that clinical depression is characterized by impairments in the identification of facial emotion across all basic emotions (e.g., fear, anger, and happiness) except sadness. However, the extent of these impairments seems to be rather small (44). Eye-tracking research has shown biased attentional preferences in the perception of emotional information in major depressive disorder under free-viewing conditions. Depressed patients allocate more attention to sad faces and less attention to happy faces compared to healthy individuals (45). Interestingly, in early studies based on the face-in-the-crowd task it was found that depressed individuals need more time to detect positive faces in crowds of neutral expressions compared to healthy controls (46, 47). Karparova et al. (48) found generally longer reaction times to positive but also to negative expressions in a face-in-thecrowd task for depressed patients. However, in three subsequent face-in-the-crowd studies, response times for happy and negative facial expressions did not vary between depressed patients and controls (49–51). In a recent fMRI study investigating cerebral reactivity to masked faces in clinically depressed patients an association between alexithymia and decreased neural response in striatal and frontal regions to negative and positive facial expressions was observed (52). Striatal and orbitofrontal areas are implicated in the detection of salient features of sensory inputs, including emotional value, and appear to contribute to automatic alerting and allocation of attention (53, 54). Thus, alexithymia seems to go along with deficits in facial emotion perception in depressed patients.

In our eye-tracking study, the relationship between alexithymia and visual processing of facial emotions in clinical depression was examined using reaction time and gaze behavior data. To our knowledge, this is the first study on attention to multiple emotional faces as a function of alexithymia using eye-tracking methodology. The analysis of patients' gaze behavior allows a rather detailed temporal exploration of attention orienting that accompanies visual search. Eye movements of alexithymic and non-alexithymic depressed patients were tracked during a face-in-the-crowd experiment in which photographs of facial expressions depicting happiness, anger, and neutral expressions were displayed. These emotional categories were examined, as previous alexithymia research has reported deficits in the identification of negative and positive facial expressions (29). To create realistic crowds of faces with some ecological validity, photographs of multiple individuals (i.e., different identities) were used in our experiment. A mixed design was implemented that included every combination of target and distractor with the three emotional expressions (angry, happy, and neutral). Angry and happy faces were examined in our investigation since previous research using the face-in-thecrowd task (in samples of healthy individuals) was focused on these two emotional expressions. Our visual search paradigm required processes of comparison and search for discrepancies between multiple facial stimuli: participants were instructed to indicate whether all stimuli are from the same category or if one (the "target" stimulus) is different from the others. Visual search efficiency differences can be explained by differential amounts of guidance provided by a target and by differences in attention allocation toward distractor stimuli (55, 56). Our depressed patients were classified as alexithymic or non-alexithymic on the basis of their TAS-20 scores (33).

We hypothesized that depressed patients with alexithymia would manifest a less efficient performance in the face-inthe-crowd task than depressed patients without alexithymia. Specifically, it was expected that alexithymic patients show slower response latencies than non-alexithymic patients in the visual search task. We focused on the analysis of four eyegaze parameters: latency to target face (i.e., the time from onset of stimulus display to first fixation on the target), number of distractor faces fixated prior to fixating the target, number of fixations on the target, and number of distractor faces fixated after fixating the target. The last-mentioned parameter was included in our analyses because in a study like the present one on difficulties and potential delays in the perception of facial emotions it appears important to examine the processes of attention allocation after target detection. It should be noted that the parameter number of distractor faces fixated after fixating the target has rarely been used in previous research on visual search efficiency in face-in-the-crowd tasks. We also conducted group comparisons on fixation times on distractors and targets that are reported as **Supplementary Material**.

Latency to target (entry time of gaze on target) and number of distractor faces fixated prior to target fixation can indicate processes of attention guidance to the target face (i.e., the discrepant facial expression) (16). When a target strongly guides attention, the entry time of gaze on target should be short, few distractors are fixated, and many distractors are skipped. When a target guides attention only weakly, visual search is timeconsuming, many distractors in the crowd have to be checked before the target is located. A higher number of fixations on the target indicates more attention allocation, a need for more visual information to identify the target object (57). Finally, if many distractors are fixated after the target has been visited the search and decision strategy seems to lack efficiency.

The present investigation can help to clarify which attentional or cognitive processes during visual search are impaired due to alexithymia. Alexithymic patients may manifest already deficits in early phases of visual search and scanning and look at more distractors before target fixation. However, alexithymic patients could show processing impairments only during or after target fixation. That is, they might exhibit a higher number of fixations on target or a higher number of distractor fixations after target fixation than non-alexithymic patients. Post-target detection deficits in the face-in-the-crowd task could suggest difficulties in the processing of similarities and discrepancies between facial expressions and the integration of collected information into a decision. The present task enables to explore whether alexithymic processing deficits concern perception of angry faces, happy faces or both types of expressions.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Patients from the Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy at the University of Leipzig participated in the study. They fulfilled the criteria for a DSM-IV diagnosis of major depressive disorder as assessed by the Structured Clinical Interview for the DSM-IV Axis I (58). Exclusion criteria were other past or present bipolar, schizophrenia or psychotic disorders, abuse of alcohol or other substances within the past 6 months, medical diagnoses associated with neurocognitive impairments, treatment with sedatives, or antipsychotics as well as the wearing of eyeglasses or contact lenses. The 20item Toronto-Alexithymia-Scale (TAS-20 (3); German version (59)) was administered to classify patients as alexithymic and non-alexithymic. The criteria proposed by Bagby and Taylor (33) were applied to define alexithymia and non-alexithymia. Patients scoring ≥ 61 were considered alexithymic (n = 20) and those scoring ≤ 51 were considered non-alexithymic (n = 19). Fifty-four percent of the sample were medicated with antidepressants (N = 21).

Our study was approved by the ethics committee at the University of Leipzig, Medical Faculty, and in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. We obtained informed consent from all patients prior to inclusion and all patients were financially compensated.

Psychological Measures

The Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS (60)), an interviewer-administered scale, was applied to assess severity of depression. The BDI-II (61) was administered to assess severity of depressive symptoms by self-report. The State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI (62)) was used in its state form to assess anxious feelings at the time of testing. The Trail Making Test Part B (TMT-B (63)) was given to the patients to control for possible differences between groups in visual search speed and cognitive flexibility.

Stimuli and Face-in-the-Crowd Task

Face stimuli comprised 24 photographs of eight individuals (four women, four men) selected from the Lifespan Database of Adult Emotional Facial Stimuli (64). Stimuli comprised three types of emotional expressions (angry, happy, and neutral faces). All photographs were processed to replace background features and to limit each facial expression to head and neck. All faces were in the same frontal orientation, similar in size and gray scaled.

In each trial, eight photographs arranged in a circle were shown simultaneously against a black background. All stimulus matrices were viewed at a distance of 70 cm with a visual angle of ${\sim}22.9^{\circ}$ \times 21.6 $^{\circ}$ (height \times width). Each face subtended a visual angle of $6^{\circ} \times 3.9^{\circ}$ (height × width). The centers of adjacent faces were located at the same distance (6.5°) . Within the same trial, positions were randomly assigned, and identities did not repeat. One-third of the trials were target absent (n = 24), i.e., composed of only one expression condition (e.g., all faces depicted angry expressions). Two-thirds were target-present trials (n = 48), showing one face from an expression condition and seven faces from a discrepant condition (e.g., one angry face among seven neutral faces). All target/distractor combinations were utilized (i.e., angry target happy distractors, angry target neutral distractors, happy target angry distractors, happy target neutral distractors, neutral target happy distractors, and neutral target angry distractors). In the target-present trials, each expression condition appeared once in each of the eight possible positions, resulting in eight trials for each target-distractor combination. For each participant, the order of trials was randomized.

Eye-Tracking Procedure

Patients were tested individually by an experienced experimenter. Camera adjustments were made to best capture eyes of patients. A nine-point grid was used for calibration. Calibration was repeated in case the deviation exceeded $x/y 0.7^{\circ}$.

Each trial began with a fixation cross, displayed until a fixation of 1,000 ms. Then, face stimuli were shown until response or, in case of no response, for 5,000 ms. Subjects were instructed on the computer screen that they would see a series of faces arranged in a circle. Their task was to press the response key quickly whenever one of the faces differed in its expression from the others.

Eye Movement Apparatus and Parameter

SMIs Experiment Center software was applied to display stimuli and to synchronize with recorded eye movements. Pictures were presented on a 22-inch TFT widescreen monitor (resolution: 1680×1050) running with an SMI-customized Dell laptop. Viewing behavior was continuously registered with an IView X RED250 remote system by SMI, an infrared video-based eyetracker recording eye movements every 4 ms (250 Hz) with a gaze position accuracy of 0.4° .

Gaze data were analyzed using a velocity-based algorithm with a minimum saccade duration of 22 ms, a peak velocity threshold of 40° /s, and a minimum fixation duration of 100 ms. We used BeGaze 3.0 (SMI, Teltow) to define eight areas of interest (AOIs) in each trial corresponding to each of the eight face expressions.

Manual response times were measured, i.e., the time between picture onset and key press. The rates of correct responses and non-responses were computed for all stimulus conditions. Four main measures of gaze behavior were used. First, we calculated the latency to target face or entry time on target (i.e., the time from onset of stimulus display to first fixation on the target). Second, we analyzed whether patient groups differed concerning attention guidance to the target face. Thus, we determined the number of distractor faces fixated prior to fixating the target. When a target strongly attracts attention, only few distractors should be fixated, and many distractor stimuli should be neglected. In case a target stimulus guides attention only weakly, many distractors in a group of stimuli must be analyzed before the target is finally identified (16). Third, we wanted to investigate whether patient groups differed regarding target processing. Therefore, we analyzed the mean number of fixations on the targets. Fourth, we determined the number of distractor faces fixated after fixating the target. If many distractors are analyzed after the target has been visited search and decisionmaking seems to lack efficiency.

Additional analyses of gaze behavior were conducted using fixation duration parameters to determine stimulus processing of targets and distractors. Mean fixation times per distractor face before and after fixating the target were calculated, respectively. Mean fixation time on targets were also analyzed. For the sake of brevity, only the main findings of these analyses based on fixation duration will be included in this article. The relevant fixation data and statistical results are described in more detail in the **Supplementary Material**.

The analyses of reaction time and eye-movement data focus on the target present trials with correct responses. The rate of correct responses across all target present conditions was 0.98 (SD: 0.03). Reaction times and eye-movement measures were analyzed using 6 (condition) \times 2 (group) mixed ANOVAs. Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was used to control for covariates of interest when looking at group differences in test performance and gaze behavior. One-sample *t*-tests were administered as *post-hoc* tests to assess differences in decision performance or gaze behavior between face conditions in the total sample. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to examine if reactiontime and eye-movement variables were normally distributed. In case of (partial) violation of normality for reaction-time and eye-movement data, Mann-Whitney *U*-tests were calculated to compare performance between groups. Two-sample t-tests and Chi²-tests were applied to identify group differences in sociodemographic, clinical, and psychological characteristics and test performance.

General Procedure

The experiment took place at the Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy at the University of Leipzig. After the clinical screening procedure described above, patients were invited to the experimental session individually. The experiment was conducted in a sound-attenuated room shielded from sunlight. Ceiling lighting produced stable illuminance conditions. After the eye-tracking experiment, participants completed the BDI-II, the state version of the STAI, and the TMT-B.

RESULTS

Sociodemographic, Clinical, and Psychological Characteristics

Study groups did not differ in age, gender distribution, state anxiety, visual search speed (TMT-B), interviewer-rated depression (MADRS), illness onset (years since first depressive episode), and number of experienced depressive episodes (see **Table 1** for details). However, alexithymic patients had a lower level of education, t (37) = -2.94, p < 0.01, reported more depressive symptoms (BDI), t (37) = 2.56, p < 0.05, and took more frequently antidepressants, $\text{Chi}^2(1) = 4.31$, p < 0.05 (see **Table 1**). According to both, MADRS and BDI, patients suffered from moderate levels of depressive symptoms at time of testing.

Manual Response Data

Rates of correct responses and non-responses were high for both study groups (see Table 2). The results of a 6 (condition) \times 2 (group) mixed ANOVA on correct response rates in targetpresent trials indicate a significant main effect of condition $F_{(5, 185)} = 5.93, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.14$, but no main effect of group, $F_{(1, 37)} = 1.23, p = 0.27$, and no interaction effect, $F_{(5, 185)} =$ 1.15, p = 0.34. The experimental conditions "angry target neutral distractors" and "neutral target angry distractors" had overall the lowest rates of correct responses. The results of one-sample ttests show that correct response rate for "neutral target angry distractors" was lower than that in the conditions "happy target angry distractors," "angry target happy distractors," "happy target neutral distractors" and " neutral target happy distractors" (ps <0.05). Similarly, correct response rate for "angry target neutral distractors" was lower than that in the conditions "angry target happy distractors," "happy target neutral distractors" and "neutral target happy distractors" (ps < 0.05).

According to two-sample *t*-tests alexithymic and nonalexithymic patients did not differ on trials with only neutral or only happy faces concerning rate of correct non-responses. However, alexithymic patients showed fewer correct nonresponses than non-alexithymic patients for trials consisting only of angry faces, t (37) = -2.10, p < 0.05. Since rates of correct non-responses and responses were not normally distributed for all conditions in both groups, additional non-parametric **TABLE 1** | Demographic, clinical, and questionnaire characteristics of alexithymic and non-alexithymic depressed patients [means and SD (in brackets) or frequency values].

| Variable | Alexithymic patients | Non-alexithymic patients | p |
|---|-------------------------|-----------------------------|---------|
| Age | 28.80 (7.41) | 30.11 (6.69) | n.s. |
| Gender (f/m) | 13/7 | 13/6 | n.s. |
| Level of education ^a | 3.15 (1.42) | 4.42 (1.26) | <0.01* |
| Years since first depressive episode | 7.85 (6.19) | 9.11 (4.75) | n.s. |
| Number of episodes | 6.60 (7.81) | 6.32 (6.73) | n.s. |
| Antidepressant medication (yes/no) | 14/6 | 7/12 | <0.05* |
| TMT-B (seconds) | 62.56 (18.36) | 58.96 (23.12) | n.s. |
| BDI-II (sum score) | 25.50 (6.60) | 20.47 (5.60) | < 0.05* |
| MADRS (sum score) | 25.35 (4.58) | 23.18 (5.32) | n.s. |
| STAI-S (item score) | 2.29 (0.42) | 2.32 (0.55) | n.s. |
| TAS-20 (sum score) | 66.70 (5.56) | 44.32 (5.82) | <0.001* |

*Significant differences between groups according to independent samples t-tests or χ^2 tests.

^aCoding of level of education: 1 = 9th grade, 2 = 10th grade, 3 = 11th grade, 4 = 12th grade, 5 =University bachelor degree, 6 =University master degree.

TIMT-B, Trail Making Test Part B; BDI-II, Beck Depression Inventory II; MADRS, Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale; STAI-S, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory – state version; TAS-20, 20-Item Toronto-Alexithymia Scale.

TABLE 2 | Rate of correct non-responses/responses as a function of alexithymia, emotional quality of target, and distractor face and target absence/presence [means and SD (in brackets)].

| Variable | Alexithymic patients | Non-alexithymic patients |
|----------------------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------------|
| All angry faces | 0.94 (0.09) | 0.99 (0.06) |
| All happy faces | 0.99 (0.03) | 0.99 (0.03) |
| All neutral faces | 0.98 (0.05) | 0.97 (0.05) |
| Angry target happy distractors | 0.99 (0.03) | 0.99 (0.04) |
| Angry target neutral distractors | 0.94 (0.08) | 0.97 (0.06) |
| Happy target angry distractors | 0.96 (0.08) | 1.0 (0.0) |
| Happy target neutral distractors | 0.99 (0.04) | 0.99 (0.06) |
| Neutral target angry distractors | 0.94 (0.09) | 0.95 (0.08) |
| Neutral target happy distractors | 1.0 (0.0) | 0.99 (0.03) |

analyses were calculated. According to Mann-Whitney U-tests, alexithymic patients had fewer correct responses than nonalexithymic patients in trials consisting only of angry faces, (U = 127, p < 0.05). Moreover, alexithymic patients showed fewer correct responses than non-alexithymic patients in trials with a happy target in angry distractors, (U = 152, p < 0.05).

A 6 (condition) × 2 (group) mixed ANOVA on response latencies revealed a significant effect of condition, $F_{(5, 185)} = 68.13$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.65$, and a significant effect of group, $F_{(1, 37)} = 5.73$, p < 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.13$, but no interaction effect, $F_{(5, 185)} = 1.46$, p = 0.21. Alexithymic patients exhibited in general slower decision latencies compared to non-alexithymic patients (see **Figure 1**). Independent of study group, participants

responded slowest in the conditions "neutral target angry distractors" and "angry target neutral distractors" (see **Figure 1**). According to one-sample *t*-tests, response latencies in the condition "neutral target angry distractors" were significantly higher than those in the conditions "happy target angry distractors," "angry target happy distractors," "happy target neutral distractors" and "neutral target happy distractors" (*ps* < 0.05). Moreover, response latencies in the trials "angry target neutral distractors," "happy distractors," "happy target neutral distractors," and "neutral target neutral distractors," and "neutral target neutral distractors," "happy target neutral distractors," and "neutral target happy distractors," (*ps* < 0.05).

In addition, an ANCOVA was performed entering level of education, reported depressive symptoms (BDI), antidepressant use, and sex as covariates. The ANCOVA results showed that the covariates did not have significant effects on the dependent variable, whereas, the effect of group remained significant, $F_{(1, 33)} = 5.36$, p < 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.14$.

Eye-Movement Data Latency to Target

A 6 (condition) × 2 (group) mixed ANOVA on entry times of gaze on target revealed a main effect of condition, $F_{(5, 185)} = 5.41$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.13$, no effect of group $F_{(1, 37)} = 0.80$, p = 0.38, and no interaction effect, $F_{(5, 185)} = 0.67$, p = 0.65. Participants' orientation of gaze to the target face was slowest in the conditions "neutral target angry distractors" and "angry target neutral distractors," regardless of study group (see **Figure 2** for details).

Number of Distractor Faces Fixated Prior to Fixating the Target

Analyses revealed a main effect of condition, $F_{(5, 185)} = 3.41$, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.08$, but no main effect of group $F_{(1, 37)} = 0.04$, p = 0.85, and no interaction effect, $F_{(5, 185)} = 1.22$, p = 0.30. Independent of group, participants fixated more distractor faces in the conditions "angry target neutral distractors" and "neutral target angry distractors" followed by "happy target neutral distractors," and "angry target happy distractors (see **Table 3**). Participants fixated fewer distractors in the conditions "happy target angry distractors" and "neutral target angry distractors."

Number of Fixations on the Target

ANOVA revealed a main effect of condition, $F_{(5, 185)} = 32.71$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.47$, but no main effect of group $F_{(1, 37)} = 0.43$, p = 0.51, and no interaction effect, $F_{(5, 185)} = 1.77$, p = 0.12. Study participants fixated in general the target face longest in the conditions "neutral target angry distractors" followed by "angry target neutral distractors" (see **Table 4** for details).

Number of Distractor Faces Fixated After Fixating the Target

A 6 × 2 ANOVA yielded a significant main effect of condition, $F_{(5, 185)} = 28.42$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.43$, and a significant main effect of group, $F_{(1, 37)} = 6.79$, p < 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.15$. No interaction effect was observed, $F_{(5, 185)} = 0.57$, p = 0.72. Alexithymic patients fixated more distractors after target fixation than nonalexithymic patients regardless of face condition (see **Table 5**).



FIGURE 1 | Manual response times (for correct responses) in ms as a function of alexithymia and emotional quality of target and distractor face (error bars represent standard error).



Independent of group, participants fixated more distractor faces after fixating the target in the conditions "angry target neutral distractors" and "neutral target angry distractors" than in the other experimental conditions.

Data for "number of distractor faces fixated after fixating the target" were in the majority of conditions normally distributed (8 out of 12). Only in case of the conditions "angry target happy distractors" (for the non-alexithymic group), "happy target angry distractors" (for both groups) and "neutral target happy distractors" (for the non-alexithymic group) data did not show a normal distribution. According to the results of

additional Mann-Whitney *U*-tests, alexithymic patients fixated more distractors after target fixation than non-alexithymic patients in the conditions "angry target happy distractors" (U = 101.5, p < 0.05) and "angry target in neutral distractors (U = 112, p < 0.05). Moreover, they tended to fixate more distractors after fixation of the target than non-alexithymic patients in the conditions "happy target neutral distractors" (U = 128, p < 0.10) and "neutral target angry distractors" (U = 126, p < 0.10). Number of fixated distractors after target fixation did not differ between groups for "happy target angry distractors" (U = 136, p = 0.13) and "neutral target happy distractors" (U = 128).

TABLE 3 | Fixation of distractor faces (number of faces) before target fixation as a function of alexithymia and emotional quality of target and distractor face [means and SD (in brackets)].

| Variable | Alexithymic | Non-alexithymic |
|--|-------------|-----------------|
| | patients | patients |
| Number of fixated happy distractors before fixating angry target | 3.46 (0.72) | 3.60 (0.63) |
| Number of fixated neutral distractors before fixating angry target | 3.87 (0.75) | 3.80 (0.87) |
| Number of fixated angry distractors before fixating happy target | 3.38 (0.46) | 3.41 (0.79) |
| Number of fixated neutral distractors before fixating happy target | 3.61 (0.73) | 3.68 (0.54) |
| Number of fixated angry distractors before fixating neutral target | 3.63 (0.71) | 3.96 (0.75) |
| Number of fixated happy distractors before fixating neutral target | 3.55 (0.84) | 3.17 (0.68) |

TABLE 4 | Number of fixations on target as a function of alexithymia and emotional quality of target and distractor face [means and SD (in brackets)].

| Alexithymic patients | Non-alexithymic patients |
|----------------------|--|
| 1.46 (0.27) | 1.57 (0.32) |
| 2.03 (0.39) | 1.76 (0.31) |
| 1.59 (0.30) | 1.51 (0.36) |
| 1.46 (0.37) | 1.43 (0.26) |
| 2.16 (0.48) | 2.11 (0.45) |
| 1.65 (0.35) | 1.64 (0.46) |
| | patients 1.46 (0.27) 2.03 (0.39) 1.59 (0.30) 1.46 (0.37) 2.16 (0.48) |

163.5, p = 0.45). Most importantly, the number of distractor faces fixated after target fixation across all conditions differed between study groups (U = 107, p < 0.05): alexithymic patients fixated overall more distractors after fixating the target than non-alexithymic patients.

An ANCOVA was calculated with level of education, reported depressive symptoms (BDI), use of antidepressants, and sex as covariates. The results suggest that out of the covariates only education level had a significant effect on the dependent variable, $F_{(1, 33)} = 6.04$, p < 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.15$: higher level of education was found to be associated with fewer fixated distractors after target fixation. The effect of group remained significant, $F_{(1, 33)} = 7.87$, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.19$.

Supplemental Analyses: Fixation Duration on Targets and Distractors

An ANOVA conducted on fixation time on targets suggests no difference between study groups or interaction effect. The analyses of mean fixation times per distractor face before fixating **TABLE 5** | Fixation of distractor faces (number of faces) after target fixation as a function of alexithymia and emotional quality of target and distractor face [means and SD (in brackets)].

| Variable | Alexithymic patients | Non-alexithymic patients |
|--|-------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Number of fixated happy distractors after fixating angry target | 1.30 (0.78) | 0.71 (0.69) |
| Number of fixated neutral distractors after fixating angry target | 2.90 (1.07) | 2.12 (1.02) |
| Number of fixated angry distractors after fixating happy target | 1.45 (1.02) | 1.07 (0.96) |
| Number of fixated neutral distractors after fixating happy target | 1.69 (1.01) | 1.07 (0.65) |
| Number of fixated angry distractors after fixating neutral target | 2.89 (1.34) | 2.09 (1.22) |
| Number of fixated happy distractors after fixating neutral target | 1.56 (1.14) | 1.19 (0.79) |

the target also revealed no difference between study groups or interaction effect. According to an ANOVA and additional ANCOVA controlling for education level, depressive symptoms, use of antidepressants, and sex alexithymic patients fixated distractor faces longer than non-alexithymic patients after target fixation, regardless of face quality (see **Supplementary Material** for details).

DISCUSSION

In our study, we investigated the relationship between alexithymia and visual processing of facial emotions in clinical depression. To this aim, we analyzed reaction times and gaze behavior in a face-in-the-crowd task. The concept of alexithymia refers to difficulties in identifying, describing one's feelings and an external orientation of thought (2), and is considered a major risk factor for physical and mental illness (6, 7). This is the first study on attention to multiple emotional faces as a function of alexithymia using eye-tracking methodology. Our visual search task required processes of comparison and search for discrepancies between multiple facial expressions of different individuals. Our task did not ask participants to explicitly identify or label facial emotions so that it appears plausible to assume that the processes of categorization and comparison operated primarily implicitly. Two groups of patients suffering from major depression were compared that differed substantially concerning their alexithymia scores. In our study, alexithymia was empirically measured via the internationally widely used 20-item Toronto Alexithymia-Scale (65, 66). Research using the TAS-20 has demonstrated adequate levels of convergent and concurrent validity of this self-report instrument (3). One patient group showed clinically relevant alexithymic characteristics whereas, the other patient group included non-alexithymic individuals according to the criteria of Bagby and Taylor (33).

There were no differences between our study groups with regard to age, sex, illness onset, number of illness episodes,

general visual search speed (TMT-B), state anxiety, and interviewer-rated depression. However, alexithymic patients took more frequently antidepressants, reported more depressive symptoms, and had a lower level of education than nonalexithymic patients. Therefore, these variables (and sex) were taken into consideration as covariates in the group comparisons. Associations of alexithymia with increased antidepressant consumption (67), heightened psychological distress (43), and lower education (4) have been observed previously. Depressed patients with alexithymia are known to often notice and report physical symptoms (68). Given alexithymic patients' tendency to describe somatic symptoms physicians might be more inclined to treat these patients with medications.

According to our reaction time findings, alexithymic depressed patients manifested in general longer decision latencies in the face-in-the-crowd task compared to nonalexithymic depressed patients. Thus, patients with alexithymia were slower in the visual search for and comparison between emotional facial expressions than patients without alexithymia. The present findings corroborate our hypothesis that patients with alexithymia manifest a less efficient performance in the face-in-the-crowd task than patients without alexithymia. In our study, rates of correct responses (and non-responses) were high for both study groups suggesting that participants understood and attentively performed the task. For target present trials, correct response rates did not differ between patient groups (except for trials with a happy target in angry distractors: here alexithymic patients gave fewer correct responses than non-alexithymic patients). Moreover, patient groups showed a similar rate of correct answers on trials with only neutral or only happy facial expressions. However, alexithymic patients made fewer correct decisions than non-alexithymic patients when only angry faces were displayed. Thus, we found some evidence for deficits in comparing threatening facial expressions in alexithymic depressed patients.

As reaction times in visual search tasks provide only a summary or final snapshot of attention processes it was a central goal of our study to decompose attention allocation into different components by analyzing gaze behavior over time. According to our results, patient groups differed neither in latency to target (i.e., the time from stimulus onset to first fixation of the discrepant facial expression in a crowd) nor in the number of fixations on target. Therefore, it appears that alexithymic patients were on the target faces as quickly as non-alexithymic patients and they fixated them as frequently as non-alexithymic ones, regardless of whether targets were emotional or non-emotional. Moreover, there were no differences between patient groups for number of distractors fixated prior to target fixation. In our sample, patients fixated on average three to four distractor faces before their gaze was directed to the target. In sum, it can be concluded from these eye-tracking data that no discrepancies were found between alexithymic and non-alexithymic depressed patients in early gaze behavior, i.e., from stimulus onset to processing of the target face. Hence, it seems that alexithymia is not associated with abnormalities in processes of attention guidance to the target face. Alexithymic patients do not have to check more distractor faces before the target is located compared to non-alexithymic patients.

The results are different when considering patients' gaze behavior after target detection. After having looked at the target face, alexithymic patients fixated more distractors than nonalexithymic patients regardless of face condition. This pattern of findings is confirmed by the results of our supplemental analyses concerning fixation duration. That is, after fixating the target alexithymic patients looked at distractor faces longer than non-alexithymic patients but there were no group differences in fixation time on distractors before target fixation and fixation time on target. The present data could indicate processing deficits only after target fixation in alexithymic patients. However, it cannot be excluded that a less efficient processing and identification of the target face expression has led to an increased requirement in alexithymic patients to look more often at further (distractor) faces before they came to a correct decision (i.e., that one of the faces differs in its expression from the others). At this point, it must be emphasized that the arguments presented here to explain the observed group differences have a rather speculative and tentative character and that further research and experimental evidence are needed for solid conclusions. It can also be argued that if distractor faces are fixated after the target face has been visited decision-making lacks efficiency (57). The observed deficits after target detection might suggest difficulties in the processing of similarities and discrepancies, and the integration of the gathered information into a decision. It is possible that alexithymic patients have specific problems in comparing emotional (and neutral) faces and deciding whether the expressions belong to a single category or not. The alexithymic patients might feel uncertain about the perceived expressions and could need more information before making a final decision. Lorey et al. (69) demonstrated in an experiment with video scenes of human interactions that people with high alexithymia are less confident about assessing others' emotions than those with low alexithymia. In their study, participants had to perceive emotions depicted in point-light displays and assess the confidence in these perceptions. Interestingly, people with high alexithymia were significantly less confident about their decisions but did not differ from people with low alexithymia in the valence of their ratings.

However, in our view it cannot be excluded that although alexithymic patients did not differ from non-alexithymic patients in initial distractor fixations and target fixations (regarding duration and number of fixations) they might have still processed and encoded less facial emotional information per fixation in the early phase of visual search. In general, increased fixation duration may reflect or enable more attention to and deepened processing of the fixated object (70). Consistently, it has been observed that fixation frequency during visual exploration of pictures is positively related to subsequent recall performance (71). If alexithymic patients have deficits in encoding emotional information they could need extra time during visual search for gathering more information on the composition of the crowd of faces. Findings from previous neuroimaging research on the perception of (single) emotional facial expressions show that alexithymia goes along with reduced neural response in various parts of the brain in healthy individuals (31) and depressed patients (52). It has been argued that alexithymic individuals could manifest impairments in the perceptual encoding of emotional information at an automatic processing level (30). Yet, when looking at the specific abnormalities shown by our alexithymia patients in late (but not early) gaze behavior it appears likely that their impairments in the face-in-the-crowd task are more due to difficulties in comparing different emotional facial expressions, integrating the perceived information, and coming to a decision on dissimilarity of expressions than to general encoding deficits. Similarly, findings from a sequential affective priming study (28) indicate that alexithymic individuals could be less efficient in the use of emotional facial information when assessing subsequently shown neutral facial expressions.

In our visual search study, we investigated attention to happy and angry faces, as previous alexithymia research has revealed impairments in the identification of positive and negative facial expressions (29). The present results are consistent with the idea that alexithymic individuals' impairments in processing emotions in facial expressions are not limited to a specific affective valence. The alexithymic processing deficits seem to concern both types of expressions presented in our experiment, happy, and angry faces. Our results suggest a general, emotion-unspecific visual processing deficit in depressed patients with alexithymia.

A point worthy of note is that independent of patient group an effect of valence or valence combination was observed in our face-in-the-crowd task. Patients performed worst in face conditions where an angry target was combined with a neutral crowd or a neutral target with an angry crowd. Here, patients required substantially more time to respond and to find the target, they made more fixations on the crowd faces prior to target fixation, and they fixated the target face longer in comparison with other expression conditions. This pattern of results shows that it was much more difficult for our patients to find the target when angry and neutral faces were combined compared to other combinations of expressions. Most likely, they had difficulties to differentiate between these two categories of expression. Categorization of stimuli as target vs. distractor should take more time when distractor stimuli and target are similar to each other. The present findings indicating faster processing of happy expressions in crowds of faces are consistent with results from other research indicating a superiority effect for happy faces (14, 15). However, as mentioned earlier, it appears difficult to draw general conclusions about advantages for processing a specific facial emotion in groups of faces as some studies have reported a superiority effect for angry expressions (16, 17). It seems that the results observed in visual search for emotion faces could largely depend on the specific stimulus set applied (17).

Interestingly, even though, the processing of crowds comprising angry and neutral expressions was more difficult in our study than the processing of crowds with happy faces, there was no evidence that alexithymic patients' processing deficits were more pronounced in or limited to the most challenging task condition. Based on the present findings, we suggest that future investigations of emotion processing in clinical depression obtain measures of alexithymia in order to determine whether any deficits or abnormalities observed are caused by depression or alexithymia. The control of alexithymia in research on emotion perception in depression seems to be of importance not least because it is fairly common in depressed patients (5, 34). Presence of alexithymia may define a subgroup of depressed patients who exhibit specific impairments in the perception of others' emotions. Interestingly, as there are elevated rates of alexithymia and emotion processing dysfunctions in a number of mental disorders (e.g., autism, substance abuse, and eating disorders) it has been suggested to assess routinely the role of alexithymia in emotion perception across different disorders (72).

According to our results, alexithymic depressed patients could be slow in the identification of discrepancies between facial emotions expressed by different individuals. Thus, in group situations alexithymic patients might be slower in noting that the emotional expression of a person deviates from the emotions expressed by the others compared with non-alexithymic patients. This could represent a disadvantage in comprehending emotional group dynamics, especially in case emotional responses of group members change fast and frequently. Alexithymic individuals' deficient emotion identification ability could be an important factor contributing to their difficulties in using interpersonal communication with others to manage distress (73). Alexithymia itself should become more often the target for psychological interventions. Findings from treatment studies suggest that it might be partly modifiable and improvements in alexithymia can be accompanied by improvements in other domains of functioning such as interpersonal abilities (74, 75). Recently, a promising psychological intervention method to reduce alexithymia has been proposed that combines psychoeducation with a smartphone-based emotion recognition skills training (76).

Limitations of our study include small sample sizes and the sole reliance on self-report for measuring alexithymia. The categorical research approach that we employed to examine the potential effects of alexithymia on visual emotion processing can be viewed critically. The comparison of extreme groups leads to the neglect of in-between participants. In our study, this neglect concerns individuals with TAS-20 scores in the range between 52 and 60. This intermediate group has been labeled as "possibly alexithymic" (77). Our investigation was limited to non-alexithymic patients (who could have scores from 20 to 51) and alexithymic patients (who could have scores from 61 to 100) applying the criteria of Bagby and Taylor (33). In clinical practice it may be helpful to label patients as having or not having an attribute. Although categorization of continuous variables as in the case of alexithymia is quite common in clinical research it can go along with several serious drawbacks. Dichotomizing continuous variables can lead to a reduction in statistical power to detect relations with other variables (78). Moreover, dichotomization might increase the risk of positive results being false positives (79). Artificial dichotomization based
on sample median poses the problem that various data-derived cut-points can be used in different studies so that their findings cannot be easily compared or processed in meta-analyses. The cut-off scores administered in our study to define alexithymia and non-alexithymia (33) have at least the advantage of being internationally recognized. Research results on the structure of the alexithymia construct have provided strong support that alexithymia is a dimensional construct. Taxometric statistical procedures produced unambiguously dimensional solutions, providing substantial evidence that the core alexithymia features are continuously distributed in the population (80, 81). Against this background, it is recommended to use dimensional analyses in future studies that examine the potential effect of the personality trait alexithymia on emotion perception in depression or other mental disorders.

A further limitation of our study is that explicit emotion identification ability of participants was not assessed. It is an interesting question whether the ability to explicitly identify and label facial emotions is related to performance in the face-in-the-crowd task which appears to measure primarily implicitly operating processes of categorization and comparison. It should be noted that when faces with intense expressions have been presented for longer durations or without time limit no impairments in emotion identification were found in alexithymic individuals (82-84). Although, we included the TMT-B to assess participants' general visual processing speed it is a limitation of our study that it did not comprise a non-social control condition requiring search for discrepancies between several complex stimuli. Thus, it remains unclear whether the observed alexithymia-related impairments are specific for social stimuli or represent general visual processing impairments. Future facein-the-crowd research should administer complex non-social search tasks with multiple stimulus displays to enable stronger conclusions. These search tasks may consist of a texton or a non-texton target in a group of distractors (e.g., crosses, lines, or letters) that allow to assess processes of pre-attentive and attentive visual search for non-social stimuli (85, 86). A further important limitation of our investigation is that no healthy control group was included (neither non-alexithymic nor alexithymic healthy subjects). Therefore, it remains unclear whether one or both of our depressed patient groups show impairments in test performance or gaze behavior compared to healthy individuals. Future studies should investigate whether alexithymia in healthy persons is also associated with deficits in visual search for emotional faces. Finally, our study can be criticized for not having assessed patients' ratings of arousal and valence of the emotional faces presented in the experiment. However, when looking at the findings of several recent alexithymia studies on emotion face processing high alexithymia individuals' arousal and valence ratings of facial expressions did not differ from those of low alexithymia individuals (87-89). Thus, there is some evidence that intense facial expressions of basic emotions might be perceived as similarly arousing and positive (or negative) by highly alexithymic and nonalexithymic individuals.

Doubt has been expressed about the validity of self-report instruments assessing alexithymia, as such tests seem to depend

on the abilities to monitor and report one's emotional states accurately (90). However, in the last 25 years, empirical studies have yielded considerable support for the reliability and validity of the TAS-20 (3). Moreover, in previous studies on alexithymia and emotion perception in which interview-based or observerrated measures were administered in addition to self-report questionnaires self-reported alexithymia was found to be a better predictor of emotion processing than the scores derived from observer rating or interview (26, 28, 91).

In conclusion, the results from our eye-tracking study suggest that alexithymia goes along with impairments in visual processing of multiple facial emotions in clinical depression. According to the present findings, alexithymia is associated with prolonged scanning in the phase post-target detection in depression but might have no impact on the early phase of visual face processing. Thus, alexithymia seems not to be related to abnormalities in processes of attention guidance to discrepant emotional faces in clinical depression. The observed deficits could suggest difficulties in decision-making and/or target identification when processing multiple emotional facial expressions. Alexithymia might go along with a sense of uncertainty about the perceived expressions. Impairments of alexithymic depressed individuals in processing emotions in crowds of faces seem not limited to a specific affective valence. In group situations, depressed patients with alexithymia might be slowed in processing interindividual differences in emotional expressions compared with non-alexithymic depressed patients. This could be a disadvantage in comprehending non-verbal communication in groups. As alexithymia is quite common in depressed patients it appears advisable to control this personality characteristic in future research on emotion perception in clinical depression.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics committee at the University of Leipzig, Medical Faculty. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TS, AK, and CB conceived and designed the experiment. CB collected the data. TS, TH, VG, and AK outlined the manuscript. TS and CB analyzed the data. TS wrote the first draft of the manuscript. VG, TH, AK, and CB wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge support from the German Research Foundation (DFG) and Universität Leipzig within the program of Open Access Publishing.

REFERENCES

- Sifneos PE. The prevalence of 'alexithymic'characteristics in psychosomatic patients. Psychother Psychosom. (1973) 22:255–62. doi: 10.1159/000286529
- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM. The alexithymia personality dimension. In: Widiger TA, editor. *The Oxford Handbook of Personality Disorders*. New York, Ny: Oxford University Press (2012). p. 648–73. doi: 10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199735013.013.0030
- Bagby RM, Parker JDA, Taylor GJ. Twenty-five years with the 20item Toronto alexithymia scale. J Psychosom Res. (2020) 131:109940. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2020.109940
- Lane RD, Sechrest L, Riedel R. Sociodemographic correlates of alexithymia. Compr Psychiatry. (1998) 39:377–85. doi: 10.1016/S0010-440X(98)90051-7
- Leweke F, Leichsenring F, Kruse J, Hermes S. Is alexithymia associated with specific mental disorders? *Psychopathology*. (2012) 45:22–8. doi: 10.1159/000325170
- Porcelli P, Taylor GJ. Alexithymia and physical illness: a psychosomatic approach. In: Luminet O, Bagby RM, Taylor GJ, editors. *Alexithymia. Advances in Research, Theory, and Clinical Practice.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2018). p. 105–26. doi: 10.1017/9781108241595.009
- Honkalampi K, De Berardis D, Vellante F, Viinamäki H. Relations between alexithymia and depressive and anxiety disorders and personality. In: Luminet O, Bagby RM, Taylor GJ, editors. *Alexithymia. Advances in Research, Theory, and Clinical Practice.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2018). p. 142–57. doi: 10.1017/9781108241595.011
- Erickson K, Schulkin J. Facial expressions of emotion: a cognitive neuroscience perspective. *Brain Cogn.* (2003) 52:52– 60. doi: 10.1016/S0278-2626(03)00008-3
- Palermo R, Rhodes G. Are you always on my mind? A review of how face perception and attention interact. *Neuropsychologia*. (2007) 45:75– 92. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2006.04.025
- Calvo MG, Marrero H. Visual search of emotional faces: the role of affective content and featural distinctiveness. *Cogn Emot.* (2009) 23:782– 809. doi: 10.1080/02699930802151654
- Hansen CH, Hansen RD. Finding the face in the crowd an anger superiority effect. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1988) 54:917–24. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514. 54.6.917
- Öhman A, Lundqvist D, Esteves F. The face in the crowd revisited: a threat advantage with schematic stimuli. J Pers Soc Psychol. (2001) 80:381– 96. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.80.3.381
- Pinkham AE, Griffin M, Baron R, Sasson NJ, Gur RC. The face in the crowd effect: anger superiority when using real faces and multiple identities. *Emotion.* (2010) 10:141–6. doi: 10.1037/a0017387
- Shasteen JR, Sasson NJ, Pinkham AE. Eye tracking the face in the crowd task: why are angry faces found more quickly? *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e93914. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0093914
- Becker DV, Anderson US, Mortensen CR, Neufeld SL, Neel R. The face in the crowd effect unconfounded: happy faces, not angry faces, are more efficiently detected in single- and multiple-target visual search tasks. *J Exp Psychol Gen*. 140:637–59. doi: 10.1037/a0024060
- Horstmann G, Becker SI. More efficient visual search for happy faces may not indicate guidance, but rather faster distractor rejection: evidence from eye movements and fixations. *Emotion.* (2020) 20:206–16. doi: 10.1037/emo0000536
- Savage RA, Lipp OV, Craig BM, Becker SI, Horstmann G. In search of the emotional face: anger versus happiness superiority in visual search. *Emotion*. (2013) 13:758–68. doi: 10.1037/a0031970
- Hollingworth A, Bahle B. Eye tracking in visual search experiments. Neuromethods. (2020) 151:23–35. doi: 10.1007/7657_2019_30

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.668019/full#supplementary-material

- Hunt AR, Reuther J, Hilchey MD, Klein R. The relationship between spatial attention and eye movements. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci.* (2019) 41:255– 78. doi: 10.1007/7854_2019_95
- Gerritsen C, Frischen A, Blake A, Smilek D, Eastwood JD. Visual search is not blind to emotion. *Percept Psychophys.* (2008) 70:1047– 59. doi: 10.3758/PP.70.6.1047
- White M. Preattentive analysis of facial expressions of emotion. Cogn Emot. (1995) 9:439–60. doi: 10.1080/02699939508408975
- Calvo M G, Nummenmaa L, Avero P. Visual search of emotional faces: eyemovement assessment of component processes. *Exp Psychol.* (2008) 55:359– 70. doi: 10.1027/1618-3169.55.6.359
- Reynolds MG, Eastwood JD, Partanen M, Frischen A, Smilek D. Monitoring eye movements while searching for affective faces. *Vis Cogn.* (2009) 17:318– 33. doi: 10.1080/13506280701623704
- Parker JDA, Taylor GJ, Bagby RM. Alexithymia and the recognition of facial expressions of emotion. *Psychother Psychosom.* (1993) 59:197– 202. doi: 10.1159/000288664
- Kätsyri J, Saalasti S, Tiippana K, von Wendt L, Sams M. Impaired recognition of facial emotions from low-spatial frequencies in Asperger syndrome. *Neuropsychologia.* (2008) 46:1888–97. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.01.005
- Ihme K, Sacher J, Lichev V, Rosenberg N, Kugel H, Rufer M, et al. Alexithymic features and the labeling of brief emotional facial expressions – an fMRI study. *Neuropsychologia*. (2014) 64:289–99. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2014.09.044
- Prkachin GC, Casey C, Prkachin KM. Alexithymia and perception of facial expressions of emotion. *Pers Individ Diff.* (2009) 46:412– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2008.11.010
- Rosenberg N, Ihme K, Lichev V, Sacher J, Rufer M, Grabe HJ, et al. Alexithymia and automatic processing of facial emotions: behavioral and neural findings. *BMC Neurosci.* (2020) 21:23. doi: 10.1186/s12868-020-00572-6
- 29. Grynberg D, Chang B, Corneille O, Maurage P, Vermeulen N, Berthoz S, et al. Alexithymia and the processing of emotional facial expressions (EFEs): systematic review, unanswered questions and further perspectives. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e42429. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0042429
- Donges US, Suslow T. Alexithymia and automatic processing of emotional stimuli: a systematic review. *Rev Neurosci.* (2017) 28:247-64. doi: 10.1515/revneuro-2016-0049
- Van der Velde J, Servaas MN, Goerlich KS, Bruggeman R, Horton P, Costafreda SG, et al. Neural correlates of alexithymia: a meta-analysis of emotion processing studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2013) 37:1774– 85. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.07.008
- Honkalampi K, Hintikka J, Laukkanen E, Lehtonen J, Viinamäki H. Alexithymia and depression: a prospective study of patients with major depressive disorder. *Psychosomatics*. (2001) 42:229– 34. doi: 10.1176/appi.psy.42.3.229
- 33. Bagby RM, Taylor GJ. Measurement and validation of the alexithymia construct. In: Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, Parker JDA, editors. Disorders of Affect Regulation. Alexithymia in Medical and Psychiatric Illness. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (1997). p. 46–66. doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511526831.006
- Kim JH, Lee SJ, Rim HD, Kim HW, Bae GY, Chang SM. The relationship between alexithymia and general symptoms of patients with depressive disorders. *Psychiatry Investig.* (2008) 5:179–85. doi: 10.4306/pi.2008.5.3.179
- Franz M, Popp K, Schaefer R, Sitte W, Schneider C, Hardt J, et al. Alexithymia in the German general population. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2008) 43:54–62. doi: 10.1007/s00127-007-0265-1
- Lumley MA. Alexithymia and negative emotional conditions. J Psychosom Med. (2000) 49:51–4. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(00)00161-6

- Vanheule S, Desmet M, Verhaeghe P, Bogaerts S. Alexithymic depression: evidence for a depression subtype? *Psychother Psychosom.* (2007) 76:315– 6. doi: 10.1159/000104710
- Luminet O, Bagby RM, Taylor GJ. An evaluation of the absolute and relative stability of alexithymia in patients with major depression. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2001) 70:254–60. doi: 10.1159/000056263
- Saarijärvi S, Salminen JK, Toikka T. Temporal stability of alexithymia over a five-year period in outpatients with major depression. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2006) 75:107–12. doi: 10.1159/000090895
- Honkalampi K, Hintikka J, Koivumaa-Honkanen H, Antikainen R, Haatainen K, Viinamaki H. Long-term alexithymic features indicate poor recovery from depression and psychopathology. A six-year follow-up. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2007) 76:312–4. doi: 10.1159/000104709
- Günther V, Rufer M, Kersting A, Suslow T. Predicting symptoms in major depression after inpatient treatment: the role of alexithymia. *Nord J Psychiatry*. (2016) 70:5:392–8. doi: 10.3109/08039488.2016.1146796
- Ogrodniczuk JS, Piper WE, Joyce AS. Alexithymia as a predictor of residual symptoms in depressed patients who respond to short-term psychotherapy. *Am J Psychother.* (2004) 58:150– 61. doi: 10.1176/appi.psychotherapy.2004.58.2.150
- Serafini G, De Berardis D, Valchera A, Canepa G, Geoffroy PA, Pompili M, et al. Alexithymia as possible specifier of adverse outcomes: clinical correlates in euthymic unipolar individuals. J Affect Disord. (2020) 263:428– 36. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.10.046
- Dalili MN, Penton-Voak IS, Harmer CJ, Munafo MR. Meta-analysis of emotion recognition deficits in major depressive disorder. *Psychol Med.* (2015) 45:1135–44. doi: 10.1017/S0033291714002591
- Suslow T, Hußlack A, Kersting A, Bodenschatz CM. Attentional biases to emotional information in clinical depression: a systematic and metaanalytic review of eye tracking findings. J Affect Disord. (2020) 274:632– 42. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.05.140
- Suslow T, Junghanns K, Arolt V. Detection of facial expressions of emotions in depression. *Percept Mot Skills*. (2001) 92:857– 68. doi: 10.2466/pms.2001.92.3.857
- Suslow T, Dannlowski U, Lalee-Mentzel J, Donges U-S, Arolt V, Kersting A. Spatial processing of facial emotion in patients with unipolar depression: a longitudinal study. J Affect Disord. (2004) 83:59–63. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2004.03.003
- Karparova SP, Kersting A, Suslow T. Disengagement of attention from facial emotion in unipolar depression. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2005) 59:723– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2005.01443.x
- Strand M, Sætrevik B, Lund A, Hammar Å. The relationship between residual symptoms of depression and emotional information processing. *Nord J Psychiatry*. (2013) 67:233–9. doi: 10.3109/08039488.2012.711857
- Wisco BE, Treat TA, Hollingworth A. Visual attention to emotion in depression: facilitation and withdrawal processes. *Cogn Emot.* (2012) 26:602– 14. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2011.595392
- Bodenschatz CM, Czepluch F, Kersting A, Suslow T. Efficient visual search for facial emotions in patients with major depression. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2021) 21:92. doi: 10.1186/s12888-021-03093-6
- Suslow T, Kugel H, Rufer M, Redlich R, Dohm K, Grotegerd D, et al. Alexithymia is associated with attenuated automatic brain response to facial emotion in clinical depression. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2016) 65:194–200. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2015.10.006
- Vuilleumier P, Armony J, Dolan R. Reciprocal links between emotion and attention. In: Frackowiak RSJ, editor. *Human Brain Function*. San Diego: Academic Press (2003). p. 419–44. doi: 10.1016/B978-012264841-0/50022-6
- Hikosaka O, Kim HF, Yasuda M, Yamamoto S. Basal ganglia circuits for reward value-guided behavior. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (2014) 37:289– 306. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-071013-013924
- Wolfe JM, Horowitz TS. Five factors that guide attention in visual search. Nat Hum Behav. (2017) 1:58. doi: 10.1038/s41562-017-0058
- Horstmann G, Becker S, Ernst D. Dwelling, rescanning, and skipping of distractors explain search efficiency in difficult search better than guidance by the target. *Vis Cogn.* (2017) 25:291–305. doi: 10.1080/13506285.2017.1347591
- 57. Poole A, Ball LJ. Eye tracking in human-computer interaction and usability research: current status and future prospects. In: Ghaoui C, editor.

Encyclopedia of Human Computer Interaction. Hershey, PA: Idea Group (2006). p. 211–9. doi: 10.4018/978-1-59140-562-7.ch034

- Wittchen HU, Wunderlich U, Gruschwitz S, Zaudig M. Strukturiertes Klinisches Interview f
 ür DSM-IV. Achse I: Psychische Störungen. Interviewheft und Beurteilungsheft. Eine deutschsprachige, erweiterte Bearbeitung der amerikanischen Originalversion des SKID-I. Göttingen: Hogrefe (1997). p. 122.
- 59. Bach M, Bach D, de Zwaan M, Serim M, Böhmer F. Validierung der deutschen Version der 20-item Toronto-Alexithymie-Skala bei Normalpersonen und psychiatrischen Patienten [validation of the German version of the 20item Toronto alexithymia scale in normal persons and psychiatric patients]. *Psychother Psychosom Med Psychol.* (1996) 46:23–8.
- Montgomery SA, Asberg M. A new depression scale designed to be sensitive to change. Br J Psychiatry. (1979) 134:382–9. doi: 10.1192/bjp.134.4.382
- 61. Hautzinger M, Keller F, Kühner C. BDI-II. Beck Depressions-Inventar Revision. Frankfurt am Main: Harcourt Test Services. (2006) p.35
- Laux L, Glanzmann P, Schaffner P, Spielberger CD. Das State-Trait-Angstinventar. Theoretische Grundlagen und Handanweisungen. Weinheim: Beltz Testgesellschaft (1981). p. 75.
- 63. Reitan RM. *Trail Making Test.* Tucson: Reitan Neuropsychology Laboratory (1992).
- Ebner NC, Riediger M, Lindenberger U. FACES-a database of facial expressions in young, middle-aged, and older women and men: development and validation. *Behav Res Methods*. (2010) 42:351–62. doi: 10.3758/BRM.42.1.351
- Parker JDA, Taylor, GJ Bagby RM. The 20-item Toronto alexithymia scale -III. Reliability and factorial validity in a community population. *J Psychosom Res.* (2003) 55:269–75. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00578-0
- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, Parker JDA. The 20-item Toronto alexithymia scale
 IV. Reliability and factorial validity in different languages and cultures. J Psychosom Res. (2003) 55:277–83. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00601-3
- Speranza M, Loas G, Guilbaud O, Corcos M. Are treatment options related to alexithymia in eating disorders? Results from a three-year naturalistic longitudinal study. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2011) 65:585– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2010.01.009
- Lumley MA, Neely LC, Burger AJ. The assessment of alexithymia in medical settings: Implications for understanding and treating health problems. *J Pers* Assess. (2007) 89:230–46. doi: 10.1080/00223890701629698
- Lorey B, Kaletsch M, Pilgramm S, Bischoff M, Kindermann S, Sauerbier I, et al. Confidence in emotion perception in point-light displays varies with the ability to perceive own emotions. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e42169. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0042169
- Brouwer A-M, Hogervorst MA, Oudejans B, Ries AJ, Touryan J. EEG and eye tracking signatures of target encoding during structured visual search. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2017) 11:264. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2017.00264
- Fehlmann B, Coynel D, Schicktanz N, Milnik A, Gschwind L, Hofmann P, et al. Visual exploration at higher fixation frequency increases subsequent memory recall. *Cereb Cortex Commun.* (2020) 1:1–14. doi: 10.1093/texcom/tgaa032
- Bird G, Cook R. Mixed emotions: the contribution of alexithymia to the emotional symptoms of autism. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2013) 3:e285. doi: 10.1038/tp.2013.61
- Vanheule S, Verhaeghe P, Desmet M. In search of a framework for the treatment of alexithymia. *Psychol Psychother*. (2011) 84:84–97. doi: 10.1348/147608310X520139
- Ogrodniczuk JS, Kealy D, Hadjipavlou GA, Cameron K. Therapeutic issues. In: Luminet O, Bagby RM, Taylor GJ, editors. *Alexithymia. Advances in Research, Theory, and Clinical Practice.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2018). p. 190–206. doi: 10.1017/9781108241595.014
- Cameron K, Ogrodniczuk JS, Hadjipavlou G. Changes in alexithymia following psychological intervention: a review. *Harv Rev Psychiatry*. (2014) 22:162–78. doi: 10.1097/HRP.00000000000036
- Lukas CA, Trevisi Fuentes H, Berking M. Smartphone-based emotion recognition skills training for alexithymia – a randomized controlled pilot study. *Internet Interv.* (2019) 17:100250. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2019.100250
- Martino G, Caputo A, Vicario CM, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Watt T, Quattropani MC, et al. Alexithymia, emotional distress, and perceived quality of life in patients with Hashimoto's Thyroiditis. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:667237. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.667237

- MacCallum RC, Zhang S, Preacher KJ, Rucker DD. On the practice of dichotomization of quantitative variables. *Psychol Methods*. (2002) 7:19– 40. doi: 10.1037/1082-989X.7.1.19
- Austin PC, Brunner LJ. Inflation of the type I error rate when a continuous confounding variable is categorized in logistic regression analyses. *Stat Med.* (2004) 23:1159–78. doi: 10.1002/sim.1687
- Parker JD, Keefer KV, Taylor GJ, Bagby RM. Latent structure of the alexithymia construct: a taxometric investigation. *Psychol Assess.* (2008) 20:385–96. doi: 10.1037/a0014262
- Keefer KV, Taylor GJ, Parker JDA, Bagby RM. Taxometric analysis of the Toronto structured interview for alexithymia: further evidence that alexithymia is a dimensional construct. *Assessment.* (2019) 26:364– 74. doi: 10.1177/1073191117698220
- McDonald PW, Prkachin, KM. The expression and perception of facial emotion in alexithymia: a pilot study. *Psychosom Med.* (1990) 52:199– 210. doi: 10.1097/00006842-199003000-00007
- Parker PD, Prkachin KM, Prkachin GC. Processing of facial expressions of negative emotion in alexithymia: the influence of temporal constraint. J Pers. (2005) 73:1087–107. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2005.00339.x
- Pandey R, Mandal MK. Processing of facial expressions of emotion and alexithymia. Br J Clin Psychol. (1997) 36:631– 3. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8260.1997.tb01269.x
- Lieb K, Brucker S, Bach M, Els T, Lücking CH, Greenlee MW. Impairment in preattentive visual processing in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Brain.* (1999) 122:303–13. doi: 10.1093/brain/122.2.303
- Nothdurft HC. Different effects from spatial frequency masking in texture segregation and texton detection tasks. Vis Res. (1991) 31:299– 320. doi: 10.1016/0042-6989(91)90120-T

- Scarpazza C, di Pellegrino G, Ladavas E. Emotional modulation of touch in alexithymia. *Emotion.* (2014) 14:602–10. doi: 10.1037/ a0035888
- Scarpazza C, Ladavas E, di Pellegrino G. Dissociation between emotional remapping of fear and disgust in alexithymia. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0140229. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0140229
- Scarpazza C, Ladavas E, Cattaneo L. Invisible side of emotions: somato-motor responses to affective facial displays in alexithymia. *Exp Brain Res.* (2018) 236:195–206. doi: 10.1007/s00221-017-5118-x
- Lane RD, Ahern GL, Schwartz GE, Kaszniak AW. Is alexithymia the emotional equivalent of blindsight? *Biol Psychiatry*. (1997) 42:834– 44. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(97)00050-4
- Brandt L, Pintzinger NM, Tran US. Abnormalities in automatic processing of illness-related stimuli in self-rated alexithymia. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0129905. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0129905

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Suslow, Günther, Hensch, Kersting and Bodenschatz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





An Explanation for Repetitive Motor Behaviors in Autism: Facilitating Inventions via Trial-and-Error Discovery

Catherine L. Caldwell-Harris*

Department of Psychological and Brain Sciences, Boston University, Boston, MA, United States

Keywords: autism, evolution, repetition, invention ability, special interests

INTRODUCTION

Restricted/repetitive behaviors is a core diagnostic criterion for autism. Motor repetitions, referred to as "lower-order," include self-stimulation, hand flapping, twirling, repeating phrases, manipulating objects, banging toys together, and repeatedly pushing buttons (1). Also included in the broad category of restricted and repetitive behaviors are cognitively advanced, "higher-level" behaviors, rituals and circumscribed or restricted interests (2, 3). These types of repetitive behaviors superficially look different. For instance, repetitive motor behaviors can cause self-injury (e.g., head banging) and interfere with learning and family life (4). In contrast, some scholars and autistic individuals themselves have relabeled restricted interests as "special interests." This follows the strength-based approach of the neurodiversity movement, including advocacy by autism individuals themselves [e.g., (5)]. Special interests can readily be understood as on a continuum with neurotypical hobbies, workplace specialization and the research interests of scientists (6, 7). Theorists have long noted that intense interests of persons with autism can be precursors to scientific discovery and achievement [e.g., (8–10)]. No comparable adaptive function has been proposed for repetitive motor actions. This is the purpose of the current paper.

What causes repetitive motor behaviors? At the level of genetic alterations, developmental heterochrony is one plausible mechanism (11). Many features of autism could result from extending the longevity of motor repetitions beyond early childhood into the juvenile years and adulthood (11, 12). Motor reflexes are integral to survival in infancy, but gradually come under voluntary control with maturation of the cortex in the first 2 years of life (13). Motor repetitions resembling those observed in autistic individuals are common in children during early childhood, but disappear by age 4–6. This is plausibly one factor for why autism is hard to diagnose before ages 3–4.

Other mechanisms for dysfunctional motor repetitions have been proposed. Parts of the brain involved in regulating motor systems have demonstrated abnormal functioning in autism. For example, the cerebellum has long been pinpointed as a likely candidate for both motor and cognitive deficits [e.g., (14)]. Striatal dysfunction has also been implicated, which is especially intriguing give that striatal circuits are important for both cognitive and social abilities (15). Whether these or other brain systems could have been altered as part of the heterochrony proposed by Crespi (11) is unknown.

Do motor repetitions serve any adaptive function, or are they only maladaptive? Motor routines allow persons with autism, especially young children, to avoid on-going social demands (16). The most frequently cited function is that motor repetitions are calming in the face of social and other stressors [e.g., (17)]. These stressors include difficulty in predicting ongoing events, resulting from weak central coherence, executive function challenges and social deficits. Self-regulation as a cause of motor repetitions is mentioned by autistic

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Martin Schulte-Rüther, University Medical Center Göttingen, Germany

> **Reviewed by:** Michela Candini,

University of Bologna, Italy

*Correspondence: Catherine L. Caldwell-Harris charris@bu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Social Cognition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 25 January 2021 Accepted: 08 June 2021 Published: 01 July 2021

Citation:

Caldwell-Harris CL (2021) An Explanation for Repetitive Motor Behaviors in Autism: Facilitating Inventions via Trial-and-Error Discovery. Front. Psychiatry 12:657774. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.657774

40

individuals themselves [e.g., (18)]. It is also plausible because humans commonly regulate both hyper- and hypo-arousal with scratching, hair/beard twirling and finger tapping; animals groom or scratch as calming strategies. Motor repetition is also heightened for animals and humans in deprived environments.

A drawback of the stress-reduction explanation is that motor repetitions in autistic individuals are not invariably or even usually associated with distress (12). Minimally verbal children often engage in repetitions with focused determination, ignoring adults' bids for attention. In addition, repeated motor behaviors observed in some autistic children can be goal directed and pursued with interest and focus. In this way, they resemble the engagement observed for pursuit of special interests, as in the mechanical tinkering of the young Isaac Newton or young Thomas Edison (8, 9).

My focus in the current paper is on motor repetitions and repetitive object use, but the ideas I present are also relevant to related motor actives, such as self-stimulatory behavior, verbal repetitions and visual repetitions [inspecting toys in an unusual manner, see taxonomy in Harrop et al. (1)]. However, the umbrella category of restricted/repetitive behaviors include sensory aversion, sensory seeking, and behavioral inflexibility (insistence on sameness). I believe these behaviors require a different explanation [see (19) for a unified approach]. For example, auditory and olfactory acuity were adaptive in the ancestral environment when humans seeking shelter needed to determine if a predator was in a cave (10).

Theorists have commented that the field needs more theories regarding the function of repetitive motor behaviors [e.g., (1, 12, 20, 21)]. I outline here an adaptive function that is plausible from the standpoint of human evolution:

Retaining motor repetitions into childhood and adulthood allowed repetitive motor sequences to fuel trial-and-error discovery.

In Temple Grandin's memorable words, "Who do you think made the first stone spear, it wasn't the social yakety-yaks sitting around the campfire" [(22); see also (23), p. 122]. Motor routines may indeed be calming or self-regulating, but they may also be pursued for their own interest and rewards. They may be pursued for the delight in the interesting variation which can result from minor deviations. What would happen if I cut this rock at an angle—would it make a sharp point? When results are interesting, and especially if predictions are correct, trialand-error tinkering can be reinforced by the dopamine reward system (24).

During much of human prehistory, technological advances in tools, weapons, fishing craft, and shelter construction may have been fueled in part by repetitive motor explorations (and systematic observation) of sticks, stones, plants, and in rivers/lakes (10, 25). Note that autistic individuals do not need themselves to always recognize the usefulness of a novel configuration. The "aha" moment may occur in the brains of observers. Usefulness of the invention can help group members to be indulgent toward the socially-nonconforming autistic person.

I will refer to this hypothesis as *motor tinkering for trial-anderror discovery.* The trial-and-error work of scientists fits with our intuitions about inventions (8), but the adaptive function of simple motor repetitions is less obvious. Cziko (26) documented how trial-anderror exploration of objects is a key mechanism in invention in diverse species. Genetically-specified motor programs, combined with variation to fit a specific environment, produce spider webs, beaver dams and bower displays. Crows' fixed action patterns can result in tool use (27). Human tinkering with objects also plausibly led to cultural discoveries for building shelters, creating weapons and detoxifying food (28). From this perspective, there would have been substantial selection pay-offs for a phenotype in which the repetitive behaviors of early childhood were maintained into the juvenile period and adulthood.

EVALUATING "MOTOR TINKERING FOR TRIAL-AND-ERROR DISCOVERY"

Consistent With Other Evolutionary Hypotheses

The hypothesis is consistent with Crespi's (29) characterization of autism as a disorder of imbalanced intelligence, that is, a mix of enhanced and impaired abilities. During natural section, increased analytical intelligence likely reaped fitness benefits, allowing extensive exploration in the fitness landscape. One plausible result is diverse phenotypes with pockets of enhanced ability co-existing with deficits. Motor tinkering that could result in novel useful configurations is plausibly a phenotypic variation resulting from these fitness pressures.

Bridge Between the Motor Repetitions and Restricted Interests

Although motor repetitions and narrow interests are grouped under the umbrella terms restricted/repetitive behaviors, their similarities are not obvious. I propose that repetitive motor behaviors are part of the engine that fuels systemizing of the natural world, leading to pattern extraction, if-then rules, and technological discoveries [as discussed by Baron-Cohen (8)].

An example of a bridge to circumscribed interests can be observed in cases where a motoric ritual is also a child's special interest. In videos of his young autistic son, Love (30) documents that habitual stair-climber Frumpkin must spend 15 min traversing any newly encountered staircase. Stairclimbing is both a motor preoccupation and an intense/restricted interest. But Frumpkin had other motor interests that shared a family resemblance structure with stair-climbing. In a park, he discovered picnic tables arranged to allow a complete circle to be made on table-tops and their benches. He then obsessively circumnavigated the table-tops, resistant to parental intervention. Frumpkin's father noted that Frumpkin "mixes it up"—he doesn't walk in the same manner each time, as if he is observing the variation that results from slight deviations in his path.

Frumpkin's attraction to both staircases and table-tops suggests a more abstract underlying interest: He is trying to systematize walkable, raised, man-made surfaces. From the perspective of human technological development, tables and staircases are extremely interesting. Staircases are complex inventions whose construction is non-obvious. Generations of cultural evolution were required for invention, refinement and modern-day craftsmanship. One could conceive of Frumpkin as a future engineer obtaining sensory-motor schemes that could facilitate future innovations in design of raised wooden-surface walkways.

But: Many Motor Repetitions Are Not Geared Toward Discovery

Many behaviors in the broad category of restricted/repetitive behaviors are maladaptive and would have harsh fitness consequences during human evolution, as well as today. The plausible cause of this is that heterochrony is a blunt instrument, given that natural selection is not goal-directed. Susceptibility alleles for retaining repetitive motor repetitions beyond early childhood would need to be maintained in the population via balancing selection (31), with many individuals with autism making no fitness-enhancing discoveries.

Open questions about this include:

- What proportion of individuals with the autism phenotype must deliver fitness-enhancing discoveries in order for genes for autism to spread or be maintained in a human population?
- In what cultures or environments do repetitive motor behaviors lead to discoveries? Contemporary inventors with autism who also have high analytical intelligence (such as Elon Musk) can gain the social status consistent with reproductive benefits. But my hypothesis rests on natural selection in the ancestral environment, where discoveries included stone tools and other physical artifacts. Are there any contemporary societies in which motor tinkering leads to useful discoveries?

Heuristic Value of the Motor Tinkering Hypothesis

I propose that motor routines are information-seeking and in part driven by the reward of discovery, similar to intense interests and scientific discoveries. However, the "blunt instrument" of heterochrony and a neural system with revved-up motor programming means that many minimally verbal autistic children perform unvaried motor routines for hours a day, disrupting family life (21).

One therapeutic approach is that adults can model for children how to vary their motor routine, but in a direction that is inherently rewarding for the child. Parents and therapists can observe and participate in their child's motor activities, drawing on techniques in JASPER (32) and Floor Time Play Therapy (33). While observing, the adults use their own systemizing and prediction skills to plan a variation in the motor routine that could result in a pleasing or interesting result. The adults then assist the child in moving toward a rewarding variation, or directly model such a move. For example, for a motor routine like table-circling, the adult could tap on the table at a predictable spot, or purposefully flip over a strategically placed object (or a more spectacular result could be planned). The pay-off for the child is the inherent interest of a new event. But the behavior being reinforced is modifying the repetitive motor actions in the direction of variation and flexibility.

Alternative and/or Complementary Approaches

Two comprehensive proposals about systemizing and patterning in autism were published after the first draft of this paper. Baron-Cohen's book The pattern seekers: How autism drives human invention, connects his decades of work on systemizing to an evolutionary pay-off, invention. Baron-Cohen notes that autistic individuals excel at if-then reasoning, and argues that if-then reasoning allowed humans to become the top inventers in the animal kingdom. My hypothesis is complementary but distinct: Motor tinkering fosters trial-and-error discovery. Motor repetitions with slight variations (tinkering) can involve if-then conceptualization, as follows: "IF I pile my rocks his way, THEN they will form a new configuration, a vertical surface." Note that the motor behaviors of many animals amount to tinkering, as when a beaver uses trial-and-error to configure a dam. The motor-tinkering theory is otherwise similar to Baron-Cohen's approach, in that both emphasize invention as the adaptive benefit of repetitive and restricted behaviors.

Crespi (19) proposes that what is common across diverse autistic symptoms is the concept of pattern. For example, pattern seeking leads to high systemizing and interest in STEM disciplines. Highly tuned pattern perception is what underlies sensory hypersensitivity. Crespi's theory explains repetitive motor behaviors as resulting from a heightened system of pattern generation. A novel part of Crespi's theory, orthogonal to my own proposal, is that upregulating the brain's natural preference for patterns entailed a dialing-down of social information processing, given that social phenomenon are the antithesis of algorithmic patterns. Crespi's ideas about the importance of patterns are consistent with and complementary to my hypothesis that repetitive motor behaviors underwent selection pressure because of the pay-off of inventions.

SUMMARY

Clare Harrop, a leading researcher of restricted and repetitive behaviors (RRBs), wrote with her colleagues, "...as a field we do not understand what causes RRBs, and this is particularly difficult to ascertain when children are minimally verbal." (1). The current account is a response to this request for new ideas about the cause of repetitive behaviors. Motor repetitions in autism are an alternative phenotype which has adaptive and functional consequences: fueling trial-and-error tinkering which could lead to inventions, i.e., novel, useful configurations of objects. This hypothesis is consistent with the proposed mechanism of heterochrony (11), and is complementary to other theories which take a strength-based approach to autism (8, 19). This hypothesis helps explain similarities between motor repetitions and circumscribe interests, illuminates parents' observations of their child's motor repetitions [e.g., (30)], and has heuristic value in providing ideas for therapists to introduce flexibility into the motor routines of minimally verbal children.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CC-H was responsible for the development of all sections of this manuscript.

REFERENCES

- 1. Harrop C, Sterrett K, Shih W, Landa R, Kaiser A, Kasari C. Short-term trajectories of restricted and repetitive behaviors in minimally verbal children with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Res.* (2021) doi: 10.1002/aur.2528
- Attwood T. Understanding and managing circumscribed interests. In: Prior MR, editor. *Learning and Behavior Problems in Asperger Syndrome*. New York, NY: Guilford Press (2003). p. 126–47.
- Turner M. Annotation: repetitive behaviour in autism: a review of psychological research. J Child Psychol Psychiatry Allied Disciplines. (1999) 40:839–49. doi: 10.1111/1469-7610.00502
- South M, Ozonoff S, McMahon WM. Repetitive behavior profiles in Asperger syndrome and high-functioning autism. J Autism Dev Disorders. (2005) 35:145–58. doi: 10.1007/s10803-004-1992-8
- 5. Winter-Messiers M. From tarantulas to toilet brushes: understanding the special interest areas of children and youth with Asperger's syndrome. *Remed Spec Educ.* (2007) 28:140–52. doi: 10.1177/07419325070280030301
- 6. Caldwell-Harris CL, Jordan CJ. Systemizing and special interests: characterizing the continuum from neurotypical to autism spectrum disorder. *Learn Individ Differ*. (2014) 29:98–105. doi: 10.1016/j.lindif.2013.10.005
- Gernsbacher MA, Dawson M, Mottron L. Autism: common, heritable, but not harmful. *Behav Brain Sci.* (2006) 29:413–4. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X06319097
- Baron-Cohen S. The Pattern Seekers: How Autism Drives Human Invention. NewYork, NY: Basic Books (2020).
- 9. Fitzgerald M, O'Brien B. *Genius Genes: How Asperger Talents Changed the World*. Shawnee, KS: AAPC Publishing (2007).
- Spikins P. The stone age origins of autism. In: Fitzgerald M, editor. Recent Advances in Autism Spectrum Disorders-Volume II. London: IntechOpen. (2013). 4–23. doi: 10.5772/53883
- Crespi BJ. Developmental heterochrony and the evolution of autistic perception, cognition and behavior. BMC Med. (2013) 11:1-11. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-119
- Leekam SR, Prior MR, Uljarevic M. Restricted and repetitive behaviors in autism spectrum disorders: a review of research in the last decade. *Psychol Bull.* (2011) 137:562–93. doi: 10.1037/a0023341
- Thelen E. Rhythmical behavior in infancy: an ethological perspective. Dev Psychol. (1981) 17:237–57. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.17.3.237
- Becker EB, Stoodley CJ. Autism spectrum disorder and the cerebellum. *Int Rev* Neurobiol. (2013) 113:1–34. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-418700-9.00001-0
- Fuccillo MV. Striatal circuits as a common node for autism pathophysiology. *Front Neurosci.* (2016) 10:27. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00027
- Boyd BA, McDonough SG, Bodfish JW. Evidence-based behavioral interventions for repetitive behaviors in autism. J Autism Dev Disord. (2012) 42:1236–48. doi: 10.1007/s10803-011-1284-z
- Evans DW, Uljarevi? M, Lusk LG, Loth E, Frazier T. Development of two dimensional measures of restricted and repetitive behavior in parents and children. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2017) 56:51–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2016.10.014
- Gillespie-Lynch K, Kapp SK, Brooks PJ, Pickens J, Schwartzman B. Whose expertise is it? Evidence for autistic adults as critical autism experts. *Front Psychol.* (2017) 8:438. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00438
- Crespi B. Pattern unifies autism. Front Psychiatry. (2021) 12:59. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.621659

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank John Elder Robison and Dr. Bernard Crespi for helpful discussions.

- Harrop C, McConachie H, Emsley R, Leadbitter K, Green J, Pact Consortium. Restricted and repetitive behaviors in autism spectrum disorders and typical development: cross-sectional and longitudinal comparisons. J Autism Dev Disord. (2014) 44:1207–19. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1986-5
- 21. Sethi C, Harrop C, Zhang W, Pritchett J, Whitten A, Boyd BA. Parent and professional perspectives on behavioral inflexibility in autism spectrum disorders: а qualitative (2019) 23:1236-48. doi: 10.1177/136236131881 study. Autism. 0217
- 22. Grandin T. *The Autistic Brain*. Presentation to the Chicago Humanities Festival (2018). Available online at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v= MWePrOuSeSY
- 23. Grandin T. Thinking in Pictures, Expanded edition: My Life With Autism. NewYork, NY: Vintage (2008).
- Glimcher PW. Understanding dopamine and reinforcement learning: the dopamine reward prediction error hypothesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci. USA*. (2011) 108(Suppl. 3):15647–54. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1014269108
- Spikins P. Autism, the integrations of difference and the origins of modern human behaviour. *Cambridge Archaeol J.* (2009) 19:179–201. doi: 10.1017/S0959774309000262
- 26. Cziko G. Without Miracles: Universal Selection Theory and the Second Darwinian Revolution. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press (1995).
- Von Bayern AM, Heathcote RJ, Rutz C, Kacelnik A. The role of experience in problem solving and innovative tool use in crows. *Curr Biol.* (2009) 19:1965–68. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2009.10.037
- Henrich J. The Secret of Our Success: How Culture is Driving Human Evolution, Domesticating Our Species, and Making us Smarter. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press (2017). doi: 10.1515/9781400873296
- Crespi BJ. Autism as a disorder of high intelligence. Front Neurosci. (2016) 10:300. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00300
- Love J. Rough Day for Our Autistic Son. (2016). Available online at: http:// www.jasonloveslife.com/
- Keller MC, Miller G. Resolving the paradox of common, harmful, heritable mental disorders: which evolutionary genetic models work best?. *Behav Brain Sci.* (2006) 29:385–404. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X06009095
- 32. Kasari C, Freeman S, Paparella T. Joint attention and symbolic play in young children with autism: a randomized controlled intervention study. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2006) 47:611–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2005. 01567.x
- Greenspan SI, Wieder S. Engaging Autism: Using the Floor Time Approach to Help Children Relate, Communicate, and Think. Boston, MA: Da Capo Lifelong Books (2006).

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Caldwell-Harris. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Validation of the Rage Attack Questionnaire-Revised (RAQ-R) in a Mixed Psychiatric Population

Lisa Palm, Martina Haas, Anna Pisarenko, Ewgeni Jakubovski* and Kirsten R. Müller-Vahl

Clinic of Psychiatry, Social Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Hannover Medical School, Hanover, Germany

Rage Attacks (RA) represent a clinically relevant symptom in patients with different psychiatric disorders. However, only recently the Rage Attack Questionnaire Revised (RAQ-R, 22 items, range, 0-66) has been developed as a new instrument for the assessment of RA. This study aimed to validate the RAQ-R in a large mixed psychiatric and psychosomatic sample. We tested internal consistency, convergent and discriminant validity as well as factor structure. In order to further explore the relationship of RA to other psychiatric symptoms, we calculated Pearson correlations between the RAQ-R and several other self-assessments including measurements for general psychological distress, quality of life, depression, anxiety, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), impulsivity, and self-regulation abilities. Most relevant predictors of RA were examined in a multiple regression with stepwise elimination. In order to assess the manifestation of RA in different psychiatric disorders, group differences between diagnostic categories and healthy controls were calculated. Additionally, psychiatric patients were compared to patients with Tourette syndrome along RAQ-R scores. Data from healthy subjects and patients with Tourette syndrome were obtained from a previous study of our group. In this study, we included 156 patients with a wide and typical spectrum of psychiatric diseases. The RAQ-R was found to have excellent internal consistency and strong construct validity in this sample (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.97$, Average Variance Extracted = 0.58). Thus, the RAQ-R was shown to be a psychometrically sound assessment of RA in patients with different psychiatric disorders. Close constructs to RA were found to be aggression and hostility (r = 0.68) as well as low frustration tolerance and impulse control (r = 0.69). Compared to healthy controls, RA were significantly more common in the psychiatric sample (p < 0.001). More specifically, RAQ-R scores in all diagnostic categories assessed were higher compared to controls. Highest scores and effect sizes were found in patients with ADHD and borderline personality disorder (p < 0.001). Our results suggest that RA are a common and relevant symptom in many psychiatric disorders. As depression and RA showed only a moderate relation, RA should be distinguished from the concept of anger attacks, which are described as a core symptom of depression.

Keywords: rage attacks, RAQ-R, anger attacks, outbursts, psychiatric disorders, ADHD, personality disorder, Tourette syndrome

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Philipp Kanske, Technische Universität Dresden, Germany

Reviewed by:

Ömer Faruk Akça, Meram Faculty of Medicine, Turkey Lisa Wagels, University Hospital Aachen, Germany

***Correspondence:** Ewgeni Jakubovski jakubovski.ewgeni@mh-hannover.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Social Cognition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 14 June 2021 Accepted: 16 July 2021 Published: 18 August 2021

Citation:

Palm L, Haas M, Pisarenko A, Jakubovski E and Müller-Vahl KR (2021) Validation of the Rage Attack Questionnaire-Revised (RAQ-R) in a Mixed Psychiatric Population. Front. Psychiatry 12:724802. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.724802

44

Anger is a basic emotion with important functions like mobilization of physical and psychological resources (1). Dysfunctional levels of anger, however, are associated with negative outcomes such as poor evaluation by others, interpersonal conflicts, lower self-esteem, suicidal ideation, higher cardiovascular risk, and lower therapeutic success (1–5). Dysfunctional anger often causes psychological stress and impairment for both the affected persons and their environment. What demarcates functional from dysfunctional forms of anger are "frequency, reactivity, intensity, duration, and mode of expression" (1). Dysfunctional anger is therefore a clinically highly relevant symptom in many patients suffering from different psychiatric disorders [for an overview see (1, 5, 6)].

So far, research on dysfunctional outbursts of anger in psychiatric disorders focused on the concept of anger attacks, which was first introduced by Fava et al. (7, 8). According to them, anger attacks are defined as sudden outbursts of anger combined with autonomic arousal resembling panic attacks (i.e., sweating, trembling, tachycardia) (8, 9). Anger attacks are believed to represent a variant of depression, because of their high prevalence in patients with depression and the finding that treatment with antidepressants such as fluoxetine improves anger attacks (7, 8, 10, 11). Therefore, Fava et al. developed the Anger Attack Questionnaire (AAQ) to assess anger attacks in patients with depression (8). Not surprisingly, research on anger attacks in psychiatric disorders other than depression identified comorbid depression as predictor of anger attacks (12-14). As such, the concept of anger attacks and the AAQ as corresponding assessment seem inappropriate to examine dysfunctional outbursts of anger in psychiatric disorders other than depression and without comorbid depression, respectively.

Besides anger attacks, dysfunctional anger can alternatively manifest as rage attacks (RA), which are characterized by emotional control difficulties that are uncharacteristic of the person's personality and inappropriate with regard to the triggering situation (15). Originally, the concept of RA has been developed in relation to research in Tourette syndrome (TS) by Budman et al. (15). She was the first who described RA as a common and typical symptom in affected children and adolescents. Consecutively, Budman et al. developed the Rage Attack Questionnaire (RAQ), a parent questionnaire, to measure RA specifically in children with TS (15).

To overcome limitations of the RAQ (15), only recently, our group developed a revised version, the RAQ-R, a self-assessment for adults to measure different psychological and behavioral qualities/dimensions of RA (16). Therefore, we defined RA as "sudden, mostly short-lived, intensive, impulsive, emotional reactions to situations and/or stimuli that cannot be controlled" (16). Furthermore, the behavior must be totally out of proportion to the trigger event. According to our definition, rage attacks may manifest in inappropriate verbal utterances, property damage, or aggressive actions. Those affected must be aware of the disproportionate nature of their behavior. Finally, we specified that affected persons feel unable to change their behavior, although RA are perceived as unpleasant, unintentional, and often shame-filled (16). In this recent study, we examined face and content as well as construct validity of the RAQ-R in a sample of 645 healthy subjects (16). Discriminant validity was established on the basis of low to moderate correlations with a variety of psychiatric assessments of attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), TS, obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD), and general psychopathology. In terms of convergent validity, we employed scales on impulsivity. However, they all showed only low to moderate correlations so that convergent validity could not be established. In contrast, we were able to show good to excellent reliability and inter-item correlations. Finally, we were able to demonstrate that RA occur significantly more often in adults with TS (n = 127) compared to healthy controls (n = 645, p < 0.001). However, in both groups RA were significantly associated with reduced quality of life (16).

Although the concept of RA was first employed in patients with TS, we assumed that RA describe a more comprehensive form of outbursts that is not necessarily linked to a specific syndrome or disorder. In this study, we therefore aimed to (i) examine psychometric properties of the RAQ-R in a general psychiatric sample, (ii) explore differences in RA in a general psychiatric sample compared to healthy controls and to patients with TS, (iii) assess differences in RA between patients with different psychiatric diagnoses according to ICD-10, (iv) examine correlations of RA with a spectrum of other psychiatric symptoms as well as sociodemographic characteristics, and (v) identify possible predictors of RA.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients and Study Design

Based on a power calculation, we intended to recruit 120 adult patients from out-, day-, and inpatient clinics at the Departments of Psychiatry, Social Psychiatry and Psychotherapy as well as Psychosomatic and Psychotherapy at Hanover Medical School (MHH). Inclusion criteria were: (a) the presence of at least one current ICD-10 diagnosis of a mental disorder (F00–F99), (b) age \geq 18 years, (c) proficiency in German language, and (d) written informed consent. Exclusion criteria were severe cognitive or psychological impairments, which restricted understanding or answering the questions (e.g., dementia or acute delirium or intoxication).

We did not recruit a control group (CG), but used data obtained from our previous study recruited from staff and students at MHH (16). However, we excluded 34 out of the original 645 subjects, who had reported a current psychiatric diagnosis, and thus included a CG consisting of 611 healthy controls (based on self-declaration). Data from adult patients with TS (n = 127) was used from that same previous study without exclusion (16). These patients were recruited from our Tourette outpatient clinic and via German advocacy groups. Data from both, CG and TS were collected via an online survey between July and October 2017.

This study has been approved by the local ethics committee at MHH (no. 7781_BO_S_2018). Informed written consent was obtained from all patients before entering the study.

Assessments

The following assessments were performed in all patients independently of current or past diagnoses:

- RAQ-R consisting of 22 items on a four-point Likert scale ranging from 0 to 3 (0 = not at all/never, 1 = a little/sometimes, 2 = strong/frequent, and 3 = very strong/very common). The sum of all items generates the total score (range, 0–66) (16).
- Visual analog scale (VAS) for quality of life (QoL) (17) to assess life satisfaction.
- Barratt Impulsiveness Scale—Short Version (BIS-15) (18) to assess impulsivity.
- Impulsive behavior scale-8 (I-8) (19) to assess impulsivity consisting of four subscales: urgency, intention, endurance, and risk taking.
- Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI) (20): the BSI is an instrument to operationalize general psychological distress through a global severity index. In addition, nine subscales are used to screen for psychological strain in the areas of somatization, obsessive-compulsion, interpersonal sensitivity, depression, anxiety, hostility, phobic anxiety, paranoid ideation, and psychoticism.
- Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI) (21) to measure severity of clinical anxiety.
- Beck Depression Inventory (BDI-II) (22) to assess severity of depressive symptoms.
- German self-rating scale "ADHS-Selbstbeurteilungsskala" (ADHS-SB) (23) to screen for ADHD symptoms.
- Hannover Self-Regulation Questionnaire (HSRQ) (24) to assess ego functions and the ability of self-regulation. It consists of 35 items on a six-point Likert scale and encompasses five subscales: interpersonal disturbances, frustration tolerance and impulse control, identity disturbances, affect differentiation and affect tolerance, as well as self-esteem. The total score is generated of all subscales and ranges from 0 to 25 with high scores standing for high structure levels.

Patients were asked to complete assessments without any assistance (e.g., from staff) in order to reduce possible bias due to socially desirable response behavior. Data was collected pseudonymized in paper-based form. For all assessments used—besides the RAQ-R—good to very good psychometric properties regarding reliability, validity and internal consistency have been demonstrated.

In addition, demographic data were collected including age (in years), gender (female, male, other), country of birth (Germany vs. not-Germany), and level of education (no school degree, certificate of secondary education, general certificate of secondary education, general qualification for university entrance, university degree). Current psychiatric diagnoses according to ICD-10 (multiple entries possible) and the patient status (out-, day- or inpatient) were collected from patients' records. Diagnoses were assigned by treating physicians and psychologists based on clinical interviews, previous reports, and, whenever needed, structured interviews and disease specific assessments.

Data Analysis

All questionnaires were scanned and transformed into a digital raw data set via the survey automation software EvaSys version 7.0. Analyses were conducted in RStudio version 1.2.5033. All details of the data analysis are available as a reproducible *R* script on the Open Science Framework (doi: 10.17605/OSF.IO/73Y8P).

Due to data protection law, in our previous study performed as an online survey we were allowed to collect patients' age only in age groups. In order to present comparable demographical characteristics and being able to compare the psychiatric group (PG) to the CG and TS group, we transformed the variable "age in years" to the variable "age groups" accordingly: 1 = 18-25 years, 2 = 26-35 years, 3 = 36-45 years, 4 = 46-55 years, 5 = 56-65years, and 6 > 65 years (16).

In case of missing values multiple imputation was used with 5 iterations (25, 26). Parameter estimates were pooled using Rubin's rule (27) if possible. Otherwise, estimates were calculated for each iteration and compared to each other.

Reliability was evaluated using Cronbach's α and composite reliability $\rho_{\rm C}$. Contrary to α , $\rho_{\rm C}$ doesn't presuppose equal loadings of all items and a 1-factor-structure.

Given a normal distribution in the PG, we calculated Pearson correlations between the RAQ-R and other scores to assess convergent and discriminant validity. Due to lack of a German questionnaire assessing the same construct, we did not expect correlations of r > 0.8 between the RAQ-R and any questionnaires used. Instead, we expected correlations of assessments used for convergent validity of r > 0.5 and expected them to be higher than those used for discriminant validity. For convergent validity we used the BSI-subscale "aggression and hostility," the HSRQ-subscales "frustration tolerance and impulse control" and "affect differentiation and tolerance," and the impulsivity scales BIS-15 and I-8. To assess discriminant validity, we used the BAI, BDI-II, and BSI global severity index. In addition, Average Variance Extracted (AVE) was used to further assess discriminant validity (28). A Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was carried out to reevaluate the factor structure and loadings.

The PG was both in total and stratified by diagnostic categories (with $n \ge 4$) compared to healthy subjects along RAQ-R scores. For this, non-parametric (Wilcoxon rank-sum) and parametric (independent-samples *t*) tests were used depending on the group size and the visual data distribution in q-q-plots (29). Likewise, we compared the PG to patients with TS. To identify significant demographic differences between PG and CG as potential confounders, we carried out chi-square tests and calculated Cramér's V (29). In case of differences in demographic variables, we used a multiple linear regression to check, if differences in the RAQ-R scores remain after controlling for demographic differences between the samples.

To assess differences in the RAQ-R regarding patients' sociodemographic characteristics and status (out-, day-, or inpatient), we carried out ANOVA (for ordinal variables), independent-samples t-tests, and Wilcoxon rank-sum tests (for dichotomous variables). Correlations between RAQ-R and age were calculated using Pearson's r for age as an interval variable.

| TABLE 1 Demographic characteristics of the mixed psychiatric group (PG) |
|--|
| compared to the control group (CG) and patients with Tourette syndrome (TS). |

| Characteristics | | PG | CG | TS |
|-----------------------------------|--|-----------------|-----------------------|---------------------|
| n | | 156 | 611 | 127 |
| Age, mean \pm sd | Years | 41.15 ± 12.84 | | |
| | Clustered in 1–6 | 3.06 ± 1.33 | 2.55 ± 1.27 | 2.74 ± 1.29 |
| | V | | 0.166** | 0.189 |
| Gender, <i>n</i> (%) ^a | Female | 99 (63.5) | 486 (79.5) | 38 (29.9) |
| | Male | 57 (36.5) | 125 (20.5) | 89 (70.1) |
| | V | | 0.148** | 0.327** |
| Education, n (%) | No school degree | 7 (4.5) | 0 | 3 (2.4) |
| | Certificate of secondary education | 28 (18.1) | 7 (1.1) | 16 (12.6) |
| | General certificate of secondary education | 63 (40.6) | 105 (17.2) | 36 (28.3) |
| | General qualification for university degree | 28 (18.1) | 259 (42.4) | 37 (29.1) |
| | University degree V | 29 (18.7) | 240 (39.9) 0.471** | 35 (27.6) 0.201* |

PG, psychiatric group; CG, control group; TS, Tourette syndrome. ^a "other" was indicated by none of the participants. V = Cramér's V indicating the strength of association between sample membership and demographic characteristic ranging from 0 to 1, where 0 indicates no association and 1 indicates a very strong association. P-values calculated with chi-square test: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.001.

To identify predictors of RA in psychiatric patients, we carried out regression models. In order to find most detailed and fitting predictors, we included all demographic variables, patient status, total scores and subscores, as well as diagnostic categories with n > 10 in a multiple linear regression. Through stepwise elimination and Wald test we gained a regression with predictive explanatory factors of RA (30, 31). In both multiple regression models, Gauss Markov assumptions were examined via diagnostic plots. Ordinal and dichotomous scaled variables were treated as dummies. All statistical tests were two-tailed with $\alpha = 0.05$. All effect sizes were interpreted according to Cohen (32).

RESULTS

Demographics and Clinical Characteristics

Between August 2018 and April 2019, 394 patients were asked for participation. Out of 291 (74%) patients, who agreed to participate, 156 completed the questionnaires (corresponding to a response rate of 54%). Half (52%) of these participants were inpatients, 33% were day-patients, and 15% were outpatients. About two third (65%) of in- and day-patients were treated at the Department of Psychiatry, Social Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, and 35% at the Department of Psychosomatic and Psychotherapy. Eighty-four percent of patients were born in Germany, while 16 % were born in other countries.

Compared to controls (n = 611), patients were significantly older, less formally educated and included more men (all $p \le 0.001$, **Table 1**) with largest differences in education.

Patients with a total of 86 different psychiatric diagnoses of ICD-10 type FXX.XX were included (average number of diagnoses per patient = 2.58, range, 1–6). With regard to ICD-10 type FXX.-, 30 different diagnoses were found (average number of diagnoses per patient = 2.47, range, 1–6). To enable meaningful analyses, diagnoses were grouped into the following eight diagnostic categories:

- F11–F19: "mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use besides alcohol"
- F20.- and F23.-: "schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders"
- F32–F34: "depression"
- F40.- and F41.-: "anxiety disorders"
- F44.-, F45.- and F48.-: "dissociative and somatoform disorders"
- F60.- and F61.-: "personality disorders" (PD), which contained
 - F60.31: "borderline personality disorder" (BPD)
 - F60.5-8: "cluster C PD" according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) (33)

Another 12 diagnoses could not be subsumed under the categories above and are thus shown as individual diagnostic categories. Thus, a total of 20 diagnostic categories is presented in **Figure 1**. Patients with more than one diagnosis of the same category were counted only once, while patients with diagnoses belonging to different categories were counted for each category separately.

Missing and Ambiguous Data

In 58 patients (37.18%) at least one item was missing [from nine single questionnaires with a total of 202 items, mean per patient = 1.51 (0.75%)]. Therefore, a combined multiple imputation method was applied. All results shown contain imputed values. Two participants answered all-in-all 26 questions by crossing between two answer options. These answers were interpreted as mean values.

Validation of the RAQ-R

We found a very high internal consistency indicated by a Cronbach's α of 0.97 and a composite reliability $\rho_{\rm C}$ of 0.97. A sensitivity analysis excluding patients with psychotic and bipolar disorders did not change the internal consistency. All instruments used for validation showed significant correlations with the RAQ-R (**Table 2**). Strong correlations were found between RAQ-R and the BSI-subscale "aggression and hostility" (r = 0.68) as well as the HSRQ subscales "frustration tolerance and impulse control" (r = 0.69) and "affect differentiation and tolerance" (r = 0.54) used to assess convergent validity. Weaker correlations were found with assessments used for discriminant validity (BSI global severity index: r = 0.43, BAI: r = 0.24, BDI-II: r = 0.32) as well as with the impulsivity scales (BIS15: r = 0.39, and I-8 urgency: r = 0.47, I-8 risk taking: r = 0.18, I-8 intention: r = -0.31, I-8 endurance: r = -0.32).

Discriminant validity is further demonstrated by an AVE of 58% indicating that 58% of the total variance of items quantified by their factor loadings is explained by the scale.



FIGURE 1 Number of different diagnostic categories in *n* = 156 patients. F06.- = other mental disorders due to brain damage and dysfunction and to physical disease, F10.- = mental and behavioral disorders due to use of alcohol, F11–F19 = mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use besides alcohol, F20.-and F23.- = schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders, F31.- = bipolar affective disorders, F32–F34 = depression, F40.-and F41.- = anxiety disorders, F42.- = obsessive-compulsive disorders, F43.- = reaction to severe stress and adjustment disorders, F44.-, F45.-, and F48.- = dissociative and somatoform disorders, F50.- = eating disorders, F54.- psychological and behavioral factors associated with non-mental disorders, F60.-&F61.- = personality disorders, F62.- = enduring personality changes without brain damage, F63.- = habit and impulse disorders, F84.- = pervasive developmental disorders, F90.0 = attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder, F98.- = other behavioral and emotional disorders with onset usually occurring in childhood and adolescence. PD = personality disorders. The y-axis presents the ICD-10 code of the diagnosis or diagnostic category. The x-axis presents the number of patients with that diagnosis or diagnostic category. Patients with diagnoses belonging to different categories were counted for each category separately. Patients with more than one diagnosis of the same category were counted only once in that category.

For assessing factor structure, data was proofed suitable for a PCA with a Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin coefficient of 0.95 and p < 0.001 in the Bartlett test for sphericity. The scree plot confirmed the 1-factor structure, which has also been found in our previous study (16). Loadings ranged from 0.45 to 0.83 (see *R* script for details).

Group Comparisons

RA as assessed by the RAQ-R were significantly more common in the PG compared to controls with a large effect size (**Table 3**;

Figure 2). After including age, gender, and level of education as confounders the difference between PG and CG remained highly significant with p < 0.001 (details of the multiple regression in the *R* script). The adjusted R² for the model of 0.16 indicates a moderate goodness-of-fit.

Only the 17 diagnostic categories with $n \ge 4$ were used for further group comparisons. Ten out of those contained <20patients which limits the assumption of normal distributed data despite good visual results in the q-q-plots (see the *R* script for

| Assessment | r | р |
|---|--------|---------|
| VAS-QoL | -0.170 | 0.027 |
| BSI global severity index | 0.426 | < 0.001 |
| Aggression and hostility | 0.682 | < 0.001 |
| BIS15 | 0.390 | < 0.001 |
| I-8 urgency | 0.470 | < 0.001 |
| Intention | -0.314 | < 0.001 |
| Endurance | -0.322 | < 0.001 |
| Risk taking | 0.178 | 0.008 |
| ADHS-SB | 0.428 | < 0.001 |
| BAI | 0.240 | < 0.001 |
| BDI-II | 0.316 | < 0.001 |
| HSRQ total score | 0.498 | < 0.001 |
| Frustration tolerance and impulse control | 0.689 | < 0.001 |
| Affect differentiation and tolerance | 0.538 | <0.001 |

VAS-QoL, Visual Analog Scale for Quality of Life; BSI, Brief Symptom Inventory; BIS15, Barratt Impulsiveness Scale—Short Version; I-8, Impulsive Behavior Scale-8; ADHS-SB, Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Self-Assessment Scale; BAI, Beck Angst Inventory; BDI-II, Beck Depressions Inventory II; HSRQ, Hannover Self-Regulation Questionnaire.

details). To increase reliability, we examined group differences using *t*-tests and Wilcoxon rank-sum tests for all samples and diagnostic categories (**Table 3**). Only for the diagnosis F54.inconsistent results were found in terms of significance (*t*-test: p = 0.013, Wilcoxon-test: p = 0.103). Because of a very small number of patients included in this diagnosis (n = 5), *p*-value of the Wilcoxon-test was used for further interpretations. In all other categories, the two tests coincided in their assessment of significance (**Table 3**).

Compared to controls, patients of 13 out of 17 diagnostic categories demonstrated significantly higher RAQ-R scores (p < 0.05, in descending order of the effect sizes): ADHD, BPD, bipolar affective disorder, PD, eating disorder, cluster C PD, reaction to severe stress and adjustment disorder, mental and behavioral disorder due to use of alcohol, OCD, mental and behavioral disorder due to psychoactive substance use besides alcohol, dissociative and somatoform disorder, anxiety disorder, and depression. All these categories showed large (depression) or even very large (all others) effects. Highest mean RAQ-R scores and strongest effect sizes were found in patients with the diagnoses ADHD (F90.0), BPD (F60.31), and bipolar affective disorder (F31.-). Patients with ADHD and BPD even showed significantly higher RAQ-R scores compared to the PG without the respective disorder: ADHD: d = 0.86, p = 0.007 (*t*-test), p =0.02 (Wilcoxon-test) and BPD: d = 0.73, p < 0.001 (t-test and Wilcoxon-test) indicating a large effect for ADHD and medium effect for BPD. For none of the diagnostic categories we found RAQ-R scores below those of the CG (Table 3).

Compared to PG [n = 156, mean = 21.67 (sd = 16.97), median: 19.50) patients with TS [as assessed in (16)] showed non-significantly higher mean RAQ-R scores [n = 127, mean = 25.00 (sd = 15.36), median = 24.00, p = 0.095].

Regarding sociodemographic characteristics within the PG, only age, but not gender, level of education, country of birth, and patient status showed a significantly negative correlation with RAQ-R (r = -0.20, p = 0.014).

Predictors of Rage Attacks

The data set fulfilled all Gauß-Markov assumptions as shown by diagnostic plots in the *R* script. The final model of the stepwise regression showed a very high goodness-of-fit indicated by the adjusted R^2 of 0.63 (**Table 4**). As significant predictors of rage attacks (p < 0.05) we identified aggression and hostility, frustration tolerance and impulse control, identity disturbances as well as the diagnostic category depression (F32–34) and the diagnosis ADHD (F90.0).

DISCUSSION

This study presents the first validation data of the RAQ-R in a psychiatric population. Getting back to the aims of this study as described in the introduction, the results demonstrate that the RAQ-R is a psychometrically sound assessment of RA in a mixed sample of psychiatric patients [aim (i)]. The RAQ-R shows excellent internal consistency and strong construct validity. In accordance with our previously proposed definition of RA (16), aggression and hostility, low frustration tolerance and impulse control as well as affect differentiation and tolerance were shown to be closely related constructs to RA. We were also able to demonstrate that depression, anxiety, general psychological distress, and impulsivity are rather distinct constructs. Impulsivity (as assessed by I-8 and BIS15) and RA (as assessed by RAQ-R) were shown to be less related than expected, which is in line with results from our previous study (16). All other validation tests met our expectations and indicate very good convergent and discriminant validity. Our data corroborate the 1-factor structure of the RAQ-R (16).

Our data clearly indicate that RA as assessed by the RAQ-R are more common in a mixed psychiatric sample compared to healthy subjects [aim (ii)]. Though the difference showed a very large effect size, the presence of a psychiatric diagnosis and demographic variables explained only 16% of variations of the RAQ-R scores. This finding as well as the high variance of RA in the psychiatric sample suggest strong influence by additional factors. Accordingly, we identified the presence of "aggression and hostility" (as assessed by BSI), "frustration tolerance and impulse control" (as assessed by HSRQ) as well as the diagnosis of ADHD as strong positive predictors of RA [aims (iv) and (v)]. These findings are in line with our definition of RA (16), since the BSI subscale "aggression and hostility" measures anger, irritability, rage, aggression and hostility (20) and the HSRQ subscale "frustration tolerance and impulse control" assesses impatience and the incomplete control of aggressive impulses (24).

Our results further corroborate that RA should be distinguished from the concept of anger attacks as defined by Fava et al. (8), although both describe phenomena of explosive outbursts in combination with emotional control difficulties. Anger attacks have consistently been found to be closely related

TABLE 3 | RAQ-R scores in controls (CG) compared to patients with Tourette syndrome (TS), the mixed psychiatric sample (PG), and diagnostic categories according to ICD-10 with *n* > 1.

| | Sample/ diagnostic categor | у | n | | RAQ-R | | Cohen's d | p (t-test) | p (Wilcoxon-test) |
|----|----------------------------|---------|-----|---------------|----------------|--------|-----------|------------|-------------------|
| | | | | Mean (sd) | Mean 95% Cl | Median | | | |
| CG | | | 611 | 10.09 (9.33) | 9.34–10.83 | 7.00 | | | |
| TS | | | 127 | 25.00 (15.36) | 22.30-27.70 | 24.00 | 1.41** | < 0.001 | < 0.001 |
| PG | | | 156 | 21.75 (16.93) | 19.08–24.43 | 19.40 | 1.03** | < 0.001 | < 0.001 |
| | F10 | | 23 | 23.03 (16.48) | 15.91–30.16 | 22.00 | 1.34** | < 0.001 | < 0.001 |
| | F11–F19 | | 18 | 21.38 (14.91) | 13.96–28.79 | 16.00 | 1.19** | < 0.001 | < 0.001 |
| | F20 and F23 | | 9 | 15.44 (15.13) | 3.81-27.07 | 10.80 | 0.57 | 0.092 | 0.608 |
| | F31 | | 4 | 32.50 (16.22) | 6.69–58.31 | 32.00 | 2.39* | < 0.001 | 0.004 |
| | F32-F34 | | 116 | 20.82 (17.14) | 17.66–23.97 | 16.00 | 0.98** | < 0.001 | < 0.001 |
| | F40, F41 | | 31 | 20.31 (17.04) | 14.06-26.56 | 19.00 | 1.04* | < 0.001 | 0.002 |
| | F42 | | 8 | 21.93 (12.38) | 11.58-32.27 | 19.80 | 1.26* | < 0.001 | 0.002 |
| | F43 | | 33 | 26.07 (16.71) | 20.14-31.99 | 26.00 | 1.63** | < 0.001 | < 0.001 |
| | F44, F45, and F48 | | 24 | 21.18 (11.78) | 16.20-26.15 | 23.90 | 1.18** | < 0.001 | <0.001 |
| | F50 | | 14 | 27.27 (17.47) | 17.19–37.36 | 26.50 | 1.79** | < 0.001 | < 0.001 |
| | F54 | | 5 | 20.60 (15.68) | 1.13-40.07 | 16.00 | 1.12 | 0.013 | 0.103 |
| | F60 and F61 | | 44 | 29.82 (16.70) | 24.74-34.90 | 29.50 | 1.98** | < 0.001 | <0.001 |
| | | F60.31 | 26 | 31.77 (16.67) | 25.04–38.50 | 32.00 | 2.23** | < 0.001 | < 0.001 |
| | | F60.5-8 | 7 | 27.00 (21.03) | 7.55-46.45 | 25.00 | 1.78* | < 0.001 | 0.014 |
| | F62 | | 6 | 15.67 (18.89) | (-4.15)-35.49 | 10.00 | 0.59 | 0.150 | 0.514 |
| | F63 | | 4 | 14.50 (15.61) | (-10.34)-39.34 | 14.00 | 0.47 | 0.348 | 0.89 |
| | F90.0 | | 11 | 35.00 (21.09) | 20.84-49.16 | 37.00 | 2.59** | <0.001 | <0.001 |

CG, control group; TS, Tourette syndrome; PG, psychiatric group, F10.- = mental and behavioral disorders due to use of alcohol, F11-F19 = mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use besides alcohol, F20.-&F23.- = schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders, F31.- = bipolar affective disorders, F32-F34 = depression, F40.-&F41.- = anxiety disorders, F42.- = obsessive-compulsive disorders, F43.- = reaction to severe stress and adjustment disorders, F44.-, F45.-, and F48.- = dissociative and somatoform disorders, F50.- = eating disorders, F54.- psychological and behavioral factors associated with non-mental disorders, F60.- and F61.- = personality disorders, F60.31 = borderline personality disorder, F60.5-8 = cluster C personality disorder, F62.- = enduring personality changes without brain damage, F63.- = habit and impulse disorders, F90.0 = attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Differences in RAQ-R scores compared to CG were calculated using t-test, Wilcoxon-test, and Cohen's d for effect sizes: *p < 0.05 in both t-test and Wilcoxon-test. *p < 0.001 in both t-test and Wilcoxon-test. *aAccording to the five imputations five p-values were calculated. The highest p-value is shown.

to depression (9–11, 13, 34, 35). Interestingly, even in mental disorders other than depression, comorbid depression has been identified as a predictor of anger attacks (9, 12–14). In contrast, we found only a moderate correlation between RA (as assessed by RAQ-R) and depression symptoms [as assessed by BDI-II, aim (iv)]. In addition, the effect size for depression (F32–F34) was smaller compared to all other diagnostic categories [aim (iii)]. Finally, the diagnosis of depression was even identified as a *negative* predictor of RAs when controlling for other diagnoses, symptoms, and sociodemographic characteristics [aim (v)]. Thus, based on available data, RA have to be classified as a distinct symptom, while anger attacks seem to represent a core symptom of depression.

The general relevance of RA in psychiatric patients is indicated by very large effect sizes in most and higher mean RAQ-R scores in all diagnostic categories compared to healthy controls [aim (iii)]. Significantly higher RAQ-R scores compared to CG were found for the following diagnostic categories, respectively (in descending order of effect size): ADHD (F90.0), BPD (F60.31), bipolar affective disorder (F31.-), PD (F60.-and F61.-), eating disorder (F50.-), cluster C PD (F60.5-8), reaction to severe stress and adjustment disorder, TS, mental and behavioral disorder due to use of alcohol (F10.-), OCD (F42.-), mental and behavioral disorder due to psychoactive substance use besides alcohol (F11– F19), dissociative and somatoform disorder (F44.-,F45.-&F48.-), anxiety disorder (F40.- and F41.-), and depression (F32–F34). Since sample sizes were in part very small and consisted of <10 patients (as shown in **Figure 1** and **Table 3**), caution is needed in interpreting results. Noteworthy, and in line with clinical experience and diagnostic criteria (1, 5, 33), our results suggest a high clinical relevance of RA in patients with ADHD and BPD indicated by very large effect sizes compared to healthy controls and significant differences compared to all other psychiatric patients.

Regarding demographic differences, our psychiatric sample showed significantly fewer RA with increasing age, but no significant relation between RA and gender, level of education or country of birth [aim (iv)].

In our previous study, we were able to demonstrate that patients with TS suffer from more severe RA compared to controls as assessed by RAQ-R (16). Interestingly, in TS mean RAQ-R scores were even non-significantly higher than in the mixed psychiatric population. One might argue that increased rates of RA might be influenced by comorbid ADHD, since ADHD is a common comorbidity in TS and we found highest RAQ-R scores in patients with (pure) ADHD. However, we were



TABLE 4 | Multiple linear regression using RAQ-R as dependent variable.

| | Variable | Not-standardized coefficient | Standard error | Standardized coefficient | р |
|-----------------------------|---|------------------------------|----------------|--------------------------|---------|
| Constant | | 2.726 | 2.205 | | 0.135 |
| BSI | Aggression and hostility | 9.772** | 1.332 | 0.477** | < 0.001 |
| HSRQ | Frustration tolerance and impulse control | 7.060** | 0.973 | 0.486** | < 0.001 |
| | Identity disturbances | -2.749* | 0.824 | -0.198* | 0.001 |
| ADHD (F90.0) | | 6.740* | 3.373 | 0.398* | 0.048 |
| Depressive disorders (F32–F | 34) | -4.145* | 1.966 | -0.245* | 0.037 |
| R squared | | 0.641 | | | |
| Adjusted R squared | | 0.629 | | | |
| F (df = 5;150) | | 53.562 | | | < 0.001 |

BSI, Brief Symptom Inventory; HSRQ, Hannover Self-regulation Questionnaire; ADHD, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.001.

able to demonstrate that RAQ-R scores are also increased in "TS only" without comorbid ADHD or any other psychiatric disorder (16). Accordingly, and in line with other studies (36), RA seem to represent a common and discrete symptom in TS. Our data, therefore, further supports the view that former ICD-10 classification of TS in the category "behavioral and

emotional disorders with onset usually occurring in childhood and adolescence" was much more accurate compared to the new ICD-11 classification of TS in the category of "movement disorders" (37, 38).

This study has several significant strengths. We assessed a wide spectrum of common psychiatric symptoms allowing to

also analyze correlations to several close and distinct constructs. Different from most recent studies investigating clinical aspects of anger and rage attacks, we were able to compare RA in a psychiatric sample not only with healthy controls, but also between different diagnostic categories, respectively, according to ICD-10. External validity can be regarded as high for a mixed psychiatric population in a university clinic, since (a) patients from two different departments were included, (b) patients from out-, day- and inpatient clinics were included, (c) no relevant exclusion criteria have been predefined, (d) we included patients suffering from a broad and typical spectrum of different-and in many cases more than one-psychiatric diagnoses seen in psychiatric clinics, and (e) mildly to very severely affected patients were included. Another strength of our study is the availability of all raw data and analysis as reproducible *R* scripts aiming to increase the reliability and objectivity of the data processing.

The following limitations have to be taken into consideration: (a) although we included more than 150 patients, the sample size was too small to carry out a confirmatory factor analysis including an analysis of measurement invariance between groups. Nevertheless, the results of the PCA confirmed the 1-factor structure and loadings (16); (b) we used only selfassessments, but no examiner assessments; (c) for some diagnostic categories no correlations with the RAQ-R could be calculated due to small sample sizes; (d) a small number of data was missing. However, this was addressed by using multiple imputation, the gold standard approach to handle missing data (39); (e) we did not recruit a control group, but instead used data obtained from our previous study (16). Thus, an influence from different methods (paper-based vs. online survey) and time periods of data collection (7-10/2017 vs. 8/2018-4/2019) cannot completely be excluded; (f) sociodemographic characteristics between the control and patient groups slightly differed. Therefore, confounding cannot be completely ruled out, although we controlled for sociodemographic variables; (g) since no validated German version of the AAQ is available, this questionnaire could not be included in our study; (h) our validation only involves the original German version of the RAQ-R. An English version will be published in the near future, but has not been validated yet.

In conclusion, we validated the RAQ-R, a recently developed new instrument for the assessment of RA in patients with a wide spectrum of different psychiatric disorders, and found good to excellent psychometric properties. In contrast to

REFERENCES

- Novaco RW. Anger and psychopathology. In: Potegal M, Stemmler G, Spielberger C, editors. *International Handbook of Anger*. New York, NY: Springer (2010). p. 465–97.
- Chida Y, Steptoe A. The association of anger and hostility with future coronary heart disease: a meta-analytic review of prospective evidence. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2009) 53:936–46. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2008.11.044

previous assessments measuring anger or rage attacks, the RAQ-R measures the severity of RA in a dimensional way and, additionally, assesses psychological and behavioral characteristics of RA. In contrast to the AAQ (developed for the assessment of anger attacks) and the RAQ (a parents' assessment of RA only in children with TS), the RAQ-R is applicable to adult patients with the whole spectrum of psychiatric disorders. Our data provides additional support for the clinical relevance of RA in psychiatric populations, since RA were found to be a common symptom in different psychiatric disorders, but in particular in patients with ADHD and BPD.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found at: Open Science Framework (doi: 10.17605/OSF.IO/73Y8P).

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee at Hannover Medical School. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LP, KM-V, and EJ contributed to the conception and design of the study, contributed to the acquisition of data, and organized the database. LP wrote the first draft of the manuscript. LP, MH, and EJ contributed to the analysis and interpretation of data. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all patients for participating in this study. We also thank Alexander Braumann, Institute for mathematical stochastics, Technical University Braunschweig, for his support with statistical analyses and Axel Weiser, patients and customer survey, quality management, MH for guiding us through the survey automation software EvaSys. We kindly acknowledge the support of PD Dr. Burkard Jäger and the opportunity to survey patients of the Department of Psychosomatic and Psychotherapy, MH.

 Jang J-M, Park J-I, Oh K-Y, Lee K-H, Kim MS, Yoon M-S, et al. Predictors of suicidal ideation in a community sample: roles of anger, self-esteem, and depression. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 216:74–81. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2013.12.054

^{3.} Smith TW, Glazer K, Ruiz JM, Gallo LC. Hostility, anger, aggressiveness, and coronary heart disease: an interpersonal perspective on personality, emotion, and health. *J Pers.* (2004) 72:1217–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.0 0296.x

- Fernandez E, Johnson SL. Anger in psychological disorders: prevalence, presentation, etiology and prognostic implications. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2016) 46:124–35. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2016. 04.012
- Posternak MA, Zimmerman M. Anger and aggression in psychiatric outpatients. J Clin Psychiatry. (2002) 63:665–72. doi: 10.4088/JCP. v63n0803
- Fava M, Anderson K, Rosenbaum JF. "Anger attacks": possible variants of panic and major depressive disorders. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1990) 147:867–70. doi: 10.1176/ajp.147.7.867
- 8. Fava M, Rosenbaum JF, McCarthy M, Pava J, Steingard R, Bless E. Anger attacks in depressed outpatients and their response to fluoxetine. *Psychopharmacol Bull.* (1991) 27:275–9.
- Painuly N, Sharan P, Mattoo SK. Relationship of anger and anger attacks with depression. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2005) 255:215– 22. doi: 10.1007/s00406-004-0539-5
- Fava M, Rosenbaum JF. Anger attacks in patients with depression. J Clin Psychiatry. (1999) 60:21–4.
- Sayar K, Guzelhan Y, Solmaz M, Ozer OA, Ozturk M, Acar B, et al. Anger attacks in depressed Turkish outpatients. *Ann Clin Psychiatry*. (2000) 12:213– 8. doi: 10.3109/10401230009147114
- Painuly NP, Grover S, Mattoo SK, Gupta N. Anger attacks in obsessive compulsive disorder. *Ind Psychiatry J.* (2011) 20:115. doi: 10.4103/0972-6748.102501
- de Bles NJ, Ottenheim NR, van Hemert AM, Pütz LE, van der Does AW, Penninx BW, et al. Trait anger and anger attacks in relation to depressive and anxiety disorders. J Affect Disord. (2019) 259:259– 65. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.08.023
- Fava M, Rappe SM, West J, Herzog DB. Anger attacks in eating disorders. *Psychiatry Res.* (1995) 56:205–12. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(95)0 2577-J
- Budman CL, Rockmore L, Stokes J, Sossin M. Clinical phenomenology of episodic rage in children with Tourette syndrome. J Psychosom Res. (2003) 55:59–65. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(02) 00584-6
- Müller-Vahl KR, Kayser L, Pisarenko A, Haas M, Psathakis N, Palm L, et al. The Rage Attack Questionnaire-Revised (RAQ-R): assessing rage attacks in adults with Tourette syndrome. *Front Psychiatry.* (2019) 10:956. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019. 00956
- 17. de Boer AG, van Lanschot JJ, Stalmeier PF, van Sandick JW, Hulscher JB, de Haes JC, et al. Is a single-item visual analogue scale as valid, reliable and responsive as multi-item scales in measuring quality of life? *Qual Life Res.* (2004) 13:311–20. doi: 10.1023/B:QURE.0000018499.6 4574.1f
- Meule A, Vögele C, Kübler A. Psychometrische evaluation der deutschen Barratt Impulsiveness Scale-Kurzversion (BIS-15). *Diagnostica*. (2011) 57:126–33. doi: 10.1026/0012-1924/ a000042
- Whiteside SP, Lynam DR, Miller JD, Reynolds SK. Validation of the UPPS impulsive behaviour scale: a four-factor model of impulsivity. *Eur J Pers.* (2005) 19:559–74. doi: 10.1002/per.556
- 20. Franke GH. BSI. Brief Symptom Inventory—Deutsche Version. Manual. Göttingen: Beltz (2000).
- Geissner E, Huetteroth A. Beck anxiety inventory German version-a reliable, valid, patientfriendly instrument for measuring clinical anxiety. *Psychother Psychosom Med Psychol.* (2018) 68:118–25. doi: 10.1055/s-0043-1 22941
- Kühner C, Bürger C, Keller F, Hautzinger M. Reliability and validity of the revised Beck Depression Inventory (BDI-II). Results from German samples. Nervenarzt. (2007) 78:651–6. doi: 10.1007/s00115-006-2 098-7
- Rösler M, Retz W, Retz-Junginger P, Thome J, Supprian T, Nissen T, et al. Tools for the diagnosis of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in adults. Self-rating behaviour questionnaire and diagnostic checklist. *Nervenarzt.* (2004) 75:888–95. doi: 10.1007/s00115-003-1622-2

- 24. Jäger B, Schmid-Ott G, Ernst G, Dölle-Lange E, Sack M. Development and validation of an inventory of ego functions and self regulation (Hannover Self-Regulation Inventory, HSRI). *Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr.* (2012) 80:336–43. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1282071
- Buuren Sv, Groothuis-Oudshoorn K. Mice: multivariate imputation by chained equations in R. J Stat Softw. (2010) 45:1–68. doi: 10.18637/jss.v0 45.i03
- White IR, Royston P, Wood AM. Multiple imputation using chained equations: issues and guidance for practice. *Stat Med.* (2011) 30:377– 99. doi: 10.1002/sim.4067
- Rubin DB. Multiple imputation after 18+ years. J Am Stat Assoc. (1996) 91:473-89. doi: 10.1080/01621459.1996.10476908
- Fornell C, Larcker DF. Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. J Mark Res. (1981) 18:39– 50. doi: 10.1177/002224378101800104
- 29. Fagerland MW. t-tests, non-parametric tests, and large studies a paradox of statistical practice? *BMC Med Res Methodol.* (2012) 12:78. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-12-78
- Van Buuren S. Flexible Imputation of Missing Data. Boca Raton, FL: CRC press (2018). p. 415.
- Wood AM, White IR, Royston P. How should variable selection be performed with multiply imputed data? *Stat Med.* (2008) 27:3227– 46. doi: 10.1002/sim.3177
- Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates (2013). p. 400.
- American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 5th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (2013). p. 947.
- 34. Gould RA, Ball S, Kaspi SP, Otto MW, Pollack MH, Shekhar A, et al. Prevalence and correlates of anger attacks: a two site study. J Affect Disord. (1996) 39:31–8. doi: 10.1016/0165-0327(96) 00017-1
- Fava M, Rosenbaum JF, Pava JA, McCarthy MK, Steingard RJ, Bouffides E. Anger attacks in unipolar depression, part 1: clinical correlates and response to fluoxetine treatment. *Am J Psychiatry.* (1993) 150:1158. doi: 10.1176/ajp.150.8.1158
- Conte G, Valente F, Fioriello F, Cardona F. Rage attacks in Tourette syndrome and chronic tic disorder: a systematic review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2020) 119:21–36. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020. 09.019
- Hirschtritt ME, Lee PC, Pauls DL, Dion Y, Grados MA, Illmann C, et al. Lifetime prevalence, age of risk, and genetic relationships of comorbid psychiatric disorders in Tourette syndrome. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2015) 72:325–33. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry. 2014.2650
- Brainstorm Consortium. Analysis of shared heritability in common disorders of the brain. *Science*. (2018) 360:eaap8757. doi: 10.1126/ science.aap8757
- Donders ART, Van Der Heijden GJ, Stijnen T, Moons KG. A gentle introduction to imputation of missing values. J Clin Epidemiol. (2006) 59:1087–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2006. 01.014

Conflict of Interest: In the context of other research, KM-V has received financial or material research support from EU (FP7-HEALTH-2011 No. 278367, FP7-PEOPLE-2012-ITN No. 316978) DFG: GZ MU 1527/3-1 and GZ MU 1527/3-2, BMBF: 01KG1421, National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH), Tourette Gesellschaft Deutschland e.V. Else-Kröner-Fresenius-Stiftung, GW pharmaceuticals, Almirall Hermal GmbH, Abide Therapeutics, and Therapix Biosiences. She has received consultant's honoraria from Abide Therapeutics, Boehringer Ingelheim International GmbH, Bionorica Ethics GmbH, CannaMedical Pharma GmbH, Canopy Grouth, Columbia Care, CTC Communications Corp., Demecan, Eurox Deutschland GmbH, Global Praxis Group Limited, IMC Germany, Lundbeck, Sanity Group, Stadapharm GmbH, Synendos Therapeutics AG, and Tilray. She has received speaker's fees from Aphria Deutschland GmbH, Almirall, Cogitando GmbH, Emalex, Eurox Deutschland

GmbH, Ever pharma GmbH, Meinhardt Congress GmbH, PR Berater, Spectrum Therapeutics GmbH, Takeda GmbH, Tilray, Wayland Group. She has received royalties from Deutsches Ärzteblatt, Der Neurologie und Psychiater, Elsevier, Medizinisch Wissenschaftliche Verlagsgesellschaft Berlin, and Kohlhammer.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Palm, Haas, Pisarenko, Jakubovski and Müller-Vahl. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





High Schizotypy Predicts Emotion Recognition Independently of Negative Affect

Christopher Dawes*, Claudia Danielmeier, Mark Haselgrove and Paula M. Moran

School of Psychology, Nottingham, United Kingdom

Introduction: Deficits in Emotion Recognition (ER) contribute significantly to poorer functional outcomes in people with schizophrenia. However, rather than reflecting a core symptom of schizophrenia, reduced ER has been suggested to reflect increased mood disorder co-morbidity and confounds of patient status such as medication. We investigated whether ER deficits are replicable in psychometrically defined schizotypy, and whether this putative association is mediated by increased negative affect.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Clare Margaret Eddy, Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Gregory Fonzo, The University of Texas at Austin, United States Sarah Louise Mason, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom Chrysoula Zouraraki, University of Crete, Greece

*Correspondence: Christopher Dawes christopher.dawes2@nottingham.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Social Cognition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 08 July 2021 Accepted: 20 August 2021 Published: 23 September 2021

Citation:

Dawes C, Danielmeier C, Haselgrove M and Moran PM (2021) High Schizotypy Predicts Emotion Recognition Independently of Negative Affect. Front. Psychiatry 12:738344. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.738344 **Methods:** Two hundred and nine participants between the ages of 18 and 69 (66% female) were recruited from online platforms: 80% held an undergraduate qualification or higher, 44% were current students, and 46% were in current employment. Participants were assessed on psychometric schizotypy using the O-LIFE which maps onto the same symptoms structure (positive, negative, and disorganised) as schizophrenia. Negative affect was assessed using the Depression Anxiety and Stress Scale (DASS-21). Emotion Recognition of both positive and negative emotions was assessed using the short version of the Geneva Emotion Recognition Task (GERT-S).

Results: Negative schizotypy traits predicted poorer ER accuracy to negative emotions ($\beta = -0.192$, p = 0.002) as predicted. Unexpectedly, disorganised schizotypy traits predicted improved performance to negative emotions ($\beta = 0.256$, p = 0.007) (primarily disgust). Negative affect was found to be unrelated to ER performance of either valence (both p > 0.591). No measure predicted ER accuracy of positive emotions. Positive schizotypy traits were not found to predict either positive or negative ER accuracy. However, positive schizotypy predicted increased confidence in decisions and disorganised schizotypy predicted reduced confidence in decisions.

Discussion: The replication of ER deficits in non-clinical negative schizotypy suggests that the association between negative symptoms and ER deficits in clinical samples may be independent of confounds of patient status (i.e., anti-psychotic medication). The finding that this association was independent of negative affect further suggests ER deficits in patients may also be independent of mood disorder co-morbidity. This association was not demonstrated for the positive symptom dimension of the O-LIFE, which may be due to low levels of this trait in the current sample.

Keywords: schizotypy, schizophrenia, psychosis, emotion recognition, affect recognition, social cognition, negative affect, mood disorder

INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia is a chronic and potentially debilitating mentalhealth disorder with an estimated lifetime prevalence of 0.5% (1). The symptoms of schizophrenia can be categorised as positive negative or cognitive (2). The positive symptoms are reality distortion and disorganisation, exemplified by hallucinations, delusions, and disorganised thoughts, speech, and behaviour. Negative symptoms can be broadly categorised as expressive (restricted affect and alogia) and experiential (avolition and apathy, and asociality) (3). Negative symptoms in particular are associated with poorer functional outcomes (4, 5), including lower employment rates (6), smaller social networks (7), and poorer quality of life (8–10). Commonly, it is the negative symptoms and disorganised symptoms that are most consistently associated with poorer social cognition in schizophrenia (11).

Social cognition refers to mental processes responsible for the perception, decoding, interpretation, and regulation of responses to social stimuli (12). In schizophrenia, theory of mind, social perception, attributional bias, and emotion processing have been identified as key domains (13), with deficits reported across the prodromal, first-episode, and multi-episode stages of illness (14-16); suggesting they are an enduring trait marker. Deficits are found relative to both healthy controls (Hedge's g = -0.89) (15) and psychiatric controls with bipolar disorder (17), although they are less severe relative to autism spectrum disorders (18). These deficits are thought to underlie inter-personal conflict, isolation, and social disengagement (19) and contribute to poorer functioning. Social cognition may be of particular importance to improving daily functioning as it has been suggested to explain more variance in outcomes than non-social cognition (20-22). Social cognition has also been reported to explain incremental variance over non-social cognition and to mediate the association between non-social cognition (e.g., processing speed, working memory, etc.) and functioning (22). While the presence of social cognitive deficits is well-established in schizophrenia, the mechanisms behind these deficits are not wellunderstood. This research aims to identify potential explanatory factors in one important domain of social cognition: Emotion Recognition (ER).

In patients, ER performance is negatively associated with reality distortion, negative symptoms, and disorganised symptoms to a similar extent (11). Generally, impairments are found in the perception of negative emotions (sadness and fear) and less consistently in positive emotions, although this may be due to a lack of more varied positive stimuli beyond happiness (12). One potential contributory factor to these deficits is that patients may be hindered by confounds of patient status unrelated to the disease. Antipsychotic medication side-effects (e.g., motor slowness and poor concentration) may artificially inflate cognitive task deficits (23), while social isolation and community exclusion limits opportunities to practise social cognitive skills.

One approach to circumvent these limitations is to assess individuals varying on psychometrically-defined schizotypy; personality traits that reflect the factor structure of symptoms and are a potential marker for the transition to psychosis (24). These schizotypy "symptom" dimensions of positive, negative, and disorganised schizotypy map onto reality distortion, negative symptoms, and disorganised symptoms of schizophrenia, respectively. This dimensional viewpoint considers psychosis a spectrum of behaviour, from non-harmful schizotypy personality traits (e.g., "Do you believe in telepathy?") to clinical symptoms (e.g., persecutory delusions) that may cause disruption to daily functioning. Some psychometric assessments assess attenuated psychotic-like experiences according to diagnostic criteria (25), such as the Schizotypal Personality Questionnaire (SPQ) which bases its assessment on DSM-III-R criteria for schizotypal personality disorder (26) and the Oxford-Liverpool Index of Feelings and Experiences (O-LIFE) which is partially derived from DSM-II criteria (27). Investigating schizotypy traits allows inferences to be made to behaviour in patients in the absence of clinical confounds (25). Experimentally, if both schizotypy symptom traits in healthy controls and clinical symptoms in patients predict ER performance, this would suggest this relationship is independent of confounds of patient status. Currently, however, findings concerning schizotypy and ER are inconsistent in terms of which dimensions predict performance. Across categorical ("High" vs. "Low" schizotypy) and dimensional (associating traits with performance) approaches, the most consistently implicated traits are negative (28-32) followed by positive (reality distortion) (29, 32, 33), with fewer studies implicating disorganised traits (29, 33). However, other studies have reported no associations for these dimensions: negative (33-38), positive (28, 30, 31, 35, 36, 38-40), and disorganised (28, 30-32, 35, 36). Whether deficits are specific to positive and/or negative emotions is also unclear (28, 31, 41). Moreover, detailed assessments have found no evidence of deficits in disgust (33), but mixed evidence for happiness (36, 42), sadness (33, 36), fear (33, 36), surprise (33, 42), and anger (33, 36, 42). However, deficits have been suggested to be independent of more general face processing deficits (29). Overall, the evidence for ER deficits in schizotypy is currently inconsistent. Consequently, it is unclear whether the schizotypy literature supports the independence of ER deficits in clinical patients from clinical factors such as medication.

One potential reason for this inconsistency may be the confounding role of negative affect. Approximately 23–29% of first episode schizophrenia patients have at least one co-morbid mood disorder (43). For example, Major Depressive Disorder has been associated with poorer recognition of all six basic emotions except sadness (g = -0.42 to -0.17) (44). Schizotypy has also been associated with negative affect (45–47). Assessing negative affect in schizotypy may help explain some of the literature inconsistencies. Specifically, if negative affect were to moderate ER deficits in schizotypy, samples high in negative affect would report significant associations while samples low in negative affect may not. Alternatively, both schizotypy and negative affect may contribute to deficits.

Previous research has suggested statistically controlling for negative affect when assessing both schizotypy and ER performance (29, 33). However, only one study to our knowledge has done so. This study found correlations between schizotypy and ER performance remained significant when negative affect

Abbreviations: ER, Emotion Recognition.

was controlled for (28). However, this methodological approach did not allow a comparison of the relative impact of schizotypy and negative affect on ER e.g., by use of a mediation analysis or by comparing standardised effect sizes. Moreover, the tasks used in both this investigation and other previous investigations are limited by the range of positive emotions presented. Commonly, assessments in both schizotypy and schizophrenia use stimuli reflecting Ekman's six basic emotions (48) which includes happiness as a positive emotion. This has been highlighted as a limitation of current research (12) and a potential explanation for inconsistent associations with positive emotions. It is therefore important to include a wider variety of positive emotions (i.e., relief, pleasure, amusement, etc.) which was implemented in the current study.

Consequently, this report aimed to assess whether the literature inconsistencies of ER deficits in schizotypy may be partially explained by increased levels of negative effect. This was investigated by assessing whether negative affect mediates the relationship between schizotypy and ER performance. Normative comparisons of negative affect were also planned to determine whether any lack of mediation may be due to low levels of negative affect in the current sample. If ER deficits are both present in schizotypy and are independent of negative affect, this would suggest deficits in patients are not fully explainable by confounds of patient status (e.g., anti-psychotic medication and social isolation) nor mood disorder co-morbidity, respectively.

Therefore it was hypothesised that: (1) high negative schizotypy (28–32) will predict lower Emotion Recognition accuracy and that (2) if this association is attributable to negative affect it will be reduced if negative affect is controlled for.

METHODS

Participants

From an initial 232 participants, 23 were excluded (see Data Preparation). The final sample of 209 participants was recruited through the University's recruitment system (15.8%), Call for Participants (15.8%), social media (38.8%), and Prolific (29.7%). In this sample, 66% were biologically female, ages ranged between 18 and 69 years old (M = 27.4, SD = 10.2), 79.4% had at least an undergraduate level qualification, 44.0% were current students, and 45.9% were currently employed. Of the 148 participants that volunteered responses, 51.6% reported no current medication, 10 participants reported taking anti-depressants, one participant reported taking lithium (a mood stabiliser), but no participant reported anti-psychotic medication. The following analyses did not differ in interpretation when excluding these 11 participants and the remaining participants reported medication such as antihistamines or the contraceptive pill. This study achieved a power of 0.99 for a medium effect size and 0.37 for a small effect size (multiple regression analysis with three predictors) (49).

Materials

The first three scales of the Oxford-Liverpool Index of Feelings and Experiences (O-LIFE) (50) were used to assess schizotypy. These scales were Unusual experiences (Unex, "Do you believe in telepathy"), Introvertive anhedonia (Intan, e.g.,

"Do you feel that making new friends isn't worth the energy it takes?), and Cognitive disorganisation (Cogdis, e.g., "Are you easily distracted when you read or talk to someone?") which correspond to positive (reality distortion), negative, and disorganised schizotypy, respectively. The fourth scale of Impulsive non-conformity was not included as it may not be central to schizotypy (50). Negative affect was assessed using the total score of the Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scale (DASS-21) (51). A psychometric measure of pre and posttask motivation was also taken using the motivation scale of the Momentary Influences, Attitudes and Motivation Impact (MIAMI) on Cognitive Performance Scale (52). The GERT-S (53), an emotion identification task consisting of 42 items and 14 emotions, was used to assess ER (Figure 1). Stimuli were 1 to 3 s videos of 10 male and female actors. Actors spoke non-sense syllables, meaning recognition was from dynamic facial expression, upper body language, and prosody (but not semantic meaning). Consequently, the task assessed more general emotion recognition. The GERT-S includes high arousal positive (pleasure, relief, interest) and low arousal positive emotions (joy, amusement, pride), and high arousal negative (anger, fear, despair) and low arousal negative items (irritation, sadness, anxiety). Disgust was categorised as negative consistent with most previous reports in schizotypy. Surprised was not categorised as positive nor negative due to conflicting evidence in the wider social cognitive literature. However, as reports on ER in schizotypy primarily consider surprise as positive (28, 32, 41) the analyses were repeated including surprise as a positive emotion, but they did not differ in implication. On each trial participants had to identify which one of the 14 emotions was being presented. To gather more information on decision making an additional scale was added requesting response confidence judgments (from 1 "low confidence" to 7 "high confidence") that was not present in the original GERT-S. The GERT-S presents good internal consistency ($\omega_T = 0.89$) and has been critically reviewed elsewhere (53, 54).

Procedure

This study was part of a larger cognitive battery also administering two tasks of executive function. All participants complete the study online via Qualtrics between March and August 2020. Psychometric information was collected from one survey while the GERT-S was administered on a separate survey provided by the original authors. The questionnaires were administered first followed by the GERT-S. The GERT-S includes two practise trials, clear definitions of each emotion, and the option to repeat the practise. "Prefer not to say" options were added to all questionnaires for ethical reasons as well as two awareness items which asked participants to select "Prefer not to say." Psychometric motivation assessments were taken both pre- and post-task (52). Before being debriefed, participants were given the option to withdraw their data if they experienced technical issues or for any other reason (with no justifications required). Participants were compensated with University credits or monetary incentives irrespective of whether they withdrew their data. This study was approved by the University of



Nottingham's Ethics Committee (S1214) and all participants gave informed consent.

Data Preparation

From the original sample, 17 participants were excluded due to failing either awareness item (not selecting "Prefer not to say"), one participant withdrew their data, and one participant was excluded due to excessive "Prefer not to say" responses. Six more were excluded due to outlier performance (total accuracy < median – 2.5 * Median Absolute Deviation). The exclusion of these participants more readily satisfied model assumptions and but did not affect the current conclusions. Missing data including "prefer not to say" were imputed using the missForest R package (55). Missing data accounted for 0.4, 0.5, and 1.2% of single-item responses for the DASS-21, O-LIFE, and MIAMI respectively.

Analysis Strategy

The primary outcome was Emotion Recognition accuracy (ER; 0-100%) divided into positive and negative items. To address the first hypothesis each of the O-LIFE scales were added simultaneously to two multiple regressions predicting positive ER and negative ER performance. To assess a potential mediatory role of negative affect, the DASS-21 total score was then added to these multiple regression models. Bayes Factors (BF) were calculated for each regression coefficient to differentiate between data insensitivity and a true null effect (56). BFs were interpreted as follows for the alternate hypothesis (BF₁₀): a BF between 3 and 0.333 was insensitive (more data required), BF > 3moderate evidence, BF > 10 strong evidence, BF > 30 very strong evidence, and BF > 100 decisive evidence (57). As accuracy scores are bound between 0 and 100%, a beta-binomial distribution regression was applied as a robustness cheque. As each approach was identical in conclusions the more readily interpretable Ordinary Least Squares approach is presented. The accuracy of each emotion was correlated with all psychometric scales. Finally, all regression analyses passed the assumptions of normally distributed residuals, linearity, homoscedasticity, lack of influential values (Cook's distance < 1), and no multicollinearity (VIF < 5). Analyses were conducted in R studio (58), Jamovi (59), and JASP (60) using several statistical (61, 62) and data visualisation packages (63, 64).

RESULTS

Descriptives

Descriptive summaries of psychometric and GERT-S scores can be found in Table 1 and Supplementary Table 1, respectively. The total sample presented lower accuracy score for negative emotions relative to positive emotions [$t_{(208)} = 7.825$, p < 0.001, d = 0.541]. Normative comparisons were conducted to assess whether current levels of traits were representative of the wider population. As Shapiro-Wilk tests suggested all variables were non-normally distributed (all p < 0.011), normative comparisons of the O-LIFE (extracted from the 21 to 30 age category, N = 402) (50) and DASS-21 (51) were conducted using One-Sample Wilcoxon signed-rank tests as medians were available. As normative medians are not available for the GERT-S (53) One-Sample t-tests were required. Effect sizes for non-parametric tests were rank-biserial correlations (r_{rb}) while t-tests used Cohen's *d* (**Table 1**). Positive schizotypy was lower in the current sample (p = 0.004, $r_{rb} = -0.27$), negative schizotypy (p <0.001, $r_{rb} = 0.76$), DASS-21 (p < 0.001, $r_{rb} = 0.80$), and total GERT-S were higher (p < 0.001, d = 1.09), but disorganised schizotypy did not differ (p = 0.536, $r_{rb} = 0.04$). Scale internal consistency was calculated using McDonald's Omega Total (ω_T) following recommendations (65). Cronbach's α is presented for completeness but is not appraised due to being unsuitable for psychometric (66) and non-normal data (67). The O-LIFE and

DASS-21 presented excellent internal consistency ($\omega_{\rm T} > 0.80$), but the GERT-S was questionable to poor, unlike the original validation. GERT-S scores presented a good range of difficulties and a lack of floor or ceiling effects (**Supplementary Table 1**). Spearman correlations were also conducted between the three schizotypy scales and both pre and post-task motivation (FDR corrected). The correlations found disorganised schizotypy was significantly associated with lower post-task motivation ($r_s = -0.215$, p = 0.012) and presented a trend association to lower pre-task motivation ($r_s = -0.164$, p = 0.054), but the remaining associations were non-significant (p > 0.138).

Emotion Recognition Accuracy

Two multiple regression analyses (Table 2) entered the three O-LIFE scales as predictors of positive and negative accuracy. For negative emotions, negative schizotypy predicted poorer performance ($\beta = -0.192[-0.333, -0.052]$, p = 0.007, BF₁₀ = 3.238, $R^2_{\text{partial}} = 3.5\%$), disorganised schizotypy predicted improved performance at a larger effect size ($\beta = 0.256[0.096, 0.417]$, p = 0.002, BF₁₀ = 4.387, $R^2_{\text{partial}} = 4.6\%$), but positive schizotypy returned nonsignificant with the BF10 suggesting more data were needed to accept the null hypothesis (p = 0.094, BF₁₀ = 0.671) (hypothesis 1). All significant associations survived FDR correction for multiple comparisons (all p < 0.021). For positive emotions, no O-LIFE scale significantly predicted performance (all p >0.090). The BFs suggested there was moderate evidence for null hypothesis for positive schizotypy ($BF_{10} = 0.191$) and disorganised schizotypy (BF₁₀ = 0.256), but more data were needed to conclude about negative schizotypy (BF₁₀ = 0.477). Both sex and age were not significant predictors of performance when added to these two regression models and did not affect the significant associations between schizotypy and performance.

Total DASS-21 score did not predict positive ($\beta = -0.037$ $[-0.174, 0.100], p = 0.591, BF_{10} = 0.172)$ nor negative ER accuracy ($\beta = 0.014[-0.123, 0.151]$, p = 0.843, BF₁₀₌ 0.153). Unplanned exploratory analyses additionally confirmed no DASS-21 subscale predicted performance on the GERT-S that would warrant more detailed investigation (positive ER: Depression, p = 0.536, Anxiety, p = 0.333, Stress, p = 0.922; negative ER: Depression, p = 0.867, Anxiety, p = 0.890, Stress, p = 0.638). The inclusion of DASS-21 total score these regression models in Table 2. did not change the associations between schizotypy and both positive and negative ER accuracy. Consequently, this suggested negative affect does not mediate the relationship between schizotypy and ER performance (hypothesis 2). Marginal effects were plotted to illustrate the independent effects of each O-LIFE scale on negative ER accuracy (Figure 2). Participants scoring in the 90th percentile of positive schizotypy, negative schizotypy, or disorganised schizotypy were predicted to have changes in accuracy of -4.52%, -7.1%, and +9.08% respectively, relative to participants scoring in the 10th percentile (a common cut-off criterion for categorical studies).

Individual Emotion Recognition Accuracy

A spearman's correlation matrix was calculated between the O-LIFE, DASS-21, and emotion recognition accuracy (**Table 3**). The

| Hange M SD Med MAD IOR ω_T α Hange M SD Med IOR α 0-23 8:105 5:587 7.042 5:930 7.967 0.869 0.932 - 10.159 6:304 9 ^a 10 0.89 0-24 8:455 5:594 7.727 5:930 8:425 0.866 0.916 - 5:444 4:000 4:5 ^a 6:5 0.82 0-24 13:177 6:218 13:600 7.413 9:375 0.899 0.942 - 12:391 5:690 13 ^a - 0.87 0-21 7.163 5:610 5:846 5:930 9:117 0.940 0-21 2:83 ^b 3:87 1 - 0.87 0-21 7.163 5:610 5:846 5:930 9:177 0.940 0-21 2:83 ^b 3:87 1 - 0:87 0-21 7.388 5:154 6:330 7: | | | | | Current | ant | | | | | | Normative | ative | | | | Comparison | |
|--|------------|--------|--------|--------|---------|--------|--------|-------|-------|-------|-------------------|-----------|------------------|-----|-----------|---------|----------------------|--------|
| $ 0-23 8.105 5.587 7.042 5.930 7.967 0.869 0.932 - 10.159 6.304 9^a 10 0.89 \\ 0-24 8.455 5.594 7.72 5.930 8.425 0.866 0.916 - 5.444 4.000 4.5^a 6.5 0.82 \\ 0-24 13.177 6.218 13.500 7.413 9.375 0.899 0.942 - 12.391 5.690 13^a - 0.87 \\ 0-21 7.153 5.610 5.846 5.930 9.117 0.916 0.940 0-21 2.83^b 3.87 1 - 0.88 \\ 0-20 4.746 4.580 3.175 4.448 7.099 0.858 0.900 0-20 1.88^b 2.95 1 - 0.88 \\ 0-21 7.388 5.154 6.972 5.830 7.982 0.866 0.894 0-21 4.73^b 2.420 4 - 0.98 \\ 0-21 7.388 5.134 6.972 5.330 7.982 0.966 0.958 0.900 0-20 1.88^b 2.95 1 - 0.98 \\ 0.92 1.3.78 15.417 13.343 20.350 0.968 0.958 0.901 0.916 0.916 7 - 0.93 \\ 0.92 0.916 0.924 0.916$ | Scale | Range | Σ | SD | Med | MAD | IQR | θŢ | σ | Range | Σ | SD | Med | IQR | α | ď | ES [Low, High] | Norm |
| $ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | Pos Scz | 0-23 | 8.105 | 5.587 | 7.042 | 5.930 | 7.967 | 0.869 | 0.932 | I | 10.159 | 6.304 | дa | 10 | 0.89 | =0.004 | -0.27 [-0.16, -0.41] | <0.001 |
| 0-24 13.177 6.218 13.600 7.413 9.375 0.899 0.942 - 12.391 5.690 13 ^a - 0.87 0-21 7.153 5.610 5.846 5.930 9.117 0.916 0.940 0-21 2.83 ^b 3.87 1 - 0.88 0-20 4.746 4.580 3.175 4.448 7.099 0.858 0.900 0-20 1.88 ^b 2.955 1 - 0.82 0-21 7.388 5.154 6.972 5.930 7.982 0.866 0.894 0-20 1.88 ^b 2.955 1 - 0.82 0-21 7.388 5.154 6.972 5.930 7.982 0.866 0.894 0-21 4.73 ^b 4.20 4 - 0.90 0-54 19.287 13.781 15.417 13.343 20.350 0.966 0.958 0-61 9.42 ^b 4 - 0.93 | Neg Scz | 0-24 | 8.455 | 5.594 | 7.727 | 5.930 | 8.425 | 0.866 | 0.916 | I | 5.444 | 4.000 | 4.5 ^a | 6.5 | 0.82 | < 0.001 | 0.76 [0.68, 0.82] | <0.001 |
| 0-21 7.153 5.610 5.846 5.930 9.117 0.916 0.940 0-21 2.83 ^b 3.87 1 - 0.88 0-20 4.746 4.580 3.175 4.448 7.099 0.858 0.900 0-20 1.88 ^b 2.95 1 - 0.82 0-21 7.388 5.154 6.972 5.930 7.982 0.866 0.894 0-21 4.73 ^b 4.20 4 - 0.90 0-21 7.388 5.154 6.972 5.930 7.982 0.866 0.894 0-21 4.73 ^b 4.20 4 - 0.90 0-54 19.287 13.781 15.417 13.343 20.356 0.966 0.958 0-61 9.42 ^b 7 - 0.93 | Dis Scz | 0-24 | 13.177 | 6.218 | 13.600 | 7.413 | 9.375 | 0.899 | 0.942 | I | 12.391 | 5.690 | 13^{a} | I | 0.87 | =0.536 | 0.04 [-0.12, 0.20] | <0.001 |
| 0-20 4.746 4.580 3.175 4.448 7.099 0.858 0.900 0-20 1.88 ^b 2.95 1 - 0.82 . 0-21 7.388 5.154 6.972 5.930 7.982 0.866 0.894 0-21 4.73 ^b 4.20 4 - 0.90 . Total 0-54 19.287 13.781 15.417 13.343 20.350 0.966 0.958 0-61 9.42 ^b 9.66 7 - 0.93 . | Depression | 021 | 7.153 | 5.610 | 5.846 | 5.930 | 9.117 | 0.916 | 0.940 | 0-21 | 2.83 ^b | 3.87 | - | I | 0.88 | < 0.001 | 0.77 [0.62, 0.92] | <0.001 |
| 0-21 7.388 5.154 6.972 5.330 7.982 0.866 0.894 0-21 4.73 ^b 4.20 4 - 0.90 . <i>Total</i> 0-54 19.287 13.781 15.417 13.343 20.350 0.966 0.958 0-61 9.42 ^b 9.66 7 - 0.93 . | Anxiety | 0-20 | 4.746 | 4.580 | 3.175 | 4.448 | 7.099 | 0.858 | 0.900 | 0-20 | 1.88 ^b | 2.95 | - | I | 0.82 | < 0.001 | 0.63 [0.48, 0.77] | <0.001 |
| 0–54 19.287 13.781 15.417 13.343 20.350 0.966 0.958 0–61 9.42 ^b 9.66 7 – 0.93 | Stress | 0-21 | 7.388 | 5.154 | 6.972 | 5.930 | 7.982 | 0.866 | 0.894 | 0-21 | 4.73 ^b | 4.20 | 4 | I | 0.90 | < 0.001 | 0.52 [0.37, 0.66] | =0.008 |
| | DASS Total | 0-54 | 19.287 | 13.781 | 15.417 | 13.343 | 20.350 | 0.966 | 0.958 | 0-61 | 9.42 ^b | 9.66 | 7 | I | 0.93 | < 0.001 | 0.80 [0.74, 0.85] | =0.011 |
| 38-83 62.930 10.063 64.172 10.590 12.616 0.535 0.691 – 52° 15.318 – - 0.81–0.83 . | GERT-S Tot | 38-83 | 62.930 | 10.063 | 64.172 | 10.590 | 12.616 | 0.535 | 0.691 | I | 52° | 15.318 | I | I | 0.81-0.83 | < 0.001 | 1.09 [0.91, 1.27] | =0.005 |
| GERT-S Neg 29-90 60.059 13.748 61.499 14.120 19.294 0.503 0.628 | GERT-S Neg | 29-90 | 60.059 | 13.748 | 61.499 | 14.120 | 19.294 | 0.503 | 0.628 | I | I | I | I | I | I | I | I | =0.002 |
| GERT-S Pos 39-100 68.979 13.079 71.871 16.473 17.108 0.400 0.562 | GERT-S Pos | 39-100 | 68.979 | 13.079 | 71.871 | 16.473 | 17.108 | 0.400 | 0.562 | I | I | I | I | I | I | I | I | =0.001 |

TABLE 2 | Multiple linear regressions predicting positive and negative emotion recognition accuracy from positive (Unex), negative (Intan), and disorganised (Cogdis) schizotypy.

| | Pos Accuracy | | | | | | | | 95% C | onf Int |
|-----------|--------------|-------|--------|---------|------------------|--|-------|--------|--------|---------|
| Predictor | В | SE | t | p | BF ₁₀ | R ² _{partial} | VIF | β | LC | НС |
| Intercept | 69.480 | 2.337 | 29.727 | < 0.001 | | | | | | |
| Pos Scz | -0.106 | 0.187 | -0.565 | =0.572 | 0.191 | 1.156 | 1.326 | -0.045 | -0.202 | 0.112 |
| Neg Scz | -0.290 | 0.170 | -1.706 | =0.090 | 0.477 | 1.399 | 1.105 | -0.124 | -0.268 | 0.019 |
| Dis Scz | 0.213 | 0.175 | 1.217 | =0.225 | 0.256 | 0.718 | 1.447 | 0.101 | -0.063 | 0.266 |
| | Neg Accuracy | | | | | | | | 95% C | onf Int |
| Predictor | В | SE | t | р | BF ₁₀ | R ² _{partial} | VIF | β | LC | HC |
| Intercept | 59.202 | 2.400 | 24.666 | < 0.001 | | | | | | |
| Pos Scz | -0.323 | 0.192 | -1.683 | =0.094 | 0.671 | 1.362 | 1.326 | -0.131 | -0.285 | 0.023 |
| Neg Scz | -0.473 | 0.175 | -2.706 | =0.007 | 3.238 | 3.449 | 1.105 | -0.192 | -0.333 | -0.052 |
| Dis Scz | 0.567 | 0.180 | 3.152 | =0.002 | 4.387 | 4.622 | 1.447 | 0.256 | 0.096 | 0.417 |

Positive: $F_{(3, 205)} = 1.152$, p = 0.329, $R^2 = 1.7\%$, $R^2_{adjusted} = 0.2\%$. **Negative:** $F_{(3, 205)} = 4.469$, p = 0.005, $R^2 = 6.1\%$, $R^2_{adjusted} = 4.8\%$. VIF, Variance Inflation Factor. Bayesian priors are full Cauchy (location = 0, scale = 0.354).





effect of negative schizotypy for negative items may have come from anger and fear (both p < 0.074), although these analyses were both trend and did not survive FDR correct (both p < 0.395). The effect of disorganised schizotypy for negative items likely came from disgust ($r_s = 0.254$, p < 0.001, $p_{FDR} = 0.007$). To assess the latter, the multiple regression analysis was repeated with the exclusion of disgust. Disorganised schizotypy remained a significant albeit weaker predictor ($\beta = 0.196$ [0.034, 0.357], p = 0.018). A conflicting negative correlation between disorganised schizotypy and relief accuracy was also found ($r_s = -0.139$, p = 0.045), but this did not survive FDR correction (p = 0.277). This association may be an indirect result of the association between disorganised schizotypy and DASS-21 total score ($r_s = 0.681$, $p_{FDR} = 0.007$), as the DASS-21 was also correlated with relief accuracy in the same direction ($r_s = -0.186$, $p_{FDR} = 0.050$). In keeping with the regression results, positive schizotypy was not correlated with any emotion. Correlations between psychometric scales and reaction time are provided in **Supplementary Table 2**.

Response Confidence

Regression analyses were repeated with GERT-S decision confidence as the outcome. Originally, four multiple regressions were conducted dividing responses between both valence

TABLE 3 | Spearman correlations between the accuracy of each emotion and schizotypy.

| | | | | Schiz | otypy | | Negative Affec |
|----------|---------|----------------------|----------|--------------------|---------------------|----------|----------------|
| Valance | Arousal | Scale | Total | Pos | Neg | Dis | DASS Total |
| | | Pos | 0.718*** | _ | | | |
| | | Neg | 0.608*** | 0.122 [†] | - | | |
| | | Dis | 0.834*** | 0.490*** | 0.300*** | - | |
| | | DASS Total | 0.634*** | 0.404*** | 0.309*** | 0.681*** | _ |
| Positive | High | Interest | -0.100 | -0.106 | -0.091 | -0.071 | -0.065 |
| | | Pleasure | 0.074 | 0.046 | 0.065 | 0.049 | 0.012 |
| | | Relief | -0.113 | -0.047 | -0.038 | -0.139* | -0.186** |
| | Low | Amusement | 0.034 | 0.035 | -0.079 | 0.097 | 0.069 |
| | | Joy | -0.040 | -0.011 | -0.105 | 0.036 | 0.059 |
| | | Pride | 0.035 | -0.016 | 0.002 | 0.061 | -0.036 |
| Negative | High | Anger | -0.018 | 0.058 | -0.124 [†] | 0.050 | 0.054 |
| | | Fear | -0.024 | -0.009 | -0.131† | 0.069 | 0.067 |
| | | Despair | 0.009 | 0.000 | -0.024 | 0.020 | 0.047 |
| | Low | Anxiety | 0.021 | 0.024 | 0.027 | 0.025 | -0.038 |
| | | Irritation | 0.003 | -0.076 | 0.001 | 0.083 | 0.011 |
| | | Sadness | -0.083 | -0.001 | -0.109 | -0.050 | -0.016 |
| | NR | Disgust ^a | 0.167* | 0.072 | -0.012 | 0.254*** | 0.068 |
| | NR | Surprise | -0.030 | 0.023 | -0.037 | -0.054 | -0.013 |

^a Schlegel and Scherer (53) did not suggest arousal of disgust, ${}^{\dagger}p < 0.05$, ${}^{**}p < 0.01$, ${}^{***}p < 0.001$. Unex, Unusual Experiences; Intan, Introvertive Anhedonia; Cogdis, Cognitive Disorganisation; DASS Total, Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scale total score. Significant correlations between Intan and both anger (p = 0.395) and fear (p = 0.337) recognition and Cogdis and Relief accuracy (p = 0.277) do not survive correction for multiple comparison (False Discovery Rate, FDR). However, the associations between Cogdis and disgust (p = 0.007) and DASS total score and Relief accuracy (p = 0.500) do survive correction.

(positive vs. negative) and veracity (correct vs. incorrect decisions). However, as the relationship between schizotypy and confidence rating were unaffected by these variables and splitting the analyses violated several model assumptions, only overall confidence is presented. A multiple regression analysis (Table 4) reported that positive schizotypy marginally predicted greater confidence, but the BF10 suggested more data were needed ($\beta = 0.166$ [0.012, 0.320], p = 0.035, BF₁₀ = 1.358) and the association became trend under FDR correction (p = 0.053). In contrast, disorganised schizotypy predicted reduced confidence ($\beta = -0.220$ [-0.381, -0.059], p = 0.008, $p_{\text{FDR}} = 0.024$, BF₁₀ = 3.892). More data were needed to conclude about negative schizotypy which returned non-significant (p_{FDR} =0.453, $BF_{10} = 0.497$). Total DASS-21 was not found to predict confidence judgements, but the BF₁₀ suggested more data were needed ($\beta = -0.107 [-0.244, 0.029]$, p = 0.122, BF₁₀ = 0.465).

DISCUSSION

This study assessed Emotion Recognition (ER) in psychometrically-defined schizotypy (measured using the O-LIFE). The first hypothesis that negative schizotypy would predict poorer ER performance was supported. The second hypothesis that negative affect (measured using the DASS-21 total score) would mediate deficits in schizotypy was not supported. Unexpectedly, we found that disorganised schizotypy predicted improved performance and whether positive schizotypy was related to performance was inconclusive. The effects of negative schizotypy and disorganised schizotypy were statistically significant for negative but not positive emotions. The standardised effect sizes of negative and disorganised schizotypy here ($\beta = -0.192$ to 0.256) were much larger than one previous study using a similar approach (N = 2,332, $\beta = -0.04$ to -0.10) (29). Positive schizotypy marginally predicted higher confidence in decisions, while disorganised schizotypy predicted reduced confidence in decisions.

The finding that schizotypy was associated with performance on negative emotions is consistent with reviews using a variety of emotion recognition instruments in patients with schizophrenia (12). This replication may suggest ER is a valid construct to investigate the dimensional aspects of schizophrenia in the absence of clinical confounds. As the schizotypy literature is equivocal, these findings confirm some but not all studies (28, 31, 33, 34, 36, 38, 41, 42). One reason why only negative emotions may have shown differential effects is that they may activate unpleasant internal states in participants; producing excessive anxiety that can be detrimental to performance. Although negative affect was unrelated to performance, the DASS-21 is not suitable to determine this as it assesses trait rather than state disturbances. To test this hypothesis, state anxiety questionnaires or physiological measures (e.g., Galvanic Skin Response) could be applied. Alternatively, perhaps the GERT-S itself is not sensitive to detect deficits, as the use of multi-modal stimuli (prosody, body language, facial expression) may provide adequate information for processing. This may be consistent with only the more difficult negative emotions being predicted by

| | Confidence | | | | | | | | 95% C | onf Int |
|-----------|------------|-------|--------|---------|------------------|-----------------------------------|-------|--------|--------|---------|
| predictor | β | SE | t | p | BF ₁₀ | R ² _{partial} | VIF | β | LC | нс |
| Intercept | 5.190 | 0.147 | 35.385 | < 0.001 | | | | | | |
| Pos Scz | 0.025 | 0.012 | 2.122 | =0.035 | 1.358 | 2.150 | 1.326 | 0.166 | 0.012 | 0.320 |
| Neg Scz | -0.011 | 0.011 | -1.061 | =0.290 | 0.497 | 0.546 | 1.105 | -0.076 | -0.217 | 0.065 |
| Dis Scz | -0.030 | 0.011 | -2.695 | =0.008 | 3.892 | 3.421 | 1.446 | -0.220 | -0.381 | -0.059 |

TABLE 4 | Multiple linear regressions predicting response confidence to either correct or incorrect decisions from positive (Unex), negative (Intan), and disorganised (Cogdis) schizotypy dimensions.

 $F_{(3, 205)} = 3.910, p = 0.010, R^2 = 5.4\%, R_{adlusted}^2 = 4.00\%. VIF, Variance Inflation Factor. Bayesian priors are full Cauchy (location = 0, scale = 0.354).$

schizotypy and not the less difficult positive emotions. The lack of significant association between positive emotion recognition and schizotypy is also consistent with some (31, 38, 41) but not all past investigations (28, 32, 34, 42). As there are currently no investigations in schizotypy or schizophrenia that compares performance to controls on the GERT-S, it cannot be ruled out that our findings are due to the ER instrument used. However, one study has assessed patients using the GERT-S (with no control group) and reported an average score of 53.5% (68). The average score in this control sample was 62.9% which may suggest the GERT-S is sensitive to detect ER deficits in psychosis patients. However, non-clinical participants in the original validation of the GERT-S (averaged across both studies) scored 52%, thus indirect comparisons in this case may not insightful. Consequently, future research should aim to replicate these ER deficits in clinical patients relative to a control group. Due to the employment of the GERT-S, however, a lack of diverse positive stimuli is an unlikely explanation for our findings, which is a commonly cited limitation of previous emotion recognition research (12).

The explanations above are likely only applicable to negative schizotypy, which predicted poorer ER performance consistent with previous research in patients (11) and adds to equivocal research in schizotypy (28-32). One clinical study reported 20% of the variance in ER performance was explained by negative symptoms (69). The effect of negative schizotypy in our nonclinical sample was lower (3.5%) which was expected given the dimensional view of psychosis as a spectrum (i.e., less severe deficits should occur with less severe schizophrenialike experiences). The correlational analysis suggested the deficits in ER were potentially due to poorer fear and anger recognition (but these correlations did not survive correction for multiple comparisons). These potential associations are, however, consistent with previous findings in patients (12). Previous research has found items on social anxiety may primarily drive the effect in negative schizotypy (30). It has been suggested that poor ER may increase social anxiety through reduced confidence in social cognitive abilities (29), perhaps leading to increased social withdrawal and negative traits (35). However, in this study, negative schizotypy did not predict confidence in decisions which conflicts with this suggestion.

Another explanation could be that this relationship is mediated through increased alexithymia, which is increased in

clinical samples (70) and correlates with all three schizotypy trait dimensions (71, 72). This initially contradicts the current explanation being specific to negative schizotypy. However, without controlling for scale inter-correlation, it is unclear whether these associations are general or scale specific. If this suggestion were accurate, the experiential rather than expressive negative traits would correlate with self-reported alexithymia. To the best of our knowledge, no study has controlled for alexithymia in this context. One study has assessed alexithymia, but because performance was unaffected by schizotypy, further investigation was unnecessary (39).

The replication of ER deficits in negative schizotypy may suggest the association between negative symptoms and poorer ER in clinical samples may not an artefact of patient status. Moreover, as these deficits were found to be independent of negative affect this may also suggest that mood disorder co-morbidity may not completely explain ER deficits in schizophrenia patients. However, it should be stated that the internal consistency for both positive and negative emotion was low (**Table 1**), which should caution interpretation.

This study is the first to report a positive association between disorganised schizotypy and ER. This conflicts with previous research in schizotypy commonly reporting no associations (28-31, 33, 35, 36) and patient samples finding negative associations (11). The improved performance in this study was driven primarily through disgust recognition, which contradicts impaired disgust recognition in patient samples (12) and schizotypy samples (29, 33). Both increased deliberation time and improved motivation are unlikely explanations for this improved performance as all schizotypy dimensions generally correlated with increased reaction time (Supplementary Table 2) and disorganised schizotypy correlated with reduced post-task motivation. Studies have reported that schizotypy can exaggerate the perceived emotion expressed in ER tasks (73), which may lead to improved ER performance. However, performance benefits are commonly found in the paranoid subtype of patients (74) and paranoia-related (positive) schizotypy (73), rather than disorganised schizotypy. Alternatively, perhaps participants that can more accurately identify negative emotions have a negatively biassed perception of social interactions. This psychological stress may in turn lead to reports of disorganised thinking. Finally, as this is the only study in schizotypy to use the O-LIFE (rather than the SPQ) or the GERT-S, these results may be specific to the conceptualisations of these measures.

Previously, it has been suggested that positive schizotypy traits such as paranoia may bias participants to expect negative facial emotions and response, or that poorer ER may make individual highly suspicious (32). This is consistent with ER deficits correlating with positive symptoms in patient samples (11) but contrasts with the majority of non-clinical samples (28, 30, 31, 35, 36, 38-40). However, the Bayesian analyses in the current study suggested more evidence was needed to support a lack of relationship. The disparity between clinical and non-clinical studies may be explained by very high levels of positive schizotypy traits being necessary to produce deficits. Indeed, negative schizotypy has been reported to only correlate with FER performance in those classified as being high in schizotypy (31). In this study the normative comparisons found that the levels of positive schizotypy were significantly lower in the current sample, but negative schizotypy and disorganised schizotypy were not, which both predicted performance.

Positive schizotypy predicted increased confidence in decisions while disorganised schizotypy predicted decreased confidence. Clinical studies using both social and non-social stimuli have suggested patients are underconfident in correct responses and overconfident in errors (75); which may underlie impaired functioning and delusion formation, respectively. However, confidence here was unaffected by both valance and veracity, suggesting a divergence with past research in patient samples (75). The discrepancy between patient and schizotypy samples may highlight a potential cognitive mechanism subject to deterioration at illness onset. As a clinical diagnosis is often the result of positive symptoms and is associated with a decline in social cognition, this overconfidence would likely be applied to now impaired performance. This overconfidence in positive schizotypy may be highly relevant to delusion formation. However, it is important to state that the BF10 suggested only anecdotal evidence of this association which should caution interpretations. The under-confidence associated with disorganised schizotypy may potentially explain the beneficial effects of this trait in the current study. Although deliberation time and motivation were unlikely explanations, under-confidence may produce more effortful deliberation. This would suggest disorganised schizotypy may relate to a more general cognitive thinking style that is independent of judgement veracity. When combined with the results on accuracy, this suggests (a) positive schizotypy predicts ER overconfidence but intact accuracy, (b) disorganised schizotypy predicts ER underconfidence but improved accuracy, and (c) negative schizotypy predicts poorer ER accuracy with unaffected confidence judgments. If the beneficial effect of disorganised schizotypy can be replicated, improving decision confidence for those high in disorganised schizotypy may improve the transferal of skills to real-world functioning, which may also be relevant to patient samples. This finding of alternated metacognitive processing in schizotypy merits further investigation, potentially with the addition of psychometric metacognitive scales.

Several limitations of this study should be highlighted. Firstly, while the advantage of using a schizotypy sample is the removal of clinical confounds, caution must be applied when applying conclusions directly to clinical samples. Secondly, the cross-sectional nature of this study means that the results are associative and causality cannot be determined. Thirdly, we used single assessments of ER, schizotypy and negative affect which may limit this pattern of results to the specific instruments used.

CONCLUSIONS

This study demonstrated Emotion Recognition deficits were associated with negative schizotypy, suggesting an association between negative clinical symptoms and emotion recognition deficits may be independent of confounds of patient status (i.e., anti-psychotic medication). Inconclusive evidence was found for an association with positive schizotypy (BF₁₀ = 0.671), which may be explained by the low levels of positive schizotypy traits in the current investigation. Unexpectedly, disorganised schizotypy predicted improved recognition which may be due to underconfidence in decisions increasing effortful deliberation. Negative affect was found to not mediate reduced Emotion Recognition performance; potentially suggesting that impairments in clinical patients may be independent of co-morbid mood disorders. This has implications for therapeutic interventions and merits further investigation in a clinical sample.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of Nottingham Ethics Committee (S1214). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CDaw designed the study, conducted the literature review and statistical analyses, and wrote the first draft. PM designed the study and reviewed both the first draft and final manuscript. MH and CDan reviewed early conceptualisations of the project and contributed to academic discussion and reviewed several draughts of the manuscript. All authors have reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

CDaw was funded by a University of Nottingham Economic and Social Research Council Doctoral Training Centre grant [ES/J500100/1] as part of their Ph.D. All other authors report their contributions were supported by no specific grant from any funding agency, commercial or not-for-profit sectors.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the original authors of the GERT-S (Katja Schlegel and Klaud Scherer) for providing us with the GERT-S for this study, all participants who took part, and the ESRC for

REFERENCES

- Simeone JC, Ward AJ, Rotella P, Collins J, Windisch R. An evaluation of variation in published estimates of schizophrenia prevalence from 1990–2013: a systematic literature review. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2015) 15:193. doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0578-7
- American Psychiatric Association. DSM-5 diagnostic classification. In: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: 5th Edn. Washington, DC (2013).
- Blanchard JJ, Cohen AS. The structure of negative symptoms within schizophrenia: implications for assessment. *Schizophr Bull.* (2006) 32:238– 45. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbj013
- Green MF, Kern RS, Heaton RK. Longitudinal studies of cognition and functional outcome in schizophrenia: implications for MATRICS. *Schizophr Res.* (2004) 72:41–51. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2004.09.009
- Green MF, Kern RS, Braff DL, Mintz J. Neurocognitive deficits and functional outcome in schizophrenia: Are we measuring the "right stuff"? *Schizophr Bull.* (2000) 26:119–36.
- McGurk SR, Meltzer HY. The role of cognition in vocational functioning in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. (2000) 45:175– 84. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(99)00198-X
- Macdonald EM, Hayes RL, Baglioni AJ Jr. The quantity and quality of the social networks of young people with early psychosis compared with closely matched controls. *Schizophr Res.* (2000) 46:25–30. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(00)00024-4
- Aksaray G, Oflu S, Kaptanoglu C, Bal C. Neurocognitive deficits and quality of life in outpatients with schizophrenia. *Prog Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2002) 26:1217–9. doi: 10.1016/S0278-5846(02)00217-8
- Rabin SJ, Avidan M, Rozencwaig S, Shalev H. Metacognition in schizophrenia and schizotypy: relation to symptoms of schizophrenia, traits of schizotypy and social quality of life. *Israel J Psychiatry*. (2014) 51:44–53.
- de Pinho LM, Pereira AM, Chaves CM, Batista P. Quality of Life Scale and symptomatology of schizophrenic patients-a systematic review. *Eur J Psychiatry*. (2018) 32:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpsy.2017.08.002
- Ventura J, Wood RC, Hellemann GS. Symptom domains and neurocognitive functioning can help differentiate social cognitive processes in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:102–11. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr067
- Healey KM, Bartholomeusz CF, Penn DL. Deficits in social cognition in first episode psychosis: a review of the literature. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2016) 50:108–37. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2016.10.001
- Pinkham AE. Social cognition in schizophrenia. J Clin Psychiatry. (2014) 75(Suppl. 2):14–19. doi: 10.4088/JCP.13065su1.04
- Van Donkersgoed RJ, Wunderink L, Nieboer R, Aleman A, Pijnenborg GH. Social cognition in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis: a meta-analysis. *PloS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0141075. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0141075
- Savla GN, Vella L, Armstrong CC, Penn DL, Twamley EW. Deficits in domains of social cognition in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of the empirical evidence. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:979–92. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs080
- Bora E, Pantelis C. Meta-analysis of cognitive impairment in first-episode bipolar disorder: comparison with first-episode schizophrenia and healthy controls. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) 41:1095–104. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu198
- Bora E, Pantelis C. Social cognition in schizophrenia in comparison to bipolar disorder: a meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 175:72– 78. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.04.018
- 18. Fernandes JM, Cajão R, Lopes R, Jerónimo R, Barahona-Corrêa JB. Social cognition in schizophrenia and autism spectrum disorders: a systematic

financially supporting CDaw's research. We also thank the three reviewers for their helpful comments.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.738344/full#supplementary-material

review and meta-analysis of direct comparisons. *Front Psychiatry.* (2018) 9:504. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00504

- Buck BE, Pinkham AE, Harvey PD, Penn DL. Revisiting the validity of measures of social cognitive bias in schizophrenia: additional results from the Social Cognition Psychometric Evaluation (SCOPE) study. Br J Clin Psychol. (2016) 55:441–54. doi: 10.1111/bjc.12113
- Green MF, Olivier B, Crawley JN, Penn DL, Silverstein S. Social cognition in schizophrenia: recommendations from the measurement and treatment research to improve cognition in schizophrenia new approaches conference. *Schizophr Bull.* (2005) 1:882–7. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbi049
- Horan WP, Green MF. Treatment of social cognition in schizophrenia: current status and future directions. *Schizophr Res.* (2019) 203:3–11. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.07.013
- Halverson TF, Orleans-Pobee M, Merritt C, Sheeran P, Fett AK, Penn DL. Pathways to functional outcomes in schizophrenia spectrum disorders: metaanalysis of social cognitive and neurocognitive predictors. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2019) 105:212–19. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.07.020
- 23. Nielsen RE, Levander S, Kjaersdam Telleus G, Jensen SO, Östergaard Christensen T, Leucht S. Second-generation antipsychotic effect on cognition in patients with schizophrenia—a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2015) 131:185–96. doi: 10.1111/acps.12374
- Debbané M, Eliez S, Badoud D, Conus P, Flückiger R, Schultze-Lutter F. Developing psychosis and its risk states through the lens of schizotypy. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) 41:S396–407. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu176
- Mason OJ. The assessment of schizotypy and its clinical relevance. Schizophr Bull. (2015) 41:S374–85. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu194
- Raine A. The SPQ: a scale for the assessment of schizotypal personality based on DSM-III-R criteria. *Schizophr Bull.* (1991) 17:555–64. doi: 10.1093/schbul/17.4.555
- Mason O, Claridge G, Jackson M. New scales for the assessment of schizotypy. Pers Individ Diff. (1995) 18:7–13. doi: 10.1016/0191-8869(94)00132-C
- Williams BT, Henry JD, Green MJ. Facial affect recognition and schizotypy. *Early Interv Psychiatry*. (2007) 1:177– 82. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2007.00023.x
- Germine LT, Hooker CI. Face emotion recognition is related to individual differences in psychosis-proneness. *Psychol Med.* (2011) 41:937–47. doi: 10.1017/S0033291710001571
- Abbott GR, Green MJ. Facial affect recognition and schizotypal personality characteristics. *Early Interv Psychiatry.* (2013) 7:58–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2012.00346.x
- Morrison SC, Brown LA, Cohen AS. A multidimensional assessment of social cognition in psychometrically defined schizotypy. *Psychiatry Res.* (2013) 210:1014–19. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2013.08.020
- Abbott G, Byrne LK. Schizotypal traits are associated with poorer identification of emotions from dynamic stimuli. *Psychiatry Res.* (2013) 207:40–4. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2013.03.005
- Statucka M, Walder DJ. Facial affect recognition and social functioning among individuals with varying degrees of schizotypy. *Psychiatry Res.* (2017) 256:180–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.06.040
- Wang Y, Li Z, Liu WH, Wei XH, Jiang XQ, Lui SS, et al. Negative schizotypy and altered functional connectivity during facial emotion processing. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 44:S491–500. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby036
- Shean G, Bell E, Cameron CD. Recognition of nonverbal affect and schizotypy. J Psychol. (2007) 141:281–92. doi: 10.3200/JRLP.141.3.281-292
- 36. Brown LA, Cohen AS. Facial emotion recognition in schizotypy: the role of accuracy and social cognitive bias. J Int

Neuropsychol Soc. (2010) 16:474–83. doi: 10.1017/S13556177100 0007X

- Germine LT, Garrido L, Bruce L, Hooker C. Social anhedonia is associated with neural abnormalities during face emotion processing. *Neuroimage*. (2011) 58:935–45. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.06.059
- Toomey R, Schuldberg D. Recognition and judgment of facial stimuli in schizotypal subjects. J Commun Disord. (1995) 28:193–203. doi: 10.1016/0021-9924(94)00008-N
- van't Wout M, Aleman A, Kessels RP, Larøi F, Kahn RS. Emotional processing in a non-clinical psychosis-prone sample. *Schizophr Res.* (2004) 68:271– 81. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2003.09.006
- Green MJ, Williams LM, Davidson DJ. Processing of threat-related affect is delayed in delusion-prone individuals. *Br J Clin Psychol.* (2001) 40:157– 65. doi: 10.1348/014466501163607
- Jahshan CS, Sergi MJ. Theory of mind, neurocognition, and functional status in schizotypy. *Schizophr Res.* (2007) 89:278– 86. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2006.09.004
- Poreh AM, Whitman RD, Weber M, Ross T. Facial recognition in hypothetically schizotypic college students: the role of generalized poor performance. J Nerv Ment Dis. (1994) 182:503– 7. doi: 10.1097/00005053-199409000-00005
- Wilson RS, Yung AR, Morrison AP. Comorbidity rates of depression and anxiety in first episode psychosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res.* (2020) 216:322–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2019.11.035
- Dalili MN, Penton-Voak IS, Harmer CJ, Munafò MR. Meta-analysis of emotion recognition deficits in major depressive disorder. *Psychol Med.* (2015) 45:1135–44. doi: 10.1017/S0033291714002591
- Li LY, Fung CK, Moore MM, Martin EA. Differential emotional abnormalities among schizotypy clusters. *Schizophr Res.* (2019) 208:285–92. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2019.01.042
- McCleery A, Divilbiss M, St-Hilaire A, Aakre JM, Seghers JP, Bell EK, et al. Predicting social functioning in schizotypy: an investigation of the relative contributions of theory of mind and mood. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* (2012) 200:147– 52. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0b013e3182439533
- Kemp KC, Gross GM, Barrantes-Vidal N, Kwapil TR. Association of positive, negative, and disorganized schizotypy dimensions with affective symptoms and experiences. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 270:1143–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.10.031
- Ekman P, Friesen WV. Constants across cultures in the face and emotion. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1971) 17:124–9. doi: 10.1037/h0030377
- Faul F, Erdfelder E, Lang AG, Buchner A. G* Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behav Res Methods*. (2007) 39:175–91. doi: 10.3758/BF03193146
- Mason O, Claridge G. The Oxford-Liverpool Inventory of Feelings and Experiences (O-LIFE): further description and extended norms. *Schizophr Res.* (2006) 82:203–11. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2005.12.845
- Henry JD, Crawford JR. The short-form version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS-21): construct validity and normative data in a large non-clinical sample. *Br J Clin Psychol.* (2005) 44:227– 39. doi: 10.1348/014466505X29657
- Moritz S, Klein JP, Desler T, Lill H, Gallinat J, Schneider BC. Neurocognitive deficits in schizophrenia. Are we making mountains out of molehills? *Psychol Med.* (2017) 47:2602–12. doi: 10.1017/S0033291717000939
- Schlegel K, Scherer KR. Introducing a short version of the Geneva Emotion Recognition Test (GERT-S): psychometric properties and construct validation. *Behav Res Methods*. (2016) 48:1383–92. doi: 10.3758/s13428-015-0646-4
- Schlegel K, Grandjean D, Scherer KR. Introducing the Geneva emotion recognition test: an example of Rasch-based test development. *Psychol Assess.* (2014) 26:666–72. doi: 10.1037/a0035246
- Stekhoven DJ, Bühlmann P. MissForest—non-parametric missing value imputation for mixed-type data. *Bioinformatics*. (2012) 28:112–28. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btr597
- Dienes Z. Bayesian versus orthodox statistics: which side are you on?. Perspect Psychol Sci. (2011) 6:274–90. doi: 10.1177/1745691611406920
- 57. Jeffreys H. Theory of probability, 3rd ed. London: Oxford University Press (1961). P. 432.

- RStudio Team. RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R. RStudio, PBC. Boston, MA (2021). Available online at: http://www.rstudio.com/
- Love J, Damian D, Selker R, Marcello G, Jentschke S, Balci S. *The Jamovi* Project. [Computer Software] (2020). Sydney, NSW: Jamovi. Available online at: https://www.jamovi.org/
- JASP Team. JASP. [Computer software] (2020). Amsterdam: JASP. Available online at: https://jasp-stats.org/
- Clyde MA, Ghosh J, Littman ML. Bayesian adaptive sampling for variable selection and model averaging. J Comput Graph Stat. (2011) 20:80– 101. doi: 10.1198/jcgs.2010.09049
- 62. Fox J, Weisberg S. car: Companion to Applied Regression. [R Package] (2020).
- Wickham H. ggplot2. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Comput Stat. (2011) 3:180– 5. doi: 10.1002/wics.147
- 64. Plotly Technologies Inc. *Collaborative Data Science*. Montreal, QC: Plotly Technologies Inc. (2015). Retrieved from: https://plot.ly
- Dunn TJ, Baguley T, Brunsden V. From alpha to omega: a practical solution to the pervasive problem of internal consistency estimation. *Br J Psychol.* (2014) 105:399–412. doi: 10.1111/bjop.12046
- Green SB, Yang Y. Reliability of summed item scores using structural equation modeling: an alternative to coefficient alpha. *Psychometrika*. (2009) 74:155– 67. doi: 10.1007/s11336-008-9099-3
- Trizano-Hermosilla I, Alvarado JM. Best alternatives to Cronbach's alpha reliability in realistic conditions: congeneric and asymmetrical measurements. *Front Psychol.* (2016) 7:769. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00769
- Cassetta BD, Tomfohr-Madsen LM, Goghari VM. A randomized controlled trial of working memory and processing speed training in schizophrenia. *Psychol Med.* (2019) 49:2009–19. doi: 10.1017/S0033291718002775
- Piskulic D, Addington J. Social cognition and negative symptoms in psychosis. Psychiatry Res. (2011) 188:283–5. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2011.04.028
- O'Driscoll C, Laing J, Mason O. Cognitive emotion regulation strategies, alexithymia and dissociation in schizophrenia, a review and meta-analysis. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2014) 34:482–95. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2014.07.002
- Yang HX, Shi HS, Ni K, Wang Y, Cheung EF, Chan RC. Exploring the links between alexithymia, empathy and schizotypy in college students using network analysis. *Cogn Neuropsychiatry.* (2020) 25:245–253. doi: 10.1080/13546805.2020.1749039
- Ma Q, Zhang X, Zou L. The mediating effect of alexithymia on the relationship between schizotypal traits and sleep problems among college students. *Front Psychiatry*. (2020) 11:153. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00153
- Uono S, Sato W, Toichi M. Exaggerated perception of facial expressions is increased in individuals with schizotypal traits. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:1– 8. doi: 10.1038/srep11795
- Davis PJ, Gibson MG. Recognition of posed and genuine facial expressions of emotion in paranoid and nonparanoid schizophrenia. J Abnorm Psychol. (2000) 109:445–50. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.109.3.445
- Eisenacher S, Zink M. The importance of metamemory functioning to the pathogenesis of psychosis. *Front Psychol.* (2017) 8:304. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00304

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Dawes, Danielmeier, Haselgrove and Moran. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





How Social Experiences Affect Interpretation Bias Among Individuals With Non-clinical Depression: The Role of Ostracism

Avigail Bar-Sella^{1,2*}, Thalia Richter^{1,2}, Sigal Zilcha-Mano¹ and Hadas Okon-Singer^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Psychology, School of Psychological Sciences, University of Haifa, Haifa, Israel, ² The Integrated Brain and Behavior Research Center (IBBR), University of Haifa, Haifa, Israel

Background: Extensive knowledge and research indicate that interpretation bias is very common among individuals with sub-clinical and clinical levels of depression. Nevertheless, little is known about the role of social experiences in enhancing interpretation bias. Given the major relevance of social experiences in the context of depression, the present study investigated the role of potential interactions between social experiences and levels of depression symptoms in the interpretation of ambiguous information.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sören Krach, University of Lübeck, Germany

Reviewed by:

Matthias A. Reinhard, LMU Munich University Hospital, Germany Shuyue Zhang, Guangxi Normal University, China

*Correspondence:

Avigail Bar-Sella avigail.barsella@gmail.com Hadas Okon-Singer hadasos@psy.haifa.ac.il

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Social Cognition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 20 November 2021 Accepted: 03 January 2022 Published: 07 February 2022

Citation:

Bar-Sella A, Richter T, Zilcha-Mano S and Okon-Singer H (2022) How Social Experiences Affect Interpretation Bias Among Individuals With Non-clinical Depression: The Role of Ostracism. Front. Psychiatry 13:819143. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.819143 **Method:** Seventy participants underwent a laboratory controlled manipulation either of social ostracism or of overinclusion. Participants completed a computerized task that measured both direct and indirect interpretation bias and reported their level of depression symptoms.

Results: The findings show that ostracism enhanced interpretation bias when symptom levels were higher, while overinclusion did not. This interaction effect between social ostracism and symptom level was found both for direct and for indirect interpretation bias.

Conclusion: Whereas previous research showed the existence of interpretation bias among people with symptoms of depression, the present study expands previous knowledge by shedding light on the conditions under which interpretation bias emerges, suggesting that ostracism enhances negative interpretation of ambiguous information when levels of depression symptoms are higher.

Keywords: interpretation bias, ostracism, depression, Cyberball task, social cognition, cognitive bias

INTRODUCTION

Our perceptions of reality can be highly subjective and can change as our experiences change. When these experiences are negative, we may interpret information in a negative manner, regardless of its objective manifestation. Beck and Clark (1) defined this tendency as *interpretation bias*: the tendency to selectively interpret ambiguous information in a negative manner. Interpretation bias has been widely studied in sub-clinical and clinical populations and found to be highly related to mental disorders such as depression (2, 3). Accumulating evidence shows that individuals with symptoms of depression, even sub-clinical populations, tend to

systematically interpret ambiguous information in a negative manner (2, 4). This association has been replicated in a large number of studies and was found to have a medium effect size, as revealed in a recent meta-analysis (4). Yet, while the existence of interpretation bias among individuals with symptoms of depression is well-established, little is known about the conditions under which this maladaptive cognitive performance may be enhanced.

Theoretical knowledge suggests that external events such as social experiences may enhance interpretation bias among individuals with depression symptoms (5). According to these theories, individuals who exhibit symptoms of depression process information through latent negative cognitive schemas (5). Cognitive schemas, which are defined as internally stored representations of stimuli, ideas, or experiences (6), constitute the central structure in information processing, through which the individual unconsciously grants meaning to new information. When depressed individuals undergo adverse experiences, their negative cognitive schemas are activated and guide their interpretation of the situation, consequently reinforcing negatively biased forms of interpretations (i.e., "She doesn't wave back at me because she doesn't like me, I am so faulty, why should she like me"). One negative experience that may affect interpretation among individuals with depression symptoms is social ostracism (7). Social ostracism is considered aversive and stressful since it interferes with the individual's sense of belongingness, a major motivation defined as a universal human need (7, 8). Moreover, a recent meta-analysis revealed that ostracism can have an aversive and stressful impact on various psychological conditions (interpersonal, e.g., aggressive behavior, and intrapersonal, e.g., self-esteem). This impact has a large effect size (9).

Beyond the extensive effect of ostracism in the general population (9), studies suggest that ostracism may be especially aversive for individuals who exhibit symptoms of depression [e.g., (10)]. These individuals have been found to be highly sensitive to external cues of rejection (10) and to exhibit extensive concern about being rejected [e.g., (11)]. Corresponding with Beck's theory of cognitive schemas (5), a recent study suggests that sensitivity to ostracism may be partially explained by the interaction of external cues with schema-congruent information processing [i.e., a friend who doesn't wave back reinforces the person's internal belief about being faulty and unlovable; (12)]. This information is instrumental in demonstrating the sensitivity of individuals with symptoms of depression to ostracism. Yet whether the interaction between actual cases of ostracism and symptoms of depression plays a causal role in interpretation bias has yet to be examined.

Therefore, the main aim of the current study was to investigate the potential effect of ostracism on the interpretation of ambiguous information among individuals with depression symptoms. We hypothesized that ostracism, as opposed to other social experiences such as overinclusion, would lead to greater interpretation bias among individuals with high levels of depression symptoms. To examine the effect of social experience, we used a lab-controlled paradigm that manipulated ostracism and overinclusion (13). This paradigm enabled us to compare ostracism to another social experience in which the participant may feel conspicuous and self-aware *but not ignored or excluded* [i.e., overinclusion; (13)]. After undergoing the social manipulation, participants completed a computerized interpretation task that measured both direct (i.e., overt selection among two possible interpretations of an ambiguous sentence) and indirect [i.e., reaction time (RT)] selection of interpretation. Participants also reported their level of depression symptoms over the last week, thus enabling us to examine how the interaction between ostracism and depression symptoms affects interpretation bias.

METHOD

Participants

Seventy-one participants took part in the current study. One participant was removed from the analysis because of a lack of self-report measures due to technical problems. Power analysis using G*POWER software [version 3.1.9.7; (14)] confirmed that a sample size of 70 participants, alpha of 5% and medium effect size $(f^2 = 0.15)$, provided sufficient power (Power = 0.89) to conduct the study's analysis. Since ostracism has been found to affect men and women differently [e.g., (15)], only female participants took part in the study. Participants were students at the University of Haifa between the ages of 18 and 39 (M = 24.41, SD = 3.15). All were native speakers of Hebrew. Participants signed an informed consent form prior to participation and were debriefed at the end of the experiment. They received monetary compensation or course credit in exchange for their participation. They were randomly assigned by GraphPad software (16) to one of the two experimental social conditions: ostracism or overinclusion. The study was approved by the local ethics committee (approval no. 385/17).

Materials

Social Experience (Ostracism/Overinclusion)

Social experience was manipulated using the Cyberball game, a computerized ball tossing game (13). The manipulation was conducted in line with the work of Zadro et al. (17), such that participants were misled to believe they were playing simultaneously with two other participants sitting in different rooms. In both conditions, the game lasted for 30 ball tosses. In the ostracism condition, participants obtained the ball only three times at the beginning of the game, while in the overinclusion condition they obtained the ball 15 randomly distributed times, more than any other "participant" in the game. We checked the manipulation in line with Zadro et al. (17): Participants reported the percent of throws they obtained in the game and used a 5point scale to rate the level at which they believed they were included and/or ignored during the game.

Interpretation Bias

Interpretation bias was measured by the interpretation task used by Richter et al. (18); for a graphical description of a typical trial in the task, see **Figure 1**. The task is a modification of the Word Sentence Association Paradigm [WSAP; (19, 20)], and was previously validated in Hebrew in subclinical (18) and



clinical (21) samples of depression [for a detailed description of task validation please see (18)]. In this task, participants were shown 40 ambiguous sentences that appeared on the screen one at a time. Participants were instructed to try to imagine themselves in the described situations. All sentences described situations in which another person is involved. Each sentence was followed by presentation of negative and benign associative words related to the ambiguous sentence (e.g., "A friend has not returned your call" "busy/dodging"). Participants were asked to choose, as rapidly as possible, which word they believe is more related to the sentence. Four sentences were given at the beginning of the task as practice trials. For each participant, we calculated the percentage of selecting negative interpretations and the RT for selecting negative or benign interpretations. A higher percentage of negative interpretation selections, lower RTs for selecting negative interpretations and higher RTs for selecting benign interpretations are considered to be indicators of greater negative interpretation bias.

Depression Symptoms

Levels of depression symptoms were measured by the Depression and Anxiety Stress Scales [DASS-21; (22)]. The DASS-21 is a self-report questionnaire used to assess symptomatic levels of depression, anxiety and stress. The depression subscale consists of seven items, each rated on a 4-point scale. Participants reported their level of symptoms during the past week. Cronbach's alpha for internal consistency in the current sample was 0.85.

Procedure

After signing a consent form, participants were told they were going to play an internet game known as Cyberball with two other participants playing in two different rooms. Participants then played the Cyberball game and subsequently completed the interpretation task. After that, participants completed the manipulation check and the DASS-21 questionnaire. To better characterize the sample, participants answered demographic questions, including country of origin, years of education, age, use of psychiatric medications and previous or current psychiatric diagnosis. The entire experimental procedure lasted about 30 min. At the end of the experiment, participants were debriefed and told that ostracism was part of the experiment (if they were in the ostracism condition).

Data Analysis

Direct Measurement of Interpretation Bias (Model 1)

To examine the moderation effect of social experience (ostracism/overinclusion) on the association between levels of depression symptoms and interpretation bias, we conducted a two-step hierarchical regression on the direct measurement (i.e., selection of negative/benign interpretation). Levels of depression symptoms and social experience (ostracism/overinclusion) were entered into the regression as main effects in the first step, their interaction was entered in the second step, and the percentage of selecting negative interpretations was entered as the outcome.

Indirect Measurement of Interpretation Bias (Model 2–3)

Additional models focusing on indirect measures (i.e., selection RT) were further used to examine the moderation effect of social experience (ostracism/overinclusion) on the association between levels of depression symptoms and interpretation bias. Two models were conducted, one with mean RTs for selecting *negative* interpretations as an outcome (Model 2) and the other with mean RTs for selecting *benign* interpretations as an outcome (Model 3). Trials in which the RT measurement was above

TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics of depression symptoms and interpretation, by condition (ostracism/overinclusion).

| | | Ostracisr | n | | Overinclusio | on |
|---|--------|-----------|---------------|--------|--------------|--------------|
| | Mean | Std | Range | Mean | Std | Range |
| Depression Symptoms | 9.6 | 9.2 | 0.0–36.0 | 7.5 | 6.6 | 0.0–26.0 |
| Percent of Selection of Negative Interpretation | 30.6 | 14.6 | 08.0-60.0 | 28.9 | 12.9 | 0.0–63.0 |
| RT for Selection of Negative Interpretation | 2441.3 | 1047.1 | 1105.3-4934.5 | 1937.8 | 675.5 | 614.6–3811.1 |
| RT for Selection of Benign Interpretation | 1972.4 | 713.9 | 997.0-4401.1 | 1681.5 | 523.5 | 564.2-3042.3 |

N = 70. RTs are shown in milliseconds.

or below 2.5 standard deviations from the participant's mean RT were considered outliers and eliminated from the data. Nevertheless, even after cleaning RT outliers, fewer than 3% of each participant's total trials were eliminated.

Regression models were selected for the study's analysis in line with the statistical recommendations of Leppink (23).

RESULTS

Manipulation Check

A series of *T*-tests indicated that the manipulation was effective. Participants in the ostracism condition reported feeling less included { $t_{(56, 33)} = 14.15$, p = 0.001, Cohen's d = 6.22, 95% CI [3.01, 3.51]} and more ignored during the game { $t_{(61, 42)} = 25.99$, p = 0.001, Cohen's d = 3.38, 95% CI [2.40, 3.19]} than participants in the overinclusion condition. Additionally, they reported obtaining fewer ball tosses during the game { $t_{(41,98)} = -10.88$, p = 0.001, Cohen's d = 2.60, 95% CI [-38.78, -26.65]}.

Descriptive Statistics and Pre-analysis Tests

Table 1 shows the descriptive statistics for symptoms of depression and direct and indirect interpretations in the two condition groups (ostracism/overinclusion). No between-group differences were observed in levels of depression symptoms [$t_{(68)} = 1.10$, p = 0.273].

Direct Measurement of Interpretation Bias Model 1

The entire model was significant in predicting the percentage of selecting the negative interpretation [$F_{(3, 66)} = 12.61$, p = 0.0001, Adjusted $R^2 = 0.33$]. Levels of depression symptoms significantly and positively predicted the percentage of selecting the negative interpretation ($\beta = 0.52$, p = 0.000, 95% CI [0.04, 0.10]). Social experience (ostracism/overinclusion) by itself was not found to predict the percentage of selecting the negative interpretation ($\beta = 0.06$, p = 0.540, 95% CI [-0.02, 0.03]). In contrast, the social experience × depression symptoms interaction significantly predicted the percentage of negative interpretation ($\beta = 0.31$, p = 0.003, 95% CI [0.01, 0.07], \mathbb{R}^2 change = 0.094).

To better understand the interaction, we conducted two simple regressions that examined prediction of percentage of negative interpretation selection by levels of depression symptoms under the different social conditions (ostracism/overinclusion; see **Figure 2**). The regressions revealed that among individuals in the ostracism condition, levels of depression symptoms significantly and positively predicted percentage of negative interpretation selection ($\beta = 0.78$, p = 0.000, 95% CI [0.08, 0.1]; **Figure 2A**). In contrast, among individuals in the overinclusion condition, depression symptoms did not predict the percentage of negative interpretation selection ($\beta = 0.22$, p = 0.196, 95% CI [-0.02, 0.07]; **Figure 2B**). These results suggest that higher levels of depression symptoms predict higher levels of directly measured interpretation bias under conditions of ostracism but not under conditions of overinclusion.

Indirect Measurement of Interpretation Bias

Model 2

The entire model was significant in predicting mean RTs for selecting a negative interpretation $[F_{(3,65)}]$ = 4.78, p = 0.005, Adjusted $R^2 = 0.14$]. Levels of depression symptoms did not predict the mean RTs for selecting a negative interpretation ($\beta = -0.08$, p = 0.454, 95% CI [-282.57, 127.77]). In contrast, the social experience condition (ostracism/overinclusion) significantly and positively predicted mean RTs for selecting a negative interpretation ($\beta = 0.28$, p = 0.015, 95% CI [50.07, 456.63]): Participants in the ostracism condition selected a negative interpretation of ambiguous information faster than did participants in the overinclusion condition. Moreover, the social experience \times depression symptoms interaction significantly predicted mean RTs for negative interpretation selection ($\beta = -0.31$, p = 0.007, 95% CI $[-489.23, -78.89], R^2 \text{ change} = 0.096).$

To better understand the interaction, we conducted two simple regressions that examined prediction of mean RTs for selection of a negative interpretation by levels of depression symptoms under the different social conditions (ostracism/overinclusion; see **Figure 3**). The regressions revealed that among individuals in the ostracism condition, levels of depression symptoms significantly and positively predicted the mean RTs for selection of a negative interpretation ($\beta = -0.34$, p = 0.042, 95% CI [-709.49, -13.42]; **Figure 3A**). In contrast, among individuals in the overinclusion condition, depression symptoms did not predict the mean RTs for selection of a negative interpretation ($\beta = 0.31$, p = 0.07, 95% CI [-22.19, 435.51]; **Figure 3B**). These results suggest that higher levels of



depression symptoms predict higher levels of interpretation bias, as measured by indirect measurements after experiencing ostracism but not after experiencing overinclusion.

Model 3

Levels of depression symptoms, social experience (ostracism/overinclusion) and their interaction were not found to be predictors of mean RTs for selecting benign interpretations $[F_{(3,66)} = 2.15, p = 0.102]$.

DISCUSSION

Given the role of interpretation bias in the etiology and maintenance of depression (2), it is especially important to understand under which conditions interpretation bias may emerge. The present findings suggest that social experiences contribute to interpretation bias. Specifically, ostracismthough not overinclusion-results in more and faster selection of negative interpretations of ambiguous social situations among individuals with higher levels of depression symptoms. Thus, when individuals with more intense symptoms of depression are socially ostracized, they are likely to interpret ambiguous situations in a negative manner more frequently and quickly than individuals who exhibit less intense symptoms of depression. These findings are consistent with theoretical knowledge, according to which social experiences may increase interpretation bias (5). These findings are also consistent with a previous study showing that greater sensitivity to ostracism is related to higher levels of depression symptoms and greater interpretation bias (24). Yet, whereas previous research contributed to understanding the aforementioned association, the present study expands previous knowledge by suggesting that ostracism enhances more negative interpretations of ambiguous information when levels of depression symptoms are higher. In line with Beck's theory of cognitive schemas (6), it is possible that among individuals with high levels of depression symptoms, social ostracism confirms latent negative cognitive schemas, which in turn increase their negative interpretations.

Replicating previous studies (4), the present findings suggest that levels of depression symptoms predict the selection of negative interpretations, such that higher levels of symptoms predicted a greater tendency to select negative interpretations. Yet whereas ostracism led to greater and faster selection of negative interpretations when levels of depression symptoms were higher, it did not affect RTs for the selection of benign interpretations. Additionally, levels of depression symptoms were not found to predict RTs for the selection of either negative or benign interpretations. This inconsistency between the direct and indirect measurements corresponds to the findings of previous studies that used indirect measurements of interpretation bias [i.e., (25)]. These studies showed interpretation bias in RTs for selection of negative but not of benign interpretations. This inconsistency is also in line with the findings of reviews [i.e., (26)] and meta-analyses [i.e., (4)] suggesting that the association between symptom levels and interpretation bias using direct measurements is consistent across studies, whereas the association between symptom levels and interpretation bias using indirect measurements yields mixed results.

The role of interpretation bias in the maintenance of depression symptoms has been emphasized and targeted across a variety of psychological treatments [i.e., Interpretation Bias Modification—(27); Cognitive Behavioral Therapy—(28); and psychodynamic therapy—(29)]. While these treatment orientations use different therapeutic interventions, they all invest major efforts in converting patients' maladaptive interpretations to more adaptive ones. By highlighting the effect of social ostracism on interpretation bias, the present findings



add to accumulating knowledge regarding the possible factors by which interpretation bias maintains a depressive state [i.e., (30)]. Such knowledge may be utilized to treat individuals with depression symptoms by increasing the focus on maladaptive interpretations among patients reporting social ostracism.

The present findings also add to the accumulating literature on cognitive biases in psychiatric disorders and states, and particularly in depression [see (31), for elaboration]. Individuals with depression symptoms exhibit evidence of biased attention, interpretation, expectancy and memory (18). Beyond examining whether biased cognitions exist in psychiatric disorders, research has also placed emphasis on understanding the causal relations among cognitive biases [e.g., the effect of manipulated expectancies on participants' attention bias; (33)] and the relationships between the factors moderating cognitive biases [e.g., (32, 33)]. Studies also seek to use accumulating knowledge regarding cognitive biases to improve diagnosis of psychiatric disorders [e.g., see (18, 21) for an example of a diagnostic support system based on cognitive performance aimed at better differentiating between depression and anxiety diagnoses]. By shedding light on the interactive role of depression symptoms and aversive social experiences in the emergence of interpretation biases, the present study contributes to knowledge regarding the possible moderators of cognitive biases.

This study has several limitations. First, the examination was restricted to women, leaving open the question of whether and how the combined effect of depression symptoms and social experience (ostracism/overinclusion) may affect interpretation bias among men. The present study also examined levels of depression symptoms as distributed in the general population, whereas the findings may be different in a clinical sample.

In addition, the present study used overinclusion as a control condition and not the more common inclusion condition (33% ball tosses for each "participant"). It is possible that the study's results would be different when using other control conditions. Additionally, overinclusion may not necessarily be a positive experience for everyone (34). Therefore, future studies should examine the combined effect of depression symptoms and social experience on interpretation bias among both men and women, while also considering clinical levels of depression symptoms and controlling for complicated feelings that may raise under conditions of overinclusion. Furthermore, the study's design does not allow us to infer whether the interaction between depression symptoms and ostracism directly affects interpretation bias or whether this effect is mediated by other factors, such as negative feelings or schemas elicited by ostracism. Future studies should further examine this issue.

The present findings highlight the importance of examining how social experiences such as ostracism interact with depression symptoms in order to understand the conditions under which interpretation bias may emerge. By doing so, the current research broadens our understanding regarding the role of interpretation bias in the maintenance of depression symptoms. Such an understanding may be utilized in the future to develop treatments tailored to each individual's cognitive biases and personal experiences.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.
ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee, School of Psychological Sciences, University of Haifa, Israel. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AB-S ran the research, analyzed the data, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. HO-S initiated and supervised the study.

REFERENCES

- Beck AT, Clark DA. Anxiety and depression: An information processing perspective. Anxiety Res. (1988) 1:23–36. doi: 10.1080/10615808808248218
- Mathews A, MacLeod C. Cognitive vulnerability to emotional disorders. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. (2005) 1:167– 95. doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.1.102803.143916
- Hirsch CR, Meeten F, Krahé C, Reeder C. Resolving ambiguity in emotional disorders: the nature and role of interpretation biases. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2016) 12:281–305. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-021815-093436
- Everaert J, Podina IR, Koster EH. A comprehensive meta-analysis of interpretation biases in depression. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2017) 58:33– 48. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2017.09.005
- Beck AT, Haigh EA. Advances in cognitive theory and therapy: the generic cognitive model. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2014) 10:1–24. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032813-153734
- 6. Beck AT. Depression: Clinical, Experimental, and Theoretical Aspects. Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania Press (1967).
- Williams KD. Social ostracism. In Kowalski, editor. Aversive Interpersonal Behaviors. New York, NY: Penum (1997). p. 133–70. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-9354-3_7
- Baumeister RF, Leary MR. The need to belong: desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. *Psychol Bull.* (1995) 117:497–529. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.117.3.497
- Hartgerink CH, Van Beest I, Wicherts JM, Williams KD. The ordinal effects of ostracism: a meta-analysis of 120 Cyberball studies. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0127002. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0127002
- Liu RT, Kraines MA, Massing-Schaffer M, Alloy LB. Rejection sensitivity and depression: mediation by stress generation. *Psychiatry*. (2014) 77:86– 97. doi: 10.1521/psyc.2014.77.1.86
- Pearson KA, Watkins ER, Mullan EG, Moberly NJ. Psychosocial correlates of depressive rumination. *Behav Res Ther.* (2010) 48:784–91. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2010.05.007
- 12. Mor N, Inbar M. Rejection sensitivity and schema-congruent information processing biases. *J Res Pers.* (2009) 43:392–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2009.01.001
- Williams KD, Cheung CKT, Choi W. Cyberostracism: effects of being ignored over the Internet. J Pers Soc Psychol. (2000) 79:748–62. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.79.5.748
- Faul F, Erdfelder E, Buchner A, Lang AG. Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behav Res Methods*. (2009) 41:1149–60. doi: 10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Weik U, Maroof P, Zöller C, Deinzer R. Pre-experience of social exclusion suppresses cortisol response to psychosocial stress in women but not in men. *Horm Behav.* (2010) 58:891–7. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2010. 08.018
- Motulsky H. GraphPad: QuickCalcs. Assign Subjects to Groups. (1989). Available online at: https://www.graphpad.com/quickcalcs/randomize1/
- Zadro L, Boland C, Richardson R. How long does it last? The persistence of the effects of ostracism in the socially anxious. *J Exp Soc Psychol.* (2006) 42:692–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2005.10.007
- Richter T, Fishbain B, Markus A, Richter-Levin G, Okon-Singer H. Using machine learning-based analysis for behavioral

TR participated in the design, data analysis, and writing. SZ-M advised in the process of designing and implementing the study. All authors participated in the design and planning of the study and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was supported by a grant from the Ministry of Science & Technology, Israel, Ministry of Europe and Foreign Affairs (MEAE) and the Ministry of Higher Education, Research and Innovation (MESRI) of France awarded to HO-S.

differentiation between anxiety and depression. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:1–12. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-72289-9

- Beard C, Amir N. Interpretation in social anxiety: when meaning precedes ambiguity. Cogn Ther Res. (2009) 33:406–15. doi: 10.1007/s10608-009-9235-0
- Gonsalves M, Whittles RL, Weisberg RB, Beard C.. A systematic review of the word sentence association paradigm (WSAP). J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry. (2019) 64:133–48. doi: 10.1016/j.jbtep.2019.04.003
- Richter T, Fishbain B, Fruchter E, Richter-Levin G, Okon-Singer H. Machine learning-based diagnosis support system for differentiating between clinical anxiety and depression disorders. J Psychiatr Res. (2021) 141:199– 205. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021.06.044
- Henry JD, Crawford JR. The short-form version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS 21): construct validity and normative data in a large non-clinical sample. *Br J Clin Psychol.* (2005) 44:227– 39. doi: 10.1348/014466505X29657
- Leppink J. Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) vs. moderated regression (MODREG): Why the interaction matters. *Health Prof Educ.* (2018) 4:225– 32. doi: 10.1016/j.hpe.2018.04.001
- Normansell KM, Wisco BE. Negative interpretation bias as a mechanism of the relationship between rejection sensitivity and depressive symptoms. *Cogn Emot.* (2017) 31:950–62. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2016.1185395
- Cowden-Hindash AHC, Amir N. Negative interpretation bias in individuals with depressive symptoms. *Cogn Ther Res.* (2012) 36:502–11. doi: 10.1007/s10608-011-9397-4
- Gotlib IH, Joormann J. Cognition and depression: current status and future directions. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2010) 6:285–312. doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.121208.131305
- Nejati V, Fathi E, Shahidi S, Salehinejad MA. Cognitive training for modifying interpretation and attention bias in depression: Relevance to mood improvement and implications for cognitive intervention in depression. *Asian J Psychiatry*. (2019) 39:23–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2018.11.012
- Quilty LC, McBride C, Bagby RM. Evidence for the cognitive mediational model of cognitive behav87uioral therapy for depression. *Psychol Med.* (2008) 38:1531–41. doi: 10.1017/S0033291708003772
- Zilcha-Mano S, Chui H, Dolev T, McCarthy KS, Dinger U, Barber JP. Changes in causal attributions and relationship representations: Are they specific or common mechanisms in the treatment of depression? *J Affect Disord.* (2016) 193:73–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.12.073
- Everaert J, Duyck W, Koster EHW. Attention, interpretation, and memory biases in subclinical depression: a proof-of-principle test of the combined cognitive biases hypothesis. *Emotion.* (2014) 14:331-40. doi: 10.1037/a0035250
- Aue T, Okon-Singer H. (eds.). Cognitive Biases in Health and Psychiatric Disorders: Neurophysiological Foundations. Cambridge, MA: Academic Press (2020).
- 32. Abado E, Aue T, Okon-Singer H. The missing pieces of the puzzle: a review on the interactive nature of a-priori expectancies and attention bias toward threat. *Brain Sci.* (2020) 10:745. doi: 10.3390/brainsci10100745
- Abado E, Sagi J, Silber N, De Houwer J, Aue T, Okon-Singer H. Reducing attention bias in spider fear by manipulating expectancies. *Behav Res Ther.* (2020) 135:103729. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2020. 103729

34. Gilboa-Schechtman E, Galili L, Sahar Y, Amir O. Being "in" or "out" of the game: subjective and acoustic reactions to exclusion and popularity in social anxiety. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2014) 8:147. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00147

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Bar-Sella, Richter, Zilcha-Mano and Okon-Singer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Transdiagnostic Relevance of Self-Other Distinction to Psychiatry Spans Emotional, Cognitive and Motor Domains

Clare M. Eddy*

Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust, College of Medical and Dental Sciences, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, United Kingdom

Self-other distinction refers to the ability to distinguish between our own and other people's physical and mental states (actions, perceptions, emotions etc.). Both the right temporo-parietal junction and brain areas associated with the human mirror neuron system are likely to critically influence self-other distinction, given their respective contributions to theory of mind and embodied empathy. The degree of appropriate self-other distinction will vary according to the exact social situation, and how helpful it is to feel into, or remain detached from, another person's mental state. Indeed, the emotional resonance that we can share with others affords the gift of empathy, but over-sharing may pose a downside, leading to a range of difficulties from personal distress to paranoia, and perhaps even motor tics and compulsions. The aim of this perspective paper is to consider how evidence from behavioral and neurophysiological studies supports a role for problems with self-other distinction in a range of psychiatric symptoms spanning the emotional, cognitive and motor domains. The various signs and symptoms associated with problematic self-other distinction comprise both maladaptive and adaptive (compensatory) responses to dysfunction within a common underlying neuropsychological mechanism, compelling the adoption of more holistic transdiagnostic therapeutic approaches within Psychiatry.

Keywords: empathy, social cognition, self-other distinction, Tourette syndrome, obsessive-compulsive disorder, schizophrenia, autism, personality disorder

INTRODUCTION

What Is Self-Other Distinction and Why Is It Important?

Humans are innately wired to respond to others' emotional states. Most of us understand what it is to vicariously feel other's pain, and if we are lucky, their happiness. This emotional resonance that we can share with others appears automatic, and its greatest gift is that of affective empathy and our ability to respond sensitively to the needs of others. However, successful navigation of the social world also requires that we can contemplate the contrasting perspectives of self and other, and too much sharing may have a downside.

Self-other distinction refers to the ability to distinguish between our own and other people's physical and mental states, including actions, perceptions, emotions etc. Low self-other distinction (or self-other blending/merging) is associated with processes that contribute to the recognition

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Frieder Michel Paulus, University of Lübeck, Germany

Reviewed by:

Benjamin Straube, University of Marburg, Germany Kristína Czekóová, Masaryk University, Czechia

> *Correspondence: Clare M. Eddy clare.eddy1@nhs.net; c.eddy@bham.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Social Cognition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 19 October 2021 Accepted: 14 February 2022 Published: 10 March 2022

Citation:

Eddy CM (2022) The Transdiagnostic Relevance of Self-Other Distinction to Psychiatry Spans Emotional, Cognitive and Motor Domains. Front. Psychiatry 13:797952. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.797952

74

| TABLE 1 | Self-other | distinction | and two | approaches | to social | cognition. |
|---------|------------|-------------|---------|------------|-----------|------------|
|---------|------------|-------------|---------|------------|-----------|------------|

| Mirroring | Mentalizing | |
|--|---|--|
| Embodied: external focus of attention | Abstract: internal focus of attention | |
| Relies on non-linguistic cues (expression/tone) | Can rely on linguistic cues | |
| Innate, more automatic | Develops in childhood, more effortful | |
| Concrete: mental states must be directly inferred from action | Theoretical: accommodates unobservable mental states | |
| Motion, emotion | Cognition | |
| Reflexive/reactive-lower self control | Calculating/reasoning—higher self control | |
| Emotion contagion, affective empathy | Cognitive empathy, theory of mind | |
| Observer resonates with and becomes one with the externally berceived other: sense of a separate self is momentarily lost (low self-other distinction) | Observer actively constructs imaginary representation of other within the larger construct of the self: maintaining separate self (higher self-other distinction) | |

of mental states in others including imitation or mirroring. However, low self-other distinction can be associated with misattributions of mental states when these differ for self and other, a situation when abstract mentalizing that holds in mind these opposing perspectives is important. Mirroring tends to occur in response to visual stimuli and for embodied mental states, whereas mentalizing is critical when visual cues to mental states are potentially misleading or not readily observable (e.g., verbal tasks; understanding beliefs; deception etc.). The appropriate degree of self-other distinction will therefore vary according to the exact social situation e.g., affective empathy may involve low self-other distinction, whereas understanding false belief requires higher self-other distinction (**Table 1**).

Which Brain Regions Contribute to Self-Other Distinction?

One neural network highly relevant to self-other distinction is the Mirror Neuron System [MNS: (1)] which was first identified in primates (2-4). The MNS is thought to underpin motor simulation of observed actions, providing a basis for imitation, and to draw upon visual cues to support the understanding of action goals [e.g., (5, 6)], in turn facilitating inferences about emotions, and perhaps beliefs and intentions (7, 8), although its exact contribution to empathy continues to be investigated (9). In humans, the MNS includes the inferior frontal gyrus (BA44/45), superior temporal and inferior parietal lobe (10-12). This network develops very early in childhood (13), and may be automatically activated before the second network, the mentalizing system (14, 15), which includes the medial prefrontal cortex, precuneus, and right temporal parietal junction (rTPJ). The mentalizing network supports more conscious reasoning about mental states (15, 16).

The rTPJ is of particular importance in self-other distinction, given its role in multi-sensory integration and sense of embodiment (17), and activation during tasks where the differing beliefs of self and other are salient (18, 19). Further evidence comes from the effects of rTPJ stimulation on tasks that

require self-other distinction such as imitation inhibition tasks (20–22). Most studies suggest that rTPJ activity is positively associated with self-other distinction (8), such that activations may emphasize incongruence between self and other, or allow for switching between their related representations [e.g., (23)].

What Might Happen If Self-Other Distinction Goes Wrong?

Within the social cognitive domain, indicators of low self-other distinction include motor imitation, and emotion contagion, when we effectively take on the physical and emotional states of others. These acts of mirroring encourage the automatic sacrifice of a sense of separate self as the observer becomes one with the perceived other. This loss of self-other distinction could be less likely to occur in the context of mentalizing, which may involve the conscious and controlled construction of an imaginary other (or alternative self) perhaps subordinate to and easily distinguishable from the one's true self. In sum, sense of oneself as a unique individual entity, and as the originator or controller of perceived internal and external states (e.g., actions and emotions), may be vulnerable to the effects associated with loss of self-other distinction and the mirroring experience. On the other hand, in some cases, too much self-other distinction could be problematic.

The aim of this perspective paper is to synthesize the evidence suggesting that problems with self-other distinction are relevant to the development of numerous psychiatric disorders, building on previous research (8, 17) through the integration of additional evidence in the form of both behavioral and neurophysiological studies within the field of psychiatry. While many factors may influence self-other distinction (e.g., executive dysfunction; self-efficacy; sensory impairments), this opinion piece focuses on processes that are typically associated with mirroring, with reference to the contrast with conscious mentalizing. Key questions were: 1. Is it possible to identify primary (direct) vs. secondary (indirect) signs of problematic self-other distinction? 2. Are there secondary signs with opposing/compensatory effects? I will argue that a range of clinical symptoms across emotional, cognitive and motor domains constitute various manifestations of impaired selfother distinction, resulting from dysfunction within a common underlying neural mechanism, with important implications including in terms of treatment approaches.

RELEVANCE OF SELF-OTHER DISTINCTION TO PSYCHIATRY

Self-Other Distinction Within the Emotional Domain

The primary cause of loss of self-other distinction within the emotional domain is likely to be high emotion contagion. MNS responses are emotion specific and more sensitive to negative valence (24, 25), therefore excessive resonance with others experiencing negative emotion is likely to result in increased personal distress. High personal distress is common in psychiatric disorders but is not usually accompanied by high

empathic concern (**Table 2**). Perhaps continued experience of personal distress can prove aversive, leading individuals to selfreport lower empathic concern as they become more focused on resolving their own internal emotional state. The unpleasantness of excessive emotional resonance could also contribute to social anxiety and social anhedonia (8). Furthermore, the relationship between performance on social cognitive tasks and emotional resonance may fall on an inverted U-curve helping to explain patterns of social cognitive performance (e.g. inconsistent impairment across tasks) in numerous psychiatric disorders (8, 17).

Frequent unregulated emotional contagion may encourage confusion around the source (self/other) of experienced emotional states. Alexithymia (286), or difficulty identifying and expressing emotions, could be one consequence of this confusion stemming from vicarious experience of other's emotions in the absence of a linking situational cause for that emotion in oneself (8). However, alexithymia could indicate reduced attention to internal states which in turn reduces the salience of excessive emotional resonance or personal distress (8, 287). Other forms of emotional blunting (e.g., constricted/flat affect), and perhaps dissociation, could support similar regulatory functions in terms of avoiding exposure to problematic emotions of self and/or other. Such emotional responses may be largely unconscious conditioned responses to the primary problem of loss of self-other distinction within the emotional domain.

Some psychiatric disorders feature anti-social behaviors which should prompt an emotional reaction in others, such as the compulsive socially inappropriate urges seen in Tourette syndrome (TS). TS is associated with heightened personal distress and increased emotional reactivity to emotional facial expressions (26, 36), and patients who experience urges to make offensive remarks/gestures find them troubling as they don't consciously wish to cause distress (288). On the surface, socially inappropriate actions imply emotional disregard, and emphasize self-other distinction because the patient's transgression is in direct antagonism to the others' emotional needs (8) i.e., the anti-social action (at least momentarily) separates the perpetrator from the victim because the intention and action goals associated with their anti-social act conflict with the desired mental state of the victim. However, in addition to counteracting any feeling of excessive emotional resonance, such actions promote control over the emotional state of others. Therefore, rather than emphasizing self-other distinction, anti-social urges could arise from an unconscious urge to prompt a negative emotional mental state within another that matches the patient's own negative internal state (i.e., reduced self-other distinction). This may provide a better explanation for some emotionally provocative and antagonistic behaviors seen in Borderline Personality Disorder (BPD) and Narcissistic Personality Disorder (NPD).

Self-Other Distinction Within the Cognitive Domain

Excessive emotional resonance with others and arising difficulties with self-other distinction could have a broader effect on conscious experience of cognitive mental states including judgments about the origin of these. Difficulty knowing whether a thought or intention arose from the self explains many symptoms of psychosis [e.g., (155)] including delusions relating to thought transfer and telepathy. Incorrect assumptions that one is aware of the cognitive mental state of another could also reduce mentalizing leading to egocentric errors (289). Projection of negative emotions or intentions onto others, as seen in disorders such as BPD and schizophrenia (including on social cognitive tasks: Table 2), is likely to prompt social anxiety and paranoia. If a projected thought is positive, it could encourage grandiosity. Doubts about whether thoughts are internally generated may also underlie magical thinking as seen in Obsessive-compulsive Disorder (OCD), explaining the association between negative sense of agency and likelihood thought action fusion (287) i.e., the belief that thinking about events makes those events more likely to happen.

In some cases, loss of self-other distinction may weaken the stability of our overall conscious construct of self, as most clearly seen in BPD and schizophrenia. When this occurs, it appears all the more important to develop cognitive strategies that help restore self-other boundaries. Strategies are likely to include conscious avoidance of mentalizing, helping to explain the low self-reported perspective taking that often accompanies high personal distress (Table 2), and perhaps poor performance on social cognitive tasks. In addition, impulsive non-conformity, whereby individuals with schizophrenia express strong opposition to convention and the opinions or expectations of others, even where this would seem harmful or irrational, may enhance cognitive self-other distinction. Similar characteristics can be seen in NPD, where rivalry and entitlement emphasize one's own uniqueness, and deception may be used to maintain differentiation between the cognitive mental states of self and other (152).

Self-Other Distinction Within the Motor Domain

Excessive motor resonance in the form of echophenomena is likely to indicate loss of self-other distinction within the motor domain. Similar more subtle characteristics may be observed during imitation inhibition tasks, through magnetoencephalography, or perhaps when exploring susceptibility to the rubber-hand illusion (Table 2). Given the role of the MNS in emotion contagion there is likely to be a link between motor resonance and neural limbic response [e.g., (290, 291)], and therefore greater motor resonance and a tendency to emotional dysregulation (although MNS activity may not always manifest as observable movement). Difficulties in deciding whether the self is the agent of movements and related sensory events could help to explain the perception of involuntary movements, and perhaps depersonalization, in some psychiatric disorders. Weakened sense of ownership of personal actions could encourage impulsivity, and in more severe cases, delusions of control.

One proposed mechanism thought to influence self-other distinction is based on movement efference and predictive sensory feedback [e.g., (292, 293)], whereby dysfunction

TABLE 2 | Evidence for problems with self-other distinction in psychiatric disorders.

| Domain | Symptom/sign | Disorder | Study findings |
|-----------|---|----------|---|
| Emotional | Emotion contagion* | TS | Heightened neural response to facial expressions (26, 27) |
| | | SZ | Higher than HCs (28). Empathizing v systematizing bias associated with paranoia (29) |
| | | OCD | Higher emotional response to observed emotions (30) |
| | | ASD | Can be lower than HC but influenced by target familiarity and eye gaze (31 Emotion contagion for pain is intact (32) |
| | | BPD | Higher that HCs (33) with one study showing this using EMG while patients viewed negative facial expressions (34) |
| | | NPD | Mix of no difference/lower self-report in association with grandiose subtype traits in non-clinical sample (35) |
| | Personal distress | TS | Higher personal distress (but lower IRI perspective taking) than HCs (36) |
| | | SZ | Higher personal distress (but lower IRI perspective taking) than in controls (37). Personal distress positively related to symptoms (38) |
| | | OCD | Higher personal distress than HCs (39) and lower perspective taking (40) |
| | | ASD | Higher personal distress than HCs (41). Autistic traits linked to high personal distress in general population (42) |
| | | BPD | Higher personal distress than HCs (43–47) |
| | | NPD | High personal distress in covert/vulnerable narcissism (48, 49) |
| | General emotion dysregulation | TS | Correlates with tic severity (50), high in more complex cases (51) |
| | | SZ | Overwhelming/lack of control over emotions (28); mediates symptom expression (52, 53) |
| | | OCD | Heightened affective responses and poor emotion regulation, but perhaps lower motor resonance (54) |
| | | ASD | High levels in autism (55–57) and Asperger's (58) |
| | | BPD | Low cognitive empathy in high vs. low borderline traits, associated with emotional dysregulation (59) |
| | | NPD | Rivalry (60) and vulnerable narcissism associated with more problems vs. grandiose (35, 61–63) |
| | Social anxiety/ social anhedonia | TS | Higher social anxiety than HC (64). Attentional bias toward social threat (65 |
| | | SZ | Linked to perception of negative valence in facial expressions (66, 67) and empathy/emotion contagion (68) |
| | | OCD | Higher social anxiety than HC (69). Linked to altered activity in right STG (70 |
| | | ASD | Both seen in adults (71); social anxiety in adolescents (72); social anhedoni correlates with autism severity (73) |
| | | BPD | High social anxiety in clinical sample (74) and associated with traits (75) |
| | | NPD | More likely in vulnerable narcissism (76) |
| | Alexithymia [†] ; flat/ constricted affect | TS | May be related to strength of sensory urges to tic (77, 78) |
| | | SZ | Difficulty describing and identifying feelings (79). Flat affect related to ToM tasks (80), despite heightened automatic sensitivity to facial affect (81), increased amygdala reactivity (82) and altered IPL activity (83) |
| | | OCD | Higher alexithymia than HCs (84, 85) and more blunted affect (69). Associated with mental neutralizing (86) and suicide risk (87) |
| | | ASD | High alexithymia (88) associated with emotional dysregulation (56). Reduce facial expression in children (89, 90) |
| | | BPD | Higher alexithymia than HCs (46, 91–94). Linked to non-suicidal self-injury (95). Less facial expression of emotion (96) |
| | | NPD | Seen in clinical and non-clinical samples and associated with empathy (97–99) |
| Cognitive | Misattribution of origin of mental states i.e., projection; paranoia; | TS | Projection could explain performance on ToM tasks (77, 100). Some paranoid thoughts more common than in HC (101, 102) |
| | hyper-mentalizing | SZ | Projection could explain performance on ToM tasks e.g., attributions of mental states to non-social stimuli [e.g., (103)] and neutral expressions appearing negative (104). Hyper-mentalizing errors (105) including self-referential hyper-mentalizing in schizotypy (106) |

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

| Domain | Symptom/sign | Disorder | Findings/specific observations |
|--------|--|----------|--|
| | | OCD | Paranola associated with OCD symptoms in non-clinical (107) and clinical (69, 108) samples. Hoarding associated with anthropomorphising (109) |
| | | ASD | Autistic traits associated with anthropomorphising (110, 111). Characteristics linked to paranoia (112, 113) and persecutory ideation (58) can present |
| | | BPD | Projection and projective identification (114). Paranoia (115) including more severe non-delusional paranoia than SZ (116) |
| | | NPD | Paranoia associated with low mood (117), rejection sensitivity (118) and the proposed diagnosis of malignant narcissism (119, 120) |
| | Difficulty with self (i.e., coherent, stable self concept) | TS | Lower self-concept reported in TS (121) or TS+OCD (64) although measures seem closely related to self-esteem |
| | | SZ | Poorer self-definition and negative self-regard (122) linked to emotional experience (123). Fundamental loss of sense of self (124) |
| | | OCD | Sensitive self-concept, negative view of self (125, 126) or feared self (127) |
| | | ASD | Weaker self-concept (128, 129) and hoarding has been suggested to help maintain continuity of self in autistic spectrum (130) |
| | | BPD | Identity confusion (131, 132) and self and other representational disturbances (133, 134) |
| | | NPD | Impaired sense of self (135) including lack of integration of self (136) |
| | Altered sense of agency/magical thinking | TS | Jumping to conclusions bias (137) and greater tendency than controls to ascribe intentions to randomly moving shapes (77). Symptoms of OCD (which often include magical thinking) frequently comorbid with TS (138) |
| | | SZ | Tendency to thought action fusion (139). Alterations to self agency and relatedness (122) and decreased sense of self-causation (140). Lower sense of agency in high schizotypal non-clinical sample (141) |
| | | OCD | Tendency to thought action fusion (142, 143). Belief that one has excessive ability and responsibility to prevent harm (144). Lower use of agency related language vs. HCs (145) |
| | | ASD | Reduced intention attribution (146) and altered sense of agency in mystical experience (147) |
| | | BPD | BPD v HC less agentic in their descriptions for self and other stories seeing people as powerless (148). |
| | | NPD | High vs. low sense of agency and self-esteem associated with grandiose traits vs. vulnerable traits respectively, in non-clinical sample (149) |
| | Reduction in conscious perspective | TS | Lower self-reported perspective taking vs. HCs (36) |
| | taking [†] | SZ | Lower self-reported perspective taking vs. HCs (37) |
| | | OCD | Lower self-reported perspective taking vs. HCs (40) |
| | | ASD | Problem with explicit perspective taking but not necessarily empathy (150) |
| | | BPD | Cognitive perspective taking can be reduced (151) |
| | | NPD | Most likely to be reduced when affect is involved and may depend on subtype (152–154) |
| | Antagonistic (including egodystonic) impulses and actions [†] | TS | Coprophenomena and non-obscene socially inappropriate urges that tend to be ego-dystonic (155–157) |
| | | SZ | Impulsive non-conformity is associated with atypical emotional prosody processing (158); high in schizotypy in association with reasoning about actions based on emotions (159); negatively correlated with anhedonia (160 |
| | | OCD | Ego-dystonic intrusive thoughts about harming others (161) associated with proposed 'self-defeating' personality disorder (162, 163) |
| | | ASD | Acute agitation and aggression (164) and problem behaviors which may be related to coping skills (165) |
| | | BPD | Emotional dysregulation linked to splitting, projection and acting out (166). Low compliance (167) and self-defeating behavior (168) |
| | | NPD | Antagonism is at the core of narcissism (169, 170) low compliance (167) and self-defeating traits (171) are also associated |

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

| Domain | Symptom/sign | Disorder | Findings/specific observations | |
|---|---|----------|--|--|
| | Narcissism/ grandiosity [†] | TS | Features linked to vulnerable narcissim more likely to occur and associated with depression (172) | |
| | | SZ | Grandiosity may have a defensive or protective role (173, 174) | |
| | | OCD | Can get a proportion of people with obsessive-compulsive traits who are diagnosed with NPD (175) | |
| | | ASD | NPD can be co-morbid (176) and tendency to self-enhance (177) | |
| | | BPD | Vulnerable traits are more closely related (178-180) | |
| | | NPD | Grandiosity is often central to NPD, though less prominent in vulnerable than grandiose subtype (149, 170, 181) | |
| otor | Echophenomena/excessive motor resonance* | TS | Echophenomena are characteristic of TS (182, 183). Severity associated with TPJ activity during social cognitive tasks (26, 184). Poor inhibition of imitation (185, 186) | |
| | | SZ | Echophenomena classified as a form of catatonia and seen in drug naïve cases (187, 188). Both enhanced (189) and impaired imitation (190): effort/medication may influence | |
| | | OCD | Reported deficits in imitation of meaningless movements (191) vs. contrasting evidence of more vicarious experience from others' movemer (30). OCD is often comorbid with TS | |
| | | ASD | Echophenomena may present (192, 193). Greater automatic imitation associated with reduced activity in med PFC and TPJ in autism (194) | |
| Sensing loss of agency movements/ actions | | BPD | Higher MEG response to facial expressions (34). Poor imitation inhibition i.e., interference from observed movements (195) | |
| | | NPD | Stronger motor-emotional resonance when observing physical pain despi lower self-reported empathy (196) | |
| | Sensing loss of agency over movements/ actions | TS | Sense of tics as being involuntary [e.g., (197)], and reduced accuracy in action monitoring (198–200) | |
| | | SZ | Delusions of control over actions seen in association with psychosis (201) Greater susceptibility to illusions of body ownership in schizotypy (202) | |
| | | OCD | Low intentional binding but higher illusory control (203). Altered sense of motor agency (204, 205) | |
| | | ASD | Larger temporal window of integration and potential excessive binding between unrelated stimuli (206). In addition, reduced intentional binding m be seen (207), perhaps affecting sense of agency (208) | |
| | | BPD | Greater susceptibility to illusions of body ownership vs. HC (195, 209–21) but can self-report higher sense of agency (210) | |
| | | NPD | Narcissistic traits have a positive relationship with intentional binding and sense of agency (212) despite link to impulsivity (213), which may reflect grandiose vs. vulnerable difference (149) | |
| | Motor compulsions (including tics) † | TS | Motor compulsions include symmetry and evening up compulsions (214), and self-injurious behavior [e.g., (215)], plus more general difficulties with motor inhibition [e.g., (216)] | |
| Impulsivity | | SZ | Tics can precede typical symptoms of SZ and related treatments [e.g., (188, 217)] | |
| | | OCD | Compulsions are related to sensori-motor issues (205, 218). Reduced motor inhibition/enhanced tendency to action (219) | |
| | | ASD | Tics (220) and motor stereotypies and compulsions are often present, including self-injurious behaviors (221, 222) | |
| | | BPD | Impaired motor inhibition related to general impulsivity and dissociation (223, 224). Self-harm linked to compulsivity (225) | |
| | | NPD | Occasionally associated with exercise (226) and sexual (227) compulsions but not simple motor compulsions | |
| | Impulsivity | TS | Impulsive behaviors are common in TS (228) and can involve self-harm (215). There may be a predisposition toward motor impulsivity in genera (229, 230) | |
| | | SZ | Impulsive behaviors can occur in response to command hallucinations (231). Less impulsive than BPD or OCD (232) but impulsive non-conformi linked to risk-taking behavior in schizotypy (233) | |

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

| Domain | Symptom/sign | Disorder | Findings/specific observations |
|-------------------------------------|------------------------------------|----------|---|
| | | OCD | Motor impulsivity linked to hoarding symptoms (234) but most behaviors more closely linked to compulsivity (235) |
| | | ASD | Impulsivity linked to self-injurious behavior (236, 237) |
| | | BPD | Phenotypic trait according to longitudinal studies (238). High impulsivity (239, 240) especially if in negative emotional state (241) related to alexithymia (242) and anhedonia (243) |
| | | NPD | Linked to impulsive buying (244) but may vary according to subtype (149, 245, 246) |
| Neuro MNS: Atypical activity/ struc | MNS: Atypical activity/ structure | TS | Atypical activity within IPL/TPJ and IFG during observation of facial expressions (26), altered structural connectivity between these areas, base ganglia and thalamus (247), and lower volume of IFG (248). |
| | | SZ | Greater MNS activity when observing movement in association with psychosis (249), linked to both positive (250) and negative (251) symptom Resting state connectivity is also atypical (252, 253) |
| | | OCD | Altered activity in MNS regions when perceiving biological motion (254). Structural changes in IPL (58, 255) and IFG (58, 256) and thickness of rigil IFG can be associated with symptoms (257) |
| | | ASD | IPL responses negatively correlated with autism symptom severity in adult (258) and MNS abnormalities include reduced IFG activity (259, 260) |
| | | BPD | Atypical activity in frontal and/or parietal components of the MNS (261–26 including during pain processing (264) and emotion contagion (265) |
| | | NPD | EEG differences to HC during empathy for pain involving somatosensory cortex (196). Reduced cortical thickness in right IFG (266) |
| rTPJ: Atypical a | rTPJ: Atypical activity/ structure | TS | Hyperactive for facial expressions (26) but hypoactive during false belief ta (184). Activity correlates with echophenomena and global tic severity (26, 184). Atypical structural connectivity (247, 267). Atypical activity for imagined and executed movements (268) |
| | | SZ | Hyperactive during ToM task when high risk (269); hypoactive after diagnosis (269, 270). Hypoactive during other vs. self reflection (271) and during naturalistic social cognitive tasks (272). Functional connectivity and structural differences to HC (273, 274) |
| | | OCD | Altered resting state functional connectivity (275) including MEG study (27) Increased volume (58) |
| | | ASD | Dysfunction during imitation (277), observation of social interaction (278, 279), belief reasoning (280) and perspective taking (281). Reduced selectivity for mental vs. physical states (282). Activity linked to impaired communication (283) |
| | | BPD | Both hypoactivity during perspective taking (284) and hyperactivation whil evaluating own and others' personality traits (285) |
| | | NPD | No studies identified (few imaging studies overall) |

Proposed to result from low self-other distinction*; may help to increase self-other distinction[†].

ASD, autistic spectrum disorder; BPD, borderline personality disorder; EEG, elctroencephalography; EMG, electromyography; HC, healthy controls; IFG, inferior frontal gyrus; IPL, inferior parietal lobe; IRI, Interpersonal Reactivity Index; MEG, magnetoencephalography; MNS, mirror neuron system; NPD, narcissistic personality disorder; OCD, obsessive-compulsive disorder; PFC, prefrontal cortex; SZ, schizophrenia; ToM, theory of mind; rTPJ, right temporo-parietal junction; TS, Tourette syndrome.

impairs determination of self-produced actions and effects, with relevance to conditions such as psychosis (294–296). Disrupted sensory feedback (alike excessive motor resonance) could have a conscious cognitive correlate in the form of altered sense of agency. Indeed, sense of agency appears to consist of both intrinsic (i.e., a more conscious, cognitive experience of agency) and extrinsic (i.e., sensorimotor experience of body ownership) aspects, and differences in integrating or balancing intrinsic and extrinsic self-representation networks could impair self-other distinctions (297).

Tics and compulsions can be associated with sensorimotor abnormalities (298, 299) and alterations in sense of agency for action (**Table 2**). While tics are reported as feeling at the most semi-voluntary, and tend not to appear goal directed, one effect of these internally generated fragments of motor activity is to interrupt motor resonance with external others, helping to support self-other differentiation, and perhaps developing into a habit conditioned to the experience of internal emotional stress. That is, the sensory fulfillment associated with tics and motor compulsions may arise through the acting out of a self-initiated action which helps to confirm (perhaps subconsciously) internal control over movement and related neural motor activity, counterintuitively helping to re-establish sense of agency. Given that both emotion and sense of self are relevant to self-harm (300), compulsive self-harm may be another symptom through which a self-initiated motor act enables a sense of self-control or internal agency over a perceived emotional or sensory state.

Self-Other Distinction Within the Brain

Excessive resonance with others is perhaps most likely to be reflected in atypical activity within the MNS, as seen in disorders including TS and schizophrenia (26, 249). More generally, inferior parietal and inferior frontal activations have been shown to be atypical during social cognitive tasks in TS, ASD and BPD; unusual resting state activity has been revealed in schizophrenia; and structural changes have been associated with symptoms of OCD and NPD (**Table 2**). Problems with self-other distinction may also manifest as atypical activity within the mentalizing system, perhaps as hypo-activation of rTPJ when mentalizing is cued or hyper-activation when it is not [e.g., 29, 46]. Many studies have revealed that the right TPJ in particular, may demonstrate atypical activity during social cognitive tasks in patient populations with symptoms linked to problems with self-other distinction.

Perhaps the best evidence links brain dysfunction directly to behavioral signs of self-other distinction problems or related symptoms. For example, in TS, global measures of echophenomena and urges to tic have been associated with rTPJ activity during two different social cognitive tasks (26, 184). In schizophrenia, psychosis has been linked to negative symptoms (249) and excessive activity within the MNS (83), while reduced neural synchrony involving rTPJ has been implicated in impaired social communication in autism (283). Overall however, few studies have attempted to explore specific associations.

DISCUSSION

Primary Effects, Secondary Symptoms and Coping Strategies

Many neuropsychiatric disorders feature emotional, cognitive and/or motor features that are likely to indicate problems with self-other distinction. Within each of these domains, we may identify both signs of low self-other distinction, and characteristics or behaviors that could constitute secondary effects or coping strategies which serve to increase self-other distinction. For example, frequent emotion contagion may lead to emotional dysregulation, and detachment from emotional experiences may combat personal distress. Cognitive features associated with poor self-other distinction may manifest as paranoia or projection, and potential coping strategies include avoidance of perspective taking or buffering sense of self through grandiosity or impulsive non-conformity. Excessive motor resonance with others (e.g., poor imitation inhibition) may reduce sense of physical agency and encourage the development of tics and compulsions that may help to restore this.

A novel contribution of the hypotheses presented herein is that they can account for a range of seemingly contradictory

behaviors and self-defeating symptoms. There is irony in that many of the symptoms that arise through difficulties with selfother distinction, and reflect greater resonance with others' mental states, could appear to suggest hypo-mentalizing or antagonism toward others. This highlights the importance of considering both ability and application. Where over-application occurs, resulting difficulties may be as great as in cases of underapplication.

While the concept of self-other distinction can be applied to cognition, emotion or movement, it's also important to consider automaticity, or implicit vs. explicit processes and skills, where possible. For example, processes that reduce selfother distinction and involve the motor and limbic system (e.g., emotion contagion) appear fairly implicit or automatic (301, 302), although some individuals may be more susceptible to the cues that initiate this. In contrast, complex higher level mentalizing may be to some extent more explicit or controllable (16, 186, 303). An over-responsive MNS leading to frequent limbic dysregulation may initiate confusion around sense of agency, which then becomes more generalized to thought and action. In general, as we cannot directly observe another person's thought, it makes sense for cognitive signs to occur further downstream. For example, while excessive automatic emotion contagion is often a primary sign, secondary effects such as reduced perspective taking or conscious attention to other's emotions, may help to compensate for the primary problem (i.e., low self-other distinction). Other indirect signs (e.g., tics and motor compulsions) may seem less conscious, although differentiating between conscious strategies and automatic compulsive responses can be challenging. Furthermore, regulatory or compensatory effects may occur across domains, supported by the finding that both cognitive (thought action fusion; sense of agency) and emotional (personal distress) factors mediate the relationship between emotion contagion and alexithymia (287).

Therapeutic Implications, Limitations and Remaining Questions

The struggle to achieve a healthy and functional balance of self-other distinction may manifest in a range of forms, from tics in TS, to repetitive cycles of affiliation followed by antagonism in BPD. The theory presented suggests while those with neurodevelopmental, anxiety and personality disorders express differing constellations of internalizing and externalizing symptoms, overlapping difficulties with selfother distinction imply shared dysfunction within a common underlying neuropsychological mechanism. Therefore the potential therapeutic benefit of addressing difficulties with self-other distinction should be extensive, once the specific associations between self-other distinction and the suggested related symptoms and coping mechanisms have been established. Psychological interventions have begun to consider factors which overlap with the self-other distinction theme (e.g., self-awareness; emotion regulation; mentalizing), including metacognitive approaches for psychosis [e.g., (304, 305)], and personality disorders (306, 307). Other emerging interventions combine non-invasive brain stimulation with social cognitive (308) or sensori-motor (309) related training. Future related research should seek to first fully define and operationalise the construct of self-other distinction, before identifying reliable measures (e.g., self-other overlap index) that can be used in assessment and evaluation. Ultimately we should seek to harness what we can from behaviors that appear to counteract a problem with self-other distinction in order to inform therapeutic strategies.

The proposed hypotheses prompt further unanswered questions. For example, longitudinal studies are necessary to test whether suggested primary signs of low self-other distinction (e.g., emotion contagion; echophenomena) precede the development of other symptoms such as alexithymia, blunted affect, paranoia, antagonistic behaviors. This would identify risk factors and targets for early intervention. While there should be common overlap in the underlying mechanisms, individual differences in neural organization or stage of development of self-other distinction difficulties or compensatory responses, would help to explain the predominance of features within a given domain e.g., motor in TS vs. cognitive in schizophrenia. Diagnostic and therapeutic approaches would also be informed by a better understanding of the specific neural networks and structures involved, as well as factors such as the relationship between self-other distinction and executive dysfunction (e.g., cognitive flexibility). Can most of the symptoms described be linked to dysfunction of rTPJ, and is this synonymous with overactivation of the MNS or altered functional connectivity between the mirroring and mentalizing networks? Recent studies have revealed rTPJ activation in relation to forward predictions in both highly social (310) and less social (311) contexts, so further related clinical research using carefully selected experimental tasks is needed.

Many psychiatric symptoms appear likely to stem from low self-other distinction. However, some behavioral problems may reflect excessive self-other distinction as a primary effect. For example, the data on autism seems to suggest a mixed pattern, which could be linked to motor and/or MNS dysfunction [(312– 314); but see (315)]. Social cognition is frequently impaired in movement disorder (316) and an impaired motor system will likely impair self-other distinction through loss of feedback between motor resonance and emotional processes (317). In relation to primary and secondary effects, primary psychopathy is thought to involve a fundamental deficit in affective empathy

REFERENCES

- 1. Iacoboni M, Dapretto M. The mirror neuron system and the consequences of its dysfunction. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2006) 7:942–51. doi: 10.1038/nrn2024
- Cattaneo L, Rizzolatti G. The mirror neuron system. Arch Neurol. (2009) 66:557–60. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2009.41
- Kaplan JT, Iacoboni M. Getting a grip on other minds: mirror neurons, intention understanding, and cognitive empathy. *Soc Neurosci.* (2006) 1:175– 83. doi: 10.1080/17470910600985605
- Iacoboni M, Molnar-Szakacs I, Gallese V, Buccino G, Mazziotta JC, Rizzolatti G. Grasping the intentions of others with one's own mirror neuron system. *PLoS Biol.* (2005) 3:e79. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio. 0030079

and therefore high self-other distinction, whereas secondary psychopathy may involve indirect symptoms or those arising through a coping strategy (318). It is possible that some of the signs and symptoms presented here that are suggestive of high self-other distinction constitute primary rather than secondary effects. Furthermore, some behaviors could reflect either high or low self-other distinction [e.g., hypo-imitation: (319)] and whether an individual may fluctuate between polarized high or low self-other distinction (e.g., due to rTPJ dysfunction) remains to be explored. Other more general limitations include the challenges in reviewing the literature and drawing comparisons across different studies and disorders, because of variations in terms used, co-morbidities, reliability of self-report and unknown impact of medications.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, impaired self-other distinction, potentially underpinned by excessive mirroring, and/or hypoactivation of rTPJ, appears to lead to a disturbed sense of agency and the manifestation of a range of psychiatric symptoms across emotional, motor and cognitive domains. These symptoms variously reflect, or attempt to redress, the problematic level of self-other distinction. Understanding the hidden relationship between self-other distinction and symptoms as diverse as paranoia, self-harm, tics and narcissism, and considering the potential compensatory value of compulsive and antagonistic behaviors that are typically viewed as dysfunctional, will enhance our global understanding of mental health and expedite the development of more effective and innovative interventions.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

- Umiltà MA, Kohler E, Gallese V, Fogassi L, Fadiga L, Keysers C, et al. I know what you are doing. *Neurophysiol Study Neuron*. (2001) 31:155– 65. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00337-3
- Keysers C, Paracampo R. Gazzola V. What neuromodulation and lesion studies tell us about the function of the mirror neuron system and embodied cognition. *Curr Opin Psychol.* (2018) 24:35–40. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2018.04.001
- Gallese V. Before and below 'theory of mind': embodied simulation and the neural correlates of social cognition. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* (2007) 362:659–69. doi: 10.1098/rstb.200 6.2002
- 8. Eddy CM. Social cognition and self-other distinctions in neuropsychiatry: Insights from schizophrenia and Tourette

syndrome. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. (2018) 82:69–85. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.11.026

- Hickok G. Eight problems for the mirror neuron theory of action understanding in monkeys and humans. J Cogn Neurosci. (2009) 21:1229– 43. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2009.21189
- de la Rosa S, Schillinger FL, Bülthoff HH, Schultz J, Uludag K. fMRI adaptation between action observation and action execution reveals cortical areas with mirror neuron properties in human BA 44/45. Front Hum Neurosci. (2016) 10:78. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00078
- Binder E, Dovern A, Hesse MD, Ebke M, Karbe H, Saliger J, et al. Lesion evidence for a human mirror neuron system. *Cortex*. (2017) 90:125– 37. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2017.02.008
- Ferrari PF, Gerbella M, Coudé G, Rozzi S. Two different mirror neuron networks: The sensorimotor (hand) and limbic (face) pathways. *Neurosci.* (2017) 358:300–15. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.06.052
- Meltzoff AN, Moore MK. Explaining facial imitation: a theoretical model. Early Dev Parent. (1997) 6:179–92. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-0917(199709/ 12)6:3/4<179::AID-EDP157>3.0.CO;2-R
- Frith CD, Frith U. The neural basis of mentalizing. *Neuron.* (2006) 50:531– 4. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.05.001
- Van Overwalle F, Baetens K. Understanding others' actions and goals by mirror and mentalizing systems: a meta-analysis. *Neuroimage*. (2009) 48:564–84. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.06.009
- Spunt RP, Lieberman MD. The busy social brain: evidence for automaticity and control in the neural systems supporting social cognition and action understanding. *Psychol Sci.* (2013) 24:80–6. doi: 10.1177/09567976124 50884
- Eddy CM. The junction between self and other? Temporoparietal dysfunction in neuropsychiatry. *Neuropsychologia*. (2016) 89:465–77. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.07.030
- Saxe R, Kanwisher N. People thinking about thinking people. The role of the temporo-parietal junction in "theory of mind". *Neuroimage*. (2003) 19:1835–42. doi: 10.1016/S1053-8119(03)00230-1
- Saxe R, Wexler A. Making sense of another mind: the role of the right temporo-parietal junction. *Neuropsychologia*. (2005) 43:1391– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2005.02.013
- Santiesteban I, Banissy MJ, Catmur C, Bird G. Enhancing social ability by stimulating right temporoparietal junction. *Curr Biol.* (2012) 22:2274– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2012.10.018
- Giardina A, Caltagirone C, Oliveri M. The temporoparietal junction modulates self-other motor representations during online and offline social motor conflict: an rTMS study. *Neuroreport.* (2015) 26:1–5. doi: 10.1097/WNR.00000000000282
- Hogeveen J, Chartrand TL, Obhi SS. Social mimicry enhances musuppression during action observation. *Cereb Cortex.* (2015) 25:2076– 82. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhu016
- Sowden S, Catmur C. The role of the right temporoparietal junction in the control of imitation. *Cereb Cortex*. (2015) 25:1107–13. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bht306
- Krautheim JT, Steines M, Dannlowski U, Neziroglu G, Acosta H, Sommer J, et al. Emotion specific neural activation for the production and perception of facial expressions. *Cortex.* (2020) 127:17–28. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2020.01.026
- Schmidt SNL, Sojer CA, Hass J, Kirsch P, Mier D. fMRI adaptation reveals: the human mirror neuron system discriminates emotional valence. *Cortex*. (2020) 128:270–80. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2020.03.026
- Eddy CM, Cavanna AE, Hansen PC. Empathy and aversion: the neural signature of mentalizing in Tourette syndrome. *Psychol Med.* (2017) 47:507– 17. doi: 10.1017/S0033291716002725
- Neuner I, Kellermann T, Stöcker T, Kircher T, Habel U, Shah JN, et al. Amygdala hypersensitivity in response to emotional faces in Tourette's patients. World J Biol Psychiatry. (2010) 11:858–72. doi: 10.3109/15622975.2010.480984
- Lehmann A, Bahçesular K, Brockmann EM, Biederbick SE, Dziobek I, Gallinat J, et al. Subjective experience of emotions and emotional empathy in paranoid schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 220:825–33. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.09.009

- Brosnan M, Ashwin C, Walker I, Donaghue J. Can an "Extreme Female Brain" be characterised in terms of psychosis? *Pers Indiv Differ*. (2010) 49:738–42. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2010.06.018
- 30. Jalal B, Ramachandran VS. "I feel your disgust and relief": can the action understanding system (mirror neuron system) be recruited to induce disgust and relief from contamination vicariously, in individuals with obsessive-compulsive disorder symptoms? *Neurocase*. (2017) 23:31– 5. doi: 10.1080/13554794.2017.1279638
- Helt MS, Fein DA, Vargas JE. Emotional contagion in children with autism spectrum disorder varies with stimulus familiarity and task instructions. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2020) 32:383–93. doi: 10.1017/S0954579419000154
- Hadjikhani N, Zürcher NR, Rogier O, Hippolyte L, Lemonnier E, Ruest T, et al. Emotional contagion for pain is intact in autism spectrum disorders. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2014) 4:e343. doi: 10.1038/tp.2013.113
- Herpertz SC, Bertsch K. The social-cognitive basis of personality disorders. Curr Opin Psychiatry. (2014) 27:73–7. doi: 10.1097/YCO.0000000000000026
- Matzke B, Herpertz SC, Berger C, Fleischer M, Domes G. Facial reactions during emotion recognition in borderline personality disorder: a facial electromyography study. *Psychopathology*. (2014) 47:101–10. doi: 10.1159/000351122
- Czarna AZ, Zajenkowski M, Maciantowicz O, Szymaniak K. The relationship of narcissism with tendency to react with anger and hostility: the roles of neuroticism and emotion regulation ability. *Curr Psychol.* (2021) 40:5499– 514. doi: 10.1007/s12144-019-00504-6
- Eddy CM, Macerollo A, Martino D, Cavanna AE. Interpersonal reactivity differences in Tourette syndrome. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 228:932–5. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.05.070
- Montag C, Heinz A, Kunz D, Gallinat J. Self-reported empathic abilities in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2007) 92:85–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.01.024
- Wang W, Zhou Y, Wang J, Xu H, Wei S, Wang D, et al. Prevalence, clinical correlates of suicide attempt and its relationship with empathy in patients with schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2020) 99:109863. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2020.109863
- Fontenelle LF, Soares ID, Miele F, Borges MC, Prazeres AM, Rangé BP, et al. Empathy and symptoms dimensions of patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Psychiatric Res. (2009) 43:455–63. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2008.05.007
- Kang JI, Namkoong K, Yoo SW, Jhung K, Kim SJ. Abnormalities of emotional awareness and perception in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Affect Dis. (2012) 141:286–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2012.04.001
- Rogers K, Dziobek I, Hassenstab J, Wolf OT, Convit A. Who cares? Revisiting empathy in Asperger syndrome. J Autism Dev Disord. (2007) 37:709– 15. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0197-8
- Brett JD, Maybery MT. Understanding oneself to understand others: the role of alexithymia and anxiety in the relationships between autistic trait dimensions and empathy. J Autism Dev Disord. (2021) 26:1– 3. doi: 10.1007/s10803-021-05086-6
- Dziobek I, Preissler S, Grozdanovic Z, Heuser I, Heekeren HR, Roepke S. Neuronal correlates of altered empathy and social cognition in borderline personality disorder. *Neuroimage.* (2011) 57:539–48. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.05.005
- Flasbeck V, Enzi B, Brüne M. Childhood trauma affects processing of social interactions in borderline personality disorder: An event-related potential study investigating empathy for pain. *World J Biol Psychiatry*. (2019) 20:278– 88. doi: 10.1080/15622975.2017.1333147
- Harari H, Shamay-Tsoory SG, Ravid M, Levkovitz Y. Double dissociation between cognitive and affective empathy in borderline personality disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* (2010) 175:277–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2009. 03.002
- New AS, aan het Rot M, Ripoll LH, Perez-Rodriguez MM, Lazarus S, Zipursky E, et al. Empathy and alexithymia in borderline personality disorder: clinical and laboratory measures. *J Pers Disord*. (2012) 26:660– 75. doi: 10.1521/pedi.2012.26.5.660
- Petersen R, Brakoulias V, Langdon R. An experimental investigation of mentalization ability in borderline personality disorder. *Compr Psychiatry*. (2016) 64:12–21. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2015.10.004

- De Panfilis C, Antonucci C, Meehan KB, Cain NM, Soliani A, Marchesi C, et al. Facial emotion recognition and social-cognitive correlates of narcissistic features. J Pers Disord. (2019) 33:433–49. doi: 10.1521/pedi_2018_32_350
- 49. Rogoza R, Zemojtel-Piotrowska M, Kwiatkowska MM, Kwiatkowska K. The bright, the dark, and the blue face of narcissism: the spectrum of narcissism in its relations to the metatraits of personality, self-esteem, and the nomological network of shyness, loneliness, and empathy. *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:343. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00343
- Quast LF, Rosenthal LD, Cushman GK, Gutiérrez-Colina AM, Braley EI, Kardon P, et al. Relations between tic severity, emotion regulation, and social outcomes in youth with tourette syndrome. *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev.* (2020) 51:366–76. doi: 10.1007/s10578-019-00948-8
- Hagstrøm J, Spang KS, Vangkilde S, Maigaard K, Skov L, Pagsberg AK, et al. An observational study of emotion regulation in children with Tourette syndrome. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (2021) 62:790– 7. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13375
- 52. Liu J, Subramaniam M, Chong SA, Mahendran R. Maladaptive cognitive emotion regulation strategies and positive symptoms in schizophrenia spectrum disorders: The mediating role of global emotion dysregulation. *Clin Psychol Psychother.* (2020) 27:826–36. doi: 10.1002/cpp.2466
- Liu J, Chan T, Chong SA, Subramaniam M, Mahendran R. cognitive insight on psychotic and depressive symptoms during the early course of schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Early Interv Psychiatry*. (2020) 14:691– 7. doi: 10.1111/eip.12895
- Jansen M, Overgaauw S, De Bruijn ERA. Social cognition and obsessivecompulsive disorder: a review of subdomains of social functioning. *Front Psychiatry*. (2020) 11:118. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00118
- Samson AC, Phillips JM, Parker KJ, Shah S, Gross JJ, Hardan AY. Emotion dysregulation and the core features of autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. (2014) 44:1766–72. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-2022-5
- Gormley E, Ryan C, McCusker C. Alexithymia is associated with emotion dysregulation in young people with autism spectrum disorder. *J Dev Phys.* (2021) 7:1–6. doi: 10.1007/s10882-021-09795-9
- Mazefsky CA Yu L, White SW, Siegel M, Pilkonis PA. The emotion dysregulation inventory: Psychometric properties and item response theory calibration in an autism spectrum disorder sample. *Autism Res.* (2018) 11:928–41. doi: 10.1002/aur.1947
- Tani M, Kanai C, Ota H, Yamada T, Watanabe H, Yokoi H, et al. Mental and behavioral symptoms of person's with Asperger's syndrome: Relationships with social isolation and handicaps. *Res Autism Spectrum Disord*. (2012) 6:907–12. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2011.12.004
- Sharp C, Pane H, Ha C, Venta A, Patel AB, Sturek J, et al. Theory of mind and emotion regulation difficulties in adolescents with borderline traits. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2011) 50:563–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2011.01.017
- Cheshure A, Zeigler-Hill V, Sauls D, Vrabel JK, Lehtman MH. Narcissism and emotion dysregulation: Narcissistic admiration and narcissistic rivalry have divergent associations with emotion regulation difficulties. *Pers Individ Diff.* (2020) 154:109679. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2019.109679
- Zhang H, Wang Z, You X, Lü W, Luo Y. Associations between narcissism and emotion regulation difficulties: Respiratory sinus arrhythmia reactivity as a moderator. *Biol Psychol.* (2015) 110:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2015.06.014
- Ponzoni S, Beomonte Zobel S, Rogier G, Velotti P. Emotion dysregulation acts in the relationship between vulnerable narcissism and suicidal ideation. *Scand J Psychol.* (2021) 62:468–75. doi: 10.1111/sjop. 12730
- 63. Di Pierro R, Di Sarno M, Madeddu F. Investigating the relationship between narcissism and emotion regulation difficulties: The role of grandiose and vulnerable traits. *Clin Neuropsychiatry: J Treat Eval.* (2017) 14:209–15.
- Thibert AL, Day HI, Sandor P. Self-concept and self-consciousness in adults with Tourette syndrome. *Can J Psychiatry*. (1995) 40:35– 9. doi: 10.1177/070674379504000109
- Pile V, Robinson S, Topor M, Hedderly T, Lau JYF. Attention bias for social threat in youth with tic disorders: Links with tic severity and social anxiety. *Child Neuropsychol.* (2019) 25:394–409. doi: 10.1080/09297049.2018.1480754

- Harvey PO, Bodnar M, Sergerie K, Armony J, Lepage M. Relation between emotional face memory and social anhedonia in schizophrenia. J Psychiatry Neurosci. (2009) 34:102–10.
- Lecomte T, Théroux L, Paquin K, Potvin S, Achim A. Can Social Anxiety Impact Facial Emotion Recognition in Schizophrenia? J Nerv Ment Dis. (2019) 207:140–4. doi: 10.1097/NMD.00000000000934
- Berger P, Bitsch F, Jakobi B, Nagels A, Straube B, Falkenberg I. Cognitive and emotional empathy in patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders: a replication and extension study. *Psychiatry Res.* (2019) 276:56– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2019.04.015
- Çeşmeci U, Yüksel RN, Kaya H, Dilbaz N. Schizotypality and neurological soft signs in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Psychiatry Clin Psychopharmacol.* (2017) 27:234–40. doi: 10.1080/24750573.2017.1342752
- Xia J, Fan J, Du H, Liu W, Li S, Zhu J, et al. Abnormal spontaneous neural activity in the medial prefrontal cortex and right superior temporal gyrus correlates with anhedonia severity in obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Affect Disord. (2019) 259:47–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.08.019
- Bejerot S, Eriksson JM, Mörtberg E. Social anxiety in adult autism spectrum disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 220:705– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.08.030
- Pickard H, Hirsch C, Simonoff E, Happé F. Exploring the cognitive, emotional and sensory correlates of social anxiety in autistic and neurotypical adolescents. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2020) 61:1317– 27. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13214
- Chevallier C, Grèzes J, Molesworth C, Berthoz S, Happé F. Brief report: selective social anhedonia in high functioning autism. J Autism Dev Disord. 42:1504–9. doi: 10.1007/s10803-011-1364-0
- Weinbrecht A, Roepke S, Renneberg B. Fear of positive evaluation in borderline personality disorder. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0237944. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0237944
- Chabrol H, Valls M, van Leeuwen N, Bui E. Callous-unemotional and borderline traits in nonclinical adolescents: Personality profiles and relations to antisocial behaviors. *Pers Individ Diff.* (2012) 53:969– 73 doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2012.07.017
- Stanton K, Zimmerman M. Clinician ratings of vulnerable and grandiose narcissistic features: Implications for an expanded narcissistic personality disorder diagnosis. *Personal Disord.* (2018) 9:263–72. doi: 10.1037/per0000272
- Eddy CM, Cavanna AE. Triangles, tricks and tics: Hyper-mentalizing in response to animated shapes in Tourette syndrome. *Cortex.* (2015) 71:68– 75. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2015.06.003
- Silvestri PR, Chiarotti F, Giustini S, Cardona F. Alexithymia and tic disorders: a study on a sample of children and their mothers. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2019) 28:461–70. doi: 10.1007/s00787-018-1209-x
- Ospina LH, Shanahan M, Perez-Rodriguez MM, Chan CC, Clari R, Burdick KE. Alexithymia predicts poorer social and everyday functioning in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* (2019) 273:218– 26. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2019.01.033
- Irani F, Platek SM, Panyavin IS, Calkins ME, Kohler C, Siegel SJ, et al. Self-face recognition and theory of mind in patients with schizophrenia and first-degree relatives. *Schizophr Res.* (2006) 88:151– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2006.07.016
- Suslow T, Roestel C, Arolt V. Affective priming in schizophrenia with and without affective negative symptoms. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2003) 253:292–300. doi: 10.1007/s00406-003-0443-4
- Lindner C, Dannlowski U, Bauer J, Ohrmann P, Lencer R, Zwitserlood P, et al. Affective flattening in patients with schizophrenia: differential association with amygdala response to threat-related facial expression under automatic and controlled processing conditions. *Psychiatry Investig.* (2016) 13:102– 11. doi: 10.4306/pi.2016.13.1.102
- Lee JS, Chun JW, Yoon SY, Park HJ, Kim JJ. Involvement of the mirror neuron system in blunted affect in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 152:268–74. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.10.043
- 84. Grabe HJ, Ruhrmann S, Ettelt S, Muller A, Buhtz F, Hochrein A, et al. Alexithymia in obsessive-compulsive disorder—results from a family study. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2006) 75:312–8. doi: 10.1159/0000 93954

- Roh D, Kim WJ, Kim CH. Alexithymia in obsessive-compulsive disorder: clinical correlates and symptom dimensions. J Nerv Ment Dis. (2011) 199:690–5. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0b013e318229d209
- Khosravani V, Samimi Ardestani M, Sharifi Bastan F, Kamali Z. The relationship between alexithymia and symptom dimensions in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Obsessive-Compulsive Relat Disord. (2017) 14:127–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jocrd.2017.04.001
- Kim H, Seo J, Namkoong K, Hwang EH, Sohn SY, Kim SJ, et al. Alexithymia and perfectionism traits are associated with suicidal risk in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Affect Disord. (2016) 192:50– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.12.018
- Milosavljevic B, Carter Leno V, Simonoff E, Baird G, Pickles A, Jones CR, et al. Alexithymia in adolescents with autism spectrum disorder: its relationship to internalising difficulties, sensory modulation and social cognition. J Autism Dev Disord. (2016) 46:1354–67. doi: 10.1007/s10803-015-2670-8
- Stagg SD, Slavny R, Hand C, Cardoso A, Smith P. Does facial expressivity count? How typically developing children respond initially to children with autism. Autism. (2014) 18:704–11. doi: 10.1177/1362361313492392
- Trevisan DA, Hoskyn M, Birmingham E. Facial expression production in autism: a meta-analysis. *Autism Res.* 11:1586–601. doi: 10.1002/aur.2037
- Lind M, Thomsen DK, Bøye R, Heinskou T, Simonsen S, Jørgensen CR. Personal and parents' life stories in patients with borderline personality disorder. *Scand J Psychol.* (2019) 60:231–42. doi: 10.1111/sjop.12529
- Németh N, Péterfalvi Á, Czéh B, Tényi T, Simon M. Examining the relationship between executive functions and mentalizing abilities of patients with borderline personality disorder. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:1583. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01583
- De Panfilis C, Ossola P, Tonna M, Catania L, Marchesi C. Finding words for feelings: The relationship between personality disorders and alexithymia. *Pers Individ Diffs*. (2015) 74:285–91. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014.10.050
- Derks YPMJ, Westerhof GJ, Bohlmeijer ET. A meta-analysis on the association between emotional awareness and borderline personality pathology. J Pers Disord. (2017) 31:362–84. doi: 10.1521/pedi_2016_30_257
- Sleuwaegen E, Houben M, Claes L, Berens A, Sabbe B. The relationship between non-suicidal self-injury and alexithymia in borderline personality disorder: "actions instead of words". *Compr Psychiatry.* (2017) 77:80– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2017.06.006
- Renneberg B, Heyn K, Gebhard R, Bachmann S. Facial expression of emotions in borderline personality disorder and depression. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry. (2005) 36:183–96. doi: 10.1016/j.jbtep.2005.05.002
- 97. Fan Y, Wonneberger C, Enzi B, de Greck M, Ulrich C, Tempelmann C, et al. The narcissistic self and its psychological and neural correlates: an exploratory fMRI study. *Psychol Med.* (2011) 41:1641–50. doi: 10.1017/S003329171000228X
- Ritzl A, Csukly G, Balázs K, Égerházi A. Facial emotion recognition deficits and alexithymia in borderline, narcissistic, and histrionic personality disorders. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 270:154–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.09.017
- 99. Krystal H. Affect regulation and narcissism: Trauma, alexithymia and psychosomatic illness in narcissistic patients. In: Ronningtam E, editors. Disorders of narcissism: diagnostic, clinical and empirical implications. (1998). p. 229–325. New York: American Psychiatric Press.
- Eddy CM, Mitchell IJ, Beck SR, Cavanna AE, Rickards HE. Altered attribution of intention in Tourette's syndrome. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. (2010) 22:348–51. doi: 10.1176/jnp.2010.22.3.348
- 101. Comings DE, Comings BG, A. controlled study of Tourette syndrome. IV Obsessions, compulsions, and schizoid behaviors. Am J Hum Genet. (1987) 41:782–803.
- Cavanna AE, Robertson MM, Critchley HD. Schizotypal personality traits in Gilles de la Tourette syndrome. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2007) 116:385– 91. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2007.00879.x
- 103. Russell TA, Reynaud E, Herba C, Morris R, Corcoran R. Do you see what I see? Interpretations of intentional movement in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2006) 81:101–11. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2005. 10.002
- Kohler CG, Turner TH, Bilker WB, Brensinger CM, Siegel SJ, Kanes SJ, et al. Facial emotion recognition in schizophrenia:

intensity effects and error pattern. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2003) 160:1768–74. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.160.10.1768

- 105. Backasch B, Straube B, Pyka M, Klöhn-Saghatolislam F, Müller MJ, Kircher TT, et al. Hyperintentionality during automatic perception of naturalistic cooperative behavior in patients with schizophrenia. *Soc Neurosci.* (2013) 8:489–504. doi: 10.1080/17470919.2013.820666
- Wastler HM, Lenzenweger MF. Self-referential hypermentalization in schizotypy. *Personal Disord.* (2019) 10:536–44. doi: 10.1037/per0000344
- 107. Fonseca-Pedrero E, Lemos-Giráldez S, Paíno-Piñeiro M, Villazón-García U, Muñiz J. Schizotypal traits, obsessive-compulsive symptoms, and social functioning in adolescents. *Compr Psychiatry.* (2010) 51:71–7. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2009.02.003
- Tellawi G, Williams MT, Chasson GS. Interpersonal hostility and suspicious thinking in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* (2016) 243:295– 302. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.06.038
- Neave N, Jackson R, Saxton T, Hönekopp J. The influence of anthropomorphic tendencies on human hoarding behaviors. *Pers Individ Diffs*. (2015) 72:214–9. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014.08.041
- Caruana N, White RC, Remington A. Autistic traits and loneliness in autism are associated with increased tendencies to anthropomorphise. Q J Exp Psychol. (2021) 74:1295–304. doi: 10.1177/17470218211005694
- 111. Atherton G, Cross L. Seeing more than human: autism and anthropomorphic theory of mind. *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:528. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00528
- 112. Blackshaw AJ, Kinderman P, Hare DJ, Hatton C. Theory of mind, causal attribution and paranoia in Asperger syndrome. *Autism.* (2001) 5:147– 63. doi: 10.1177/1362361301005002005
- 113. Pinkham AE, Sasson NJ, Beaton D, Abdi H, Kohler CG, Penn DL. Qualitatively distinct factors contribute to elevated rates of paranoia in autism and schizophrenia. J Abnorm Psychol. (2012) 121:767–77. doi: 10.1037/a0028510
- Kernberg OF. Projection and projective identification: developmental and clinical aspects. J Am Psychoanal Assoc. (1987) 35:795– 819. doi: 10.1177/000306518703500401
- Muñoz-Negro JE, Prudent C, Gutiérrez B, Cervilla JA. Paranoia and risk of personality disorder in the general population. *Personal Ment Health.* (2019) 13:107–16. doi: 10.1002/pmh.1443
- 116. Oliva F, Dalmotto M, Pirfo E, Furlan PM, Picci RL. A comparison of thought and perception disorders in borderline personality disorder and schizophrenia: psychotic experiences as a reaction to impaired social functioning. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2014) 14:239. doi: 10.1186/s12888-014-0239-2
- 117. Joiner TE, Petty S, Perez M, Sachs-Ericsson N, Rudd MD. Depressive symptoms induce paranoid symptoms in narcissistic personalities (but not narcissistic symptoms in paranoid personalities). *Psychiatry Res.* (2008) 159:237–44. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2007.05.009
- Poggi A, Richetin J, Preti E. Trust and rejection sensitivity in personality disorders. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2019) 21:69. doi: 10.1007/s11920-019-1059-3
- Goldner-Vukov M, Moore LJ. Malignant Narcissism: from fairy tales to harsh reality. *Psychiatr Danub*. (2010) 22:392–405.
- 120. Garfield D, Havens L. Paranoid phenomena and pathological narcissism. Am J Psychother. (1991) 45:160– 72. doi: 10.1176/appi.psychotherapy.1991.45.2.160
- 121. Hanks CE, McGuire JF, Lewin AB, Storch EA, Murphy TK. Clinical correlates and mediators of self-concept in youth with chronic tic disorders. *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev.* (2016) 47:64–74. doi: 10.1007/s10578-015-0544-0
- Moe AM, Docherty NM. Schizophrenia and the sense of self. Schizophr Bull. (2014) 40:161–8. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt121
- Vodušek VV, Parnas J, Tomori M, Škodlar B. The phenomenology of emotion experience in first-episode psychosis. *Psychopathology*. (2014) 47:252–60. doi: 10.1159/000357759
- Nelson B, Raballo A. Basic self-disturbance in the schizophrenia spectrum: taking stock and moving forward. *Psychopathology*. (2015) 48:301– 9. doi: 10.1159/000437211
- Doron G, Moulding R, Kyrios M, Nedeljkovic M. Sensitivity of selfbeliefs in obsessive compulsive disorder. *Depress Anxiety.* (2008) 25:874– 84. doi: 10.1002/da.20369
- 126. Doron G, Kyrios M, Moulding R. Sensitive domains of selfconcept in obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD): further evidence

for a multidimensional model of OCD. J Anxiety Disord. (2007) 21:433-44. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2006.05.008

- 127. Ferrier S, Brewin C. Feared identity and obsessive compulsive disorder. Behav Res Ther. (2005) 43:1363–74. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2004.10.005
- Berna F, Göritz AS, Schröder J, Coutelle R, Danion JM, Cuervo-Lombard CV, et al. Self-disorders in individuals with autistic traits: contribution of reduced autobiographical reasoning capacities. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2016) 46:2587–98. doi: 10.1007/s10803-016-2797-2
- 129. Coutelle R, Goltzene MA, Bizet E, Schoenberger M, Berna F, Danion JM. Selfconcept clarity and autobiographical memory functions in adults with autism spectrum disorder without intellectual deficiency. J Autism Dev Disord. (2020) 50:3874–82. doi: 10.1007/s10803-020-04447-x
- Skirrow P, Jackson P, Perry E, Hare DJ, I. Collect Therefore I am—autonoetic consciousness and hoarding in Asperger syndrome. *Clin Psychol Psychother*. (2015) 22:278–84. doi: 10.1002/cpp.1889
- Lind M, Vanwoerden S, Penner F, Sharp C. Inpatient adolescents with borderline personality disorder features: Identity diffusion and narrative incoherence. *Personal Disord.* (2019) 10:389–93. doi: 10.1037/per0000338
- 132. Meares R, Gerull F, Stevenson J, Korner A. Is self disturbance the core of borderline personality disorder? An outcome study of borderline personality factors. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry.* (2011) 45:214–22. doi: 10.3109/00048674.2010.551280
- Bender DS, Skodol AE. Borderline personality as a self-other representational disturbance. J Pers Disord. (2007) 21:500–17. doi: 10.1521/pedi.2007.21.5.500
- Fuchs T. Fragmented selves: temporality and identity in borderline personality disorder. *Psychopathology*. (2007) 40:379– 87. doi: 10.1159/000106468
- Gunderson JG, Herpertz SC, Skodol AE, Torgersen S, Zanarini MC. Borderline personality disorder. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2018) 4:18029. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2018.29
- Diamond D, Yeomans F, Keefe JR. Transference-Focused Psychotherapy for Pathological Narcissism and Narcissistic Personality Disorder (TFP-N). *Psychodyn Psychiatry*. (2021) 49:244–72. doi: 10.1521/pdps.2021.49.2.244
- Eddy CM, Cavanna AE. Do patients with Tourette syndrome jump to conclusions? J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. (2014) 26:396–9. doi: 10.1176/appi.neuropsych.13090218
- Robertson MM, Cavanna AE. The disaster was my fault! *Neurocase*. (2008) 13:446–51. doi: 10.1080/13554790802001395
- 139. Kabakci E, Demir B, Demirel H, Sevik AE. Thought-action fusion: is it present in schizophrenia? *Behavi Change*. (2008) 25:169–77. doi: 10.1375/bech.25.3.169
- 140. Randjbar S, Veckenstedt R, Vitzthum F, Hottenrott B, Moritz S. Attributional biases in paranoid schizophrenia: Further evidence for a decreased sense of self-causation in paranoia. *Psychosis.* (2011) 3:74– 85. doi: 10.1080/17522431003717675
- 141. Asai T, Tanno Y. Highly schizotypal students have a weaker sense of self-agency. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2008) 62:115– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2007.01768.x
- 142. Einstein DA, Menzies RG. The presence of magical thinking in obsessive compulsive disorder. *Behav Res Ther.* (2004) 42:539–49. doi: 10.1016/S0005-7967(03)00160-8
- 143. Shafran R, Thordarson DS, Rachman S. Thought-action fusion in obsessive compulsive disorder. J Anx Disord. (1996) 10:379–91. doi: 10.1016/0887-6185(96)00018-7
- 144. Obsessive Compulsive Cognitions Working Group. Cognitive assessment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Behav Res Ther.* (1997) 35:667–81. doi: 10.1016/S0005-7967(97)00017-X
- 145. Oren E, Friedmann N, Dar R. Things happen: individuals with high obsessive-compulsive tendencies omit agency in their spoken language. *Conscious Cogn.* (2016) 42:125–34. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2016.03.012
- 146. Ciaramidaro A, Bölte S, Schlitt S, Hainz D, Poustka F, Weber B, et al. Schizophrenia and autism as contrasting minds: neural evidence for the hypo-hyper-intentionality hypothesis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) 41:171– 9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu124
- Visuri I. Sensory supernatural experiences in autism. *Religion Brain Behav.* (2020) 10:151–65. doi: 10.1080/2153599X.2018.1548374
- 148. Lind M, Jørgensen CR, Heinskou T, Simonsen S, Bøye R, Thomsen DK. Patients with borderline personality disorder show increased agency in life

stories after 12 months of psychotherapy. *Psychotherapy.* (2019) 56:274-84. doi: 10.1037/pst0000184

- Brown AA, Freis SD, Carroll PJ, Arkin RM. Perceived agency mediates the link between the narcissistic subtypes and self-esteem. *Pers Individ Diff.* (2016) 90:124–9. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2015.10.055
- 150. Schwarzkopf S, Schilbach L, Vogeley K, Timmermans B. "Making it explicit" makes a difference: evidence for a dissociation of spontaneous and intentional level 1 perspective taking in high-functioning autism. *Cognition*. (2014) 131:345–54. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2014. 02.003
- 151. Grzegorzewski P, Kulesza M, Pluta A, Iqbal Z, Kucharska K. Assessing self-reported empathy and altruism in patients suffering from enduring borderline personality disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* (2019) 273:798–807. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.12.109
- 152. Eddy CM. Self-serving social strategies: a systematic review of social cognition in narcissism. *Curr Psychol.* (2021). doi: 10.1007/s12144-021-01661-3
- Baskin-Sommers A, Krusemark E, Ronningstam E. Empathy in narcissistic personality disorder: from clinical and empirical perspectives. *Personal Disord.* (2014) 5:323–33. doi: 10.1037/per0000061
- Ritter K, Dziobek I, Preissler S, Rüter A, Vater A, Fydrich T, et al. Lack of empathy in patients with narcissistic personality disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* (2011) 187:241–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2010.09.013
- 155. Kozáková E, Bakštein E, Havlíček O, Bečev O, Knytl P, Zaytseva Y, et al. Disrupted sense of agency as a state marker of first-episode schizophrenia: a large-scale follow-up study. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:570570. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.570570
- 156. Eddy CM, Cavanna AE. Altered social cognition in Tourette syndrome: nature and implications. *Behav Neurol.* (2013) 27:15–22. doi: 10.1155/2013/417516
- 157. Kurlan R, Daragjati C, Como PG, McDermott MP, Trinidad KS, Roddy S, et al. Non-obscene complex socially inappropriate behavior in Tourette's syndrome. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. (1996) 8:311– 7. doi: 10.1176/jnp.8.3.311
- Najt P, Bayer U, Hausmann M. Atypical lateralisation in emotional prosody in men with schizotypy. *Laterality*. (2012) 17:533–48. doi: 10.1080/1357650X.2011.586702
- Young E, Mason O. Psychosis-proneness and socially relevant reasoning. *Psychiatry Res.* (2007) 150:123–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2006.05.003
- 160. Amr M, Volpe FM. Relationship between anhedonia and impulsivity in schizophrenia, major depression and schizoaffective disorder. Asian J Psychiatr. (2013) 6:577–80. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2013.09.002
- Belloch A, Roncero M, Perpiñá C. Ego-syntonicity and ego-dystonicity associated with upsetting intrusive cognitions. J Psychopathol Behav Assess. (2012) 34:94–106. doi: 10.1007/s10862-011-9255-4
- 162. Nurnberg HG, Raskin M, Levine PE, Pollack S, Siegel O, Prince R. The comorbidity of borderline personality disorder and other DSM-III-R axis II personality disorders. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1991) 148:1371– 7. doi: 10.1176/ajp.148.10.1371
- 163. Nurnberg HG, Siegel O, Prince R, Levine PE, Raskin M, Pollack S. Axis II comorbidity of self-defeating personality disorder. J Personality Disord. (1993) 7:10–21. doi: 10.1521/pedi.1993.7.1.10
- 164. Tonello L, Giacobbi L, Pettenon A, Scuotto A, Cocchi M, Gabrielli F, et al. Problem behavior in autism spectrum disorders: a paradigmatic self-organized perspective of network structures. *Behav Brain Sci.* (2019) 42:e28. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X18001188
- 165. Williams DL, Siegel M, Mazefsky CA. Autism and Developmental Disorders Inpatient Research Collaborative (ADDIRC). Problem behaviors in autism spectrum disorder: association with verbal ability and adapting/coping skills. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2018) 48:3668–77. doi: 10.1007/s10803-017-3179-0
- 166. Koenigsberg HW, Harvey PD, Mitropoulou V, New AS, Goodman M, Silverman J, et al. Are the interpersonal and identity disturbances in the borderline personality disorder criteria linked to the traits of affective instability and impulsivity? J Personality Disord. (2001) 15:358– 70. doi: 10.1521/pedi.15.4.358.19181
- 167. Axelrod SR, Widiger TA, Trull TJ, Corbitt EM. Relations of five-factor model antagonism facets with personality disorder symptomatology. J Pers Assess. (1997) 69:297–313. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa6902_4

- Mancini M, Stanghellini G. Values in persons with borderline personality disorder: their relevance for the therapeutic interview. *Res Psychother*. (2020) 23:449. doi: 10.4081/ripppo.2020.449
- 169. Lynam DR, Miller JD. The basic trait of antagonism: an unfortunately underappreciated construct. J Res Personality. (2019) 81:118–26. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2019.05.012
- Miller JD, Lynam DR, Hyatt CS, Campbell WK. Controversies in narcissism. Ann Rev Clin Psychol. (2017) 13:291– 315. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032816-045244
- 171. Miller JD, Campbell WK, Young DL, Lakey CE, Reidy DE, Zeichner A, et al. Examining the relations among narcissism, impulsivity, and self-defeating behaviors. J Pers. (2009) 77:761–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2009.00564.x
- Trillini MO, Müller-Vahl KR. Patients with Gilles de la Tourette syndrome have widespread personality differences. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 228:765– 73. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.04.043
- 173. Knowles R, McCarthy-Jones S, Rowse G. Grandiose delusions: a review and theoretical integration of cognitive and affective perspectives. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2011) 31:684–96. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2011.02.009
- Ardizzi M, Ambrosecchia M, Buratta L, Ferri F, Peciccia M, Donnari S, et al. Interoception and Positive Symptoms in Schizophrenia. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2016) 10:379. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00379
- 175. Bulli F, Melli G, Cavalletti V, Stopani E, Carraresi C. Comorbid Personality Disorders in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and Its Symptom Dimensions. *Psychiatr Q.* (2016) 87:365–76. doi: 10.1007/s11126-015-9393-z
- 176. Strunz S, Dziobek I, Roepke S. Comorbid psychiatric disorders and differential diagnosis of patients with autism spectrum disorder without intellectual disability. *Psychother Psychosom Med Psychol.* (2014) 64:206– 13. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1358708
- Schriber RA, Robins RW, Solomon M. Personality and self-insight in individuals with autism spectrum disorder. J Pers Soc Psychol. (2014) 106:112–30. doi: 10.1037/a0034950
- Euler S, Stöbi D, Sowislo J, Ritzler F, Huber CG, Lang UE, et al. Grandiose and vulnerable narcissism in borderline personality disorder. *Psychopathology*. (2018) 51:110–21. doi: 10.1159/000486601
- Huczewska I, Rogoza R. Vulnerable narcissism and borderline personality in relation to personal values. *Personality Individ Diff.* (2021) 153:109636. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2019.109636
- 180. Busmann M, Meyer AH, Wrege J, Lang UE, Gaab J, Walter et al. Vulnerable narcissism as beneficial factor for the therapeutic alliance in borderline personality disorder. *Clin Psychol Psychother*. (2021) 28:1222– 9. doi: 10.1002/cpp.2570
- Ackerman RA, Donnellan MB, Wright AGC. Current conceptualizations of narcissism. Curr Opin Psychiatry. (2019) 32:32–7. doi: 10.1097/YCO.00000000000463
- 182. Ganos C, Ogrzal T, Schnitzler A, Münchau A. The pathophysiology of echopraxia/echolalia: relevance to Gilles de la Tourette syndrome. *Mov Disord.* (2012) 27:1222–9. doi: 10.1002/mds.25103
- 183. Finis J, Moczydlowski A, Pollok B, Biermann-Ruben K, Thomalla G, Heil M, et al. Echoes from childhood—imitation in Gilles de la Tourette Syndrome. *Mov Disord*. (2012) 27:562–5. doi: 10.1002/mds.24913
- 184. Eddy CM, Cavanna AE, Rickards HE, Hansen PC. Temporoparietal dysfunction in Tourette syndrome: Insights from an fMRI study of Theory of Mind. J Psychiatr Res. (2016) 81:102–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.07.002
- 185. Jonas M, Thomalla G, Biermann-Ruben K, Siebner HR, Müller-Vahl K, Bäumer T, et al. Imitation in patients with Gilles de la Tourette syndrome-a behavioral study. *Mov Disord*. (2010) 25:991–9. doi: 10.1002/mds.22994
- 186. Quadrelli E, Bartoli B, Bolognini N, Cavanna AE, Zibordi F, Nardocci N, et al. Automatic imitation in youngsters with Gilles de la Tourette syndrome: a behavioral study. *Child Neuropsychol.* (2021) 27:782–98. doi: 10.1080/09297049.2021.1892050
- 187. Peralta V, Campos MS, De Jalón EG, Cuesta MJ. Motor behavior abnormalities in drug-naïve patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Mov Disord.* (2010) 25:1068–76. doi: 10.1002/mds. 23050
- 188. Müller N, Riedel M, Zawta P, Günther W, Straube A. Comorbidity of Tourette's syndrome and schizophrenia-biological and physiological

parallels. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. (2002) 26:1245-52. doi: 10.1016/S0278-5846(02)00260-9

- 189. Simonsen A, Fusaroli R, Skewes JC, Roepstorff A, Campbell-Meiklejohn D, Mors O, et al. Enhanced automatic action imitation and intact imitation-inhibition in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2019) 45:87–95. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby006
- Matthews N, Gold BJ, Sekuler R, Park S. Gesture imitation in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull. (2013) 39:94–101. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr062
- Rounis E, Banca P, Voon V. Deficits in limb praxis in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Neuropsychiatry ClinNeurosci. (2016) 28:232-5. doi: 10.1176/appi.neuropsych.15090233
- 192. Sajith SG, Liew SF, Tor PC. Response to electroconvulsive therapy in patients with autism spectrum disorder and intractable challenging behaviors associated with symptoms of catatonia. *J ECT*. (2017) 33:63– 7. doi: 10.1097/YCT.00000000000338
- Williams JH, Whiten A, Singh T. A systematic review of action imitation in autistic spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. (2004) 34:285– 99. doi: 10.1023/B:JADD.0000029551.56735.3a
- 194. Spengler S, Bird G, Brass M. Hyperimitation of actions is related to reduced understanding of others' minds in autism spectrum conditions. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2010) 68:1148–55. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.09.017
- 195. Hauschild S, Winter D, Thome J, Liebke L, Schmahl C, Bohus M, et al. Behavioural mimicry and loneliness in borderline personality disorder. *Compr Psychiatry*. (2018) 82:30–6. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2018.01.005
- 196. Marcoux LA, Michon PE, Lemelin S, Voisin JA, Vachon-Presseau E, Jackson PL. Feeling but not caring: empathic alteration in narcissistic men with high psychopathic traits. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 224:341– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2014.10.002
- Singer HS, Augustine F. Controversies surrounding the pathophysiology of tics. J Child Neurol. (2019) 34:851–62. doi: 10.1177/0883073819862121
- Moretto G, Schwingenschuh P, Katschnig P, Bhatia KP, Haggard P. Delayed experience of volition in Gilles de la Tourette syndrome. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2011) 82:1324–7. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2010.221143
- 199. Kim S, Jackson GM, Dyke K, Jackson SR. Impaired forward model updating in young adults with Tourette syndrome. *Brain.* (2019) 142:209– 19. doi: 10.1093/brain/awy306
- 200. Zapparoli L, Seghezzi S, Devoto F, Mariano M, Banfi G, Porta M, et al. Altered sense of agency in Gilles de la Tourette syndrome: behavioural, clinical and functional magnetic resonance imaging findings. *Brain Commun.* (2020) 2:fcaa204. doi: 10.1093/braincomms/fcaa204
- Frith C. The self in action: lessons from delusions of control. *Conscious Cogn.* (2005) 14:752–70. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2005.04.002
- 202. Thakkar KN, Nichols HS, McIntosh LG, Park S. Disturbances in body ownership in schizophrenia: evidence from the rubber hand illusion and case study of a spontaneous out-of-body experience. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e27089. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027089
- 203. Oren E, Eitam B, Dar R. Intentional binding and obsessive-compulsive tendencies: a dissociation between indirect and direct measures of the sense of agency. J Obsessive-Compulsive Relat Disord. (2019) 20:59– 65. doi: 10.1016/j.jocrd.2017.11.002
- 204. Belayachi S, Van der Linden M. Feeling of doing in obsessive-compulsive checking. *Conscious Cogn.* (2010) 19:534– 46. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2010.02.001
- 205. Gentsch A, Schütz-Bosbach S, Endrass T, Kathmann N. Dysfunctional forward model mechanisms and aberrant sense of agency in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2012) 71:652–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.12.022
- 206. Foss-Feig JH, Kwakye LD, Cascio CJ, Burnette CP, Kadivar H, Stone WL, et al. An extended multisensory temporal binding window in autism spectrum disorders. *Exp Brain Res.* (2010) 203:381–9. doi: 10.1007/s00221-010-2240-4
- 207. Sperduti M, Pieron M, Leboyer M, Zalla T. Altered pre-reflective sense of agency in autism spectrum disorders as revealed by reduced intentional binding. J Autism Dev Disord. (2014) 44:343–52. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1891-y
- Zalla T, Sperduti M. The sense of agency in autism spectrum disorders: a dissociation between prospective and retrospective mechanisms? Front. *Psychol.* (2015) 6:1278. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01278

- Bekrater-Bodmann R, Chung BY, Foell J, Gescher DM, Bohus M, Flor H. Body plasticity in borderline personality disorder: a link to dissociation. *Compr Psychiatry.* (2016) 69:36–44. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2016.05.002
- Möller TJ, Braun N, Thöne AK, Herrmann CS, Philipsen A. The senses of agency and ownership in patients with borderline personality disorder. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:474. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020. 00474
- Neustadter ES, Fineberg SK, Leavitt J, Carr MM, Corlett PR. Induced illusory body ownership in borderline personality disorder. *Neurosci Conscious*. (2019) 2019:niz017. doi: 10.1101/628131
- Hascalovitz AC, Obhi SS. Personality and intentional binding: an exploratory study using the narcissistic personality inventory. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2015) 9:13. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00013
- 213. Vazire S, Funder DC. Impulsivity and the self-defeating behavior of narcissists. Pers Soc Psychol Rev. (2006) 10:154– 65. doi: 10.1207/s15327957pspr1002_4
- Palumbo D, Kurlan R. Complex obsessive compulsive and impulsive symptoms in Tourette's syndrome. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2007) 3:687– 93.
- 215. Mathews CA, Waller J, Glidden D, Lowe TL, Herrera LD, Budman CL, et al. Self injurious behaviour in Tourette syndrome: correlates with impulsivity and impulse control. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2004) 75:1149–55. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2003.020693
- Botteron HE, Richards CA, Nishino T, Ueda K, Acevedo HK, Koller JM, et al. The urge to blink in Tourette syndrome. *Cortex.* (2019) 120:556– 66. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2019.07.010
- 217. Telgote SA, Pendharkar SS, Kelkar AD, Bhojane S. Very Early-onset Schizophrenia with Secondary Onset Tic Disorder. *Indian J Psychol Med.* (2017) 39:519–22. doi: 10.4103/0253-7176.211739
- Russo M, Naro A, Mastroeni C, Morgante F, Terranova C, Muscatello MR, et al. Obsessive-compulsive disorder: a "sensory-motor" problem? Int. J Psychophysiol. (2014) 92:74–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2014.02.007
- Dayan-Riva A, Berger A, Anholt GE. Affordances, response conflict, and enhanced-action tendencies in obsessive-compulsive disorder: an ERP study. *Psychol Med.* (2021) 51:948–63. doi: 10.1017/S0033291719003866
- 220. Gadow KD, DeVincent CJ. Clinical significance of tics and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in children with pervasive developmental disorder. J Child Neurol. (2005) 20:481–8. doi: 10.1177/08830738050200060301
- 221. Uljarević M, Frazier TW, Jo B, Billingham WD, Cooper MN, Youngstrom EA, et al. Big data approach to characterize restricted and repetitive behaviors in autism. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2021) 61:p446–457. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2021.08.006
- 222. Maddox BB, Trubanova A, White SW. Untended wounds: non-suicidal selfinjury in adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism.* (2017) 21:412– 22. doi: 10.1177/1362361316644731
- 223. Kaplan B, Yazici Gulec M, Gica S, Gulec H. The association between neurocognitive functioning and clinical features of borderline personality disorder. *Braz J Psychiatry.* (2020) 42:503–9. doi: 10.1590/1516-4446-2019-0752
- 224. Terzi L, Martino F, Berardi D, Bortolotti B, Sasdelli A, Menchetti M. Aggressive behavior and self-harm in Borderline Personality Disorder: The role of impulsivity and emotion dysregulation in a sample of outpatients. *Psychiatry Res.* (2017) 249:321–6. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.01.011
- 225. McKay D, Kulchycky S, Danyko S. Borderline personality and obsessive-compulsive symptoms. J Pers Disord. (2000) 14:57–63. doi: 10.1521/pedi.2000.14.1.57
- 226. Zeigler-Hill V, Besser A, Gabay M, Young G. Narcissism and exercise addiction: the mediating roles of exercise-related motives. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:4243. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18084243
- 227. Efrati Y, Gerber Z, Tolmacz R. The relation of intra-psychic and relational aspects of the self to compulsive sexual behavior. J Sex Marital Ther. (2019) 45:618–31. doi: 10.1080/0092623X.2019.1599092
- Wright A, Rickards H, Cavanna AE. Impulse-control disorders in gilles de la tourette syndrome. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. (2012) 24:16– 27. doi: 10.1176/appi.neuropsych.10010013
- 229. Wylie SA, Claassen DO, Kanoff KE, Ridderinkhof KR, van den Wildenberg WP. Impaired inhibition of prepotent motor actions

in patients with Tourette syndrome. J Psychiatry Neurosci. (2013) 38:349-56. doi: 10.1503/jpn.120138

- 230. Atkinson-Clement C, Porte CA, de Liege A, Wattiez N, Klein Y, Beranger B, et al. Neural correlates and role of medication in reactive motor impulsivity in Tourette disorder. *Cortex.* (2020) 125:60–72. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2019.12.007
- 231. Bucci S, Birchwood M, Twist L, Tarrier N, Emsley R, Haddock G. Predicting compliance with command hallucinations: anger, impulsivity and appraisals of voices' power and intent. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 147:163– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.02.037
- Martin S, Graziani P, Del-Monte J. Comparing impulsivity in borderline personality, schizophrenia and obsessional-compulsive disorders: Who is ahead? J. Clin Psychol. (2021) 77:1732–44. doi: 10.1002/jclp. 23129
- Denovan A, Dagnall N, Monk L. Schizotypy and risk-taking behaviour: the contribution of urgency. J Psychopathol Behav Assess. (2020) 42:1– 12. doi: 10.1007/s10862-019-09769-4
- Tumkaya S, Yucens B, Mart M, Tezcan D, Kashyap H. Multifaceted impulsivity in obsessive-compulsive disorder with hoarding symptoms. *Nord J Psychiatry.* (2021) 75:207–13. doi: 10.1080/08039488.2020. 1838605
- Chamberlain SR, Leppink EW, Redden SA, Grant JE. Are obsessivecompulsive symptoms impulsive, compulsive or both? Compr. *Psychiatry*. (2016) 68:111–8. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2016.04.010
- 236. Richman DM, Barnard-Brak L, Bosch A, Thompson S, Grubb L, Abby L. Predictors of self-injurious behaviour exhibited by individuals with autism spectrum disorder. J Intellect Disabil Res. (2013) 57:429– 39. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2012.01628.x
- Laverty C, Oliver C, Moss J, Nelson L, Richards C. Persistence and predictors of self-injurious behaviour in autism: a ten-year prospective cohort study. *Mol Autism.* (2020) 11:8. doi: 10.1186/s13229-019-0307-z
- Zanarini MC, Horwood J, Wolke D, Waylen A, Fitzmaurice G, Grant BF. Prevalence of DSM-IV borderline personality disorder in two community samples: 6,330 English 11-year-olds and 34,653 American adults. J Pers Disord. (2011) 25:607–19. doi: 10.1521/pedi.2011.25.5.607
- 239. Ditrich I, Philipsen A, Matthies S. Borderline personality disorder (BPD) and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) revisited—a review-update on common grounds and subtle distinctions. *Borderline Personal Disord Emot Dysregul.* (2021) 8:22. doi: 10.1186/s40479-021-00162-w
- Gagnon J, Daelman S. An empirical study of the psychodynamics of borderline impulsivity: a preliminary report. *Psychoanalytic Psychol.* (2011) 28:341–62. doi: 10.1037/a0024358
- 241. Turner D, Sebastian A, Tüscher O. Impulsivity and Cluster B Personality Disorders. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2017) 19:15. doi: 10.1007/s11920-017-0768-8
- 242. Edwards ER, Rose NLJ, Gromatsky M, Feinberg A, Kimhy D, Doucette JT, et al. Alexithymia, affective lability, impulsivity, and childhood adversity in borderline personality disorder. J Pers Disord. (2021) 35:114–31. doi: 10.1521/pedi_2021_35_513
- Marissen MA, Arnold N, Franken IH. Anhedonia in borderline personality disorder and its relation to symptoms of impulsivity. *Psychopathology*. (2012) 45:179–84. doi: 10.1159/000330893
- 244. Cai H, Shi Y, Fang X, Luo YL. Narcissism predicts impulsive buying: phenotypic and genetic evidence. *Front Psychol.* (2015) 6:881. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00881
- Malesza M, Kaczmarek MC. Grandiose narcissism versus vulnerable narcissism and impulsivity. *Personality Individ Diff.* (2018) 126:61– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2018.01.021
- O'Reilly CA, Hall N. Grandiose narcissists and decision making: Impulsive, overconfident, and skeptical of experts-but seldom in doubt. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2021) 168:110280. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2020.110280
- 247. Worbe Y, Marrakchi-Kacem L, Lecomte S, Valabregue R, Poupon F, Guevara P, et al. Altered structural connectivity of cortico-striato-pallidothalamic networks in Gilles de la Tourette syndrome. *Brain*. (2015) 138:472– 82. doi: 10.1093/brain/awu311
- 248. Wan X, Zhang S, Wang W, Su X, Li J, Yang X, et al. Gray matter abnormalities in Tourette Syndrome: a meta-analysis of voxel-based morphometry studies. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2021) 11:287. doi: 10.1038/s41398-021-01394-8

- McCormick LM, Brumm MC, Beadle JN, Paradiso S, Yamada T, Andreasen N. Mirror neuron function, psychosis, and empathy in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2012) 201:233–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2012.01.004
- Mitra S, Nizamie SH, Goyal N, Tikka SK. Mu-wave activity in schizophrenia: evidence of a dysfunctional mirror neuron system from an Indian study. *Indian J Psychol Med.* (2014) 36:276–81. doi: 10.4103/0253-7176. 135380
- 251. Mehta UM, Thirthalli J, Aneelraj D, Jadhav P, Gangadhar BN, Keshavan MS. Mirror neuron dysfunction in schizophrenia and its functional implications: a systematic review. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 160:9–19. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.10.040
- 252. Moran LV, Tagamets MA, Sampath H, O'Donnell A, Stein EA, Kochunov P, et al. Disruption of anterior insula modulation of large-scale brain networks in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2013) 74:467–74. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.02.029
- 253. Choe E, Lee TY, Kim M, Hur JW, Yoon YB, Cho KK, et al. Aberrant withinand between-network connectivity of the mirror neuron system network and the mentalizing network in first episode psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2018) 199:243–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.03.024
- 254. Jung WH, Gu BM, Kang DH, Park JY, Yoo SY, Choi CH, et al. BOLD response during visual perception of biological motion in obsessivecompulsive disorder: an fMRI study using the dynamic point-light animation paradigm. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2009) 259:46– 54. doi: 10.1007/s00406-008-0833-8
- 255. Boedhoe PSW, Schmaal L, Abe Y, Alonso P, Ameis SH, Anticevic A, et al. Cortical abnormalities associated with pediatric and adult obsessive-compulsive disorder: findings from the ENIGMA Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder Working Group. Am J Psychiatry. (2018) 175:453–62. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2017.17050485
- 256. Cheng B, Cai W, Wang X, Lei D, Guo Y, Yang X, et al. Brain gray matter abnormalities in first-episode, treatment-naive children with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Front Behav Neurosci.* (2016) 10:141. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2016.00141
- 257. Weeland CJ, White T, Vriend C, Muetzel RL, Starreveld J, Hillegers MHJ, et al. Brain morphology associated with obsessive-compulsive symptoms in 2,551 children from the general population. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2021) 60:470–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2020.03.012
- 258. Schulte-Rüther M, Greimel E, Piefke M, Kamp-Becker I, Remschmidt H, Fink GR, et al. Age-dependent changes in the neural substrates of empathy in autism spectrum disorder. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* (2014) 9:1118– 26. doi: 10.1093/scan/nst088
- 259. Dapretto M, Davies MS, Pfeifer JH, Scott AA, Sigman M, Bookheimer SY, et al. Understanding emotions in others: mirror neuron dysfunction in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Nat Neurosci.* (2006) 9:28–30. doi: 10.1038/nn1611
- 260. Enticott PG, Kennedy HA, Rinehart NJ, Tonge BJ, Bradshaw JL, Taffe JR, et al. Mirror neuron activity associated with social impairments but not age in autism spectrum disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2012) 71:427–33. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.09.001
- 261. Juengling FD, Schmahl C, Hesslinger B, Ebert D, Bremner JD, Gostomzyk J, et al. Positron emission tomography in female patients with borderline personality disorder. J Psychiatr Res. (2003) 37:109–15. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3956(02)00084-5
- 262. Salavert J, Gasol M, Vieta E, Cervantes A, Trampal C, Gispert JD. Fronto-limbic dysfunction in borderline personality disorder: a 18F-FDG positron emission tomography study. J Affect Disord. (2011) 131:260– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011.01.001
- 263. Wolf RC, Sambataro F, Vasic N, Schmid M, Thomann PA, Bienentreu SD, et al. Aberrant connectivity of resting-state networks in borderline personality disorder. *J Psychiatry Neurosci.* (2011) 36:402–11. doi: 10.1503/jpn.100150
- 264. Kluetsch RC, Schmahl C, Niedtfeld I, Densmore M, Calhoun VD, Daniels J, et al. Alterations in default mode network connectivity during pain processing in borderline personality disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (2012) 69:993–1002. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2012.476
- 265. Sosic-Vasic Z, Eberhardt J, Bosch JE, Dommes L, Labek K, Buchheim A, et al. Mirror neuron activations in encoding of psychic

pain in borderline personality disorder. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2019) 22:101737. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2019.101737

- 266. Mao Y, Sang N, Wang Y, Hou X, Huang H, Wei D, et al. Reduced frontal cortex thickness and cortical volume associated with pathological narcissism. *Neuroscience*. (2016) 328:50–7. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.04.025
- 267. Yang C, Yao L, Liu N, Zhang W, Tao B, Cao H, et al. Microstructural Abnormalities of White Matter Across Tourette Syndrome: a Voxel-Based Meta-Analysis of Fractional Anisotropy. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:659250. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.659250
- 268. Zapparoli L, Porta M, Gandola M, Invernizzi P, Colajanni V, Servello D, et al. A functional magnetic resonance imaging investigation of motor control in Gilles de la Tourette syndrome during imagined and executed movements. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2016) 43:494–508. doi: 10.1111/ejn.13130
- 269. Brüne M, Ozgürdal S, Ansorge N, von Reventlow HG, Peters S, Nicolas V, et al. An fMRI study of "theory of mind" in at-risk states of psychosis: comparison with manifest schizophrenia and healthy controls. *Neuroimage*. (2011) 55:329–37. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010. 12.018
- 270. Walter H, Ciaramidaro A, Adenzato M, Vasic N, Ardito RB, Erk S, et al. Dysfunction of the social brain in schizophrenia is modulated by intention type: an fMRI study. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* (2009) 4:166–76. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsn047
- 271. Fuentes-Claramonte P, Martin-Subero M, Salgado-Pineda P, Santo-Angles A, Argila-Plaza I, Salavert J, et al. Brain imaging correlates of self- and other-reflection in schizophrenia. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2020) 25:102134. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2019.102134
- 272. Patel GH, Arkin SC, Ruiz-Betancourt DR, Plaza FI, Mirza SA, Vieira DJ, et al. Failure to engage the temporoparietal junction/posterior superior temporal sulcus predicts impaired naturalistic social cognition in schizophrenia. *Brain.* (2021) 144:1898–910. doi: 10.1093/brain/awab081
- 273. Saito Y, Kubicki M, Koerte I, Otsuka T, Rathi Y, Pasternak O, et al. Impaired white matter connectivity between regions containing mirror neurons, and relationship to negative symptoms and social cognition, in patients with first-episode schizophrenia. *Brain Imaging Behav.* (2018) 12:229–37. doi: 10.1007/s11682-017-9685-z
- 274. Sun F, Zhao Z, Lan M, Xu Y, Huang M, Xu D. Abnormal dynamic functional network connectivity of the mirror neuron system network and the mentalizing network in patients with adolescentonset, first-episode, drug-naïve schizophrenia. *Neurosci Res.* (2021) 162:63–70. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2020.01.003
- 275. Zhang T, Wang J, Yang Y, Wu Q, Li B, Chen L, et al. Abnormal small-world architecture of top-down control networks in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *J Psychiatry Neurosci.* (2011) 36:23–31. doi: 10.1503/jpn.100006
- 276. Koh MJ, Seol J, Kang JI, Kim BS, Namkoong K, Chang JW, et al. Altered resting-state functional connectivity in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder: a magnetoencephalography study. *Int J Psychophysiol.* (2018) 123:80–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2017.10.012
- 277. Williams JH, Waiter GD, Gilchrist A, Perrett DI, Murray AD, Whiten A. Neural mechanisms of imitation and 'mirror neuron' functioning in autistic spectrum disorder. *Neuropsychologia.* (2006) 44:610–21. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2005.06.010
- 278. Pantelis PC, Byrge L, Tyszka JM, Adolphs R, Kennedy DP. A specific hypoactivation of right temporo-parietal junction/posterior superior temporal sulcus in response to socially awkward situations in autism. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* (2015) 10:1348–56. doi: 10.1093/scan/ nsv021
- 279. Ilzarbe D, Lukito S, Moessnang C, O'Daly OG, Lythgoe DJ, Murphy CM, et al. Neural correlates of theory of mind in autism spectrum disorder, attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder, and the comorbid condition. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:544482. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.544482
- Nijhof AD, Bardi L, Brass M, Wiersema JR. Brain activity for spontaneous and explicit mentalizing in adults with autism spectrum disorder: an fMRI study. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2018) 18:475–84. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2018.02.016
- 281. Eack SM, Wojtalik JA, Keshavan MS, Minshew NJ. Socialcognitive brain function and connectivity during visual perspectivetaking in autism and schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2017) 183:102–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.03.009

- Lombardo MV, Chakrabarti B, Bullmore ET, MRC AIMS Consortium, Baron-Cohen S. Specialization of right temporo-parietal junction for mentalizing and its relation to social impairments in autism. *Neuroimage*. (2011) 56:1832–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.02.067
- Quiñones-Camacho LE, Fishburn FA, Belardi K, Williams DL, Huppert TJ, Perlman SB. Dysfunction in interpersonal neural synchronization as a mechanism for social impairment in autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Res.* (2021) 14:1585–96. doi: 10.1002/aur.2513
- Haas BW, Miller JD. Borderline personality traits and brain activity during emotional perspective taking. *Personal Disord.* (2015) 6:315– 20. doi: 10.1037/per0000130
- Beeney JE, Hallquist MN, Ellison WD, Levy KN. Self-other disturbance in borderline personality disorder: neural, self-report, and performance-based evidence. *Personal Disord*. (2016) 7:28–39. doi: 10.1037/per0000127
- Sifneos PE. Problems of psychotherapy of patients with alexithymic characteristics and physical disease. *Psychother Psychosom.* (1975) 26:65– 70. doi: 10.1159/000286912
- Eddy CM, Hansen PC. Alexithymia is a key mediator of the relationship between magical thinking and empathy. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 12:719961. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.719961
- Eddy CM, Cavanna AE. On being your own worst enemy: an investigation of socially inappropriate symptoms in Tourette syndrome. J Psychiatr Res. (2013) 47:1259–63. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.05.019
- Silani G, Lamm C, Ruff CC, Singer T. Right supramarginal gyrus is crucial to overcome emotional egocentricity bias in social judgments. *J Neurosci.* (2013) 33:15466–76. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1488-13.2013
- 290. Rymarczyk K, Zurawski Ł, Jankowiak-Siuda K, Szatkowska I. Neural correlates of facial mimicry: simultaneous measurements of EMG and BOLD responses during perception of dynamic compared to static facial expressions. *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:52. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00052
- 291. Rymarczyk K, Zurawski Ł, Jankowiak-Siuda K, Szatkowska I. Empathy in facial mimicry of fear and disgust: simultaneous EMG-fMRI recordings during observation of static and dynamic facial expressions. *Front Psychol.* (2019) 10:701. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00701
- 292. Blakemore SJ, Wolpert DM, Frith CD. Abnormalities in the awareness of action. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2002) 6:237– 42. doi: 10.1016/S1364-6613(02)01907-1
- Blakemore SJ, Wolpert DM, Frith CD. Central cancellation of self-produced tickle sensation. *Nat Neurosci.* (1998) 1:635–40. doi: 10.1038/2870
- 294. Sterzer P, Adams RA, Fletcher P, Frith C, Lawrie SM, Muckli L, et al. The predictive coding account of psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2018) 84:634– 43. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.05.015
- 295. Sterzer P, Mishara AL, Voss M, Heinz A. Thought insertion as a self-disturbance: an integration of predictive coding and phenomenological approaches. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2016) 10:1–12. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00502
- 296. Uhlmann L, Pazen M, van Kemenade BM, Kircher T, Straube B. Neural correlates of self-other distinction in patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders: the roles of agency and hand identity. *Schizophr Bull.* (2021) 47:1399–408. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbaa186
- 297. Ebisch SJH, Aleman A. The fragmented self: imbalance between intrinsic and extrinsic self-networks in psychotic disorders. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2016) 3:784–90. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)00045-6
- 298. Ahmari SE, Risbrough VB, Geyer MA, Simpson HB. Impaired sensorimotor gating in unmedicated adults with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2012) 37:1216–23. doi: 10.1038/npp. 2011.308
- 299. Schleyken S, Baldermann J, Huys D, Franklin J, Visser-Vandewalle V, Kuhn J, et al. Deep brain stimulation and sensorimotor gating in Tourette syndrome and obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Psychiatr Res. (2020) 129:272–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020. 07.016
- 300. Horne O, Csipke E. From feeling too little and too much, to feeling more and less? A nonparadoxical theory of the functions of selfharm. Qual Health Res. (2009) 19:655–67. doi: 10.1177/104973230933 4249
- 301. Kelly JR, Iannone NE, McCarty MK. Emotional contagion of anger is automatic: an evolutionary explanation. Br J Soc Psychol. (2016) 55:182– 91. doi: 10.1111/bjso.12134

- 302. Prochazkova E, Kret ME. Connecting minds and sharing emotions through mimicry: a neurocognitive model of emotional contagion. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2017) 80:99–114. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017. 05.013
- 303. Kulke L, Johannsen J, Rakoczy H. Why can some implicit theory of mind tasks be replicated and others cannot? a test of mentalizing versus submentalizing accounts. *PLoS ONE*. (2019) 14:e0213772. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0213772
- 304. Salvatore G, Lysaker PH, Gumley A, Popolo R, Mari J, Dimaggio G. Out of illness experience: metacognition-oriented therapy for promoting selfawareness in individuals with psychosis. Am J Psychother. (2012) 66:85– 106. doi: 10.1176/appi.psychotherapy.2012.66.1.85
- 305. Salvatore G, Procacci M, Popolo R, Nicolò G, Carcione A, Semerari A, et al. Adapted metacognitive interpersonal therapy for improving adherence to intersubjective contexts in a person with schizophrenia. *Clin Case Stud.* (2009) 8:473–88. doi: 10.1177/1534650109354916
- 306. Dimaggio G, Carcione A, Salvatore G, Nicolò G, Sisto A, Semerari A. Progressively promoting metacognition in a case of obsessive-compulsive personality disorder treated with metacognitive interpersonal therapy. *Psychol Psychother*. (2011) 84:70–83. doi: 10.1348/147608310X 527240
- 307. Popolo R, MacBeth A, Lazzerini L, Brunello S, Venturelli G, Rebecchi D, Morales MF, Dimaggio G. Metacognitive interpersonal therapy in group versus TAU + waiting list for young adults with personality disorders: randomized clinical trial. *Personal Disord*. (2021). doi: 10.1037/per00 00497
- 308. Cotelli M, Adenzato M, Cantoni V, Manenti R, Alberici A, et al. Enhancing theory of mind in behavioural variant frontotemporal dementia with transcranial direct current stimulation. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci.* (2018) 18:1065–75. doi: 10.3758/s13415-018-0622-4
- 309. Straube B, van Kemenade BM, Kircher T, Schülke R. Transcranial direct current stimulation improves action-outcome monitoring in schizophrenia spectrum disorder. Brain Commun. (2020) 2:fcaa151. doi: 10.1093/braincomms/fcaa151
- 310. Bitsch F, Berger P, Nagels A, Falkenberg I, Straube B. Impaired right temporoparietal junction—hippocampus connectivity in schizophrenia and its relevance for generating representations of other minds. *Schizophr Bull.* (2019) 45:934–45. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby132
- 311. Uhlmann L, Pazen M, Van Kemenade BM, Steinsträter O, Harris LR, Kircher T, et al. Seeing your own or someone else's hand moving in accordance with your action : the neural interaction of agency and hand identity. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2020) 41:2474–89. doi: 10.1002/hbm.24958
- 312. Fitzpatrick P, Frazier JA, Cochran DM, Mitchell T, Coleman C, Schmidt RC. Impairments of social motor synchrony evident in autism spectrum disorder. *Front Psychol.* (2016) 7:1323. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01323
- 313. Khalil R, Tindle R, Boraud T, Moustafa AA, Karim AA. Social decision making in autism: On the impact of mirror neurons, motor control, and imitative behaviors. CNS Neurosci Ther. (2018) 24:669– 76. doi: 10.1111/cns.13001
- 314. Kaur M, M Srinivasan S, N Bhat A. Comparing motor performance, praxis, coordination, and interpersonal synchrony between children with and without Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). *Res Dev Disabil.* (2018) 72:79–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2017.10.025
- Hamilton AF. Reflecting on the mirror neuron system in autism: a systematic review of current theories. *Dev Cogn Neurosci.* (2013) 91– 105. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2012.09.008
- 316. Eddy CM, Cook JL. Emotions in action: the relationship between motor function and social cognition across multiple clinical populations. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry.* (2018) 86:229–44. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.05.021
- 317. Marmolejo-Ramos F, Murata A, Sasaki K, Yamada Y, Ikeda A, Hinojosa JA, et al. Your face and moves seem happier when I smile. *Exp Psychol.* (2020) 67:14–22. doi: 10.1027/1618-3169/a000470
- 318. Craig SG, Goulter N, Moretti MM. A systematic review of primary and secondary callous-unemotional traits and psychopathy variants in youth. *Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev.* (2021) 24:65–91. doi: 10.1007/s10567-020-00329-x
- Shaw DJ, Czekóová K, Porubanová M. Orthogonal-compatibility effects confound automatic imitation: implications for measuring self-other

distinction. *Psychol Res.* (2017) 81:1152–65. doi: 10.1007/s00426-016-0814-x

this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in Copyright © 2022 Eddy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The Social Connectome – Moving Toward Complexity in the Study of Brain Networks and Their Interactions in Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience

Lara Maliske* and Philipp Kanske

Clinical Psychology and Behavioral Neuroscience, Faculty of Psychology, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany

Over the past 150 years of neuroscientific research, the field has undergone a tremendous evolution. Starting out with lesion-based inference of brain function, functional neuroimaging, introduced in the late 1980s, and increasingly fine-grained and sophisticated methods and analyses now allow us to study the live neural correlates of complex behaviors in individuals and multiple agents simultaneously. Classically, brain-behavior coupling has been studied as an association of a specific area in the brain and a certain behavioral outcome. This has been a crucial first step in understanding brain organization. Social cognitive processes, as well as their neural correlates, have typically been regarded and studied as isolated functions and blobs of neural activation. However, as our understanding of the social brain as an inherently dynamic organ grows, research in the field of social neuroscience is slowly undergoing the necessary evolution from studying individual elements to how these elements interact and their embedding within the overall brain architecture. In this article, we review recent studies that investigate the neural representation of social cognition as interacting, complex, and flexible networks. We discuss studies that identify individual brain networks associated with social affect and cognition, interaction of these networks, and their relevance for disorders of social affect and cognition. This perspective on social cognitive neuroscience can highlight how a more fine-grained understanding of complex network (re-)configurations could improve our understanding of social cognitive deficits in mental disorders such as autism spectrum disorder and schizophrenia, thereby providing new impulses for methods of interventions.

Keywords: social cognition, network neuroscience, connectome, network interaction, mental disorders

THE MODULAR SOCIAL BRAIN

We live in a social world requiring constant behavioral adaptation to changing socio-environmental demands. Socio-affective and -cognitive functions have been distinguished as crucial for coping with these demands and appropriately updating behavior in social situations. Our understanding of how these processes are represented in the brain has evolved quite substantially. In the 19th

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Martin Schulte-Rüther, University Medical Center Göttingen, Germany

Reviewed by: Yuan Zhou, Institute of Psychology (CAS), China

> *Correspondence: Lara Maliske lara.maliske@tu-dresden.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Social Cognition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 29 December 2021 Accepted: 11 March 2022 Published: 05 April 2022

Citation:

Maliske L and Kanske P (2022) The Social Connectome – Moving Toward Complexity in the Study of Brain Networks and Their Interactions in Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience. Front. Psychiatry 13:845492. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.845492

92

century, researchers relied on lesion-based approaches to infer the coupling of brain areas and behavior [a prominent example is that of Phineas Gage, a railroad worker that received extensive damage to parts of the frontal lobe after a workplace accident, and showed pronounced personality changes, (1)]. The development of increasingly sophisticated methods of non-invasive functional neuroimaging starting from the end of the last century on allowed researchers to arrive at studying the online coupling of social processes and neural activation at certain areas of interest.

The past two decades have yielded somewhat of a consensus regarding the brain areas associated with socio-affective and -cognitive functions (2). These social processes and the associated neural activations have classically been investigated as isolated functions and related neural networks. The underlying assumption has been that specialized "social brain regions" can be identified, potentially leading to an atlas of specific brain regions associated with social processes. A strength of this first wave of social neuroscience viewing social affect and cognition as separate and modular is that it allowed researchers to identify "core elements" guiding behavior in social situations, such as empathy [the affective representation of another's emotions, (3)] and Theory of Mind [ToM, the cognitive representation of others' mental states, (4)].

A large body of work has investigated the association of individual areas (such as the insula, temporoparietal junction, TPJ) with these socio-affective and -cognitive processes. While it has been crucial to build a base of understanding related to social affect and cognition as individual processes, it is becoming clearer that this does not seem to be the whole story. In naturalistic social interactions, we are confronted with a multitude of social and non-social information, which must be processed simultaneously to react appropriately [e.g., (5)]. Investigating pieces of social information processing in isolation, but also brain activation related to only one aspect of social information processing, appears to be too simplistic to understand actual social behavior. At the neural level, knowledge about the functional profiles of an individual area is the cornerstone on which to build on, however, understanding how an area is embedded within the overall brain architecture and how it is communicating with other areas of the brain can bring about another level of understanding [see (6) for an account of connectivity-based valence-specificity of the anterior insula]. Note that for reasons of simplicity, in the following we will refer to the neural representation of social affect and cognition, and the underlying neural networks [see e.g., (2, 7-10)], as "the social brain." However, we want to stress that this is merely a simplification for illustrative purposes; we believe that the actual neural representation of social affective and cognitive processing requires an intricate pattern of interactions among components of the entire brain. Figure 1 gives an illustrative overview of regions previously associated with socio-affective and -cognitive processes.

A bit like moving from inspecting only a snippet of a painting to stepping back and observing it in its entirety, there is a chance to better understand and predict social behavior by considering the inherently interconnected, dynamic nature of information processing in the brain. Recent advances in the field of connectomics and network neuroscience – studying the brain in terms of a comprehensive map (11) – make methods that allow for a more holistic view of the brain accessible to a wider scientific community. In the following, we are employing ideas from the field of connectomics to describe interactions among modular brain networks associated with social affect and cognition [for a comprehensive introduction to the field of connectomics, see e.g., (11, 12)]. We want to highlight the added value of employing these ideas and methodology which allows to describe neural representation of social affect and cognition in terms of their network organization, especially for the field of (clinical) social cognitive neuroscience.

THE CONNECTED SOCIAL BRAIN

The aim of the current review is to outline recent, promising avenues to describing the social brain at the network level, and how these networks interact in complex social situations.

Network Organization of the Social Brain

Alcalá-López et al. (13) describe the social brain across a wide range of different (social and non-social) behavioral domains and experimental setups. The authors identified key social cognition hubs from the neuroimaging literature, and investigated neural networks associated with these hubs using meta-analytic connectivity modeling (MACM) and resting-state functional connectivity mapping. Furthermore, they performed hierarchical clustering and functional decoding of their identified networks to describe commonalities of the observed networks, as well as compare their results with a wide range of topics from neuroimaging research. We want to highlight two findings from their extensive analysis: (a) the authors identified a hierarchical organization of the social brain's functional connectivity profiles into four dimensions (visual-sensory, limbic, intermediate-, and higher-level seeds). The authors observed considerable crossnetwork interactions for intermediate-level seeds, while the higher-level seeds displayed mostly connections within their respective network. Furthermore, the authors found (b) no oneto-one mapping for a seed region onto only one behavioral and experimental domain. In fact, the authors showed that activation in each seed region corresponded to a wide range of social and non-social topics, suggesting that the notion of specialized "social brain regions" is too simplistic [with possible exceptions like the fusiform face area, (14)].

In a similar vein, we performed a meta-analysis and hierarchical clustering analysis across empathy and ToM task groups (2). We observed a tripartite hierarchical organization of the networks associated with empathy and ToM tasks: neural activation of the task clusters typically associated with empathy and ToM corresponded well with previously described neural empathy and ToM networks [e.g., (9, 15)]. Interestingly, we also observed a third task cluster: this cluster was comprised of more complex social tasks including both affective and cognitive stimulus elements (e.g., inferring a character's next actions based on their mental or emotional state). The neural activation pattern associated with this cluster showed activation in regions



previously associated with empathy and ToM [see also (16)], networks previously described as independent [e.g., (17–19)].

While these studies only represent a small excerpt from the field of social affect and cognition, they summarize important new developments, showing how a more networkbased perspective on social cognitive neuroscience can give new insights into the underlying neural architecture, but also the processes themselves [similar to other research areas, like intelligence, e.g., (20), or working memory, e.g., (21)].

Interaction Between Networks of the Social Brain

Previous research has found substantial overlap between networks of social affect and cognition and selected canonical resting-state networks of the brain, which might enable closely related or compatible cognitive functions (22). A prime example for this is the overlap of the default mode network (DMN) with areas typically associated with ToM. The DMN is assumed to mediate self-generated cognition decoupled from the surrounding environment (23), which might be compatible with certain processes engaged during mental state reasoning. Recently, we systematically investigated the overlap of basic networks of the brain and social affect and cognition networks (24). We computed an overlap of canonical resting-state networks of the brain (25) with meta-analytically derived network maps associated with different social affect and cognition tasks. While ToM tasks primarily overlapped with the DMN [an interesting exception being the Reading the Mind in the Eyes task, see also (2)], overlap for complex social and empathy tasks was more heterogeneous: classical empathy tasks showed largest overlap with the ventral attention network (VAN), however there was also sizable overlap with other higher-level cognitive (e.g.,

frontoparietal network, FPN) and lower-sensory networks (e.g., visual network), pointing to increased cross-network interaction.

Having established that these seemingly independent neural networks do in fact interact, the next question might be how these networks interact. Studies of directed connectivity allow us to investigate how activity in one region causally influences activity in another region (26). A handful of studies investigated directed connectivity between regions of different canonical resting-state networks related to social cognition. Kanske et al. (18) found an inhibitory relationship from the insula (located in the FPN) onto the TPJ (located in the DMN) mediated by emotional content in a naturalistic social cognitive paradigm. Activity in the insula seemed to downregulate activity in the TPJ when participants viewed emotionally negative videos, which went along with impaired performance on an associated ToMmeasure. The authors argue that this might be due to the emotional content of the video being more salient and requiring the most immediate response. Similarly, Regenbogen et al. (27) observed up-regulatory effects of a visual network onto a DMN region in the same experimental condition. In contrast, Schuwerk et al. (28) observed reciprocal down-regulation of DMN- and VAN-related regions for a false belief video task in conditions wherein a demonstrator and participant's belief are incongruent. As a last example, social cues in an attentional re-orienting task (29) were associated with up-regulation of a VAN- onto a DMN-related region.

The interaction and reconfiguration of brain region interactions is rather complex and seems largely contextdependent [for a review, see (30)]. Rich, naturalistic social situations present us with a plethora of different cognitive and affective information, which must be processed simultaneously (31, 32). To react appropriately, certain information must be integrated while other information must be blocked out (33, 34). The notion of network integration, that is, the interaction of modular sub-components of different networks, has been associated with tasks that require more effortful and controlled processing (35), including more complex social tasks (36). Network integration might be a relevant mechanism, especially for complex and naturalistic social tasks, as it provides a means of integrating different mechanisms across unique behavioral domains (30).

Malleability of the Connected Social Brain

Measures of network interaction cannot only be contextually reconfigured (30), but also altered by interventions or training. In one such study, Valk et al. (37) investigated reorganization in networks relevant to attention, socio-affective, and sociocognitive processing after intensive 9-month meditation training, that did indeed improve behavioral measures of the respective functions (38). Using gradient-based approaches to measure network integration, Valk et al. (37) could show that training in different meditation practices went along with differential patterns of network reorganization. After sociocognitive meditation training, the authors observed increased functional integration of regions in the DMN, FPN, and dorsal attention network (DAN). Furthermore, the organization of task-based neural networks associated with attention and social cognition became more similar to other networks within the overall connectome after socio-cognitive meditation training. Alterations in network organization after socio-affective meditation training resulted in increased network integration of areas of the VAN with the DMN, FPN, and DAN along the hierarchical organization of the first gradient. These changes in large-scale network organization could furthermore predict changes in behavioral ToM and compassion measures.

Taken together, these data can greatly enhance our understanding of (a) how the brain represents social affect and cognition, (b) the nature of social affect and cognition, and how they relate to one another, (c) the context-dependency of how the brain represents social affect and cognition, and (d) the flexibility, adaptability, and malleability of how the brain represents social affect and cognition. Just like social encounters in real-life interactions, the relationship between social affect and cognition, and their representation in the brain, is marked by a complex, interconnected pattern of excitatory and inhibitory connections.

THE DISCONNECTED SOCIAL BRAIN

If we understand the organization of social processes in the brain in terms networks and argue that their interaction underlies successful social interactions, we should also be able to use this network-based perspective to enhance our understanding of failures and disorders of social cognition.

A growing body of research has investigated alterations of brain network organization in different neurological and mental disorders (39–41). Evidence suggests that brain structural and functional alterations associated with neurological and mental

disorders are more likely to be located in densely interconnected regions of the brain (42) and at white matter pathways relevant for cross-network interaction and global communication (43). In the following, we want to pinpoint relevant studies discussing network-based alterations in subgroups of mental disorders that might shed light on disorder-specific and more general pathophysiological neural or behavioral dysfunctions.

Patients with bipolar disorder (BD) have been found to show altered socio-cognitive and emotional processing and perception (44), which has furthermore been associated with altered functioning in a central-limbic network and decreased activity in dorsal brain areas (45, 46). Recently, Roberts et al. (47) found decreased structural connectivity in networks centered on the inferior frontal gyrus and left insular cortex in youths at high risk for developing BD, as well as increased connectivity in the limbic network. These regions have been shown to be implicated in altered neural functioning in individuals with BD (48) and are also core regions associated with socio-affective and -cognitive functioning (2). A recent study associated altered functional connectivity with socio-cognitive task performance in participants with BD and schizophrenia (49). Here, the authors compared network connectivity between patients with BD, schizophrenia, and healthy controls, and related network connectivity to measures of social affect and cognition. Altered network connectivity was observed in networks related to visual processing in BD and schizophrenia, which was associated with differential performance in socio-cognitive tasks in both patient groups. The authors argue that compensatory mechanisms might cushion behavioral deficits in BD, while this was not the case for participants with schizophrenia, elegantly demonstrating how measures of network organization might be a transdiagnostic marker of socio-cognitive deficits in mental disorders.

It is generally agreed upon that brain network organization is altered in individuals with autism spectrum disorder (ASD), however, the nature of these alterations remains a topic of ongoing debate. It seems that neural patterns of connectivity in individuals with ASD are a complex phenotype, with studies reporting both hyper- and hypoconnectivity [e.g., (50, 51); for a developmental account, see (52)], as well as reduced functional integration and segregation in networks related to social information processing (53). A recent study comparing functional connectivity in a complex social task across ASD, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, and a comorbid group found distinctly altered connectivity profiles related to sociocognitive processing (54). More specifically, while the three groups did not differ in terms of task performance, they did show decreased connectivity in a key region of what the authors term the social cognitive network (centered on the right temporoparietal cortex). Participants with ASD showed decreased connectivity between nodes of this network, which the authors attribute to atypical informational transfer during social cognition.

These studies highlight how a network-based perspective might explain previously heterogeneous findings, or might shed light onto underlying mechanisms associated with altered neural processing and overall social cognitive dysfunctions. Especially moving toward fully socially interactive experimental paradigms to better understand real-life social deficits will necessitate more complex analyses of the related brain activity (55). Additionally, network-based characteristics might serve as an additional transdiagnostic marker of mental disorders of social cognition, in line with the growing interest in dimensional approaches to mental disorders [like the RDoC framework, (56)], or might offer up new explanatory models for mental disorders (57).

THE FUTURE OF THE CONNECTED SOCIAL BRAIN

Our understanding of the processes underlying social affect and cognition, as well as how they are represented in the brain has undergone a tremendous evolution. From a modular, isolated understanding of these processes, the field has now arrived at a more interconnected, complex view. Among others, developments in methodology are making more advanced analyses and representations of social brain activity accessible to the scientific community. Overall, the field is moving from the search of an individual "social seed" in the brain (areas specifically dedicated to orchestrating one specific function) toward a more large-scale investigation of how the social brain is organized.

In this review, we highlighted individual studies that showcase how this move toward a network-based investigation of the social brain might reshape our understanding of social affect and cognition in terms of overall network organization (2, 13), network configuration and interaction (18, 27), flexible network reconfiguration (37), and disorders of the social brain (49, 54). This approach offers promising avenues for the field of (clinical) social neuroscience, which will allow us to gain a more holistic understanding of how the brain represents social processing, and social processing in itself. Analogous to the move toward a second-person neuroscience (58), moving toward a networkbased perspective of the social brain might help sharpen our understanding of different areas of the brain as interacting, interconnected networks.

Beyond basic research, a move toward a network-based understanding of the social brain could open up crucial avenues especially in the context of clinical research, similar to how connectome-based decoding is now used in, for example, neurological or psychiatric research. To illustrate, in neurological research, information about connectome-level

REFERENCES

- Damasio H, Grabowski T, Frank R, Galaburda AM, Damasio AR. The return of Phineas Gage: clues about the brain from the skull of a famous patient. *Science*. (1994) 264:1102–5. doi: 10.1126/science.817 8168
- Schurz M, Radua J, Tholen MG, Maliske L, Margulies DS, Mars RB, et al. Toward a hierarchical model of social cognition: a neuroimaging meta-analysis and integrative review of empathy and theory of mind. *Psychol Bull.* (2021) 147:293–327. doi: 10.1037/bul00 00303

organization of the brain was successful in diagnosing disorders or predicting long-term outcome (59, 60). But also in the context of mental health, information about connectome organization has been shown to aid diagnosis of disorders (61), classify patient subgroups (62), and predict symptom severity (63). Correspondingly, information about the connectomelevel representation of social affect and cognition in the brain might help to predict alterations in interpersonal behavior and social cognitive functioning associated with a wide range of mental disorders. Similar to the approach of precision medicine, adopting a perspective of "precision connectomics" could support clinical work substantially (57).

While the classically held view of an isolated and modular social brain paved the way for our currently held understanding of social affect and cognition, we believe that the field is ready to move toward a more holistic account of the social brain – in terms of both, how we probe social affective and cognitive processing (the employed task paradigms) and how we map their neural representation. Adopting a network-based perspective on social affect and cognition cannot only enhance our understanding of the social brain itself, but also of the underlying processes, their relationship with each other, and possible alterations in them.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LM and PK conceived the manuscript and contributed to writing and editing. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

LM was supported by a scholarship of the Friedrich-Ebert-Foundation. PK was supported by the German Research Foundation (KA 4412/2-1, KA 4412/4-1, KA 4412/5-1, KA 4412/9-1, Project C07 in CRC 940).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

LM and PK would like to thank Caroline Surrey and Maike Salazar-Kämpf for their invaluable feedback on previous versions of this article.

- Gallese V. The roots of empathy: the shared manifold hypothesis and the neural basis of intersubjectivity. *Psychopathology*. (2003) 36:171–80. doi: 10. 1159/000072786
- Kanske P. The social mind: disentangling affective and cognitive routes to understanding others. *Interdiscip Sci Rev.* (2018) 43:115–24. doi: 10.1080/ 03080188.2018.1453243
- van Ackeren MJ, Smaragdi A, Rueschemeyer S-A. Neuronal interactions between mentalising and action systems during indirect request processing. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* (2016) 11:1402–10. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsw062
- Lamm C, Singer T. The role of anterior insular cortex in social emotions. *Brain* Struct Funct. (2010) 214:579–91. doi: 10.1007/s00429-010-0251-3

- Schurz M, Radua J, Aichhorn M, Richlan F, Perner J. Fractionating theory of mind: a meta-analysis of functional brain imaging studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2014) 42:9–34. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.01.009
- Fan Y, Duncan NW, de Greck M, Northoff G. Is there a core neural network in empathy? An fMRI based quantitative meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2011) 35:903–11. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.10.009
- Bzdok D, Schilbach L, Vogeley K, Schneider K, Laird AR, Langner R, et al. Parsing the neural correlates of moral cognition: ALE meta-analysis on morality, theory of mind, and empathy. *Brain Struct Funct.* (2012) 217:783–96. doi: 10.1007/s00429-012-0380-y
- Preckel K, Kanske P, Singer T. On the interaction of social affect and cognition: empathy, compassion and theory of mind. *Curr Opin Behav Sci.* (2018) 19:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.cobeha.2017.07.010
- 11. Bassett DS, Sporns O. Network neuroscience. Nat Neurosci. (2017) 20:353-64.
- Sporns O, Tononi G, Kötter R. The human connectome: a structural description of the human brain. *PLoS Comput Biol.* (2005) 1:e42. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pcbi.0010042
- Alcalá-López D, Smallwood J, Jefferies E, Van Overwalle F, Vogeley K, Mars RB, et al. Computing the social brain connectome across systems and states. *Cereb Cortex.* (2018) 28:2207–32. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhx121
- 14. Weiner KS, Grill-Spector K. The improbable simplicity of the fusiform face area. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2012) 16:251-4. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2012.03.003
- Molenberghs P, Johnson H, Henry JD, Mattingley JB. Understanding the minds of others: a neuroimaging meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2016) 65:276–91. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.03.020
- Maliske L, Schurz M, Kanske P. Interactions within the social brain: coactivation and connectivity among networks enabling empathy and theory of mind. *PsyArXiv* [Preprint]. (2021). doi: 10.31234/osf.io/52z4f
- Dziobek I, Fleck S, Kalbe E, Rogers K, Hassenstab J, Brand M, et al. Introducing MASC: a movie for the assessment of socia cognition. J Autism Dev Disord. (2006) 36:623–36. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0107-0
- Kanske P, Böckler A, Trautwein F-M, Parianen Lesemann FH, Singer T. Are strong empathizers better mentalizers? Evidence for independence and interaction between the routes of social cognition. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* (2016) 11:1383–92. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsw052
- Shamay-Tsoory SG, Aharon-Peretz J, Perry D. Two systems for empathy: a double dissociation between emotional and cognitive empathy in inferior frontal gyrus versus ventromedial prefrontal lesions. *Brain*. (2009) 132:617–27. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn279
- Barbey AK. Network neuroscience theory of human intelligence. *Trends Cogn* Sci. (2018) 22:8–20. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2017.10.001
- Cohen JR, D'Esposito M. The segregation and integration of distinct brain networks and their relationship to cognition. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. (2016) 36:12083–94. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2965-15.2016
- Kanske P, Böckler A, Trautwein F-M, Singer T. Dissecting the social brain: introducing the EmpaToM to reveal distinct neural networks and brainbehavior relations for empathy and theory of mind. *Neuroimage.* (2015) 122:6–19. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.07.082
- 23. Andrews-Hanna JR, Saxe R, Yarkoni T. Contributions of episodic retrieval and mentalizing to autobiographical thought: evidence from functional neuroimaging, resting-state connectivity, and fMRI meta-analyses. *Neuroimage*. (2014) 91:324–35. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.01.032
- Schurz M, Maliske L, Kanske P. Cross-network interactions in social cognition: a review of findings on task related brain activation and connectivity. *Cortex J Devoted Study Nerv Syst Behav.* (2020) 130:142–57. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2020. 05.006
- Yeo BTT, Krienen FM, Sepulcre J, Sabuncu MR, Lashkari D, Hollinshead M, et al. The organization of the human cerebral cortex estimated by intrinsic functional connectivity. *J Neurophysiol.* (2011) 106:1125–65. doi: 10.1152/jn. 00338.2011
- Friston KJ, Harrison L, Penny W. Dynamic causal modelling. *Neuroimage*. (2003) 19:1273–302. doi: 10.1016/s1053-8119(03)00202-7
- Regenbogen C, Habel U, Kellermann T. Connecting multimodality in human communication. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2013) 7:754. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013. 00754
- 28. Schuwerk T, Döhnel K, Sodian B, Keck IR, Rupprecht R, Sommer M. Functional activity and effective connectivity of the posterior medial prefrontal

cortex during processing of incongruent mental states. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2014) 35:2950–65. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22377

- Schuwerk T, Schurz M, Müller F, Rupprecht R, Sommer M. The rTPJ's overarching cognitive function in networks for attention and theory of mind. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* (2017) 12:157–68. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsw163
- Shine JM, Poldrack RA. Principles of dynamic network reconfiguration across diverse brain states. *Neuroimage*. (2018) 180(Pt B):396–405. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2017.08.010
- Schilbach L, Eickhoff SB, Mojzisch A, Vogeley K. What's in a smile? Neural correlates of facial embodiment during social interaction. *Soc Neurosci.* (2008) 3:37–50. doi: 10.1080/17470910701563228
- Zaki J, Weber J, Bolger N, Ochsner K. The neural bases of empathic accuracy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A. (2009) 106:11382–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0902666106
- Anticevic A, Cole MW, Murray JD, Corlett PR, Wang X-J, Krystal JH. The role of default network deactivation in cognition and disease. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2012) 16:584–92. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2012.10.008
- 34. Goulden N, Khusnulina A, Davis NJ, Bracewell RM, Bokde AL, McNulty JP, et al. The salience network is responsible for switching between the default mode network and the central executive network: replication from DCM. *Neuroimage*. (2014) 99:180–90. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014. 05.052
- Fornito A, Harrison BJ, Zalesky A, Simons JS. Competitive and cooperative dynamics of large-scale brain functional networks supporting recollection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2012) 109:12788–93. doi: 10.1073/pnas.120418 5109
- Shine JM, Bissett PG, Bell PT, Koyejo O, Balsters JH, Gorgolewski KJ, et al. The dynamics of functional brain networks: integrated network states during cognitive task performance. *Neuron.* (2016) 92:544–54. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2016.09.018
- Valk SL, Kanske P, Park B, Hong SJ, Böckler-Raettig A, Trautwein F-M, et al. Changing the social brain: plasticity along macro-scale axes of functional connectivity following social mental training. *biorxiv* [Preprint]. (2021). doi: 10.1101/2020.11.11.377895
- Trautwein F-M, Kanske P, Böckler A, Singer T. Differential benefits of mental training types for attention, compassion, and theory of mind. *Cognition*. (2020) 194:104039. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2019.104039
- Alexander-Bloch A, Gogtay N, Meunier D, Birn R, Clasen L, Lalonde F, et al. Disrupted modularity and local connectivity of brain functional networks in childhood-onset schizophrenia. *Front Syst Neurosci.* (2010) 4:147. doi: 10. 3389/fnsys.2010.00147
- Lee K, Khoo HM, Lina J-M, Dubeau F, Gotman J, Grova C. Disruption, emergence and lateralization of brain network hubs in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2018) 20:71–84. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2018.06.029
- Wise T, Marwood L, Perkins AM, Herane-Vives A, Joules R, Lythgoe DJ, et al. Instability of default mode network connectivity in major depression: a two-sample confirmation study. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2017) 7:e1105–1105. doi: 10.1038/tp.2017.40
- Crossley NA, Mechelli A, Scott J, Carletti F, Fox PT, McGuire P, et al. The hubs of the human connectome are generally implicated in the anatomy of brain disorders. *Brain*. (2014) 137:2382–95. doi: 10.1093/brain/awu132
- de Lange SC, Scholtens LH, van den Berg LH, Boks MP, Bozzali M, Cahn W, et al. Shared vulnerability for connectome alterations across psychiatric and neurological brain disorders. *Nat Hum Behav.* (2019) 3:988–98. doi: 10.1038/ s41562-019-0659-6
- Bora E, Bartholomeusz C, Pantelis C. Meta-analysis of theory of mind (ToM) impairment in bipolar disorder. *Psychol Med.* (2016) 46:253–64. doi: 10.1017/ S0033291715001993
- Kurtz M, Mohring P, Förster K, Bauer M, Kanske P. Deficits in explicit emotion regulation in bipolar disorder: a systematic review. *Int J Bipolar Disord.* (2021) 9:15. doi: 10.1186/s40345-021-00221-9
- Wessa M, Linke J. Emotional processing in bipolar disorder: behavioural and neuroimaging findings. *Int Rev Psychiatry*. (2009) 21:357–67. doi: 10.1080/ 09540260902962156
- Roberts G, Perry A, Lord A, Frankland A, Leung V, Holmes-Preston E, et al. Structural dysconnectivity of key cognitive and emotional hubs in young people at high genetic risk for bipolar disorder. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2018) 23:413–21. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.216

- Wessa M, Kanske P, Linke J. Bipolar disorder: a neural network perspective on a disorder of emotion and motivation. *Restor Neurol Neurosci.* (2014) 32:51–62. doi: 10.3233/RNN-139007
- Jimenez AM, Riedel P, Lee J, Reavis EA, Green MF. Linking resting-state networks and social cognition in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2019) 40:4703–15. doi: 10.1002/hbm.24731
- Haghighat H, Mirzarezaee M, Araabi BN, Khadem A. Functional networks abnormalities in autism spectrum disorder: age-related hypo and hyper connectivity. *Brain Topogr.* (2021) 34:306–22. doi: 10.1007/s10548-021-00831-7
- Seghatol-Eslami VC, Maximo JO, Ammons CJ, Libero LE, Kana RK. Hyperconnectivity of social brain networks in autism during actionintention judgment. *Neuropsychologia.* (2020) 137:107303. doi: 10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2019.107303
- Uddin L, Supekar K, Menon V. Reconceptualizing functional brain connectivity in autism from a developmental perspective. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2013) 7:458. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00458
- Rudie JD, Shehzad Z, Hernandez LM, Colich NL, Bookheimer SY, Iacoboni M, et al. Reduced functional integration and segregation of distributed neural systems underlying social and emotional information processing in autism spectrum disorders. *Cereb Cortex.* (2012) 22:1025–37. doi: 10.1093/cercor/ bhr171
- Ilzarbe D, Lukito S, Moessnang C, O'Daly OG, Lythgoe DJ, Murphy CM, et al. Neural correlates of theory of mind in autism spectrum disorder, attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder, and the comorbid condition. *Front Psychiatry*. (2020) 11:544482. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.544482
- Lehmann K, Maliske L, Böckler A, Kanske P. Social impairments in mental disorders: Recent developments in studying the mechanisms of interactive behavior. *Clin Psychol Eur.* (2019) 1:1–15.
- Cuthbert BN. The RDoC framework: facilitating transition from ICD/DSM to dimensional approaches that integrate neuroscience and psychopathology. *World Psychiatry*. (2014) 13:28–35. doi: 10.1002/wps.20087
- van den Heuvel MP, Sporns O. A cross-disorder connectome landscape of brain dysconnectivity. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2019) 20:435–46. doi: 10.1038/ s41583-019-0177-6
- Schilbach L, Timmermans B, Reddy V, Costall A, Bente G, Schlicht T, et al. Toward a second-person neuroscience. *Behav Brain Sci.* (2013) 36:393–414. doi: 10.1017/s0140525x12000660

- Mirzaei G, Adeli A, Adeli H. Imaging and machine learning techniques for diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. *Rev Neurosci.* (2016) 27:857–70. doi: 10.1515/ revneuro-2016-0029
- van der Burgh HK, Schmidt R, Westeneng H-J, de Reus MA, van den Berg LH, van den Heuvel MP. Deep learning predictions of survival based on MRI in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2017) 13:361–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2016.10.008
- Brown M, Sidhu G, Greiner R, Asgarian N, Bastani M, Silverstone P, et al. ADHD-200 global competition: diagnosing ADHD using personal characteristic data can outperform resting state fMRI measurements. *Front Syst Neurosci.* (2012) 6:69. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2012. 00069
- 62. Schnack HG, Nieuwenhuis M, van Haren NEM, Abramovic L, Scheewe TW, Brouwer RM, et al. Can structural MRI aid in clinical classification? A machine learning study in two independent samples of patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and healthy subjects. *Neuroimage*. (2014) 84:299–306. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.08.053
- Ramasubbu R, Brown MRG, Cortese F, Gaxiola I, Goodyear B, Greenshaw AJ, et al. Accuracy of automated classification of major depressive disorder as a function of symptom severity. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2016) 12:320–31. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2016.07.012

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Maliske and Kanske. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Characterization of the Core Determinants of Social Influence From a Computational and Cognitive Perspective

Hyeji Lee^{1,2} and Dongil Chung^{1*}

¹ Department of Biomedical Engineering, Ulsan National Institute of Science and Technology (UNIST), Ulsan, South Korea, ² Department of Psychology, The University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, United Kingdom

Most human decisions are made among social others, and in what social context the choices are made is known to influence individuals' decisions. Social influence has been noted as an important factor that may nudge individuals to take more risks (e.g., initiation of substance use), but ironically also help individuals to take safer actions (e.g., successful abstinence). Such bi-directional impacts of social influence hint at the complexity of social information processing. Here, we first review the recent computational approaches that shed light on neural and behavioral mechanisms underlying social influence following basic computations involved in decision-making: valuation, action selection, and learning. We next review the studies on social influence from various fields including neuroeconomics, developmental psychology, social psychology, and cognitive neuroscience, and highlight three dimensions of determinants-who are the recipients, how the social contexts are presented, and to what domains and processes of decisions the influence is applied-that modulate the extent to which individuals are influenced by others. Throughout the review, we also introduce the brain regions that were suggested as neural instantiations of social influence from a large body of functional neuroimaging studies. Finally, we outline the remaining questions to be addressed in the translational application of computational and cognitive theories of social influence to psychopathology and health.

Keywords: social influence, computational modeling, individual differences, computational psychiatry, context dependence

INTRODUCTION

Most human decisions are made among social others. It is broadly observed that individuals' choice patterns sometimes vary and reflect the social information (1, 2). These phenomena highlight the importance of the social context at which the decision-making is taking place. Individuals being exposed to such "social influence" may have positive consequences; the decision maker whose actions were swayed by observing others' choices may benefit from the influence (e.g., joining others in following daily athletic routine) or get oneself to participate in spreading the good deed (e.g., ALS Ice bucket Challenge). However, in many other occasions, social influence is considered as a crucial factor that affects individuals negatively. For example, negative peer influence is known as a major risk factor for early initiation of substance use and other risky behaviors (3), and in line with this, having close friends and family members who suffer from substance use disorder is one of the

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sören Krach, University of Lübeck, Germany

Reviewed by:

Shinsuke Suzuki, The University of Melbourne, Australia Christoph W. Korn, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Germany

> *Correspondence: Dongil Chung dchung@unist.ac.kr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Social Cognition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 31 December 2021 Accepted: 22 March 2022 Published: 18 April 2022

Citation:

Lee H and Chung D (2022) Characterization of the Core Determinants of Social Influence From a Computational and Cognitive Perspective. Front. Psychiatry 13:846535. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.846535

99

prominent predictors for individuals' substance use problem (4). These bi-directional impacts of social influence suggest that the mechanisms how social information affects individuals could be quite complex.

There has been abundant amount of research carried out to understand the breadth and levels of social influence in individuals' choices. In classic social psychology studies, researchers largely focused on the impact of social environment in adolescents, given that adolescence is a critical neurodevelopmental period (5, 6). Due to the complex nature of the natural settings, analyzing questionnaire data based on self-reports was not sufficient to answer why the impacts of social environment on adolescents' delinquent behavior sometimes are positive (7) but some other times negative (8, 9). Addressing this issue, over the recent two decades, various types of experimental paradigms have been suggested to examine the impact of overt (e.g., advice from an expert) (10, 11) and covert (e.g., presence of peers) (12) social contexts. In parallel, computational modeling of behavioral data from laboratory settings has been found useful in disentangling potential factors and plausible neurobehavioral mechanisms underlying social influence. Yet, experimental designs in laboratory settings are typically restricted by the specific factors-of-interest (e.g., age group, delivery methods or contents of social information) in line with their hypotheses, and thus suggested computational models still have room for improvement.

In this review, we aim to review previous research on social influence from various fields of studies, and to suggest core factors that would play key roles determining how individuals process and respond to social contexts. In the next section, we overview the recent computational approaches suggested to explain why and how individuals are affected by social contexts. In the following three sections, we review three dimensions of determinants that are known (or expected) to modulate the extent to which individuals are influenced by others: characteristics of the individuals who are receiving the social influence, the forms that the influence is conveyed, and the domains and processes of decisions that the influence is modulating. In the last section, we discuss about future directions in understanding of social influence and its translational application to mental illness. Large proportion of the studies we include here also provided functional neuroimaging results, which further supported their suggested cognitive and computational models explaining how social information is involved in decision processes. Thus, whenever found necessary, throughout the current review, we also introduce the brain regions that were suggested as neural instantiation of social influence.

COMPUTATIONAL MODELS OF SOCIAL INFLUENCE

How does an individual make decisions under social influence? To answer this question, we need a better approach than simply observing individuals' behavioral patterns, because there could be different paths of decision processes that underlie the same exact choice. To shed light on the question, various studies in social influence used computational modeling approaches in conjunction with functional neuroimaging (13-20). Given that social information contributes to change of individuals' initial decisions, the extent to which individuals use or respond to social information is often explained within the framework of learning. However, depending on the specific goal of the task and the way how the social information is framed, potential motives that individuals are expected to show differ (e.g., following the norm, or collecting more information) and moreover, different learning models are suggested to best explain individuals' choice patterns (e.g., Rescorla-Wagner type reinforcement learning model, or Bayesian learner model) [for review, see (21, 22)]. In this section, we review putative mechanisms of social influence suggested in these recent studies following basic levels of computations involved in decision-making (23): valuation, action selection, and learning. Of note, we focus on cognitive processes that occur within individuals who are on the receiving end of the social information, and the mechanisms how one may decide to exert influence over others [e.g., (24)] or how social information diffuses over a large group of people [e.g., (25)] are out of the scope of the current review.

Adjustment of Individuals' Preferences

Under social context, on average, people tend to follow others' choices [(2); c.f., (26)]. One of the simplest explanation why people follow others' choices is that individuals become similar to social others who they are with. Previous studies suggested that having chances to observe others' choices sways individuals to change their own preferences-behavioral tendency how they make choices (action selection) in a particular contextto match that of social others. Individuals showed shifts in the extent to which they discount delayed rewards after observing the choices of the majority of the social group (27). Such a "contagion" of preference was observed even in the case when individuals were presented with choices from anonymous few social others rather than from a representative group. Individuals changed their choice behaviors (e.g., delayed reward, uncertain gambles, moral choices) after participating in a task phase where they were asked to predict others' choices, and the changes were explained by computational models that assumed shifts in individuals preferences toward the observed social others (19, 28, 29). These modeling results were corroborated by model-based neuroimaging results. Specifically, event-related blood oxygenlevel-dependent (BOLD) responses in the dorsomedial prefrontal cortex (dmPFC), a brain region known to be recruited for social information processing (30-32), tracked individuals' beliefs about others' choices (19, 27). This set of results suggested that individuals adjust their preferences in the direction that matches with social others, and in turn, show conforming behaviors.

Social Valuation

As any other decisions individuals make in life, choices under social contexts can be attributed to individuals' *subjective valuation* (33). This view assumes that individuals place value on the information obtained from social others and this additional social value can explain why they tend to make the

same choices as social others. In contrast to the studies that reported individuals' preference change under social context, task contexts where individuals had a brief chance to observe others' choices successfully showed evidence for a transient use of social information. In recent studies, Chung et al. (17, 20) used a formal model comparison and showed that a brief observation of social others' choices may affect individuals in their valuation rather than changing their preferences; the impact of observing others' choices on valuation was defined as "other-conferred utility". Consistent with their model-based results, it was observed that the ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC), a brain region known to encode subjective values of social and non-social choices (13, 34, 35), tracked trial-bytrial decision values combining the social values in individuals' decision processes (17). Such an impact of social valuation was also observed in a learning context where individuals made choices whether or not to follow social others' advice (15). Specifically, individuals' advice following behavior was explained by their adaptive learning process in which the value of obtained reward (or punishment) gets modulated for the choices advised by others. This value level premium, termed as "outcomebonus", was tracked in the septal area and the caudate, brain regions implicated in signaling rewards and reward prediction errors (36-38). Another recent study suggested that individuals may encode social value in the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) through vicarious simulation conducted from observing others' choices, and that this distinct value signal is combined with experience-based value signal in the vmPFC for subsequent decision-making (39). These results suggest that individuals' motivations to conform emerge from their computations of the value of social information and/or the value of sharing membership with the social group.

Learning From Social Others

The two perspectives introduced above are not mutually exclusive, but rather intertwined one another (22, 23). At a first look, the results would seem contradictory such that some studies suggest stable and non-changing individual preferences [e.g., (17)] whereas others suggest changes in preferences under social context [e.g., (19)]. However, social learning framework provided explanation why and how such subtle differences in the contexts may trigger differential responses from individuals. When individuals receive social information that is deviant from their own, BOLD responses in the dorsomedial prefrontal cortex (dmPFC) associated with social and cognitive conflicts were observed (14, 40, 41). Moreover, it was shown that this error signal is used as social prediction error, which individuals use to reduce the difference between self and others by learning from social others (14, 40, 42, 43). When individuals do not have a full access to social others' choice preferences or intentions (as in most of the social interactions), but believe others' choices are informative, individuals have to infer what others would be thinking to optimize one's own actions. In these contexts, individuals make inference about reliability of others' choices (44, 45), emulate others' intention (46), and combine the inferred social information with their own (44-47). This set of results suggests that individuals are influenced by social contexts because they use the information in learning how to adjust their choices at a specific context (e.g., interacting with the same social partner repetitively, observing choices of randomly assigned partner).

Summary

As briefly reviewed above, cognitive mechanisms of social influence may take different forms depending on the context in which its impact is examined. Depending on how the social information is provided, individuals may use the information as a transient nudge toward others' opinion or as a normative guide directing them to be changed. To date, computational modeling approach has been found useful in delineating such variant mechanisms (21, 22, 48, 49). However, there are still many remaining questions regarding the mechanisms, such as why some individuals are more susceptible to social information, and how does the value of a certain type of social information determined. To address these, we suggested that further practices in quantifying potential modulatory effects of latent variables are crucial. In the following sections, we review studies on social influence from various fields of studies and highlight three dimensions of determinants that are known to modulate the extent to which individuals are influenced by others.

COGNITIVE, PSYCHOLOGICAL, AND CONTEXTUAL DETERMINANTS OF THE IMPACTS OF SOCIAL INFLUENCE

Who Is More Susceptible to Social Influence

Everyone is bound to live under social influence, but some are more affected by others. Over the decades, a considerable amount of literature in social psychology has been published on the association between individual-specific characteristics and the extent to which individuals are influenced by social influence [e.g., (50, 51)]. The individual-specific characteristics that have been investigated across various fields of studies include demographics (e.g., age, socioeconomic status) and individuals' psychological characteristics (e.g., anxiety level, self-esteem). In this section, we review major factors that may mediate or modulate the impact of social influence on individuals' decision processes.

Demographic Factors: Age and Socioeconomic Status

Age has been considered as one of the most salient determinants that modulate social influence. Early pioneering research focused on the negative impacts of peers on adolescents' behavior. A seminal work by Gardner and Steinberg (10) showed that adolescents, compared to adults and young adults, take more risks when in peer groups. Adolescents' increased riskseeking behavior was accounted for by the imbalance between adolescents' reward and cognitive control circuits (52, 53). In line with this neurodevelopmental model, their heightened social susceptibility was suggested to be associated with socioemotional neural system (54, 55). Supporting these neural sensitivity models for adolescents, adolescents who exhibited increased risk-taking choices under the presence of peers indeed showed increased BOLD responses in the reward circuit, including the ventral striatum and orbitofrontal cortex (12).

In contrast to classic studies on social influence in adolescents, recent studies gave more attention to positive impacts of social influence (56). Do et al. (57) specifically compared adolescents' conforming behaviors toward different types of social influence. In this study, adolescents tended to stick to their original attitudes toward various types of behaviors, but on the cases when they change their attitudes, adolescents conformed to constructive behaviors (e.g., working hard in school) more than unconstructive behaviors (e.g., smoking a cigarette). Another study used computational modeling approach and showed neural and behavioral evidence for positive peer influence in adolescents (20). Adolescents were making a series of gamble choices and presented with social others' choices before they made each choice. Consistent with the results observed in adults (17), adolescents followed others' choices on average, and such conformity was explained by added social value to the option others chose. In particular, adolescents who never used any types of substances were influenced by others' safe choices, whereas adolescents who have used were not. Although these studies did not directly compare adolescents' decision patterns from those of adults, the results suggested the mechanisms how individuals use social information in their adolescence, a sensitive period for sociocultural processing (6).

Considering the hormonal effects on biological development of the brain, one should consider pubertal stage as a determinant as important as age in developmental research. Indeed, across many adolescent studies, it has been reported that the extent to which individuals are susceptible to social influence is heightened during adolescence and usually diminished after pubertal growth (55, 58, 59). Moreover, recent functional neuroimaging studies suggested that puberty might play a more important role than chronical age in structural and functional development of the brain [(60); for review, see (61)]. This set of studies again highlights that individuals' age would explain considerable variability in their neural and behavioral patterns reflecting individual differences in social information processing.

Another noteworthy demographic factor is socioeconomic status (SES). There have been fairly consistent results suggesting that individuals' socioeconomic status has a significant effect on their behavior in social context. Psychological research suggested the association between individuals' social class and their perspectives over the social environmental (62). Specifically, individuals' high and low classes were considered to be shaped by abundance (or scarcity) of available resources, which in turn may underlie their behavioral tendencies either to focus on one's own internal states or to external factors (62). Consistent with this view, empirical research on social influence among marginalized groups also reported that they tend to conform to their peers more not to be excluded from their community and assert their identity in the group (63).

Recent neuroimaging research further supported the role of SES in individuals susceptibility to social influence. Casio et al. (64) examined whether individuals' SES moderates the relationship between brain responses to social exclusion and the extent to which they conform to peer influence. Specifically, individuals who had low SES showed positive association between neural sensitivity to social exclusion measured in the "social pain" network regions [including dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (dACC), anterior insula, and subgenual cingulate cortex (subACC)] and their conforming tendencies, whereas individuals who had high SES showed the opposite association. Comparable moderating effects of SES were observed for the brain regions implicated in mentalizing [e.g., medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), temporoparietal junction (TPJ)] (64, 65). These results together imply that SES is neurocognitively linked to the way people process social information.

Of note, the measurements of SES vary across studies and these results should be interpreted with caution. The most common indices include income and educational levels (64, 66), and subjective assessments, such as perceived neighborhood quality (67) and the MacArthur ladder, which measures individual belief about one's location in a status order (65). Although these assessments are usually correlated, they should not be used interchangeably, because they might have enough differential effects on the brain development (68).

Psychological Characteristics: Anxiety and Self-Esteem

Among individuals who have the same demographic profiles, social influence still may have very different impacts, contingent upon individuals' psychological characteristics. Given the social characteristic of the information processing, social anxiety is one of the closest psychological factors that may modulate the effect of social influence. A recent study reported that individuals' social anxiety was positively associated with their conformity to bullying under social influence, such that individuals who show highest social anxiety level conforms to others the most (69). Even in learning directly from experience, highly anxious individuals showed a negative bias (i.e., learning better from bad news) when social others were observing (70). Another study examined social influence differences between healthy individuals and individuals with social anxiety disorder (71). Consistent with the results from the subclinical population, individuals with social anxiety disorder showed higher susceptibility to social influence particularly when social others rated presented face as more attractive than they originally reported. This result was interpreted as evidence for increased motivation to pursue social acceptance and avoid social rejecting in individuals with high social anxiety.

Self-esteem is another psychological characteristic that may be associated with the extent to which one is swayed by others' opinion. Indeed, various classic social psychology research have examined whether individuals' self-esteem is a major moderator of social influence (72–74). Despite the general results showcasing negative association with individuals' susceptibility to peer influence—individuals with low self-esteem are more susceptible to others' influence (72, 74)—, other studies suggested that the relationship is rather more complex. Nisbett and Gordon (73) suggested that modulating effect of self-esteem may differ depding on the type of social influence. Particularly, individuals' self-esteem was negatively associated with the extent to which they are influenced by others for the type of social influence that is relatively easy to comprehend but implausible, while the association was non-monotonic or even opposite for a difficult but plausible message.

Recent neuroimaging studies corroborated this suggested association between self-esteem and their susceptibility to social information. Somerville et al. (75) reported that individuals who had low self-esteem not only reported that they received positive feedbacks less from others, but also were more sensitive to positive feedbacks received by others compared with individuals who had high self-esteem. This result implied that social feedbacks might be exaggerated in low self-esteem individuals, and thus have increased susceptibility to social influence. Will and colleagues (76) used computational modeling approach and suggested that individuals' self-esteem is established through the way how they learn about social others. These results altogether hint a possibility that self-esteem is more than a modulator for individuals' social susceptibility, but rather a dynamically changing characteristic shaped by the history of social interactions.

Summary

We reviewed various individual characteristics that are associated with the extent to which individuals are influenced by social contexts. As introduced above, vast amount of studies showed that a large variance of individual differences exists in susceptibility to social influence. However, only few studies directly took these associated factors into account in constructing a cohesive computational model of social influence. Individual characteristics such as age and socioeconomic status may be closely tied to developmental changes or differential learning experiences, while other characteristics (e.g., anxiety and selfesteem) may be linked to baseline traits each individual has and to a specific state individuals reside at the moment. Better mechanistic understanding of social influence spanning across these individual characteristics may provide explanation why minorities who are most vulnerable (e.g., adolescents), or marginalized and stigmatized cohorts are more susceptible to their social environment (3, 12) and even likely to experience mental health problems (77, 78).

How Is the Social Influence Conveyed

Sometimes what matters is how you say it, rather than what you say. In the same vein, the exact same content can have a very different impact on people's behavioral changes depending on from whom or how it is delivered. Characteristics of the group (e.g., social distance, expertise) may shape the credibility of the social information, and thus individuals may be more (or less) influenced by a particular social group. Two distinctive ways of being exposed to social information includes directly observing others and in reverse, realizing that one is being observed by others. Depends on these specific circumstances, individuals may obtain different types of social information and in turn, be influenced differently. In this section, we review previous research that examined how the forms of social influence modulate the way how or the extent to which social influence affects individuals' choices.

Characteristics of Others: Social Closeness, Credibility, and Competence

When one has a chance to decide on the team members to work together, one would usually prefer others who he or she shares similar perspectives and relates one another easily. A biased behavioral tendency of being assorted based on individuals' preference is often observed in social context, such that individuals who are closer in their social network are more likely to have similar preference (79). Moreover, social closeness, a psychological construct that is well-described as a shared variance between oneself and others (80), was shown to have a significant effect on individuals' judgement about others (81). In other psychology studies where a dichotomous classification of social relationship is adopted (in- vs. outgroup) showed consistent results, such that individuals showed a biased preference toward in-group members (82). Such biases toward socially intimate others might be accounted for by their motivation to keep their membership stable and to enhance self-esteem (2).

Recent neuroimaging studies presented further evidence explaining why and how such biases exist. Sip et al. (83) examined whether social feedbacks from a gender-matched close friend vs. from a confederate have differential impacts on individuals' decision pattern and on their neural responses. Individuals were responsive to social feedback and showed changes in choice patterns accordingly, but only when the feedback came from a close friend. This effect was reflected in BOLD responses in the vmPFC and posterior cingulate cortex (PCC), which they presented as supporting evidence for modulatory impact of social closeness on decision-making processes. A similar study that examined individuals' neural responses to social influence revealed differences when the influence originated from in- vs. out- group (84). Particularly, a set of brain regions including the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), amygdala, and ventral striatum (vStr) showed higher BOLD responses for the social influence from in-group than out-group members. Consistent with these findings, the default mode network (85), a set of brain regions including the medial PFC and PCC, and its interaction with subcortical regions are known to be closely associated with mental representation about self-other relationship (86). These studies together highlight that social closeness is an important determinant for social information processing.

Another very closely related factor is whether the achieved social information is perceived useful or not. When expertise of social others is explicitly informed, one can use this knowledge to judge whether social information from them is reliable or not. Supporting this view, various studies have shown that people tend to follow opinion and advice from people with expertise than from novice (87, 88). Klucharev et al. (89) suggested that presenting an object paired with an expert enhances memory performance and moreover has a positive impact on the attitude toward the object. Such an impact of perceived expertise was associated with re-evaluation of an item (89, 90), which may account for the reason why people are more likely to follow experts' opinion.

It is important to note that in most of the cases, it is not obvious whether the social information is useful or not. Thus, individuals should estimate how useful the social information is to maximize one's own benefit (or minimize the harm). As crude heuristics, opinion from larger group of people can be taken into account more heavily (45), and others' faster responses are considered more informative (91). Independent of the true usefulness of the information, individuals were more likely to be persuaded by others when presented with higher confidence (92, 93). Evaluation of the confidence that is presented for (or estimated to be associated with) the social information was tracked in the vmPFC, an area dissociable from the region that encoded subjective value signal combining one's own and others' preference (44, 94). These results support the view that by estimating who knows better or whether the social information is useful, individuals can choose their strategy to learn from social others (13, 95).

The Way Social Information Is Given: Observing and Being Observed

When being around social others, there are different ways to acquire additional social information. The type of information one can achieve is yoked to the methods how social influence is acquired, and thus how one processes and uses the information naturally should be different accordingly. The most direct way to acquire social information is through a chance to observe others' choices which inform others' preferences and social norms. Chung et al. (17) showed that individuals tend to follow others' choices during risky decision-making. By conducting a formal model comparison, they suggested that such conformity is explained by a value-based decision process combining additional utility to the option chosen by others, rather than by changing individuals' original preferences. The mechanisms how individuals combine their own knowledge and preference with social information may vary. Individuals may project their own preference in predicting that of others (96), and also track whether others' intentions underlying the observed actions of others change over time (97). Other studies suggested that individuals use social information to adjust their own opinion and intend to match with that of others. Specifically, when individuals were asked to report attractiveness of a series of faces after viewing others' responses, their original attractiveness reports were adjusted toward the others (40, 98). These results suggested that individuals are able to track the difference of the values (or preference) between their own and others (17, 40, 41), and change their choices (or ratings) accordingly to minimize the difference (40).

On other occasions, one can be mindful of being around others, but have no chance to directly observe others' choices. The impact of simple presence of others is largely investigated in adolescents, where presence of friends were found to increase adolescents' risk seeking behavior (10, 12, 99). Individuals tended to show higher sensitivity to rewards and more impulsive choices under presence of others even if the social others were not friends, but strangers (100). Such social influence was attributed to social reward, associated with approval from others (101). In a recent study, Powers et al. (102) also examined impacts of the contexts where friends were simply present at the same room or monitoring participants' choices. Particularly, options were more likely to be chosen when they were paired with friends' monetary gains compared with when they were paired with friends' losses. In adults, such adjustment of individuals' choice attitudes were more pronounced when friends were monitoring the choices than merely present, while adolescents showed comparable responses to the social contexts regardless of whether friends could witness the choices or not. These results suggested that individuals may take into account wellbeing of friends, particularly when others can immediately witness the choices.

Individuals may infer what others would expect from their choices and place social values toward meeting the inferred expectation (13, 46). This perspective was closely examined in a recent study where participants were asked to predict others' choices (19). After successfully learning others' choices, individuals' preferences for risky choices changed toward that of others as if there was a "behavioral contagion". The main goal of predicting others' choices might have motivated individuals to simulate others' preferences and mentalize (103), which may underlie why social context affects individuals differently.

Summary

We reviewed that how social influence is conveyed may shape the mechanism how a social context would affect individuals' choices. When individuals are under a social context, they may start extracting a set of information ranging from whether others share the same goal as them to whether others have more amount of information. In the inference process figuring out social others' goals, individuals may recalibrate their subgoals [e.g., to collaborate or compete with others, to mimic others' actions (104), to meet a consensus (105)]. Given that real world is largely uncertain and volatile, we, as social agents, must be constantly solving such an inference problem to first evaluate the usefulness of social information and next alternate how to use the information (46).

What Decision Domains and Processes Is the Social Influence Applied to

Would a person who is susceptible to one type of social information always be sensitive to other types of social contexts? It is not uncommon in real life that the extent to which individuals respond to social information differs depending on the type of behavioral choices which are subject to the influence. For example, an adolescent who is not swayed by aberrant behaviors of peers may show tendencies to join her friend for volunteer opportunities, and an addict who easily gives in to craving around other substance users may not respond to intervention of social support groups. In this section, we review previous studies in social influence across different decision domains and processes. In addition, we discuss whether or not social influence is domain-general and if not, whether there are any latent variables that explain why individuals show domainspecific responses to social information.

Domain-Specific and Domain-General Mechanisms of Social Influence

Social influence can be readily observed in almost every kind of decision process in our life. Mirroring this, there were many empirical studies ranging from the simplest perceptual decisionmaking to complex moral decision-making where they used a variety of task paradigms to show the effects of social influence on human information processing. Perceptual decision-making tasks are based on the evaluation of sensory information, such as the length of lines (106), the dominant color of the presented patches (107), or the shape of three-dimensional objects (108). Personal preference tasks include variety of options, such as preference for t-shirts (41), faces (40, 98), and works of art (108, 109). In monetary reward tasks, there are explicit gains and losses of money associated with each of the choice option (17, 19, 110). Lastly, in social preference tasks, individuals encounter decisionmaking situation where they have to consider explicit losses and gains of social others and their own simultaneously (29, 101). On average, behavioral changes indeed were observed under social influence across all of these studies that probe different levels of cognitive processing in humans. However, due to the variety of contexts each study adopted (e.g., cover stories) and the differences in the targeted cognitive processes (e.g., perception, valuation), there is no universal computational framework that explains the mechanism of social influence across domains.

There are a few computational frameworks that provided cross-domain accounts for social influence (21, 22). First, individuals may be trying to learn others' preferences and values under social influence. Such "normative influence" of social contexts, where social others' choices are not necessarily based on a better set of information, were explained by reinforcement learning (RL) framework capturing individuals' change of behaviors toward others [(40, 98), c.f., (111)]. Consistent with this perspective, individuals under social context were sensitive to the opinion differences between them and the others (41, 112), and it was shown that a set of brain regions involved in social and monetary reward learning overlap (113, 114). The RL framework successfully captured the extent to which individuals conform to others' preference-based choices over primary and social rewards (40, 115). Second, individuals may be collecting more information from others' choices. Following such "informational influence" of social contexts, individuals seemed to be using others' responses and choices to appropriately adjust their original responses. To integrate information from two sources, individuals computed the importance and reliability of each piece of information (44, 45, 47). Such a Bayesian learner framework successfully explained individuals' conformity not only in perceptual, but also in value-based decision-making particularly when statistical inference was available.

It is worth noting that behavioral patterns which are well-explained by the same computational framework may in fact induced by different neural mechanisms; differential implementation level explanation as per Marr's three levels of analysis (116). For example, a recent study directly compared multivoxel neural patterns for social conformity with that for classic reward learning, and suggested that neural responses in the brain regions typically involved in non-social RL (e.g., striatum) do not explain whether or not individuals conform to social information (111). This emphasizes again the importance of interdisciplinary approaches in understanding human information processing. A careful consideration of specific contexts will shape individuals' motivation ("computation level"), but why and how individuals process social information in the context need thorough examination not only in algorithmic level (e.g., computational modeling) but also in implementational level (e.g., functional neuroimging) (117).

Summary

We briefly reviewed plausible mechanisms suggested to date of social influence over different decision domains. Although cognitive motivations defined over psychological constructs including value and information maximization accounted for neural and behavioral mechanisms under social influence (33), applying the same mechanism to different levels of cognitive processing has been challenging, because task settings (e.g., goal, order, amount of information) also varied across different studies. Future studies may tailor the study design to specifically examine individuals' cross-domain susceptibility to social information. By using the same task settings, but over different domain, we would get a direct chance to address whether individuals' domainspecific sensitivity and confidence, which will be manifested as preference for social information, affect the extent to which individuals use social information.

CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE CHALLENGES

Research on social influence has been conducted across various fields of studies. Recent computational approach in conjunction with functional brain imaging technology provided new impetus for the study of social influence, and shed light on underlying mechanisms of individual cognitive processes under social context. Still, there are major challenges remaining given the sheer diversity of social contexts. In this review, we overviewed previous studies in social influence along the three axes of determinants (who are the receivers, how is the influence provided, and to what is the influence applied) that may modulate and mediate the impacts of social influence. These three dimensions are not mutually exclusive one another and thus, they would not completely compartmentalize the impacts of one axis from the other. Still, we hope that our review would highlight potential co-factors crucial to consider for expanding our mechanistic understanding of social influence to translational applications (e.g., intervention design) (118, 119).

Given the complex nature of social contexts, simply adding up all the plausible factors into one experiment might not bring solutions. To address this issue, coherent and theorydriven computational modeling approaches should be proceeded (22, 120, 121). In parallel with this formal theory-driven approach, individual differences and extreme cases (e.g., cultural differences, race and gender discrimination, mental illness) cannot be overlooked as described herein. Thus, hypothesis testing in special population may provide further insights in examining the generalizability and transferability of the model (122–125). As an equally important research direction, data-driven understanding of behaviors in social contexts may provide complementary insights for latent variables. Nowadays, taking advantage of large-scale studies and open science practices, we now have better access to big data including personal habits and their social network (126– 128). However, we still have to interpret the results with caution considering the sparsity and multi-dimensionality of the data (129).

Considering the importance of both theory-driven and datadriven approaches in mind, there are at least two issues to take into account when in designing future studies in social influence. First, dimensional measurements of potential determinants are preferrable than to have dichotomized classes. For example, most of the studies that investigated the impact of social closeness took contrast approach where the effects of a close friend vs. a stranger were examined (82-84). However, social closeness is not only associated with perception of social membership, but also trust and competence (130, 131). That is, we cannot disentangle potential effects of social distance and other co-varying factors by having only two categories along the dimension. Second, volatility of the social context should be considered to better mimic real world interactions. Social environment and relationship between people constantly change and how we perceive the context gets adjusted accordingly. In perspective of formalizing its impacts in the model, changes in belief about others' advice (13) or active alterations between utilized strategies for social information

REFERENCES

- 1. Turner JC. Social Influence. California: Thomson Brooks/Cole Publishing Co (1991).
- Cialdini RB, Goldstein NJ. Social influence: compliance and conformity. *Annu Rev Psychol.* (2004) 55:591– 621. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.142015
- Pfeifer JH, Masten CL, Moore Iii WE, Oswald TM, Mazziotta JC, Iacoboni M, et al. Entering adolescence: resistance to peer influence, risky behavior, and neural changes in emotion reactivity. *Neuron.* (2011) 69:1029– 36. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.02.019
- Ramirez R, Hinman A, Sterling S, Weisner C, Campbell C. Peer influences on adolescent alcohol and other drug use outcomes. *J Nurs Scholarship.* (2012) 44:36–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1547-5069.2011.01437.x
- Casey BJ, Getz S, Galvan A. The adolescent brain. Dev Rev. (2008) 28:62– 77. doi: 10.1016/j.dr.2007.08.003
- Blakemore S-J, Mills KL. Is adolescence a sensitive period for sociocultural processing? *Annu Rev Psychol.* (2014) 65:187– 207. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115202
- Shortt AL, Hutchinson DM, Chapman R, Toumbourou JW. Family, school, peer and individual influences on early adolescent alcohol use: first-year impact of the Resilient Families programme. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* (2007) 26:625–34. doi: 10.1080/0959523070161 3817
- 8. Walton MA, Blow FC, Bingham CR, Chermack ST. Individual and social/environmental predictors of alcohol and drug use 2 years following substance abuse treatment. Addict Behav. (2003)28:627-42. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4603(01)0 0284-2

(46) can be implemented. Alternatively, to explore naturally emerging dynamics in rich environment, new experimental designs may target for collecting neural and behavioral data from interactions between uncontrolled real dyads simultaneously (132-134), and even further, using naturalistic social stimuli such as real-time videos and virtual reality (135). Using naturalistic social environment would get us closer to directly simulate the impacts of social contexts simulating translational applications. However, as reviewed above, there are numerous factors that are already known to affect social processing, but we have close to no understanding how these factors interact and interfere each other. Thus, for broader generalizability and future individualized translational applications, it cannot be emphasized enough the importance of compartmentalized and computational understanding about the underlying determinants of social influence.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HL and DC conceptualized the study, wrote the first draft of the manuscript, and contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

DC was supported by UNIST internal funding (1.220032.01) and the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF-2020S1A3A2A02097375). The funders had no role in study design, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

- Schuck K, Otten R, Engels RC, Barker ED, Kleinjan M. Bidirectional influences between parents and children in smoking behavior: a longitudinal full-family model. *Nicot Tobacco Res.* (2012) 15:44–51. doi: 10.1093/ntr/nts082
- Gardner M, Steinberg L. Peer influence on risk taking, risk preference, and risky decision making in adolescence and adulthood: an experimental study. *Dev Psychol.* (2005) 41:625–35. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.41.4.625
- Engelmann JB, Moore S, Monica Capra C, Berns GS. Differential neurobiological effects of expert advice on risky choice in adolescents and adults. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2012) 7:557–67. doi: 10.1093/scan/nss050
- Chein J, Albert D, O'brien L, Uckert K, Steinberg L. Peers increase adolescent risk taking by enhancing activity in the brain's reward circuitry. *Dev Sci.* (2011) 14:F1–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7687.2010.01035.x
- Behrens TE, Hunt LT, Woolrich MW, Rushworth MF. Associative learning of social value. *Nature*. (2008) 456:245–9. doi: 10.1038/nature07538
- Burke CJ, Tobler PN, Baddeley M, Schultz W. Neural mechanisms of observational learning. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:14431– 36. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1003111107
- Biele G, Rieskamp J, Krugel LK, Heekeren HR. The neural basis of following advice. *PLoS Biol.* (2011) 9:e1001089. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1001089
- Boorman ED, O'doherty JP, Adolphs R, Rangel A. The behavioral and neural mechanisms underlying the tracking of expertise. *Neuron.* (2013) 80:1558–71. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.10.024
- Chung D, Christopoulos GI, King-Casas B, Ball SB, Chiu PH. Social signals of safety and risk confer utility and have asymmetric effects on observers' choices. *Nat Neurosci.* (2015) 18:912–6. doi: 10.1038/nn.4022
- Lockwood PL, Apps MA, Roiser JP, Viding E. Encoding of vicarious reward prediction in anterior cingulate cortex and relationship with trait empathy. J Neurosci. (2015) 35:13720–7. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1703-15.2015

- Suzuki S, Jensen EL, Bossaerts P, O'doherty JP. Behavioral contagion during learning about another agent's risk-preferences acts on the neural representation of decision-risk. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:3755– 60. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1600092113
- Chung D, Orloff MA, Lauharatanahirun N, Chiu PH, King-Casas B. Valuation of peers' safe choices is associated with substance-naivete in adolescents. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2020) 117:31729–37. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1919111117
- Toelch U, Dolan RJ. Informational and normative influences in conformity from a neurocomputational perspective. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2015) 19:579– 89. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2015.07.007
- Charpentier CJ, O'doherty JP. The application of computational models to social neuroscience: promises and pitfalls. *Soc Neurosci.* (2018) 13:637– 47. doi: 10.1080/17470919.2018.1518834
- Rangel A, Camerer C, Montague PR. A framework for studying the neurobiology of value-based decision making. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2008) 9:545-56. doi: 10.1038/nrn2357
- Baek EC, Scholz C, O'donnell MB, Falk EB. The value of sharing information: a neural account of information transmission. *Psychol Sci.* (2017) 28:851– 61. doi: 10.1177/0956797617695073
- Lorenz J, Rauhut H, Schweitzer F, Helbing D. How social influence can undermine the wisdom of crowd effect. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:9020–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1008636108
- Cohen GL, Prinstein MJ. Peer contagion of aggression and health risk behavior among adolescent males: an experimental investigation of effects on public conduct and private attitudes. *Child Dev.* (2006) 77:967– 83. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00913.x
- Apps MAJ, Ramnani N. Contributions of the medial prefrontal cortex to social influence in economic decision-making. *Cereb Cortex*. (2017) 27:4635– 48. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhx183
- Calluso C, Tosoni A, Fortunato G, Committeri G. Can you change my preferences? Effect of social influence on intertemporal choice behavior. *Behav Brain Res.* (2017) 330:78–84. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2017.05.001
- Yu H, Siegel JZ, Clithero JA, Crockett MJ. How peer influence shapes value computation in moral decision-making. *Cognition*. (2021) 211:104641. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2021.104641
- Schiller D, Freeman JB, Mitchell JP, Uleman JS, Phelps EA. A neural mechanism of first impressions. *Nat Neurosci.* (2009) 12:508–14. doi: 10.1038/nn.2278
- Somerville LH, Jones RM, Ruberry EJ, Dyke JP, Glover G, Casey B. The medial prefrontal cortex and the emergence of self-conscious emotion in adolescence. *Psychol Sci.* (2013) 24:1554–62. doi: 10.1177/0956797613475633
- Christopoulos GI, King-Casas B. With you or against you: social orientation dependent learning signals guide actions made for others. *Neuroimage*. (2015) 104:326–35. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.09.011
- Ruff CC, Fehr E. The neurobiology of rewards and values in social decision making. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2014) 15:549–62. doi: 10.1038/nrn3776
- Kable JW, Glimcher PW. The neural correlates of subjective value during intertemporal choice. *Nat Neurosci.* (2007) 10:1625–33. doi: 10.1038/nn2007
- Hampton AN, Bossaerts P, O'doherty JP. Neural correlates of mentalizingrelated computations during strategic interactions in humans. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:6741–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0711099105
- Moll J, Krueger F, Zahn R, Pardini M, De Oliveira-Souza R, Grafman J. Human fronto-mesolimbic networks guide decisions about charitable donation. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (2006) 103:15623–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0604475103
- Hsu M, Anen C, Quartz SR. The right and the good: distributive justice and neural encoding of equity and efficiency. *Science*. (2008) 320:1092– 5. doi: 10.1126/science.1153651
- Olds J, Milner P. Positive reinforcement produced by electrical stimulation of septal area and other regions of rat brain. *J Comp Physiol Psychol.* (1954). 47:419. doi: 10.1037/h0058775
- Zhang L, Gläscher J. A brain network supporting social influences in human decision-making. *Sci Adv.* (2020) 6:eabb4159. doi: 10.1126/sciadv. abb4159
- Klucharev V, Hytonen K, Rijpkema M, Smidts A, Fernandez G. Reinforcement learning signal predicts social conformity. *Neuron.* (2009) 61:140–51. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.11.027

- Izuma K, Adolphs R. Social manipulation of preference in the human brain. *Neuron.* (2013) 78:563–73. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013. 03.023
- Korn CW, Prehn K, Park SQ, Walter H, Heekeren HR. Positively biased processing of self-relevant social feedback. J Neurosci. (2012) 32:16832– 44. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3016-12.2012
- Xiang T, Lohrenz T, Montague PR. Computational substrates of norms and their violations during social exchange. J Neurosci. (2013) 33:1099– 108. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1642-12.2013
- 44. De Martino B, Bobadilla-Suarez S, Nouguchi T, Sharot T, Love BC. Social information is integrated into value and confidence judgments according to its reliability. J Neurosci. (2017) 37:6066–74. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3880-16.2017
- Park SA, Goïame S, O'connor DA, Dreher, J.-C. Integration of individual and social information for decision-making in groups of different sizes. *PLoS Biol.* (2017) 15:e2001958. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.2001958
- Charpentier CJ, Iigaya K, O'doherty JP. A neuro-computational account of arbitration between choice imitation and goal emulation during human observational learning. *Neuron.* (2020) 106:687–99. e687. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2020.02.028
- Toelch U, Bach DR, Dolan RJ. The neural underpinnings of an optimal exploitation of social information under uncertainty. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2014) 9:1746–53. doi: 10.1093/scan/nst173
- Suzuki S, O'doherty JP. Breaking human social decision making into multiple components and then putting them together again. *Cortex.* (2020) 127:221– 30. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2020.02.014
- Ciranka S, Van Den Bos W. Adolescent risk-taking in the context of exploration and social influence. *Dev Rev.* (2021) 61:100979. doi: 10.1016/j.dr.2021.100979
- Caldwell DF, Burger JM. Personality and social influence strategies in the workplace. *Pers Soc Psychol Bull.* (1997) 23:1003–12. doi: 10.1177/01461672972310001
- Oyibo K, Orji R, Vassileva J. Investigation of the influence of personality traits on cialdini's persuasive strategies. In: *Proceedings of the Personalization in Persuasive Technology Workshop, Persuasive Technology*. Amsterdam (2017). Available online at: http://ceur-ws.org
- Galvan A. Adolescent development of the reward system. Front Hum Neurosci. (2010) 4:6. doi: 10.3389/neuro.09.006.2010
- Crone EA, Dahl RE. Understanding adolescence as a period of socialaffective engagement and goal flexibility. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2012) 13:636– 50. doi: 10.1038/nrn3313
- Blakemore, S.-J. The social brain in adolescence. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2008) 9:267–77. doi: 10.1038/nrn2353
- Steinberg L. A social neuroscience perspective on adolescent risk-taking. *Dev Rev.* (2008) 28:78–106. doi: 10.1016/j.dr.2007.08.002
- Telzer EH, Van Hoorn J, Rogers CR, Do KT. Social influence on positive youth development: a developmental neuroscience perspective. Adv Child Dev Behav. (2018) 54:215–58. doi: 10.1016/bs.acdb.2017.10.003
- Do KT, Mccormick EM, Telzer EH. Neural sensitivity to conflicting attitudes supports greater conformity toward positive over negative influence in early adolescence. *Dev Cogn Neurosci.* (2020) 45:100837. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2020.100837
- Steinberg L, Monahan KC. Age differences in resistance to peer influence. Dev Psychol. (2007) 43:1531–43. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.43.6.1531
- Knoll LJ, Magis-Weinberg L, Speekenbrink M, Blakemore SJ. Social influence on risk perception during adolescence. *Psychol Sci.* (2015) 26:583– 92. doi: 10.1177/0956797615569578
- Blakemore SJ, Burnett S, Dahl RE. The role of puberty in the developing adolescent brain. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2010) 31:926–33. doi: 10.1002/hbm.21052
- Goddings AL, Beltz A, Peper JS, Crone EA, Braams BR. Understanding the role of puberty in structural and functional development of the adolescent brain. J Res Adolesc. (2019) 29:32–53. doi: 10.1111/jora.12408
- Kraus MW, Piff PK, Mendoza-Denton R, Rheinschmidt ML, Keltner D. Social class, solipsism, and contextualism: how the rich are different from the poor. *Psychol Rev.* (2012) 119:546–72. doi: 10.1037/a0028756
- 63. Passey ME, Gale JT, Sanson-Fisher RW. "It's almost expected": rural Australian Aboriginal women's reflections on smoking initiation and

maintenance: a qualitative study. BMC Women's Health. (2011) 11:1-12. doi: 10.1186/1472-6874-11-55

- Cascio CN, O'donnell MB, Simons-Morton BG, Bingham CR, Falk EB. Cultural context moderates neural pathways to social influence. *Cult Brain*. (2017) 5:50–70. doi: 10.1007/s40167-016-0046-3
- Muscatell KA, Morelli SA, Falk EB, Way BM, Pfeifer JH, Galinsky AD, et al. Social status modulates neural activity in the mentalizing network. *Neuroimage*. (2012) 60:1771–7. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.01.080
- Noble KG, Houston SM, Brito NH, Bartsch H, Kan E, Kuperman JM, et al. Family income, parental education and brain structure in children and adolescents. *Nat Neurosci.* (2015) 18:773–8. doi: 10.1038/nn.3983
- Gonzalez MZ, Beckes L, Chango J, Allen JP, Coan JA. Adolescent neighborhood quality predicts adult dACC response to social exclusion. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2015) 10:921–8. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsu137
- Hackman DA, Farah MJ. Socioeconomic status and the developing brain. Trends Cogn Sci. (2009) 13:65–73. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2008.11.003
- Takami K, Haruno M. Behavioral and functional connectivity basis for peerinfluenced bystander participation in bullying. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2019) 14:23-33. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsy109
- Müller-Pinzler L, Czekalla N, Mayer AV, Stolz DS, Gazzola V, Keysers C, et al. Negativity-bias in forming beliefs about own abilities. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:1–15. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-50821-w
- Feng C, Cao J, Li Y, Wu H, Mobbs D. The pursuit of social acceptance: aberrant conformity in social anxiety disorder. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* (2018) 13:809–817. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsy052
- Cohen AR. Some Implications of Self-Esteem for Social Influence. In: Hovland CI, Janis IL, editors. *Personality and persuasibility*. New Haven: Yale Univer. Press. (1959). p. 102–20.
- Nisbett RE, Gordon A. Self-esteem and susceptibility to social influence. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1967) 5:268. doi: 10.1037/h0024308
- 74. Stacy AW, Suassman S, Dent CW, Burton D, Flay BR. Moderators of peer social influence in adolescent smoking. *Pers Soc Psychol Bull.* (1992) 18:163–72. doi: 10.1177/0146167292182007
- Somerville LH, Kelley WM, Heatherton TF. Self-esteem modulates medial prefrontal cortical responses to evaluative social feedback. *Cereb Cortex*. (2010) 20:3005–13. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhq049
- Will G-J, Rutledge RB, Moutoussis M, Dolan RJ. Neural and computational processes underlying dynamic changes in self-esteem. *Elife.* (2017) 6:e28098. doi: 10.7554/eLife.28098.015
- Reiss F. Socioeconomic inequalities and mental health problems in children and adolescents: a systematic review. Soc Sci Med. (2013) 90:24– 31. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.04.026
- Pakula B, Shoveller J, Ratner PA, Carpiano R. Prevalence and co-occurrence of heavy drinking and anxiety and mood disorders among gay, lesbian, bisexual, heterosexual Canadians. *Am J Public Health.* (2016) 106:1042– 48. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2016.303083
- Attanasio O, Barr A, Cardenas JC, Genicot G, Meghir C. Risk pooling, risk preferences, social networks. *Am Econ J Appl Econ.* (2012) 4:134– 67. doi: 10.1257/app.4.2.134
- Aron A, Aron EN, Smollan D. Inclusion of other in the self scale and the structure of interpersonal closeness. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1992) 63:596. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.63.4.596
- Linke LH. Social closeness and decision making: moral, attributive and emotional reactions to third party transgressions. *Curr Psychol.* (2012) 31:291–312. doi: 10.1007/s12144-012-9146-1
- Hein G, Silani G, Preuschoff K, Batson CD, Singer T. Neural responses to ingroup and outgroup members' suffering predict individual differences in costly helping. *Neuron.* (2010) 68:149–60. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010. 09.003
- Sip KE, Smith DV, Porcelli AJ, Kar K, Delgado MR. Social closeness and feedback modulate susceptibility to the framing effect. *Soc Neurosci.* (2015) 10:35–45. doi: 10.1080/17470919.2014.944316
- Lin LC, Qu Y, Telzer EH. Intergroup social influence on emotion processing in the brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2018) 115:10630– 5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1802111115
- Raichle ME. The brain's default mode network. Annu Rev Neurosci. (2015) 38:433–47. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-071013-014030

- Laurita AC, Hazan C, Spreng RN. An attachment theoretical perspective for the neural representation of close others. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* (2019) 14:237–51. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsz010
- Meshi D, Biele G, Korn CW, Heekeren HR. How expert advice influences decision making. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e49748. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0049748
- Läpple D, Barham BL. How do learning ability, advice from experts and peers shape decision making? J Behav Exp Econ. (2019) 80:92– 107. doi: 10.1016/j.socec.2019.03.010
- Klucharev V, Smidts A, Fernandez G. Brain mechanisms of persuasion: how 'expert power' modulates memory and attitudes. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2008) 3:353–66. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsn022
- Campbell-Meiklejohn DK, Bach DR, Roepstorff A, Dolan RJ, Frith CD. How the opinion of others affects our valuation of objects. *Curr Biol.* (2010) 20:1165–70. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2010.04.055
- Frydman C, Krajbich I. Using response times to infer others' private information: an application to information cascades. *Manage Sci.* (2020). doi: 10.1287/mnsc.2021.3994
- Soll JB, Larrick RP. Strategies for revising judgment: How (and how well) people use others' opinions. J Exp Psychol Learn Mem Cogn. (2009) 35:780. doi: 10.1037/a0015145
- 93. Sah S, Moore DA, Maccoun RJ. Cheap talk and credibility: the consequences of confidence and accuracy on advisor credibility and persuasiveness. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process. (2013) 121:246–55. doi: 10.1016/j.obhdp.2013.02.001
- Campbell-Meiklejohn D, Simonsen A, Frith CD, Daw ND. Independent neural computation of value from other people's confidence. J Neurosci. (2017) 37:673–84. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4490-15.2016
- Heyes C. Who knows? Metacognitive social learning strategies. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2016) 20:204–13. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2015.12.007
- Rosenblau G, Korn CW, Pelphrey KA. A computational account of optimizing social predictions reveals that adolescents are conservative learners in social contexts. J Neurosci. (2018) 38:974–88. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1044-17.2017
- Diaconescu AO, Mathys C, Weber LA, Daunizeau J, Kasper L, Lomakina EI, et al. Inferring on the intentions of others by hierarchical Bayesian learning. *PLoS Comput Biol.* (2014) 10:e1003810. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1003810
- Zaki J, Schirmer J, Mitchell JP. Social influence modulates the neural computation of value. *Psychol Sci.* (2011) 22:894– 900. doi: 10.1177/0956797611411057
- Steinberg L. Risk taking in adolescence: what changes, and why? Ann N Y Acad Sci. (2004) 1021:51–8. doi: 10.1196/annals.1308.005
- Weigard A, Chein J, Albert D, Smith A, Steinberg L. Effects of anonymous peer observation on adolescents' preference for immediate rewards. *Dev Sci.* (2014) 17:71–8. doi: 10.1111/desc.12099
- Izuma K, Saito DN, Sadato N. Processing of the incentive for social approval in the ventral striatum during charitable donation. *J Cogn Neurosci.* (2010) 22:621–31. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2009.21228
- 102. Powers KE, Yaffe G, Hartley CA, Davidow JY, Kober H, Somerville LH. Consequences for peers differentially bias computations about risk across development. J Exp Psychol General. (2018) 147:671. doi: 10.1037/xge0000389
- 103. Szpunar KK, Spreng RN, Schacter DL. A taxonomy of prospection: introducing an organizational framework for future-oriented cognition. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA. (2014) 111:18414–21. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1417144111
- Tanner RJ, Ferraro R, Chartrand TL, Bettman JR, Baaren RV. Of chameleons and consumption: the impact of mimicry on choice and preferences. J Consum Res. (2008) 34:754–66. doi: 10.1086/522322
- Suzuki S, Adachi R, Dunne S, Bossaerts P, O'doherty JP. Neural mechanisms underlying human consensus decision-making. *Neuron.* (2015) 86:591– 602. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.03.019
- 106. Asch SE. Effects of group pressure upon the modification and distortion of judgments. In: *Groups, Leadership and Men; Research in Human Relations*. Oxford, England: Carnegie Press (1951). p. 177–90.
- 107. Germar M, Albrecht T, Voss A, Mojzisch A. Social conformity is due to biased stimulus processing: electrophysiological and diffusion analyses. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2016) 11:1449–59. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsw050

- Berns GS, Capra CM, Moore S, Noussair C. Neural mechanisms of the influence of popularity on adolescent ratings of music. *Neuroimage*. (2010) 49:2687–96. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.10.070
- 109. Park SA, Yun K, Jeong J. Reappraising abstract paintings after exposure to background information. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0124159. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0124159
- Garvert MM, Moutoussis M, Kurth-Nelson Z, Behrens TE, Dolan RJ. Learning-induced plasticity in medial prefrontal cortex predicts preference malleability. *Neuron.* (2015) 85:418–428. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014. 12.033
- Levorsen M, Ito A, Suzuki S, Izuma K. Testing the reinforcement learning hypothesis of social conformity. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2021) 42:1328– 42. doi: 10.1002/hbm.25296
- 112. Gu X, Wang X, Hula A, Wang S, Xu S, Lohrenz TM, et al. Necessary, yet dissociable contributions of the insular and ventromedial prefrontal cortices to norm adaptation: computational and lesion evidence in humans. *J Neurosci.* (2015) 35:467–73. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2906-14. 2015
- Kishida KT, Montague PR. Imaging models of valuation during social interaction in humans. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2012) 72:93–100. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.02.037
- Lin A, Adolphs R, Rangel A. Social and monetary reward learning engage overlapping neural substrates. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2012) 7:274– 81. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsr006
- Nook EC, Zaki J. Social norms shift behavioral and neural responses to foods. J Cogn Neurosci. (2015) 27:1412–26. doi: 10.1162/jocn_a_00795
- 116. Marr D. Vision. Cambridge, MA: MIT press (1982).
- 117. Lockwood PL, Apps MAJ, Chang SWC. Is there a 'social' brain? Implementations and algorithms. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2020) 24:802– 13. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2020.06.011
- Hall J, Guterman DK, Lee HB, Little SG. Counselor-client matching on ethnicity, gender, and language: implications for counseling school-aged children. N Am J Psychol. (2002) 4: 367–80.
- Heilig M, Epstein DH, Nader MA, Shaham Y. Time to connect: bringing social context into addiction neuroscience. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2016) 17:592– 9. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2016.67
- Dunne S, O'doherty JP. Insights from the application of computational neuroimaging to social neuroscience. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* (2013) 23:387– 92. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2013.02.007
- Hackel LM, Amodio DM. Computational neuroscience approaches to social cognition. *Curr Opin Psychol.* (2018) 24:92–7. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2018.09.001
- 122. Montague PR, Dolan RJ, Friston KJ, Dayan P. Computational psychiatry. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2012) 16:72–80. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2011. 11.018
- 123. Adams RA, Huys QJ, Roiser JP. Computational psychiatry: towards a mathematically informed understanding of mental illness. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2016) 87:53–63. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2015-310737
- Huys QJ, Maia TV, Frank MJ. Computational psychiatry as a bridge from neuroscience to clinical applications. *Nat Neurosci.* (2016) 19:404– 13. doi: 10.1038/nn.4238

- Hauser TU, Will GJ, Dubois M, Dolan RJ. Annual research review: developmental computational psychiatry. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (2019) 60:412–26. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12964
- 126. O'donnell MB, and Falk EB. Big data under the microscope and brains in social context: integrating methods from computational social science and neuroscience. Ann Am Acad Pol Soc Sci. (2015) 659:274– 89. doi: 10.1177/0002716215569446
- 127. Hernandez I. Big data in social psychology. In: Woo SE, Tay L, Proctor RW, editors. *Big data in Psychological Research*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association (2020). p. 227–54.
- Baek EC, Porter MA, Parkinson C. Social network analysis for social neuroscientists. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2021) 16:883–901. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsaa069
- 129. Bzdok D, Yeo BT. Inference in the age of big data: future perspectives on neuroscience. *Neuroimage*. (2017) 155:549– 64. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.04.061
- Liviatan I, Trope Y, Liberman N. Interpersonal similarity as a social distance dimension: implications for perception of others' actions. J Exp Soc Psychol. (2008) 44:1256–69. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2008.04.007
- Martin SR, Lee JJ, Parmar BL. Social distance, trust and getting "hooked": a phishing expedition. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process. (2021) 166:39– 48. doi: 10.1016/j.obhdp.2019.08.001
- Montague PR, Berns GS, Cohen JD, Mcclure SM, Pagnoni G, Dhamala M, et al. Hyperscanning: simultaneous fMRI during linked social interactions. *Neuroimage*. (2002) 16:1159–64. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2002.1150
- Babiloni F, Astolfi L. Social neuroscience and hyperscanning techniques: past, present and future. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2014) 44:76–93. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012. 07.006
- 134. Hamilton AFDC. Hyperscanning: beyond the hype. *Neuron*. (2021) 109:404– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2020.11.008
- 135. Fan S, Dal Monte O, Chang SWC. Levels of naturalism in social neuroscience research. *iScience*. (2021) 24:102702. doi: 10.1016/j.isci.2021.10 2702

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Lee and Chung. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





@

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne | Switzerland

Visit us: www.frontiersin.org

Contact us: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Frontiers

FOLLOW US @frontiersin



IMPACT METRICS Advanced article metrics track visibility across digital media EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research

Our network increases your